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Introduction
The 2019 Integrated Report aims to provide accountability 
and information to society. This document details 
Management 5.0, which enhances performance and 
productive of all work processes, making Companhia 
do Metropolitano de São Paulo more competitive and 
prepared for the future. 

This document also introduces the long-term strategy, 
the business plan, the values, the resources used and 
the impacts generated in the sustainability dimension, in 
compliance with the provisions of Law No. 13.303/2016 
– State-Owned Companies Law, and is available on the 
website: www.metro.sp.gov.br/metro/institucional/pdf/
relatorio-integrado-2019.

Opinions, information and suggestions about the 
integrated report can be forwarded at: www.metro.sp.gov.
br/fale-conosco/registro-manifestacao.aspx.

Scope
The data and information correspond to the management 
of Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo from 
January 1 to December 31, 2019 and refer to the 
company’s performance in the metropolitan passenger 
transport sector, as the body responsible for planning, 
project, construction, deployment, operation and 
maintenance of the rapid transit network.

This Integrated Report includes the Annual Charter, 
signed by the members of the Board of Directors, in 
accordance with the Law.

Data from third-parties and suppliers involved in 
the company’s activities are not included, as well as 
information on Lines 4–Yellow and 5–Lilac, which are 
operated by concessionaires in the private sector.

Materiality
For defi nition of relevant and strategic topics, the 
Business Plan and the Long-Term Strategy, the context 
of sustainability and the onions of stakeholders (given 
in a number of communication and media channels) 
were considered, as well as the economic and fi nancial 
performance of the Company in 2018 and 2019.

The Integrated Report 2019 is structured to adhere 
to the model developed by the International 
Integrated Reporting Council – IIRC and is based on 
the parameters established in the Global Reporting 
Initiative - GRI standards for reporting sustainability 
management, and the International Financial Reporting 
Standards - IFRS criteria, for fi nancial and other 
accounting information.

The necessary changes were implemented to present 
information in a transparent manner to stakeholders, 
bringing an integrated view of the business model and 
strategies, as well as the fi nancial, human, intellectual, 
manufactured, natural and social capital considered 
to create value. The Integrated Report 2019 also 
addresses the opportunities and risks identifi ed in the 
operational, governance and fi nancial and non-fi nancial 
performance context.

3

INTEGRATED REPORT - 2019

INTRODUCTION

HIGHLIGHTS 2019

STATEMENT FROM 
THE CEO

OVERVIEW 

SIGNIFICANT NUMBERS

ACHIEVEMENTS 2019

SOCIAL BALANCE

CORPORATE
STRATEGY

FINANCIAL AND ECONOMIC
PERFORMANCE

ANNUAL CHART

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

FINAL PROVISIONS

GRI INDEX

DIRECTORS

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS



Jardim Planalto
Sapopemba

Fazenda da Juta
São Mateus

New 
stations

Line
15-Silver

Line 
4-Yellow

It has been operated by
ViaQuatro in a public-private 
partnership regime since 2010

New access point 
Clínicas at Oscar 
Freire Station

Line
5-Lilac

Pátio Guido Caloi
Campo Belo

Yard and 
new station

It has been operated by Via 
Mobilidade in a public-private 
partnership regime since 2019

We have exceeded 
the 100 km 
long mark. 

O� ering public transport services with safety, comfort 
and quality through an increasingly closer network to 
take people as further as possible. 

Highlights 2019

The metro now operates on 101.0 km of route with the inauguration of 
the three stations on Line 15–Silver to São Mateus.

• 101.0 km                               • 89 stations                               • 232 trains

On November 14, 2019, the Metro broke the demand record with 5.5 
million passengers on business days.

totaling 69.7 km in length, 62 
stations and serving an average 
of 3.7 million passengers on daily 
basis.

Lines 1-Blue, 
2-Green, 3-Red and 

15-Silver are operated by 
the São Paulo Metro,
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Line 5 – Lilac 0.0
1

(Campo Belo)

Line 15 – Silver 5.0
4

(Jardim Planalto,
Sapopemba,

Fazenda da Juta
and São Mateus

Total 5.05

Stations Operating
Extension2019 Expansion

Highlights 2019

New projects in progress

•  Line 2-Green: 8 new stations, connecting Line 2-Green to 
Line 3-Red, from Vila Prudente to Penha – Orfanato, Água 
Rasa, Anália Franco, Vila Formosa, Guilherme Giorgi, Nova 
Manchester, Aricanduva and Penha.

•  Concession of 13 terminals: Metro granted concession to the 
private sector of 13 bus terminals integrated to stations on 
lines 1-Blue and 3-Red, for a period of 30 years. 

System Expansion The biggest gain from this concession is 
the increased non-fare revenue, since the 
spaces granted may result in 
R$ 10.2 million per year to Metro. 

The contract provides that seven buildable 
terminals will have commercial exploitation 
of the internal spaces and use of the air 
space, with the possibility of implementing 
residential buildings, o¥  ce suites, stores 
and spaces for socializing and eating. 

In the other six non-buildable terminals, 
only the spaces on the surface may be 
used.
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Highlights 2019

Respect and safety

•  Accessibility: 
elevators and tactile signage on the fl oor, from the 
access points to the boarding place on the platforms at 
all stations; priority seats, audible and visual signaling 
announcing the next station and the opening side of the 
doors on all trains. Sta�  trained to assist people with 
disabilities or restricted mobility.

•  Public Security: Metro develops strategies to ensure the 
safety of its passengers while traveling. Our employees 
carry out surveillance rounds on trains, platforms and 
access points. In addition, we have a modern closed-
circuit television system in the 62 stations and a Control 
Center specifi cally for security, which are essential for 
fi ghting crime. 

•  Platform screen doors 
Implementation of platform screen doors at stations, 
preventing people and objects from falling on the track 
and allowing trains to circulate with greater speed in the 
region of the platforms, reducing 
travel time.
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Highlights 2019

QR Code Ticket: To make life easier for passengers 
when buying their tickets, Metro implemented fare 
payment via QR Code. This new system brings 
more convenience and saves time, since it can be 
purchased with a credit card via app or website. In 
this case, the code is generated on the mobile phone 
and the ticket is released by pointing the mobile 
phone screen to the reader. Passengers at the station 
may also purchase tickets via debit card at self-
service machines or paying in cash at ticket windows. 
The ticket is printed on the spot, and then the 
passenger must insert it into the reader located at 
the locks. 

Innovation

MetroLab, the world’s fi rst laboratory in the study 
of problems and development of solutions to 
improve urban mobility, through sustainable projects 
combining knowledge from the technological, 
organizational and cost reduction areas. The history 
of the São Paulo Metro’s pioneering spirit once 
again emerges with a project that points to open 
innovation, new methodologies and the transmission 
of knowledge. All with the aim of always o� ering a 
world-class rapid transit system.

NIT – Technological Innovation Center of the 
São Paulo Metro, responsible for the company’s 
innovation management. NIT articulates the network 
of institutions – on a global level – that think 
strategically about mobility, aiming to improve the 
lives of passengers on metropolitan rapid transit 
system and, accordingly, life in the city.
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New businesses and services

Specialized consultancy service oering which 
works in planning, construction and operation, as 
a private agent, in several areas of transport and 
urban mobility, including the concession of rapid 
transit and railway lines.  With its expertise and 
know-how in metro engineering, Metro Consulting 
is an international standard of excellence, opera-
ting in large cities in Brazil and abroad.

 Metro Consulting large nameMetro 
Consulting 

Highlights 2019

São Paulo Metro, an international standard of 
excellence. 
First Metro in the world provided with an 
innovation laboratory focused on intelligent 
mobility solutions. The Metro knows in detail 
the movements and daily routine of people in 
cities.

Such knowledge guarantees the best 
strategies and practices in the areas of 
planning, construction, logistics, operation and 
integration of multimodal transport.  Now as a 
Consultant – Metro Consulting
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•  The Metro is part of the CoMET – Community of 
Metros, which gathers the largest metros in the 
world, enabling constant exchange of information 
and good practices to continuously improve the 
services provided to the population. 

The Metro is the institution in which the people 
of São Paulo trust most. The ‘Living in São Paulo’ 
Survey found that 72% of respondents trust the 
Company. The survey was carried out by Rede 
Nossa São Paulo, in partnership with Ibope, between 
December 5 and 19, 2019. 

•  Chosen by the population as the best transport and 
the best public service in São Paulo.

Highlights 2019

Culture

Social

Recognition

The Metro is an underground museum: there are 
91 works of art including paintings, sculptures and 
installations by renowned artists distributed in 37 
stations. In addition, there are concerts, exhibitions, 
poetry events, theater plays and more.

•  Health actions are carried out at the stations: health 
prevention campaigns, application of vaccines and 
rapid HIV testing. 

•  The Professions Fair, promoted on an annual basis 
by Metro, presents opportunities for training and 
professional performance to young people aged 
14 to 24; and the Apprentice Program promotes 
training of young people and their integration into 
the formal job market.

CoMET
Community of Metros
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Statement from the CEO 
The pursuit of more e¥cient management marked the year 
2019 and will continue to be the company’s primary guideline in 
its long-term planning. More than continuously monitoring the 
economic position of the company, Companhia do Metropolitano 
de São Paulo will gradually implement the Management 5.0 
concept, which is based on the well-being of our employees, 
outsourced workers and, particularly, passengers.

To manage the financial vision and care for people, we rely on the 
Company’s Business Plan for 2020-2024, which is based on four 
pillars: Financial and Economic Balance, Management E¥ciency, 
Investment Management and Integrated Communication. 

Many values will support our work during the next year, but 
“integration” will certainly guide the company’s actions.

We are committed to the sustainable development of our 
structure, processes and personnel. For all of these pieces to work 
smoothly, innovation is critical. 

The innovative purposes of Metro will be present in projects to 
be developed with the support of the Technological Innovation 
Center (NIT). In 2019, in addition to NIT, we set up a Commercial 
O¥ce to be able to plan our increased non-fare revenues 
strategically. 

We started prospecting new markets in Brazil and abroad, 
through Metro Consulting, with the objective of selling products 
and services in a number of Transport and Urban Mobility areas. 
Continuous service improvement actions impact the perception 
of the company’s image, increasing its added value. “No metro 
project on hold” was the Company’s motto in 2019. 

It was hard work, which has already resulted in many achievements. 
Throughout the year, we were able to overcome several contractual 
di¥culties, and priority projects were put into practice.

We announced the resumption of the expansion of Line 2-Green 
with eight stations (Orfanato, Água Rasa, Anália Franco, Vila 
Formosa, Guilherme Giorgi, Nova Manchester, Aricanduva 
and Penha). In addition, a new bidding process was called to 
give continuity to the civil works of the Line 17-Gold stations: 
Congonhas, Brooklin Paulista, Jardim Aeroporto, Alderman José 
Diniz, Campo Belo, Vila Cordeiro, Chucri Zaidan and Pátio Água 
Espraiada. 

Our year ended on a high note! Our network has been expanded 
with the addition of four more stations on Line 15-Silver: Jardim 
Planalto, Sapopemba, Fazenda da Juta and São Mateus. We 
have structured the department that will be responsible for the 
deployment of Line 19-Sky Blue, in the Anhangabaú – Bosque 
Maia (Guarulhos) section.

If we consider the entire São Paulo rapid transit network, we have 
exceeded 101.0 km having 89 stations. 2019 ended with Metro-SP 
operating on 69.7 km of route having 62 stations. 

São Paulo is lively and dynamic. Our goal is to make people live 
intensely in this city and reach their destinations easily and safely.

In my professional career, there were few companies in which 
employees spoke with such passion and appreciation about 
their daily work. In my opinion, this is the driving force behind 
Companhia do Metrô. This valuable characteristic coupled with 
our ability to adapt to the future will result in many business 
opportunities arising in the coming years. 

Leading transformations is at the Company’s core!

Silvani Pereira 
Chief Executive O¥cer at Companhia do Metropolitano  
de São Paulo – Metro
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The Metro is more than you 
realize 
Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo – Metro 
was founded in 1968. Since then it has been making 
an e� ective contribution to the development of 
the industrial, service and transport sectors and, 
accordingly, society as a whole. 

The Metro impacts all regions it reaches. The 
company values   neighborhoods, develops trade, 
creates jobs and brings comfort and security, 
improving the lives of many people. Metro works 
hard to anticipate the future in the best possible 
conditions.  

Throughout its history, the metropolis has changed in 
every single aspect, whether physical, demographic 
or socio-environmental. New metropolitan 
connections have emerged. Travelling, technology 
usage and connectivity have changed. The passenger 
profi le is also no longer the same.  

Overview

Less time in tra�  c, more productivity.
Less pollution, more health.
Less challenges, more opportunities.
Less stress, more quality of life.
Less inconvenience, more comfort.
Less risks, more safety.
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What we
do
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Metropolitan Transport 
Network 
and the São Paulo Metro
Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo is part of 
the transportation system of the large Metropolitan 
Area of São Paulo (RMSP) and plays a relevant role 
in structuring e¥  cient urban mobility in order to 
guarantee integrated transportation for the entire 
population.

The integrated metropolitan transport system – 
consisting of metro, monorail, metropolitan train, 
municipal, metropolitan and intercity buses – 
amounted to a total of 6.4 billion travels in 2019. 

Rail transport amounted to 2.4 billion travels, 
representing 37% of the total motorized travels in 
the Metropolitan Area of São Paulo. Of this total, the 
rapid transit network operated by Metro, ViaQuatro 
and ViaMobilidade, with 101.0 km in length, six lines 
and 89 stations, was responsible for 23.4% of travels 
in the Metropolitan Area of São Paulo. 

The São Paulo Metro is responsible for the operation 
and maintenance of lines 1-Blue, 2-Green, 3-Red and 
15-Silver, which add up to 69.7 km in length. 

ViaQuatro, a private concessionaire, operates 
and maintains Line 4-Yellow, with 11.4 km; and 
ViaMobilidade, a private concessionaire, operates 
and maintains Line 5-Lilac, with 20 km. 
The relationship of the São Paulo Metro with 
concession operators is intermediated by the 
Commission for Monitoring Concessions and 
Permissions for Public Services of Passenger 
Transport Systems - CMCP, which monitors and 
inspects the concession of lines. 

Established by Decree No. 51,308/2006, CMCP 
is associated with the Metropolitan Transportation 
O¥  ce of the State of São Paulo.

The lines operated by the São Paulo Metro are 
integrated with the lines operated by ViaQuatro and 
ViaMobilidade, with the metropolitan trains operated 
by Companhia Paulista de Trens Metropolitanos – 
CPTM; with city buses in the capital, managed by 
SPTrans; and with metropolitan buses, managed by 
EMTU. 

In addition to the connection with the CPTM 
metropolitan train at Luz, Pinheiros, Tamanduateí, 
Brás, Palmeiras-Barra Funda, Tatuapé, Corinthians-
Itaquera and Santo Amaro stations, the stations are 
integrated with bus terminals at Portuguesa-Tietê, 
Jabaquara and Palmeiras-Barra Funda. 

The car parking transfer service was discontinued 
in late 2019. 

Overview
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Metropolitan 
Transportation 
O�  ce

São Paulo Transporte S.A. – SPTrans
SPTrans is responsible for the planning, inspection and 
control of the municipal bus system in the city of São Paulo. 
Also responsible for managing Bilhete Único, the São Paulo 
transportation contactless smart card system for fare control.

Empresa Metropolitana de Transportes Urbanos 
de São Paulo
EMTU is responsible for planning, supervising and controlling 
the intercity bus system in metropolitan regions.

Companhia Paulista de Trens Metropolitanos
CPTM is responsible for the deployment, operation and 
maintenance of Lines 7-Ruby, 8-Diamond, 9-Emerald, 
10-Turquoise, 11-Coral and Expresso Leste/East Express, 
12-Sapphire and 13-Jade of the railway system.

Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo
CMSP is responsible for the planning, design, construction, 
deployment, operation and maintenance of public rapid transit 
systems in the Metropolitan Area of São Paulo, currently 
working on the deployment of Lines 2-Green, 4-Yellow, 5-Lilac, 
15-Silver and 17-Gold and on the operation and maintenance of 
Lines 1-Blue, 2-Green, 3-Red and 15-Silver.

Concessions 
and Permissions 

Monitoring 
Commission (CMCP)

CMCP monitors and regulates 
the performance of concession 

contracts and permissions granted 
to the private sector.

Concessionária da Linha 4 do Metrô de São Paulo S.A.
ViaQuatro is responsible for operation and maintenance 
of Line 4-Yellow of the rapid transit network.

Concessionária das Linhas 5 e 17 do Metrô de São Paulo S.A.
ViaMobilidade is responsible for the operation and maintenance 
of Line 5-Lilac and the upcoming Line 17-Gold, of the rapid transit 
network.
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Overview

Concessions
The São Paulo Metro operates in Public-Private 
Partnerships entered into by the Government of São 
Paulo, providing line layout studies and technical subsidies 
for the development of bidding processes, under the 
responsibility of the Metropolitan Transportation O¥  ce of 
the State of São Paulo - STM. 

On August 4, 2018, the ViaMobilidade Consortium began 
the commercial operation of Line 5-Lilac, under the 
concession contract entered into with the Government of 
São Paulo. The ViaMobilidade Consortium also holds the 
concession for Line 17-Gold (under deployment).

At the 14th Special Meeting of the Management Council 
of the State Public-Private Partnerships Program, held 
on November 1, 2018, it was recommended that the 
concession contract for the deployment of Line 6-Orange, 
entered into with the Move São Paulo Consortium be 
rendered ine� ective as a result of non-compliance with 
the obligations assumed in the concession and operation 
contract for the line.

Operational Structure
The São Paulo Metro is responsible for the operation 
and maintenance of the following lines:

• Line 1-Blue
• Line 2-Green
• Line 3-Red
• Line 15-Silver

In the expansion of the rapid transit network, it 
manages the projects and works of the following 
lines:

• Line 2-Green - Expansion
• Line 4-Yellow - Phase II
• Line 5-Lilac
• Line 15-Silver – Deployment 
• Line 17-Gold – Deployment
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Overview

Legend

Line 1-Blue

Line 2-Green

Line 3-Red

Line 4-Yellow

Line 5-Lilac

Line 7-Ruby

Line 8-Diamond

Line 9-Emerald

Line 10-Turquoise

Line 11-Coral

Line 12-Sapphire

Line 13-Jade

Line 15-Silver

Touristic Express

C

B

A Corredor São Mateus-Jabaquara 
São Mateus-Jabaquara Corridor

Guarulhos-SP Corridor
Corredor Guarulhos-SP

Corredor Itapevi-SP

Station

Useful Information

Free access

AirportLong Distance Bus Terminal

Free interchange during off-peak hours

Paid interchange

Free interchange

Metropolitan Bus Terminal

Street sector with shared traffic

Itapevi-SP Corridor

Distance in meters between stations, on foot
Distância em metros entre estações, a pé

Janeiro  January - 2020
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Management 5.0, an insight  
into people
A technological transformation is underway, impacting 
our behavior. There are still uncertainties on how 
world societies will cope with this transformation, but 
they will certainly be guided by one purpose: human 
well-being. This is what “Management 5.0” is about: 
technologies such as Big Data, Artificial Intelligence 
and Internet of Things (IoT) aimed at quality of life. 

The origin of the “Society 5.0” concept emerged 
in Japan in 2016. Three years ago, the Japanese 
government released its 5th Science and Technology 
Basic Plan, which detailed how intelligent systems 
could be at the service of the people, helping to 
propose solutions to complex problems: such as 
natural disasters, electricity restrictions and an aging 
population, for example. Metro brought this concept to 
its business model. 

Believing in the use of technology to generate social 
benefit, the São Paulo Metro is promoting the well-
being of society in a smart, connected São Paulo. 

To this end, the company is getting ready to optimize 
its results, without ignoring the relationship with its 
employees and passengers. Our role is to ensure the 
population’s mobility; therefore, we need to maintain 
a good relationship with the di�erent audiences: 
citizens, suppliers, government, regulatory agencies, 
press and investors.

It is more and more urgent to break down departmental 
silos and carry out work in project-oriented matrix 
teams. 

Multidisciplinary groups are already part of a new 
organizational culture, contrasting hierarchical 
structures and decision-making without the 
participation of teams. More communication, analysis 
and critical thinking between leaders and employees 
is a trend that has been asserting results. The concept 
of “Management 5.0” perfectly reflects this occasion of 
building the future of the São Paulo Metro. 

After all, it is a fact that a successful, e¥cient 
organization cannot be archived without thinking about 
the solution to improve the quality of life.

The first steps have already been taken, and the 
entire company is mobilized to put into practice the 
actions defined in the Long-Term Strategy (2020-
2024) and the Business Plan (2020). The four pillars, 
Economic and Financial Balance, Management 
E¥ciency, Investment Management and Integrated 
Communication, are paths that lead us to an innovative 
management. 

Our purpose is to o�er quality of life and connect people 
and places through fast, safe and sustainable transport. 
We want to be a world-class mobility solution company, 
concerned with the environment and competitive, 
recognized for its technical and management skills, 
contributing to the quality of life of people. 
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Overview

EFFICIENCY 
IN MANAGEMENT  

INVESTMENT 
MANAGEMENT 

FINANCIAL 
BALANCE 

INTEGRATED 
COMMUNICATION

•  Ensuring fi nancial autonomy 
•  Consolidating the new cost 

structure 
• Optimizing costs 
•  Increasing non-fare revenues

•  Improving the institutional 
relationship with stakeholders

•  Integrating relationship 
channels on a single 
multichannel platform

•  Expanding communication and 
relationship with stakeholders

•  Improving the relationship with 
the internal public

•  Implementing communication 
performance indicators

•  Implementing the new Life 
Cycle model for Expansion 
Projects

•  Improving the methods of 
structuring and controlling the 
Investment Plan

•  Deploying control panel for 
modernization, automation and 
innovation projects 

•  Increasing e¥  ciency and 
productivity 

•  Implementing the new 
organizational structure based 
on the value chain 

•  Starting the operation of the 
Shared Services Center – CSC 

•  Promoting Knowledge 
Management and Innovation

•  Implementing an Information 
and Communication 
Technology Master Plan
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Signifi cant Numbers

Passengers carried on the transport system in the Metropolitan Area of São Paulo
2017, 2018 and 20191.

Passengers
2019 (millions)(%)

Passengers
2018 (millions)(%)

Passengers
2017 (millions)(%)

Rail transport 37.02,362.134.82,222.033.02,123.1

Road transport 63.04,004.765.224,163.967.04,319.3

Total Transport 100.06,366.8100.06,385.8100.06,442.4

- São Paulo Metro 17.21,098.017.11,092.017.01,095.7

- Municipal Bus – SPTRANS4 41.52,636.643.82,798.944.42,864.3

- Intermunicipal Bus – EMTU5 8.0506.97.9505.77.8504.2

- Bus – Other Municipalities 6 13.5861.213.5859.214.8950.9

Airport and Corridor (Trolleybus and Diesel) 1.275.91.277.61.280.5
Private companies (common and selective service) 6.8431.06.5428.26.6423.7

- ViaQuatro2 3.6229.53.4217.03.1199.7
- ViaMobilidade2 2.6166.80.849.6
- Metropolitan Train – CPTM3 13.6867.713.3863.312.9827.7

¹ Includes transfers and free services. Does not include school bus and charter.
² Source: CMCP - Committee for Monitoring Concessions and Permissions
³ Source: STM - São Paulo State Metropolitan Transportation O�ce
4 Source: SPTRANS - São Paulo Transportes S.A.
5 Source: EMTU - Empresa Metropolitana de Transportes Urbanos de São Paulo S.A. - estimated data for Dec 2019
6 Estimate based on travels of other municipalities in the Metropolitan Area of São Paulo in relation to the intercity travels pointed out in the Origin Destination Research 2017
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Signifi cant Numbers

2014

Rapid Transit Network
(São Paulo Metro, ViaQuatro and ViaMobilidade)

Rapid Transit Network

Lines operated by the São Paulo Metro

- extension kms
- number of statins
- number of lines

66.2
59
5

Passengers carried by the São Paulo Metro

- Average on business days (million) 3.8
- Annual total (billion) 1.1

2015

68.5
61
5

3.8
1.1

2016

68.5
61
5

3.7
1.1

2017

71.5
64

5

3.7
1.1

2018

64.7
58
4

6

4

3.7
1.1

2019

101.0
89

69.7
62

3.7
1.1

71.5
68

6

77.4
68

6

77.4
68

6

80.4
71
6

96.0
84
6

- extension kms
- number of stations
- number of lines
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Signifi cant Numbers

4.0

Million

3.8

3.6

3.4

3.2

3.0

3.71

3.80

57%

58%

60% 60% 59%

3.73
3.70 3.69

50%

55%

60%

65%

70%

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Passengers Carried X Satisfaction Index

Satisfaction Survey 2

¹ Average on business days
² Top two box. Corresponds to the sum of the percentages of the evaluations “Very Good” and “Good”

Passengers Carried - 2015

Passengers Carried - 2016

Passengers Carried - 2017

Passengers Carried - 2018

Passengers Carried - 2019

Passengers Carried x Satisfaction Index1
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2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Travels and Average Headway ¹

2,450

2,650

2,850

3,050

3,250

3,450

3,650

3,444

3,477

3563

3,046

3,317

Travels

Average Headway - 2015

Average Headway - 2016

Average Headway - 2017

Average Headway - 2018

Average Headway - 2019

156
154 152

145

132

¹Corresponds to the weighted average of headway on all lines of the network.
It does not include data from Line 5–Lilac, which started to be operated under a concession regime by ViaMobilidade on 8/4/2018

Signifi cant Numbers

Travels and Average Headway1

Headway
(seconds) Travels
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Signifi cant Numbers

19

20
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2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Km Traveled x Electric Power Consumption 

Traction Power Consumption (kwh/car.km)

km traveled by trains - 2015

km traveled by trains - 2016

km traveled by trains - 2017

km traveled by trains - 2018

km traveled by trains - 2019

19.1

18.9 18.7

 19

 18

2.60

2.80

3.00

3.20

3.40

3.60

3.41

3.23

2.99

2.90

2.86

Million

km Traveled x Electric Power Consumption
Million km kwh/car.km
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* Emission data for gasoline vehicles, considering autonomy and vehicle �eet updates in the São Paulo Metropolitan Area.

120

100

80

60

40

20

0
5

84

101

50

80

110

Metro-SP
2017 – 2019

Bus (Metropolitan Area)
2017 – 2019

Gasoline car (Metropolitan Area)
(2017 – 2018)*

Metro
(global average)

Bus
(global average)

Car
(global average)

Greenhouse gas emissions per passenger-km
(gCO2 e por p.km)*

Signifi cant Numbers

Greenhouse gas emissions per passenger-km  (gCO2e/p.km)*
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Operating revenue

3,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

1,500

1,000

500

0

Operating revenue

Fare

Non-fare

Free transport service

2015

264

163

1,806

2016

598

189

1,835

2017

640

248

1,857

2018

638

234

1,967

2019

630

247

2,023

R$ Million
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Signifi cant Numbers

R$Social Benefits

2019

Reduced Track Maintenance and Operation Costs

Reduced Accidents

Reduced Pollutant Emissions

Reduced Fuel Consumption

Reduced Operating Costs with Buses, Automobiles and Motorcycles

Reduced Travel Time

Total

 136,224,756

 185,101,407

 178,527,775

 1,390,719.045

 2,704,273,121

 6,384,551.012

 10,979,397,117

 1.2%

1.7%

1.6%

12.7%

24.6%

58.2%

100.0%

% on total

“Amount
(thousand)”UnitSocial Benefits

2019

Reduced Track Maintenance and Operation Costs

Reduced Accidents

Reduced Pollutant Emissions

Reduced Fuel Consumption

Reduced Operating Costs

(buses, automobiles and motorcycles)

Total

-

number of accidents

tons

liters

kilometers

hours

-

10

766

399,948

2,044,443

603,912

-

136.22

185.10

178.53

1390.72

2704.27

6384.55

10979.40

Amount
(R$ Million)

“Amount
(thousand)”

2018

-

9

855

469,487

2,155,523

843,902

-

 67.91

157.27

194.41

1621.59

2510.81

7577.96

12129.95

Amount
(R$ Million)

5,000

6,000

7,000

4,000

3,000

2,000

1,000

6,385

2,704

1,391

136
185 182

In 2019 R$Accumulated Social 
Benefits / Year

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

Accumulated Social 
Benefits 2003-2019

 8,338,572,823.33

15,891,617,970.84

 23,681,814,429.62

31,650,429,540.61

39,750,041,119.77

 48.659,686.790.76

 58,142,590,945.63

 67,624,832,709.97

77,837,501,077.84

 88,405,317,384.38

101,776,130,134.58

114,204,078,160.55

127,943,400,392.24

142,466,928,272.29

157,025,790,781.75

169,862,917,519.70

180,842,314,636.41

R$ 180,842,341,636.41

100,000,000,000

120,000,000,000

140,000,000,000

160,000,000,000

180,000,000,000

200,000,000,000

80,000,000,000

60,000,000,000

40,000,000,000

20,000,000,000

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Reduced Track Maintenance and 
Operation Costs

Reduced Accidents

Reduced Pollutant Emissions

Reduced Fuel Consumption

Reduced Operating Costs with Buses, Automobiles 
and Motorcycles

Reduced Travel Time

Source: Metro, 2020

Source: Metro, 2020
* Current amounts.

* Current amounts.

* Current amounts.

R$Social Benefits

2019

Reduced Track Maintenance and Operation Costs

Reduced Accidents

Reduced Pollutant Emissions

Reduced Fuel Consumption

Reduced Operating Costs with Buses, Automobiles and Motorcycles

Reduced Travel Time

Total

 136,224,756

 185,101,407

 178,527,775

 1,390,719.045

 2,704,273,121

 6,384,551.012

 10,979,397,117

 1.2%

1.7%

1.6%

12.7%

24.6%

58.2%

100.0%

% on total

“Amount
(thousand)”UnitSocial Benefits

2019

Reduced Track Maintenance and Operation Costs

Reduced Accidents

Reduced Pollutant Emissions

Reduced Fuel Consumption

Reduced Operating Costs

(buses, automobiles and motorcycles)

Total

-

number of accidents

tons

liters

kilometers

hours

-

10

766

399,948

2,044,443

603,912

-

136.22

185.10

178.53

1390.72

2704.27

6384.55

10979.40

Amount
(R$ Million)

“Amount
(thousand)”

2018

-

9

855

469,487

2,155,523

843,902

-

 67.91

157.27

194.41

1621.59

2510.81

7577.96

12129.95

Amount
(R$ Million)
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2,000

1,000

6,385

2,704

1,391

136
185 182

In 2019 R$Accumulated Social 
Benefits / Year

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

Accumulated Social 
Benefits 2003-2019

 8,338,572,823.33

15,891,617,970.84

 23,681,814,429.62

31,650,429,540.61

39,750,041,119.77

 48.659,686.790.76

 58,142,590,945.63

 67,624,832,709.97

77,837,501,077.84

 88,405,317,384.38

101,776,130,134.58

114,204,078,160.55

127,943,400,392.24

142,466,928,272.29

157,025,790,781.75

169,862,917,519.70

180,842,314,636.41

R$ 180,842,341,636.41

100,000,000,000

120,000,000,000
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180,000,000,000

200,000,000,000
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40,000,000,000

20,000,000,000

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Reduced Track Maintenance and 
Operation Costs

Reduced Accidents

Reduced Pollutant Emissions

Reduced Fuel Consumption

Reduced Operating Costs with Buses, Automobiles 
and Motorcycles

Reduced Travel Time

Source: Metro, 2020

Source: Metro, 2020
* Current amounts.

* Current amounts.

* Current amounts.

Social Benefi ts 2019 – Average Prices 2019
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Signifi cant Numbers

Investments made (cash) – network expansion

308
6 11 17

185

88
147 284 225

763

709

427

519 539

492

462

272

138 197 243

2.6

1.8

0

2.91.6

3.378

2,391

2,036 2,072

17

393

250

253

168

0.4
1,711 1,081

1,682

1,489
1,226

1,039

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Investments made (Cash) – Network Expansion

Line 2 Line 4 Line 5 Line 15 Line 17 ProjectsTotal

3,500

R$ Million

2,000

2,500

3,000

1,500

1,000

500

0
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Adjusted EBITDA

R$ Million

200

150

100

50

0

2.3% Adjusted EBITDA 
Margin (%)40.6%5.7%6.0% 1.0%

136
185 182

64

196

140
132
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Signifi cant Numbers
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ACHIEVEMENTS 2019
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Transport Engineering and Planning
E�  cient urban mobility means greater quality of life for the entire population of a city.

Ridership breakdown

Achievements 2019

The OD survey carried 
out by Metro in 

METROPOLITAN AREA 
OF SÃO PAULO boosted 

the application of this 
instrument in Brazil. Large 

and medium-sized Brazilian 
cities are already carrying 

out this survey.

The São Paulo Metro has expanded its operations 
in the transportation planning pillar, both internally 
and externally, subsidizing a number of government 
agencies and companies related to urban mobility in 
the São Paulo Metropolitan Area. 
The Origin-Destination Survey has been carried 
out for 50 years, collecting data on mobility in the 

São Paulo Metropolitan Area. It is a milestone for 
the Company, which brought, in the 2017 edition, 
improvements in the data collection process, 
ensuring the quality of the information collected.
Upon its completion, the planning review process 
could begin with network evaluation studies in light 
of the new data and the simulation network update.

15.3
13.9
public
transport

28.3
25.2
motorized
transport

42.0
38.1
daily
ridership

13.7
12.9
non-motorized
transport

13.0
11.3
private
transport

13.3
12.6
walking

0.4
0.3
bicycle

million
million
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Achievements 2019

Origin-Destination 
Survey 2017
Since 1967, the Origin-Destination – OD Survey has 
been producing quality information for planning urban 
mobility in the Metropolitan Area of São Paulo – RMSP. 
The information collected in this survey is the basic input 
for future demand simulation models used in transport 
planning and projects. 

In addition, the OD matrix and the database containing 
the results are also used in planning other sectors of 
society – security, health, education and others.

Among the diversity of information that the OD 
Survey provides is the ridership breakdown. The 2017 
Destination-Origin Survey accounted for 42 MILLION 
DAILY TRAVELS within the Metropolitan Area of São 
Paulo, using di� erent forms of transportation – metro, 
train, bus, school transport, automobile, taxi, motorcycle, 
bicycle and walking.

Field surveys were completed in October 2018. The 
fi nal results were presented in July 2019, and their 
microdata are available on the website of Companhia do 
Metropolitano de São Paulo (http://www.metro.sp.gov.br/
pesquisa-od).

Functional Studies and 
Projects
During 2019, functional studies were carried out to 
reposition the Jardim Ângela station on Line 5-Lilac and 
the Taboão station on Line 4-Yellow.

The Guideline Project for the Chácara Klabin – Ipiranga 
expansion of Line 5-Lilac was completed, as well as the 
study of project alternatives for the expansion of the São 
Joaquim Station of Line 1-Blue and its connection with the 
Line 6-Orange Station, conceiving the design premises 
necessary for the development of the Basic Civil and 
Systems Project.

Work began on the development of the Guideline Project 
for Line 20-Pink, which connects the Lapa District to 
the municipality of Santo André, integrating the Metro’s 
1-Blue, 2-Green, 4-Yellow and 5-Lilac lines and the CPTM 
7-Ruby, 8-Diamond and 10-Turquoise lines.

There was also progress in the Impact Survey of the 
Expansion of Line 5-Lilac from Largo Tree to Chácara 
Klabin in the living and travel conditions of the 
populations in their areas of service. In 2019, a Qualitative 
Research was carried out for the 2nd phase of this study, 
which will continue in 2020 with a Quantitative Research. 

In line with the new strategies of the Company, studies 
were carried out on the volumetric analysis of associated 
developments for the Barra Funda Intermodal Complex, 
considering the densifi cation of the available land and 
better use of underutilized areas.
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Achievements 2019

Consolidated 
Metropolitan Transport 
Network and studies 
developed in 2019.
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Project development

•  Standardization of station architecture in cut 
and cover pit and central pit and platforms in 
conventional tunneling. 

•  Rolling Stock: technical specifi cation for the 
acquisition of 44 new trains for Line 2.

•  Control Center:
•  Preparation of the new architecture of the Operational 

Control Center (CCO) considering: Single SCADA 
database (Local and Central); 

•  Rolling Stock Control Station (CMR) for the maximum 
level of automation (UTO – GoA4), which represents 
unattended operation in all functionalities. 

•  Preparation of the specifi cation for necessary 
adjustments in the Rolling Stock and Systems of Lines 1, 
2 and 3 to reach the UTO automation level (GoA4).
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Achievements 2019

Investments – Expansion and Modernization
Line 1-Blue

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

20.2
23

1,432
125

46,900
58

1,010

 Under development:
- CBTC
- platform screen doors

Line 1-Blue Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

14.7
14

775
128

45,700
27

833

 Under development:
- CBTC
- platform screen doors

Line 2-Green Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

22.0
18

1,407
119

48,400
57

1,055

 Under development:
- CBTC
- platform screen doors

Line 3-Red Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km
amount

Passengers/business day
Seconds

Place/time/direction
Trains

Travels/business day

11.4
10

773
110

50,269
28

969

Line 4-Yellow

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

20.0
17

556
171

32,337
34

653

 Under development:
- platform screen doors

Line 5-Lilac Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

Inauguration of four stations:
- Jardim Planalto
- Sapopemba
- Fazenda da Junta
- São Mateus

12.7
10
73

180
20,000

27
590

Line 15-Silver Main Achievements
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Achievements 2019

The Vila Prudente – Dutra section, connecting Vila Prudente to the municipality of Guarulhos, is designed 
for an operational length of 13.9 km, 1 Maintenance Yard, 1 Parking Yard, 13 stations and 35 additional trains. 
Connections with other railway lines are planned:
•  Penha station, with Metro Line 3-Red and CPTM Line 11-Coral;
•  Tiquatira station, with CPTM Lines 12-Sapphire and 13-Jade;
•  Dutra station, with Metro Line 19-Sky Blue.

Line 2-Green

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

20.2
23

1,432
125

46,900
58

1,010

 Under development:
- CBTC
- platform screen doors

Line 1-Blue Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

14.7
14

775
128

45,700
27

833

 Under development:
- CBTC
- platform screen doors

Line 2-Green Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

22.0
18

1,407
119

48,400
57

1,055

 Under development:
- CBTC
- platform screen doors

Line 3-Red Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km
amount

Passengers/business day
Seconds

Place/time/direction
Trains

Travels/business day

11.4
10

773
110

50,269
28

969

Line 4-Yellow

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

20.0
17

556
171

32,337
34

653

 Under development:
- platform screen doors

Line 5-Lilac Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

Inauguration of four stations:
- Jardim Planalto
- Sapopemba
- Fazenda da Junta
- São Mateus

12.7
10
73

180
20,000

27
590

Line 15-Silver Main Achievements

Expansion: Line 2-Green, Vila Prudente – Dutra section

LINE 2-GREEN – VILA PRUDENTE – DUTRA SECTION
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Operating extension
Stations
Headway

Fleet (operational + reserve)

 km
amount

Seconds

Trains

8
8

100

22

Line 2-Green Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Headway
Fleet (operational + reserve)

 km
amount

Seconds

Trains

5.9
5

100

13

Line 2-Green Main Achievements

Achievements 2019

The deployment of the Penha – Dutra section remains suspended (Penha de 
França, Tiquatira, Paulo Freire, Ponte Grande and Dutra stations).

Resumption of the deployment of the Vila Prudente – Penha section 
(Vila Prudente, Orfanato, Água Rasa, Anália Franco, Guilherme Giorgi, 
Nova Manchester, Aricanduva and Penha stations).

Operating extension
Stations
Headway

Fleet (operational + reserve)

 km
amount

Seconds

Trains

8
8

100

22

Line 2-Green Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Headway
Fleet (operational + reserve)

 km
amount

Seconds

Trains

5.9
5

100

13

Line 2-Green Main Achievements
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Achievements 2019

Benefi ts
•  Serving residents of Vila Invernada, Jardim Anália 

Franco, Vila Formosa, Vila Carrão, Vila Manchester, 
Aricanduva and Penha (section between Vila 
Prudente and Penha) and Tiquatira in São Paulo 
and Ponte Grande, Vila Augusta and Dutra in 
Guarulhos (Penha-Dutra section).

•  Distribution of the concentrated passenger fl ow in 
the radial connection of the railway service: Metro 
Lines 3-Red and CPTM Lines 11-Coral, 12-Sapphire 
and 13-Jade. 

•  Distribution of travel fl ows on bus and private 
motorized transport from the various corridors in 
the area. 

•  Deployment of intermodal connection equipment, 
notably with the bus service.

•  Option to transfer on the rapid transit network, with 
its “arc”-like layout, minimizing the saturation of 
Lines 3-Red and 1-Blue.

Reductions

• Air pollutants: 182 tons/year

• Greenhouse gases: 18,580 tons/year

• Fuel consumption: 9.1 million liters/year

Project Progress

•  Demolition and maintenance services in progress in 
areas already “coming 
into possession”.

•  The executive projects concerning 
Lots 2 to 6 (since July 26, 2019) and Lot 1 
(since October 11, 2019) are under development.

The estimated demand for 2026 for the commercial 
operation of Line 2-Green, Vila Madalena – Penha 
Section is 1,092,220 passengers per business day. 
In 2032, with the Vila Madalena – Dutra Section 
in operation, Line 2-Green will have an estimated 
demand of 1,347,370 passengers 
per business day.
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Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

20.2
23

1,432
125

46,900
58

1,010

 Under development:
- CBTC
- platform screen doors

Line 1-Blue Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

14.7
14

775
128

45,700
27

833

 Under development:
- CBTC
- platform screen doors

Line 2-Green Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

22.0
18

1,407
119

48,400
57

1,055

 Under development:
- CBTC
- platform screen doors

Line 3-Red Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km
amount

Passengers/business day
Seconds

Place/time/direction
Trains

Travels/business day

11.4
10

773
110

50,269
28

969

Line 4-Yellow

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

20.0
17

556
171

32,337
34

653

 Under development:
- platform screen doors

Line 5-Lilac Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

Inauguration of four stations:
- Jardim Planalto
- Sapopemba
- Fazenda da Junta
- São Mateus

12.7
10
73

180
20,000

27
590

Line 15-Silver Main Achievements

Achievements 2019
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Line 4-Yellow 

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

20.2
23

1,432
125

46,900
58

1,010

 Under development:
- CBTC
- platform screen doors

Line 1-Blue Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

14.7
14

775
128

45,700
27

833

 Under development:
- CBTC
- platform screen doors

Line 2-Green Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

22.0
18

1,407
119

48,400
57

1,055

 Under development:
- CBTC
- platform screen doors

Line 3-Red Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km
amount

Passengers/business day
Seconds

Place/time/direction
Trains

Travels/business day

11.4
10

773
110

50,269
28

969

Line 4-Yellow

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

20.0
17

556
171

32,337
34

653

 Under development:
- platform screen doors

Line 5-Lilac Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

Inauguration of four stations:
- Jardim Planalto
- Sapopemba
- Fazenda da Junta
- São Mateus

12.7
10
73

180
20,000

27
590

Line 15-Silver Main Achievements

Achievements 2019

Expansion: Line 4-Yellow, phase 2: Luz – Vila Sônia Section

EXPANSION: LINE 4-YELLOW, PHASE 2, LUZ – VILA SÔNIA SECTION
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Achievements 2019

The Phase 2 – Luz – Vila Sônia Section project is 
designed for an operational extension of 12.8 km, 
with 11 stations, 1 Maintenance Yard and 29 trains, and 
its deployment was planned in two phases:

Phase 1

•  Completed in 2011, with 8.9 km and 6 stations in 
operation: Butantã, Pinheiros (connection with 
CPTM Line 9), Faria Lima, Paulista (connection with 
Line 2), República (connection with Line 3) and 
Luz (connection with Line 1 and with CPTM Lines 
7 and 11), in addition to the partial delivery of 1 
Maintenance Yard (Vila Sônia) and 14 trains.

Phase 2
•  Fradique Coutinho Station, in operation since 

November 15, 2014.

•  Higienópolis-Mackenzie Station, in operation since 
January 23, 2018.

•  Oscar Freire Station, in operation since April 4, 2018 
with access to the Jardins region. Access to the 
Clínicas region began operations on July 31, 2019.

•  São Paulo-Morumbi Station, in operation since 
October 27, 2018, with over 2.5 km.

•  Supplement to the train fl eet completed, 
amounting to 29 trains.

• Pátio Vila Sônia (supplement) delivered to the 
ViaQuatro concessionaire on October 31, 2019.

•  Deployment of the Vila Sônia Station, the Vila Sônia 
Bus Terminal and a 1.5 km tunnel extension.

Benefi ts
•  Connection between the Vila Sônia neighborhood, 

West zone, with the regions of Pinheiros, Paulista, 
Consolação and downtown São Paulo.

•  Connection to shopping malls in Butantã, Pinheiros, 
Faria Lima, Paulista and downtown São Paulo.

•  Easy access to medical centers such as Hospital 
das Clínicas, Instituto do Coração and Hospital do 
Câncer. 

•  Connection between Metro Lines 1, 2 and 3 and 
CPTM Lines 7, 9 and 11.
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Achievements 2019

Reductions
•  Air pollutants1: 

48 tons/year

•  Greenhouse gases1: 
4,819 tons/year

•  Fuel consumption1: 
2.3 million liters/year;

•  Expected headway 
of 115 seconds.

1The reductions presented refer to the expanding section of 

Line 4-Yellow, between São Paulo-Morumbi and Vila Sônia.

Project Progress:
•  The remaining civil works for the 4 stations of 

Phase 2, including the extension of the tunnel, were 
halted in 2015, in view of the termination of the 
contract, and resumed on July 12, 2016 after a new 
bid with expected delivery and completion in 2020.

•  The deployment of Electric Power Systems, 
Ancillary Systems (escalators, elevators, main 
ventilation, etc.), Telecommunications Systems, 
Platform Screen Doors (PSD), Turnstiles and Data 
Transmission System (STD) and Permanent Ways at 
Pátio Vila Sônia will also be completed by 2020.

•  The deployment of permanent ways at Vila Sônia 
Station and the extension of 1.5 km in a tunnel were 
agreed in contract on March 7, 2018 and are in 
progress.

•  The Concessionaire’s expected completion and 
delivery date for the Vila Sônia Station: November 
2020. 

The estimated demand for commercial operation of 
the complete Line 4-Yellow is 885,410 passengers 
per business day for 2020.

Supplementary works

•  Executive Project for the Civil Works for the 
Connection Tunnel between the Consolação (Line 
2-Green) and Paulista (Line 4-Yellow) Stations 
agreed in contract on May 10, 2019, under 
development.
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Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

20.2
23

1,432
125

46,900
58

1,010

 Under development:
- CBTC
- platform screen doors

Line 1-Blue Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

14.7
14

775
128

45,700
27

833

 Under development:
- CBTC
- platform screen doors

Line 2-Green Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

22.0
18

1,407
119

48,400
57

1,055

 Under development:
- CBTC
- platform screen doors

Line 3-Red Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km
amount

Passengers/business day
Seconds

Place/time/direction
Trains

Travels/business day

11.4
10

773
110

50,269
28

969

Line 4-Yellow

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

20.0
17

556
171

32,337
34

653

 Under development:
- platform screen doors

Line 5-Lilac Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

Inauguration of four stations:
- Jardim Planalto
- Sapopemba
- Fazenda da Junta
- São Mateus

12.7
10
73

180
20,000

27
590

Line 15-Silver Main Achievements

Achievements 2019

Line 5-Lilac

Expansion: Line 5-Lilac: Largo Tree – Chácara Klabin Section
The project on the Largo Tree – Chácara Klabin Section is designed for an operational 
extension of 11.5 km, with 11 stations, 1 maintenance yard and 26 additional trains.

EXPANSION: LINE 5-LILAC, LARGO TREZE – CHÁCARA KLABIN SECTION
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Achievements 2019

Deliveries in this section:
•  Largo Tree – Adolfo Pinheiro Section, with 1 station, 

in commercial operation since August 2014, having 
0.9 km.

•  Adolfo Pinheiro – Brooklin Section, with 3 stations, 
3.9 km in operation, Alto da Boa Vista, Borba Gato 
and Brooklin, opened on September 6, 2017.

•  Brooklin – Eucaliptos Section (exclusive Campo 
Belo), with 1 station, 2.9 km in operation, opened on 
March 2, 2018.

•  Eucaliptos – Moema Section, with 1 station, 1.0 km 
in operation, opened on April 5, 2018.

•  Moema – AACD-Servidor Section, 1.3 km in 
operation, with 1 station, opened on August 31, 
2018.

•  AACD-Servidor – Chácara Klabin Section, 2.5 km 
in operation, with 3 stations, Hospital São Paulo, 
Santa Cruz (interconnection with Line 1-Blue) and 
Chácara Klabin (interconnection with Line 2-Green), 
opened on September 28, 2018.

•  Campo Belo Station (upcoming interconnection 
with Line 17-Gold), opened on April 8, 2019.

•  Santo Amaro Viaduct (Campo Belo Station) 
delivered on December 18, 2018.

•  Rolling Stock: completed delivery of the 26 CAF 
trains completed on November 30, 2017 and made 
available for operation, after testing, at the Capão 
Redondo – Chácara Klabin section, on May 7, 2018.

•  Pátio Guido Caloi: Buildings/Blocks – Civil Works 
completed. Pending completion of testing and 
commissioning of the Signaling and Control System 
(SSC) for delivery to the Concessionaire.

•  Concession of Lines 5 and 17: contract entered into 
on April 5, 2018.
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Achievements 2019

The concession of Line 6-Orange was granted to the 
Move São Paulo Consortium by the Government of 
the State of São Paulo, and its works were halted 
on September 2, 2016 by unilateral decision by the 
Concessionaire.

Line 6-Orange

The São Paulo Metro has been carrying out studies for 
the technical feasibility of connecting Line 6-Orange 
with Line 1-Blue at the São Joaquim Station.
•  Preliminary study to enable the resumption of works 

and studies to defi ne the best contracting model.

Extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Total Fleet

 km
amount

Passengers/business day
Seconds

Trains

13.4
15

708
135
26

Line 6-Orange

Operating extension
Stations
Demand (2022 scenario)
Headway
Total Fleet

 km
amount

Passengers/business day
Seconds

Trains

6.7
8

171
180

14

Line 17-Gold Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Demand (2034 scenario)
Headway
Total Fleet

 km
amount

Passengers/business day
Seconds

Trains

27.0
28

1018
to be determined

33

...

Line 20-Pink Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Demand
Headway
Total Fleet

 km
amount

Passengers/business day
Seconds

Trains

17.6
15

621
105

31

Line 19-Sky Blue
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Achievements 2019

Line 15-Silver

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

20.2
23

1,432
125

46,900
58

1,010

 Under development:
- CBTC
- platform screen doors

Line 1-Blue Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

14.7
14

775
128

45,700
27

833

 Under development:
- CBTC
- platform screen doors

Line 2-Green Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

22.0
18

1,407
119

48,400
57

1,055

 Under development:
- CBTC
- platform screen doors

Line 3-Red Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km
amount

Passengers/business day
Seconds

Place/time/direction
Trains

Travels/business day

11.4
10

773
110

50,269
28

969

Line 4-Yellow

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

20.0
17

556
171

32,337
34

653

 Under development:
- platform screen doors

Line 5-Lilac Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Supply
Fleet (operational + reserve)
Scheduled travels

 km

amount

Passengers/business day

Seconds

Place/time/direction

Trains

Travels/business day

Inauguration of four stations:
- Jardim Planalto
- Sapopemba
- Fazenda da Junta
- São Mateus

12.7
10
73

180
20,000

27
590

Line 15-Silver Main Achievements

First deployment stage completed:

•  Vila Prudente – Oratório, having 2.24 km, with 2 
stations and a maintenance and parking yard, in 
commercial operation since August 10, 2015.

•  Oratório – São Mateus Section, having 10.50 km, 
with 8 stations, amounting to, from Vila Prudente to 
São Mateus, 12.74 km in operation and 10 stations:
•  Oratório – Vila União Section: 4 stations (São 

Lucas, Camilo Haddad, Vila Tolstói and Vila 
União), having 5.50 km, in operation since April 4, 
2018.

•  Vila União – Jardim Planalto Section: 1 station 
(Jardim Planalto), having 1.10 km, in operation 
since August 26, 2019. 

•  Jardim Planalto – São Mateus Section: 3 stations 
(Sapopemba, Fazenda da Juta and São Mateus), 
having 3.90 km, in operation since 16/12/2019.

•  The São Lucas Primary Substation was completed 
on May 5, 2018, which supplies power to the 
operational section. 
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Achievements 2019

Expansion: Line 15-Silver 
Ipiranga – Jacu-Pêssego Section

Line 15-Silver connects at Vila Prudente station with Line 2-Green 
and with Vila Prudente terminal, at Sapopemba station with 
Sapopemba/Teotônio Vilela terminal and at São Mateus station 
with EMTU’s ABCD Intermodal Corridor.

Second stage of deployment, in 
progress: 

São Mateus – Jardim Colonial section, having 1.8 km 
of operational extension and 1 station, the operation 
of which is expected for 2021, amounting to, from 
Vila Prudente to Jardim Colonial, 14.5 km in operation 
and 11 stations.

•  27 trains expected for the Vila Prudente – São 
Mateus Section were delivered in January 2017, 
of which 23 trains are available for commercial 
operation.

•  Iguatemi Primary Substation, under civil works.

•  Expected completion date:
•  São Mateus – Jardim Colonial Section (1 station): 

2021.

The estimated demand for commercial operation of 
the Vila Prudente – São Mateus section is 388,720 
passengers per business day.

The estimated demand for commercial operation of 
the Vila Prudente – Jardim Colonial section is 415,540 
passengers per business day, for the 2021 scenario.

EXPANSÃO: LINHA 15- PRATA, TRECHO VILA PRUDENTE–JARDIM COLONIAL
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Achievements 2019

Third stage of deployment, 
in progress: 

Extension of the line to both ends – west to Ipiranga 
and east to Jacu-Pêssego. With this layout, it will 
be known as Line 15-Silver: Ipiranga – Jacu-Pêssego 
Section with Pátio Ragueb Chohfi .

These extensions are designed to:

•  1.8 km in operation, 1 station (Ipiranga).

•  2.8 km in operation, 2 stations (Boa Esperança and 
Jacu-Pêssego) and 1 parking and maintenance yard 
(Ragueb Chohfi ).

Project Progress:

•  Ipiranga – Vila Prudente (exclusive) Section: 
•  Basic Project of the elevated track under 

development.
•  Ipiranga Station: Executive Project under 

development.

•  Jardim Colonial (exclusive) – Jacu-Pêssego and 
Pátio Ragueb Chohfi  Section: 
•  Basic Project of the stations and Yard under 

review.

•  Areas required for deployment of the stations and 
yard are expropriated.

Note: Contracting of works for the Vila Prudente–
Ipiranga section expected for 2020.

Expected completion date: 2024.

The estimated demand for commercial operation of 
the Ipiranga – Vila Prudente (exclusive) and Jardim 
Colonial (exclusive) – Jacu-Pêssego sections is 
511,570 passengers, for the 2024 scenario.

The section from Jacu-Pêssego, with service to 
Cidade Tiradentes, is under analysis, since it depends 
on joint actions with PMSP, particularly with regard 
to the widening of the Iguatemi Road.

Concession:

The process for concession of Line 15-Silver, the 
bidding process of which opened on March 11, 
2019, was annulled in court, in accordance with the 
judgment published in the Electronic Journal of 
Courts of November 28, 2019, in respect of Case No. 
1010621-16.2019.8.26.0053 – Court of Appeals of the 
State of São Paulo.
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Achievements 2019

Line 17-Gold: Jd. Aeroporto – Congonhas – Morumbi Section.

The Jardim Aeroporto – Congonhas – Morumbi 
(monorail) Section project is designed for an 
extension of 6.7 km in operation, 1 parking and 
maintenance yard, 8 stations and 14 trains, and will 
interconnect with the CPTM Line 9-Emerald at the 
Morumbi Station, with Metro Line 5-Lilac at the 

Campo Belo Station and Congonhas Airport at the 
Congonhas Station.

Benefi ts

•  Less travel times. 

•  Low volume of expropriations as it is located on the 
axis of avenues, freeing the road system for other 
vehicles. 

•  Use of electric traction (does not emit gases), tires 
(low noise) and thin and light frameworks.

•  Non-pendular line, with constant loading in both 
directions.

Extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Total Fleet

 km
amount

Passengers/business day
Seconds

Trains

13.4
15

708
135
26

Line 6-Orange Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Demand (2022 scenario)
Headway
Total Fleet

 km
amount

Passengers/business day
Seconds

Trains

6.7
8

171
180

14

Line 17-Gold

Operating extension
Stations
Demand
Headway
Total Fleet

 km
amount

Passengers/business day
Seconds

Trains

17.6
15

621
105

31

Line 19-Sky Blue

Operating extension
Stations
Demand (2034 scenario)
Headway
Total Fleet

 km
amount

Passengers/business day
Seconds

Trains

27.0
28

1018
to be determined

33

Line 20-Pink
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Achievements 2019

Reductions:

• Reduced pollutant emissions:
727 tons/year;

•  Reduced greenhouse gases: 
75,197 tons/year;

•  Reduced fuel consumption: 
37.1 million liters/year.

Project Progress:

•  Civil works at Pátio Água Espraiada and 7 stations 
in progress: Congonhas, Brooklin Paulista, Vereador 
José Diniz, Campo Belo, Vila Cordeiro, Chucri 
Zaidan and Morumbi.

•  The works at the Jardim Aeroporto station, which 
have been halted, are under new bidding.

•  The contract of the Monorail Integration 
Consortium – CMI (Andrade Gutierrez, CR Almeida 
and SCOMI), which includes the works of the 
railways, signaling, rolling stock (14 trains), platform 
screen doors, was terminated on May 1, 2019, 
and will be resumed with 2 new contracts under 
bidding:

•  Remaining civil works for the stations, the Yard and 
the track: expected to be entered into in the fi rst 
quarter of 2020.

•  Remaining systems of stations, Yard and track 
(Signaling, Platform Screen Doors and Rolling 
Stock): expected to be entered into in the fi rst 
quarter of 2020.

•  Morumbi Station: structural work of the station 
body and access and assembly of the metal 
structure of the interconnection mezzanine under 
progress.

•  CAF fi nancing (up to US$ 296 million): contract 
entered into on October 7, 2019 between GESP and 
CAF.

Expected completion date:

•  Expected delivery of Section 1, Jardim Aeroporto 
– Congonhas – Morumbi, for the Via Mobilidade 
Consortium for 2022.

The estimated demand for commercial operation 
of section 1 is 171,150 passengers per business day, 
for the 2022 scenario (partial operation from 2021 
onwards under analysis).

Concession of Lines 5-Lilac and 17-Cold: contract 
entered into on April 5, 2018.
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Achievements 2019

Line 19-Sky Blue: Anhangabaú – Bosque Maia Section.

Extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Total Fleet

 km
amount

Passengers/business day
Seconds

Trains

13.4
15

708
135
26

Line 6-Orange Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Demand (2022 scenario)
Headway
Total Fleet

 km
amount

Passengers/business day
Seconds

Trains

6.7
8

171
180

14

Line 17-Gold

Operating extension
Stations
Demand
Headway
Total Fleet

 km
amount

Passengers/business day
Seconds

Trains

17.6
15

621
105

31

Line 19-Sky Blue

Operating extension
Stations
Demand (2034 scenario)
Headway
Total Fleet

 km
amount

Passengers/business day
Seconds

Trains

27.0
28

1018
to be determined

33

Line 20-Pink

Line 19-Sky Blue, Anhangabaú Station – Bosque 
Maia Station is designed for an operational extension 
of 17.6 km, 15 stations, 1 Vila Medeiros parking and 
maintenance yard, Bosque Maia, Catumbi and Bixiga 
parking lots, 19 Ventilation wells and Emergency 
exists – VSE and 2 Primary Substations. 

It comprises services to the city of Guarulhos (the 
second most populous city in the state of São Paulo) 
in addition to the neighborhoods of Vila Medeiros, 
Vila Maria and Pari, connecting them to downtown 
São Paulo.

Connections are planned with Line 3-Red 
(Anhangabaú Station), Line 1-Blue (São Bento 
Station) and Line 2-Green (Dutra Station) and with 
CPTM on Line 11-Coral (Pari Station).

Reductions:

•  Reduced pollutant emissions2: 
320 tons/year;

•  Reduced greenhouse gases3: 
32,792 tons/year;

•  Reduced fuel consumption3: 
16.1 million liters/year.

2The reductions presented refer to the section between Pari and Jardim Julieta, of Line 19-Sky Blue

Project Progress
•  Functional Project for Line 19-Sky Blue approved.

•  EIA-RIMA for the Anhangabaú-Bosque Maia section 
designed to fi nance the request for the Prior 
License for the project.
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Extension
Stations
Passengers carried
Headway
Total Fleet

 km
amount

Passengers/business day
Seconds

Trains

13.4
15

708
135
26

Line 6-Orange Main Achievements

Operating extension
Stations
Demand (2022 scenario)
Headway
Total Fleet

 km
amount

Passengers/business day
Seconds

Trains

6.7
8

171
180

14

Line 17-Gold

Operating extension
Stations
Demand
Headway
Total Fleet

 km
amount

Passengers/business day
Seconds

Trains

17.6
15

621
105

31

Line 19-Sky Blue

Operating extension
Stations
Demand (2034 scenario)
Headway
Total Fleet

 km
amount

Passengers/business day
Seconds

Trains

27.0
28

1018
to be determined

33

Line 20-Pink

Achievements 2019

Line 20-Pink: Lapa – Prefeito Saladino Section.

•  Contract entered into for mapping and recording 
public network installations of concessionaires, 
permit holders and municipal government agencies.

•  Geotechnical investigations and surveys (1 contract) 
and registration topographic survey of the railway 

system and building alignment (1 contract) under 
bidding process. 

•  Basic Project (Civil and Systems) under valuation 
phase and will be implemented considering 
Building Information Modeling.
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Achievements 2019

Line 20-Pink – Lapa – Mayor Saladino was designed 
to interconnect the Lapa, Pinheiros, Faria Lima, Itaim 
Bibi, Vila Olímpia and Moema sub-centers with the 
São Judas – Jabaquara region and the ABC (Santo 
André, São Bernardo and São Caetano do Sul) 
industrial region.

With a perimeter layout, important for the 
articulation of the radial axes, this line will structure 
the railway network and the transport corridors, 
connecting the West, Southwest and South 
regions of the municipality of São Paulo with the 
municipalities of São Bernardo do Campo and Santo 
André in the Southeast region of the Metropolitan 
Area of São Paulo.

It will be implemented in two stages, Lapa – São 
Judas and São Judas – Prefeito Saladino (Santo 
André) of the CPTM Line 10-Turquoise, prioritizing 
the Lapa – São Judas Section, with an approximate 
operational extension of 15 km, 17 stations and 1 
parking and maintenance yard.

Project Progress:

The Functional Project is under bidding.
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PSDs Installed

PSDs to contract 

Line 1-Blue

Line 2-Green

Line 3- Red

Line 5-Lilac
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Achievements 2019

System Modernization 
Platform Screen Doors – Lines 1-Blue, 
2-Green, 3-Red and 5-Lilac

Agreed in contract in 2019, the deployment of the 
platform screen doors of 36 stations (88 facades) of 
Lines 1-Blue, 2-Green and 3-Red will benefit from the 
following:
•  Decreased delays.

•  Increased train speed in the platform region.

•  Reduced risk of suicide and people falling  
on the track.

•  Reduced falling objects on the track and reduced 
risk of fire caused as a result.

•  Reduced risk of passengers on the platform being 
injured while train departs.
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Achievements 2019

Deployment Progress

In June 2019, on-premise inspections were carried 
out at the stations. Technical documentation – 
executive projects and the Design Review under 
development.

In December 2019, doors at the Adolfo Pinheiro, 
Brooklin, AACD-Servidor, Santa Cruz and Hospital 
São Paulo stations were in operation.

Expected deliveries:
•  8 stations on Line 5-Lilac (16 facades) and 

3 stations on Line 3-Red (8 facades) ......................................2020 

•  10 stations on Line 3-Red (26 facades) and
4 stations on Line 5-Lilac (8 facades) ..................................... 2021

•  11 stations on Line 1-Blue and 
2 stations on Line 3-Red (26 façades) .................................... 2022

•  10 stations on Line 1-Blue and
2 stations on Line 2-Green (28 façades) ................................ 2023

Signaling and Control System.

The new CBTC - Communication-Based Train Control 
signaling and control system is under implementation on 
Lines 2-Green, 1-Blue and 3-Red.
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Achievements 2019

Deployment of the fi nal version of the 
control software is expected to: 
Line 2-Green – January 2020.
Line 1-Blue – August 2020.
Line 3-Red – July 2021.
  
On Line 2-Green, the last tests of the fi nal version 
of the CBTC system are under progress. The system 
should be operational in early 2020, allowing future 
interconnection of trains between Lines 1-Blue, 
2-Green and 3-Red.

On Lines 1-Blue and 3-Red, some equipment is 
being installed, tested and released for commercial 
operation, such as: new hydraulic switch machinery, 
telephone system, data transmission system, 
uninterrupted power system, among others.

These new equipment and systems will improve 
the overall operational performance, reducing 
maintenance costs.

Corporate Project O�  ce – Corporate 
PMO

The management processes implemented in the 
expansion projects have been deeply reassessed and 
revised, incorporating the improvements identifi ed in 
the scope of the Business Planning; and, accordingly, 
the Expansion Project Management Guide, published 
in its fi rst edition in 2013, was revised with the aim of 
guiding managers and teams on the methodology 
and ensuring excellence in management, and its 
second edition is scheduled for release in February 
2020.

Governance of Special Initiatives and 
Projects

Governance was instituted to guarantee the 
development of Special Initiatives and Projects 
aiming at their maturity for the decision-making as 
to whether or not to proceed with these initiatives or 
projects.
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Achievements 2019

Project Risk Management

The concepts and methods of Project Risk Management (Corporate Project O¥  ce – Corporate 
PMO) are made compatible with Corporate Risk Management (Management of Corporate Risk, 
Information Security and Compliance), improving the Company’s governance.

Corporate event evidenced the importance of the Risk Management process for the successful 
outcome of recent deliveries in respect of the expansion projects.
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59 certifi cations by the Project Management Institute 
PMI

•  54 PMPs (15 new certifi cations in 2019)

•  3 PMI-RMP certifi cations for 
Risk Management Professional

•  1 CAPM certifi cation for 
Certifi ed Associate in Project Management

•  1 ACP certifi cation for 
Agile Certifi ed Practitioner

Achievements 2019

Certifi cations

The PMP (Project Management Professional), CAPM 
(Certifi ed Associate in Project Management), PMI-
RMP (PMI Risk Management Professional) and PMI-
ACP (Agile Certifi ed Practitioner) certifi cations are 
some of those granted by the Project Management 
Institute – PMI, one of the largest and the most 
recognized certifying associations of project 
management professionals in the world. 

A professional certifi cation evidences and formalizes 
the knowledge, skills and conducts, previously 
defi ned as standard, for a given competence.

Corporate Risk Management

Law No. 13,303, of June 30, 2016, provides that 
government-owned companies and government-
controlled companies adopt risk management and 
internal control structures and practices. 

In 2018, Companhia do Metrô established, directly 
associated with the Presidency, the Management 
of Corporate Risk, Information Security and 
Compliance, in order to manage the process of 
identifying, assessing and reducing risks; propose 
measures to improve internal controls, information 
security and compliance and verify their application.

In accordance with the State-Owned Companies 
Law (Law No. 13.303/2016), the Company has 
implemented rules for corporate risk management 
structures and practices in order to contribute to the 
e¥  ciency in the provision of public services.

The Corporate Risk Management Policy and 
Regulation were approved, which provide 
guidelines, concepts and responsibilities in the 
identifi cation, assessment, treatment, monitoring 
and communication of risks in the corporate 
environment.

This process is carried out by the Board of Directors, 
Audit Committee, Executive Board, Corporate Risk 
Management Committee, Management and other 
employees, with the purpose of promoting means 
so that uncertainties do not divert the organization’s 
e� orts from its objectives.
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Achievements 2019

The Work Planning involved the activities of: 
systematic training of teams, identifi cation, 
assessment, defi nition of treatment, preparation of 
action plans and mapping of relevant risks in 56% of 
its processes.

The risk events were identifi ed, assessed from the 
perspective of impact and probability, considering 
the possible causes, consequences, existing controls 
and treatment. The Risk Map and its authorities, 
regarding treatment, are represented in the following 
fi gure:

Risk Matrix for Contracting 
Engineering Works and Services

In order to comply with Article 42, Item X of Federal 
Law No. 13.303/2016, joint activities with engineering 
contract managers, a model of the Map and Risk 
Matrix was developed for contracting Engineering 
Works and Services. 

Regulations and the Normative Instrument for 
the preparation of the Risk Matrix, the structure 
of Integrated Risk and Crisis Management and 
the fl owchart of the activities and duties of the 
Organizational Units were also prepared, as well 
as a survey of the factors/causes that gave rise to 
amendments in engineering contracts, aiming at 
recording Corporate Risks in a portfolio that will be 
made available for consultation by Organizational 
Units.
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Achievements 2019

Operation and Maintenance
A thorough job in which no detail goes unnoticed.

The operation and maintenance of the rapid 
transit system is based on three guidelines:

•  Improved performance. 

•  Improved service image. 

•  Cost reduction.

To improve the operational performance of 
the services o�ered, a permanent working 
group was created to monitor the fulfillment 
of the expected o�er and any occurrences 
involving the main systems, prioritizing 
preventive actions, particularly those related 
to the performance of trains.

The actions included the training of train 
operators to act more quickly and e�ectively 
in operational events, as well as the 
improvement of preventive and corrective 
maintenance processes for trains, with focus 
on the door system, promoting a constant 
increase in MKBF (mean time between 
failures) of train fleets throughout 2019. 
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Achievements 2019

To achieve the objective of improving the service 
image, actions were taken that took place on two 
fronts: the fi rst, focusing on employee service; and 
the second, aiming to o� er a quality environment 
to customers and our employees. With focus on 
improving employee service, a brand was established 
in 2018 in order to implement, in a homogeneous 
manner, the service delivery model based on 
kindness, warmth and courtesy, the Metro way of 
serving the customer:

Continuing the actions already implemented, a new 
program was put into practice in 2019: “Atmosfera, 
eu transformo!” (Atmosphere, I Change).

Developed jointly by employees of the station, tra¥  c, 
safety, engineering and passenger relations teams 
and structured to bring out the best emotions in 
customer service, the program was applied to 4,000 
employees between the months of June and October 
of 2019. 

From the rescue of the emotions experienced by the 
participants in positive service experiences in service 
companies, the values   to be internalized during 
the service to the passengers were connected, 
stimulating employees to create a pleasant, warm 
and welcoming atmosphere in all moments of 
contact with passengers.

In order to o� er a quality environment for our 
passengers and employees, a program to renew 
the stations was implemented based on guidelines 
related to modernizing the service in order to 
achieve greater recognition by passengers. 

A total of 15 stations were renewed, 6 of them 
in 2019: Portuguesa-Tietê, Santa Cruz, Santa 
Cecília, Bresser-Mooca, Belém and Tatuapé. The 
improvements included: adoption of more e¥  cient, 
economical LED lamps, painting the internal and 
external areas, changing glass, adapting visual 
communication, etc.
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Achievements 2019

Passenger demand.
Speed   and safety for more 
than 4 million people a day.

In 2019, Companhia do Metrô reported 854 million 
passengers on its network. 

Considering the transfers between lines at the Sé, 
Paraíso, Ana Rosa and Vila Prudente stations, this 
number reaches 1,098 million passengers carried, 
representing an increase of 0.6% in relation to the 
previous year, even with the concession of the 
operation of Line 5-Lilac to ViaMobilidade as of 
August 4, 2018. 

On business days, the average demand reported 
was 3.7 million passengers carried, a stable number 
compared to 2018. The increased demand was 
mainly due to the beginning of transfers with Line 
5-Lilac at Santa Cruz and Chácara Klabin stations 
in September 2018 and the expansion of the 
commercial operation of Line 15-Silver from Vila 
Prudente to Vila União in December 2018, reaching 
São Mateus in December 2019.

On weekends, demand remained stable compared 
to the previous year, with an average of 2.1 million 
passengers carried on Saturdays and 1.2 million on 
Sundays.

The following shows the evolution of the average 
number of passengers carried per business day on 
the rapid transit network in the last 10 years.
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Line 15-Silver was the one that showed the highest 
growth in total demand in the year: 270%. Opened 
on August 10, 2015, operating the Vila Prudente-
Oratório section, the line had its commercial 
operation expanded with the inauguration of four 
new stations: São Lucas, Camilo Haddad, Vila Tolstói 
and Vila União in December 18. 

In 2019, there was a new expansion, with four 
stations inaugurated: the Jardim Planalto station in 
August 19 and the Sapopemba, Fazenda da Juta 
and São Mateus stations in December 19, resulting 
in a total of 20.7 million passengers carried in 2019, 
compared to 5.6 million in 2018. The average on 
business days grew from 22 thousand passengers 
carried in 2018 to 73 thousand in 2019, an increase of 
232% on business days. 

Evolution of passengers carried1 (average working days)

Achievements 2019
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Achievements 2019

The other lines also grew in 2019: Line 1-Blue reached 
the average number of 1.432 million passengers 
carried on business days, while Line 2-Green carried 
775 thousand passengers and Line 3-Red 1.407 
million passengers. 

In 2018, these averages were 1.406 million, 692 
thousand and 1.414 million, respectively. 

In 2019, the three lines carried a total of 3.614 
million passengers, representing an increase of 2.9% 
compared to 2018, when 3.512 million passengers 
were carried.

In 2019, the Unifi ed Ticket (Bilhete Único – BU) 
reached an average of 1.614 million uses on business 
days, corresponding to 56.0% of the total number of 
entries in the network. The Metropolitan Bus Ticket 
(Bilhete Ônibus Metropolitano – BOM) reported an 
average of 180 thousand tickets on business days, 
representing 6.3% of the total. 

The use of Edmonson Tickets accounted for 10.8% 
and the other entries (26.9%) are represented by 
the transfers of passengers from CPTM, ViaQuatro, 
ViaMobilidade stations and from EMTU terminals 
next to Capão Redondo and Campo Limpo stations.

QR Code Ticket
Pilot project to implement the QR Code Ticket to 
gradually replace the Edmonson Ticket.

It is technology making your life easier.

On September 3, 2019, the pilot project for the sale of 
the QR Code Ticket started at ticket windows of the 
São Judas, Paraíso and Pedro II stations, from 9 am to 
4 pm, with two turnstiles enabled for entry to the new 
system at each station. 

From September 21, 2019, the time for selling the QR 
Code Ticket at the ticket windows in these stations 
has been extended to the entire period of business 
hours. During the month of November 2019, the QR 
Code ticket started to be accepted at all stations in the 
system.

The QR Code ticket can be purchased at the 
automated machines available at all stations, via 
mobile application and at the ticket windows of the 
São Judas, Paraíso and Pedro II stations.

The average number of entries, with the QR Code 
ticket, reached 3,100 entries on business days in the 
period from September to December 2019.
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Achievements 2019

Metro meets passenger demand without losing sight of the 
quality of services.

In the São Paulo Metro, 34% of the total departures occur between the hours of 7:00 
am to 9:00 am and from 5:00 pm to 7:00 pm, known as rush hours. At these times, all 
available trains in the fl eet are put into operation, ensuring maximum e¥  ciency to the 
system, covering demand and comfort for passengers.
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Achievements 2019

Passengers Carried – 2019 x 2018 (thousands)

Daily Average

Average on business days
Average on Saturdays
Average on Sundays
Maximum daily average

  1,406 
 815 

 468 
 1,611 

  692 
 318 

 205 
 804 

  1,414 
 862 
 517 

 1,571 

   22 
 7 
 3 

 37 

 288 
 165 
 74 

 335 

 3,704 
 2,095 
 1,235 
 4,105 

Annual Total  415,466  197,762  423,429   5,567 49,796 1,092.020

1

1 Data for the period from January 1 to August 3, 2018. As of August 4, 2018, Line 5-Lilac started to be operated under a concession 
regime by the ViaMobilidade consortium. 

The Total Network does not coincide with the sum of the line averages due to the beginning of commercial operation in a new station in a 
di�erent month. 

Daily Average

Average on business days
Average on Saturdays
Average on Sundays
Maximum daily average

 1,432 
 834 
 482 

 1,558 

 775 
 354 
 229 
 853 

 1,407 
 862 
 502 

 1,512 

  73 
 29 
 18 
 96 

 -   
 -   
 -   
 -   

3,687 
 2,078 
 1,231 

 3,992 

Annual Total  428,107  224,339  424,867   20,727 - 1,098,040

2018

Line 15
Silver

Total
Network

Line 3
Red

Line 5
Lilac

Line 2
Green

Demand Line 1
Blue

2019
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Achievements 2019

Transport o® er

Metro’s supply structure seeks to meet the demand 
of each line with the premises of operational 
e¥  ciency, availability of control and fl eet so that the 
entire rapid transit system operates with maximum 
capacity adjusted to demand at di� erent times of 
the day.

This aims to achieve a high degree of e¥  ciency 
in operation and maintenance, with a higher level 
of comfort and passenger satisfaction. Several 
operational strategies are adopted in order to enable 
passengers to travel faster.
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Number of trains in operation
Rush hour 41 27 41 10

Slack period 35 17 35 7

Business day

Headway
Rush hour 125 128 119 180

Slack period

Rush hour

Slack period

Rush hour

Slack period

141 194 137 248

Scheduled travels/day 1,010 833 1,055 590

Supply during rush hours (places/time/direction) 46,900 45,700 48,400 20,000

Line 15
Silver

Line 3
Red

Line 2
GreenScheduled Supply – 2019

Line 1
Blue

¹ Capacity of 6 standing passengers per m².
² Capacity of 4 standing passengers per m².   

Number of trains in operation
31 12 34 6

29 12 27 6

Saturday

Headway
158 270 140 295

169 270 171 295

Scheduled travels/day 762 536 767 474

Supply during rush hours (places/time/direction) 26,7000 15,700 29,700 8,600

24 11 18 6

18 11 16 6

Sunday

203 295 229 295

271 295 257 295

531 477 525 458

26,7000 15,700 18,200 8,600

Rush hour

Slack period

Rush hour

Slack period

Number of trains in operation

Headway

Scheduled travels/day

Supply during rush hours (places/time/direction)
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System and Equipment Performance

The performance of systems and equipment is 
measured by operational indicators determined 
in the processes certifi ed by NBR ISO 9001:2015 
and covers the availability of rolling stock, fi xed 
equipment, permanent way, structures and civil 
installations.

Rolling Stock

To meet the requirements of the hourly schedule 
imposed by the demand for transport, preventive, 
corrective maintenance processes and improvements 
in the subsystems constituting the rolling stock are 
developed, which undergo modernizations and 
modifi cations, in order to guarantee performance 
and operational safety.

Achievements 2019

1The transfer stations Ana Rosa and Paraíso (Line 1-Blue and Line 2-Green) and Sé (Line 1-Blue and Line 3-Red) are accounted 
for on both lines they are part of, but only once in the total numbers of the network. The Vila Prudente stations on Line 2-Green 
and Line 15-Silver are physically independent, therefore, they were considered individually in the total of lines.

TOTAL

TOTAL Extension in 
Operation - km

Number of 
Stations 1 

km traveled 
by trains

Passengers 
carried

Line 1-Blue

Line 2-Green

Line 3-Red

Line 15-Silver

20.18

14.70

22.04

12.74

69.66

23

14

18

10

62

6,145,156

3,733,903

7,098,816

1,254,823

18,232,698

20.18

14.70

22.04

12.74

69.66

1 The transfer stations Ana Rosa and Paraíso (Line 1-Blue and Line 2-Green) and Sé (Line 1-Blue and Line 3-Red) are accounted for on both lines they are 
part of, but only once in the total numbers of the network. The Vila Prudente stations on Line 2-Green and Line 15-Silver are physically independent, 
therefore, they were considered individually in the total of lines.
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Achievements 2019

Availability of Trains for Service during Rush Hour

The supply of trains is measured by the availability index at rush hours, the goal 
of which is to ensure compliance with the percentage established for all lines in 
operation. The results obtained in 2019 are shown in the table below:

Permanent Way

The name “permanent way” defi nes the set of 
equipment and facilities allowing the movement 
and circulation of trains. It essentially consists of 
continuously welded rails, seated on tie plates 
fi xed on longitudinal concrete beams in the tunnel 

sections and elevated or supported on prestressed 
concrete ties in the ballast sections or wooden ties in 
the regions where the turnouts are located.

1Data for the period from January to July 2018. As of August, Line 5-Lilac started to be operated under a concession 
regime by ViaMobilidade.

Line

1-Blue

2-Green

3-Red

5-Lilac1

Goal %

98.0

98.0

98.0

97.0

2016 (%)

99.4

99.6

98.9

97.3

2017 (%)

99.3

99.8

98.9

97.5

2018 (%)

99.5

99.9

98.8

99.8

2019 (%)

98.7

100.0

99.3

-

¹Data for the period from January to July 2018.As of August, Line 5-Lilac started to be operated 
under a concession regime by ViaMobilidade.

Availability of Trains for Service during Rush Hours
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Achievements 2019

One of the indicators used to assess the availability of the track is the number 
of delays of more than fi ve minutes in clearing the railway for the start of 
commercial operation. In 2019, several actions were implemented so that the 
indicators are signifi cantly better in the coming years.

Permanent Way Availability

Signaling

This system consists of several electronic and 
electronic equipment and is intended for the 
control and distribution of trains along the track, 
with the maximum supply of travel and safety, as it 
was conceived and implemented with the fail-safe 
concept, analyzed and approved by specialized and 
independent entities.

The availability of the signaling system can also be 
assessed together with permanent way equipment 
using an indicator that represents the duration of 
restrictions on the circulation of trains on the track, 
estimated in minutes/month. 

In 2019, several actions were taken in order to 
improve the indicators of equipment availability and 
reliability.

1Data for the period from January to July 2018. As of August, Line 5-Lilac started to be operated under a concession 
regime by ViaMobilidade.

Line

1-Blue

2-Green

3-Red

5-Lilac1

2016

0.3

0.2

0.6

0.2

2017

0.3

0.4

0.9

0.1

2018

0.3

0.3

0.9

0.3

2019

0.5

0.3

0.3

0

1 Data for the period from January to July 2018.As of August, Line 5-Lilac started to be operated 
under a concession regime by ViaMobilidade.

Goal (<)

1 delay/month

1 delay/month

1 delay/month

1 delay/month
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Achievements 2019

Signaling system availability

Power supply

The power supply system consists of primary, 
rectifying and ancillary electrical substations and 
energy distribution systems for trains known as 
“3rd rail” and “overhead network”, as well as the 
equipment involved in each subsystem, such as: 
lightning rods, circuit breakers, disconnectors, power 
transformers, TP potential transformers, TV current 

transformers, busbars, cubicles and panels, power 
cables, busbars on the 3rd rail and overhead network 
cables and accessories.

The availability of the power supply system is 
measured by the duration of the monthly power 
restrictions (in minutes) in commercial operation. The 
result of the last few years is shown below.

1Data for the period from January to July 2018. As of August, Line 5-Lilac started to be operated under a concession 
regime by ViaMobilidade.

Line

1-Blue

2-Green

3-Red

5-Lilac1

Goal

250 min

250 min

350 min

200 min

2016

84.0

75.5

170.5

130.0

2017

58.8

25.5

156.0

136.4

2018

100.9

45.6

160.1

203.,4

2019

174.3

161.4

162.9

-
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Achievements 2019

Power supply system availability 

Ancillary station equipment

This system consists of a great variety and diversity 
of equipment, each one with its specifi c function 
and importance for the operating system and 
the performance of which has been shown to be 
satisfactory in recent years. 

The result of the escalators is noteworthy due to its 
importance in the movement of passengers in the 
stations. 
For process control purposes, availability is 
monitored by line. All lines presented indicators that 
fully meet the established goals.

1Data for the period from January to July 2018. As of August, Line 5-Lilac started to be operated under a concession 
regime by ViaMobilidade.

Line

1-Blue

2-Green

3-Red

5-Lilac1

2016

14.2

7.80

26.6

20.7

2017

8.5

5.7

1.8

0.0

2018

6.5

8.9

3.6

12.7

2019

4.0

12.5

11.8

-

Line

1-Blue

2-Green

3-Red

5-Lilac1

2016 (%)

99.6

98.6

99.4

99.5

2017 (%)

99.6

98.8

99.3

99.4

2018 (%)

99.4

98.2

98.9

98.4

2019 (%)

99.6

98.6

99.4

-

Goal

50 min

35 Min

55 min

30 min

Goal %

99

97

98.7

98.3
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Escalator availability

Achievements 2019

Digital asset management

Digital asset management is a technological reality 
that has been implemented by the São Paulo Metro 
to increase e¥  ciency in maintenance activities and 
operational performance.

To this end, sensors are being developed to collect 

information on temperature, voltage, current, power, 
vibration and other variables, which are monitored at 
the Maintenance Control Center (CCM). 

The scope of the monitoring system includes switch 
machines, escalators, platform screen doors, power 
supplies, air conditioning, negative ground, among 
others.

1Data for the period from January to July 2018. As of August, Line 5-Lilac started to be operated under a concession 
regime by ViaMobilidade.

Line

1-Blue

2-Green

3-Red

5-Lilac1

2016

14.2

7.80

26.6

20.7

2017

8.5

5.7

1.8

0.0

2018

6.5

8.9

3.6

12.7

2019

4.0

12.5

11.8

-

Line

1-Blue

2-Green

3-Red

5-Lilac1

2016 (%)

99.6

98.6

99.4

99.5

2017 (%)

99.6

98.8

99.3

99.4

2018 (%)

99.4

98.2

98.9

98.4

2019 (%)

99.6

98.6

99.4

-

Goal

50 min

35 Min

55 min

30 min

Goal %

99

97

98.7

98.3
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Achievements 2019

The monitored variables assist in the analysis of 
condition or prescriptive maintenance, the main 
objective of which is preventing failures.

The project, which is in the implementation phase, 
foresees that in the coming years, based on the 

information collected, the knowledge of the systems 
and the use of artifi cial intelligence, it will be possible 
to control fully the functioning of the equipment 
and to act in a planned, more assertive manner in 
operating assets.

MC

. Vibration

. Current

. Pressure

. Image

Ground negative

. Current

. Voltage

. Power

. Temperature

Ventilation

. Vibration

. Current

. Pressure

. Temperature

ER

. Vibration

. Current

. Pressure

. Temperature

. Existing alarms

PSD

. Pressão

. Image

. Motor temperature

. Current curve

. Existing alarms

Power Supplies
ILK/MUX/CBTC Air conditioning

. Temperature

. Voltage

. Current curve

. Voltage

. Ripple

. Current

. Temperature

MC Ground negative Ventilation ER PSD Power Supplies
ILK/MUX/CBTC Air conditioning
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The Metro never stops. Especially 
when it comes to new business.

The Company has been dedicated to planning and 
enhancing the commercial exploitation of its – 
current and future – assets. 

Aiming to expand business opportunities 
supplementary to the rapid transit operation in order 
to maximize the collection of non-fare revenues, 
in addition to the appreciation of its assets, a 
Commercial Board was created and the scope of 
business was expanded with the o� er of ‘Metro 
Consulting’ consulting services.

In this area, Metro operates in the following 
segments:

Consulting and services 

Prospecting and providing high value-added services 
for the railway segment. 

Metro Consulting gathers all the expertise and 
knowledge acquired and accumulated in the more 
than 50 years of existence of Metro-SP, which 
developed and made this company the largest and 
best metro in Brazil, recognized internationally.

Property Development 

Development and exploitation of new developments 
built in the areas remaining to the implementation 
of the rapid transit network, such as shopping malls, 
bus terminals, parking lots, among others.

Retail

Exploitation of spaces inside urban stations and 
terminals for stores, kiosks, promotional activities, 
among others.

Advertising

Exploitation of spaces in stations, trains and tunnels 
to place advertising campaigns.

Telecommunications

Exploitation of station and tunnel spaces for the 
development of telecommunication projects focused 
on providing users with greater availability of access 
to telephone, internet and fi ber optic services.

Achievements 2019

Ancillary Business and Revenue
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Achievements 2019

New revenues

Obtaining ancillary revenues plays an important role 
in the pursuit of the Company’s fi nancial balance, in 
line with several other measures to reduce costs and 
expenses. 

The income for 2019 was R$ 247 million (R$ 
233.5 million in 2018), representing 12.20% of the 
fare revenues. Out of the additional R$ 13 million 
(5.8%), R$ 114.8 million was earned from Property 
Development, particularly Shopping Itaquera, which 
grew by R$ 3.4 million in the year. 

Main actions contributing to this result:

•  Enabling receiving generated and future revenues 
from service and consultancy agreements through 
adjustments to internal processes, making it 
possible to receive various services provided to 
companies such as MPE, Voith and ViaMobilidade, 
e� ecting existing receivables in the amount of R$ 
185 thousand, which was earned as result of 10 
agreement with third-parties.

•  The participation of the São Paulo Metro together 
with other companies in the call for Expression of 
Interest in Modeling for the Concession of Metro-
DF.

•  Bidding for 13 urban terminals, of which 7 are 
buildable and 6 are non-buildable, contributing:
•  Payment of grant of R$ 11 million (October 

2019);
•  Exemption of R$ 22 million/year, related to 

Urban Real Estate Tax (IPTU), security and 
cleaning;

•  Monthly revenue of R$ 855 thousand, from the 
5th year, until the expiration of the contract (30 
years).

•  Publication of the Bid Notice of Master 
Commercial Concession Brás (Master Concessão 
Comercial de Brás), jointly with CPTM, 
in December 2019:
•  Bid area: 750 m2

•  Initial fi xed yield: R$ 3.3 million
•  Minimum monthly yield: R$ 258 thousand
•  Term of 30 years
•  A single concessionaire; 2 contracts (Metro and 

CPTM)

•  Alienation of remaining areas:
•  September – Uni 80 (Av. Salim Farah Maluf) – 

R$ 4.2 million
•  October – Uni 004 (Av. Auro Soares de Moura 

Andrade) – R$ 5.4 million
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Achievements 2019

Metro Project – SEBRAE Station 

In order to increase the service o� ered by current 
contractors, Management will provide free training 
through lectures and learning trails o� ered by 
SEBRAE. 

The fi rst lecture was held in November, and the next 
are scheduled for the fi rst half of 2020. 

A calendar of courses addressing the main areas 
for improving the services currently provided is also 
being developed for next year.

The evolution of the participation of business 
segments in the breakdown of non-fare revenue in 
2017 and 2018, in addition to the historical series of 
evolution of non-fare revenues, can be seen in the 
following graphs:

Non-Fare Revenues – 2018

Advertising
46.4 - 20%

Retail
68 - 29%

Telecommunications
13 - 6%

Property Development
106.1 - 45%

Non-Fare Revenues – 2019

Advertising
47.1 - 19%

Other 
businesses

0.2 - 0%

Retail
71.8 - 29%

Telecommunications
13.2 - 5%

Property Development
114.8 - 47%

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

162.5

188.5

248.3

233.5

247.1

1 0.07%

1 0.04%

13.17%

11.54%

11.62%

Year Income RNT/RT

Evolution of Non-Fare Revenues/Fare Revenues
RNT/RT Ratio - %

Property Development

Retail

Advertising

Other businesses

12.7

99.1 

53.8

82.7

0

13

106.1 

68

46.4

0

13.2

114.8

71.8

47.1

0.2

      2017      2018    2019

100

1 

10000

R$ Million

11.62%

0.14

0.12

0.1

0.08

0.06

0.04

0.02

0

247.1

13.17%

248.3

11.54%

248.3

10.04%

188.5

10.07%

162.5

20192018201720162015

Evolution of Non-Fare Revenues / RNT/RT Ratio - %

Non-Fare Revenue (R$ million) 

Segment

Telecommunications

Non-Fare Revenues – 2018

Advertising
46.4 - 20%

Retail
68 - 29%

Telecommunications
13 - 6%

Property Development
106.1 - 45%

Non-Fare Revenues – 2019

Advertising
47.1 - 19%

Other 
businesses

0.2 - 0%

Retail
71.8 - 29%

Telecommunications
13.2 - 5%

Property Development
114.8 - 47%

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

162.5

188.5

248.3

233.5

247.1

1 0.07%

1 0.04%

13.17%

11.54%

11.62%

Year Income RNT/RT

Evolution of Non-Fare Revenues/Fare Revenues
RNT/RT Ratio - %

Property Development

Retail

Advertising

Other businesses

12.7

99.1 

53.8

82.7

0

13

106.1 

68

46.4

0

13.2

114.8

71.8

47.1

0.2

      2017      2018    2019

100

1 

10000

R$ Million

11.62%

0.14

0.12

0.1

0.08

0.06

0.04

0.02

0

247.1

13.17%

248.3

11.54%

248.3

10.04%

188.5

10.07%

162.5

20192018201720162015

Evolution of Non-Fare Revenues / RNT/RT Ratio - %

Non-Fare Revenue (R$ million) 

Segment

Telecommunications

Non-Fare Revenues – 2018 Non-Fare Revenues – 2019
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Achievements 2019

Non-Fare Revenues – 2018

Advertising
46.4 - 20%

Retail
68 - 29%

Telecommunications
13 - 6%

Property Development
106.1 - 45%

Non-Fare Revenues – 2019e

Advertising
47.1 - 19%

Other 
businesses

0.2 - 0%

Retail
71.8 - 29%

Telecommunications
13.2 - 5%

Property Development
114.8 - 47%

² 015

² 016

2017

2018

2019

162,5

188,5

248,3

233,5

247,1

10.07%

10.04%

13.17%

11.54%

11.62%

Year

Evolution of Non-Fare Revenues
RNT/RT Ratio - %

Telecommunications

Property Development

Retail

Advertising

Other businesses

12,7

99,1

53,8

82,7

0

13

106,1

68

46,4

0

13,2

114,8

71,8

47,1

0,2

Segment

Non-Fare Revenue (R$ million)

100
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10000
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11.62%

0,14

0,12

0,1

0,08

0,06

0,04

00,02

0

247,1

13.17%

248,3

11.54%

248,3

10.04%

188,5

10.07%

162,5

20192018201720162015

Evolution of Non-Fare Revenues / RNT/RT Ratio - %

2017 2018 2019 Income RNT/RT

Non-Fare Revenues – 2018

Advertising
46.4 - 20%

Retail
68 - 29%

Telecommunications
13 - 6%

Property Development
106.1 - 45%

Non-Fare Revenues – 2019

Advertising
47.1 - 19%

0.2 - 0%

Retail
71.8 - 29%

Telecommunications
13.2 - 5%

Property Development
114.8 - 47%

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

162.5

188.5

248.3

233.5

247.1

1 0.07%

1 0.04%

13.17%

11.54%

11.62%

Year Income    RNT/RT

Evolution of Non-fare revenues
RNT/RT Ratio - %
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Property Development

Retail

Advertising
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12.7

99.1 

53.8

82.7

0

13

106.1 
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46.4

0

13.2

114.8

71.8

47.1

0.2

Segment       2017      2018    2019

Non-fare Revenue (R$ million)

100

1 
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11.62%
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0.12
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0.08
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13.17%

248.3

11.88%
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10.07%

162.5

20192018201720162015

Evolution of Non-Fare Revenues / RNT/RT Ratio - %

Other 
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Evolution of Non-Fare Revenues/Fare Revenues
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Achievements 2019

Management Systems
Infovia – Modernization of the 
Metronet Data Network

Information circulating at full speed.

Infovia is directly associated with the management 
systems, as it will o� er greater performance and 
capacity in the data tra¥  c of the systems, ensure 
availability of information technology services, 
monitoring of fi xed equipment at stations, among 
other services, and also integration of all facilities 
of Companhia do Metrô: buildings, stations, 
maintenance bases and yards.

The communication network installation project – 
Infovia Network (Rede Infovia) – was completed, as 
planned, in November 2019. All fi ber optic cables 
from the communication network were layered and 
connected to the transmission equipment. 

From now on, the network will be tested and will be 
ready to receive data/voice/corporate image tra¥  c, 
which at present is transmitted through the Prodesp 
communication network.

The main benefi ts from 2020 will be:

1)  Easier allocation of data transmission resources, 
since the communication network will be under the 
operation and management of Metro;  

2)  Improved network performance;

3)  Decrease in data communication services costs. 
During 2020, the communication “LINKS” 
(which is currently provided by Prodesp) will be 
transferred to the Metro Infovia network.

Information and Communication 
Technology – ICT

Aiming at greater integration with the experiences 
of the business areas, in order to ensure that the 
demands for new technologies are met according 
to the ICT investment policy and in line with 
the Company’s strategic objectives, the IT area 
was restructured in 2019, adopting information 
technology as a tool that aims to:
•  Render the Company’s operational and business 

processes more agile.
•  Achieve higher productivity with the use of 

technology.
•  Reduce costs.
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Achievements 2019

In this sense, the teams are now organized to:
•  Identify needs and provide appropriate solutions 

for the Company.
•  Assemble project development and delivery 

teams to meet the new demands of the Company 
(for both new products and solutions and IT 
infrastructure).

•  Assemble support teams for existing products, 
solutions and infrastructure.

•  Assemble a Governance team to ensure the quality 
of services provided to internal customers.

•  Assemble research teams to innovations in the ICT 
area to provide solutions that will add value to the 
organization, improve its management processes, 
fl exibility, speed, productivity and cost reduction.

•  Review partnerships with current suppliers in order 
to contract new solutions in a di� erent manner, 
with the objective of providing the Company with 
more fl exibility in the adoption of new platforms 
and technological solutions and new knowledge 
arising from the new ICT solutions on the market.

When improving the ICT infrastructure, the 
organization expects to promote a digital 
transformation of the Company in the next three 
years, using technological platforms such as: Artifi cial 
Intelligence, Internet of Things (IoT), Analytics, Cloud 

Computing. This infrastructure will bring, among 
other benefi ts:

•  Possibility of automating processes and activities 
within the business areas.

•  Possibility of organizing information for better 
decision-making.

•  Productivity and cost reduction.

NIT – Corporate Innovation and 
Technology Center

One great idea after another

In accordance with the legal framework for 
innovation, in 2019 the NIT was implemented 
to advance the management of the Company’s 
innovation initiatives and projects, which, in a 
fi rst mapping of the project activities of the 
Metro towards innovation, identifi ed 125 ongoing 
innovative actions and at di� erent stages which are 
already under investigation in order to identify the 
potential occurrences aligned with the acceleration 
opportunities existing in the innovation ecosystem, 
which includes governments, startups, universities 
and research centers.
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Achievements 2019

From this selection, two lines of action were 
organized: the connection with hardtechs 
(companies and startups of infrastructure and 
technical engineering of interest to Metro) and 
softechs (those in which the core relates to the 
areas of fi nance, marketing, IT, HR and other 
management areas).

In progress, what will extend into the fi rst half 
of 2020 is the expansion of partnerships with 
institutions in the innovation ecosystem, in 
connection with the São Paulo Government’s 
innovation program; prospecting for funding 
sources and international projects; development 
of the Metro Pitch; creation of the Metro’s Internal 
Innovation Program in order to foster a culture of 
innovation, among others.

In addition, NIT also holds training activities, in 
partnership with Unimetro, including the demands 
of the Innovation Trail and the management of 
activities of the Innovation Laboratory, opened in 
February 2020.

In this sense, in 2019 there were 5 classes in the 
methodology in Design Thinking, amounting to 150 
participants and 15 hours of training. The Innovation 
Trail, in 2019, was attended by a total of 313 
participants, in 127 hours of training.

Administrative Outsourcing 
Management

•  Adequacy of the Leased Fleet and Modifi cation of 
the Fleet Services Contracting Model.

Modifi cation in the leased fl eet contracting model, 
rendering it possible to contract used vehicles, at 
a lower cost, when compared to contracting new 
vehicles and the resizing in the number of leased 
vehicles to meet the needs specifi ed by the company 
due to the use of technological resources and 
fl eet optimization, from 162 to 149 leased vehicles, 
resulting in savings of approximately R$ 3.3 million 
per year.

•  Training of Service Providers in Occupational Health 
and Safety.

A program of annual lectures conducted for 
all supervisors and representatives of engaged 
companies, approximately 160 people, aiming at 
alignment and raising awareness regarding the 
importance of complying with legal, labor and 
environmental requirements, avoiding liabilities for 
the company and Companhia do Metrô, covering 
approximately 1,500 outsourced service providers.
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Achievements 2019

Acquisition of three large-capacity ambulances, 
equipped with modern accessories, in compliance 
with applicable regulations, providing greater safety 
in rescue and emergency care.

Certifi ed Management Systems

The satisfaction of passengers and other 
stakeholders is the primary objective of the São 
Paulo Metro. To this end, the Company continuously 
invests in the improvement of its work processes, 
technological updating and management models 
adopting the necessary resources to ensure 
e¥  ciency in its operations.

Since 2000, it has also started to seek compliance 
with international standards in its approach to 
dealing with the quality of its services and to manage 
the impacts of its work processes on the health and 
safety of its employees and the environment.

As a result, the Company currently has management 
systems based on NBR ISO 9001, NBR ISO 14001 and 
OHSAS 18001 standards implemented and certifi ed, 
as detailed below

System Scope

Environmental impacts associated with 
the processes of the network that is in 
operation

Occupational safety and health 
(OHSAS 18001)

Dangers and risks associated with the work 
activity of all employees

Environment (ISO 14001)

Operation, maintenance, supply logistics, 
purchasing and contracting processes, admi-
nistrative, legal services, management of the 
implementation of Line 4-Yellow and Line 
17-Gold

Quality (ISO 9001)
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Achievements 2019

All systems are subject to a single policy – Integrated 
Quality, Environment, Safety and Occupational 
Health Policy – and are provided with unifi ed 
procedures for several requirements that are 
common to the reference standards.
A matrix structure, the Permanent Management 
Systems Commission, ensures compatibility and 
integration between management systems.

The certifi ed systems are audited on an annual basis 
by a certifying body accredited by Inmetro and are, 
as evidenced in the April 2019 audit, complying with 
the applicable versions of the reference standards.

Throughout 2019, the Occupational Health 
and Safety Management System remained in 
compliance with the requirements of ISO 45001:2018 
(Occupational Health and Safety Management 
System), with a documentary audit by the external 
certifying body and internal audit, which verifi ed the 
adherence of the SGSSO implemented in accordance 
with the clauses of ISO 45001:2018.

In 2020, an external audit will be carried out to 
obtain this new certifi cation to replace OHSAS 18001.

Amendment of Regulations for Bids, Contracts and 
Other Agreements of Companhia do Metrô.

Due to the identifi cation of points of improvement in 
the provisions of the Regulation for Bids, Contracts 
and Other Agreements of Companhia do Metrô 

and considering the duty to keep it up-to-date, in 
accordance with the head of article 40 of Federal 
Law No. 13.303/16 – State-Owned Companies Law, 
two amendments were carried out, considering the 
new needs and events experienced by the Company, 
in addition to the positions of jurists and court 
precedents that have been established under the 
new law.

The 2nd Amendment of the Regulation became 
e� ective on December 4, 2019 and is available on the 
Company’s o¥  cial website.

Relationship with 
Stakeholders
On a daily basis the Metro is responsible for making 
the travel of 3.7 million users per business day fast, 
safe and comfortable and engaging an audience 
interested in what happens in the rapid transit 
network and in the expansion works. 

Accordingly, information and relationships are 
strategic for the public service to be provided.
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Achievements 2019

Creating dialogue between the 
company and the audience in daily 
practice is at the core of the company’s 
actions, as it provides greater focus 
on the opinions and needs of users, 
citizens, employees and other 
audiences, in addition to ensuring 
transparency in management.

Ten audiences who are impacted and 
have an infl uence on the operation and 
expansion of the rapid transit network 
were identifi ed. 

Also identifi ed were the audiences 
the demands of which the company is 
responsible for meeting: those who are 
close or interested in the business and 
the audiences representing associations, 
groups or categories associated with 
the business. They are, namely:

Government (shareholders and regulatory 
agencies), Board of Directors, financing 
agencies, suppliers and the press.

Responsibility

Sectors: construction, transport, rapid transit, 
advertising, communication and marketing, real 
estate, commerce and services, technology and 
government agencies.

Relationship

Unions, associations, CoMet, Alamys, civil 
organizations, press, certifying bodies.Representativeness

Government (shareholders), financing agencies, 
citizens, users, employees (active, on leave and 
retired), community (expropriated, surrounding 
community, traders, schools, hospitals and 
family of employees), suppliers, concessionaires, 
other transport operators and the press.

Influence
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Achievements 2019

Citizen participation in monitoring the service 
provided by Metro is ensured by a number of 
communication and relationship channels provided 
by the company and also by the face-to-face service 
provided by station employees. 

Carrying out Service Evaluation surveys with 
passengers indicates care and seeks to diversify the 
tools to support the decision-making process in the 
implementation of specifi c actions to improve the 
service provided. 

It is an important instrument for the participation of 
passengers, allowing them to express their opinions 
and expectations, as well as identifying opportunities 
for improvement.

The Metro’s overall evaluation – 59% very good/good 
– remains stable in relation to the previous year, with 
an upward trend, particular in Line 3-Red.  

Some actions that contributed to this result are 
highlighted in the main attributes of the service:

Employee Service: 

The “Atmosfera, eu transformo” program was 
implemented with a focus on improving passenger 
service and integrating operating families. The 
program had 123 meetings with the participation of 
4,200 rapid transit workers.

In 2019, employee service was the aspect of 
the service that received the most praise in the 
relationship channels – there were 268 compliments 
regarding the services provided. 

Reliability and Speed:

Improved performance of Lines 3-Red and 2-Green 
in the morning rush hour. On Line 3-Red, there was 
an increase in the number of empty trains from 17 
to 23 and a 21% reduction in stops at trains outside 
the platform region. Line 2-Green saw a reduction in 
travel time.

New stations on Line 15-Silver reduce travel time 
and connect the east and southeast regions to the 
railway network.
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Achievements 2019

Comfort: 

Renewal and improvement of the environment of the 
Portuguesa-Tietê, Santa Cruz, Santa Cecília, Bresser-
Mooca, Belém and Tatuapé stations.

Security: 

New strategies for the distribution of security agents 
through patrols at stations and trains are adopted, 
aiming at providing greater visibility and increasing 
the sense of security within the rapid transit system. 
The percentage of ‘very good/good’ evaluations for 
the presence of security employees increased by 6 
percentage points. 

Information: 

A new Metro communication and sound identity was 
implemented, inspired by Villa-Lobos. Passengers 
participated, through surveys, in the process of 
choosing voices and in the new format of voiceover. 

The post-implantation evaluations were very positive 
and refl ected the acceptance of the new musical 
identity.

Relationship with passengers
The Metro connects people

The São Paulo Metro, through its relationship actions, 
was, since the beginning of the Operation, a relevant 
infl uencer in the city, stimulating citizen behaviors. 

The Company assumed a unique role of social 
inclusion and urban integration, connecting distant 
points and being present in the daily lives of millions 
of passengers.

The emotional side of the Metro in the life of the city 
and its inhabitants was highlighted in 2019. 

In line with the trend towards the humanization of 
relations, this year, Metro carried out several actions 
to get closer to its stakeholders (passengers and 
citizens in general).

•  Exercise of Citizenship: An agreement was entered 
into between the São Paulo Metro and the Regional 
Election Court – SP for the implementation of a 
biometric service station at Anhangabaú Station. 
The space was inaugurated on October 14, 2019 
and should remain active until May 2020.
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Achievements 2019

•  New communication technologies: São Paulo 
Metro seeks continuous innovation combined 
with good resource management. Based on a 
thorough analysis of the cutting-edge technologies 
available on the market, those that, in fact, 
represent an advantage and lead to improved 
results are adopted. Thus, in 2019, ‘Direto do Metrô’ 
information with the status of lines in real time 
was made available on a test basis on screens 
showing advertisements at stations. Soon, the same 
information will also be tested on the monitors 
present inside the trains (TV Minuto) to meet the 
desire of passengers for greater transparency and 
access to information online.

•  Renewal of public communication: the process of 
renewing sound communication sought to meet the 
demand for lighter, closer, humane and empathic 
communication by reviewing more than 500 
messages.

The work brought together opinions and suggestions 
from di� erent audiences: passengers, employees and 
communication specialists. 

Accordingly, new guidelines for sound 
communication were defi ned:

•  Focusing on correct behavior and not on the 
prohibition to educate and not to warn;

•  Prioritization positive terms and cordial words, such 
as “please”, “we ask that”, among others;

•  Establishing connection and partnership through 
reciprocity: “we will take care of what belongs to 
everyone”;

•  Showing appreciation upon service, assuming the 
correct behavior: “we appreciate your cooperation”;

•  Explaining the reasons for the warning: “A 
passenger sitting on the fl oor may not be seen by 
those who are boarding. Please cooperate with us 
and avoid accidents.”

Guidelines for new behaviors recorded in the system 
were addressed, such as the habit of sitting on the 
fl oor, pushing passengers standing still to left on 
escalators or the fall of mobile phones in the gap 
between the train and the platform. In addition, new 
messages were included for commemorative dates 
such as Mother’s Day, Valentine’s Day, Father’s Day 
and Children’s Day, among others, in order to honor 
and celebrate with passengers.
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Achievements 2019

In the 2019 service evaluation survey, the results of this 
initiative were as follows

A Sound Brand for the Metro

The Public Communication Renewal Project went 
far beyond the repositioning of the Metro in relation 
to its passengers through the development of new 
messages – a Sound Identity or Sound Branding was 
also conceived.

The sound inspiration came from the composition “O 
Trenzinho do Caipira” by Heitor Villa-Lobos, part of 
the Bachianas Brasileiras number 2. 

This classic of the Brazilian music has a strong 
emotional appeal reminding people of the universe 
associated with train travel. In addition to paying 
tribute to Villa-Lobos, the idea is to arouse feelings 
of connection, belonging and care in relation to the 
Metro and to the country itself (Brazilian identity), 
based on several surveys carried out.

Research and Acceptance: qualitative and 
quantitative research to verify the acceptance of the 
sound brand, voices and message content.

% Very good + good

The music during the greeting message

The friendly, pleasant content of messages

System

79

71

86

Line 1
Blue

76

68

84

Line 2
Green

89

80

90

Line 3
Red

77

70

85

Ringing tone before orientation and next station messages
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Achievements 2019

Communication of 
Operational Strategies and 
Events

All operational strategies are reported in 
advance to passengers and the population 
through internal channels such as audible 
messages, posters, electronic station 
panels and train monitors. 

They are also disclosed to the press and 
on the o¥  cial pages of Metro’s social 
media.

89

INTEGRATED REPORT - 2019

INTRODUCTION

HIGHLIGHTS 2019

STATEMENT FROM 
THE CEO

OVERVIEW 

SIGNIFICANT NUMBERS

ACHIEVEMENTS 2019

SOCIAL BALANCE

CORPORATE
STRATEGY

FINANCIAL AND ECONOMIC
PERFORMANCE

ANNUAL CHART

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

FINAL PROVISIONS

GRI INDEX

DIRECTORS

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS



Achievements 2019

•  New behaviors: kindness and good mood: 
Kinder behavior is one of the main desires of Metro 
passengers and, therefore, is a recurring topic of 
educational campaigns carried out by the company.

•  Valuing life: As of 2016, the São Paulo Metro 
entered into a free agreement with CVV – Center 
for the Valuation of Life (Centro de Valorização 
da Vida) and the Vita Alere Institute for Suicide 
Prevention and Postvention (Instituto Vita Alere 
de Prevenção e Posvenção do Suicídio) to develop 
suicide prevention actions aimed at employees and 
passengers. Among them are the CVV Station with 

weekly service at the Sé Station, support for the 
Yellow September campaign and guidelines for the 
preparation of training for employees and content 
for a specifi c Intranet microsite to address issues 
related to mental health. 

From 2018, through a partnership with the Fire 
Department, a new training course was prepared, 
which enables our employees to act preventively in 
approaching people who seek to harm their lives 
in the system. The course has already trained more 
than 1,100 employees. In 2019 alone, we accented for 
26 cases in which our sta�  identifi ed and prevented 
suicide attempts in the system. 
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Achievements 2019

On a daily basis, about 9% of 
passengers on the rapid transit system 
are over 60 years of age. In general, 
the elderly are the audience which 
most shows gratitude and appreciate 
the service provided by Metro.  

Metro maintains relationship actions 
with the community, focusing on 
training the population to use the 
system in a safe and e¥  cient manner, 
carrying out a number of monitored 
visits to thousands of people and 
awareness campaigns for accident 
prevention, preferential care and 
respect among the di� erent audiences 
using the system, in addition to 
continued training and refreshing of 
its employees to provide and facilitate 
passenger access.

The service from the 
perspective of the elderly

O Metrô oferece assentos preferenciais para
idosos, gestantes e pessoas com deficiência.

E você deixa os assentos
livres para quem necessita.

Juntos, a gente faz um Metrô mais cidadão. 
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Achievements 2019

In recognition of e� orts to promote inclusion 
policies for di� erent segments of the population, in 
the Elderly category, Metro received the Municipal 
Human Rights and Diversity Seal, which was given 
by the Municipal O¥  ce for Human Rights and 
Citizenship of the city of São Paulo.

Greater connection between Metrô operation and society

The Operation of the Metro arouses the curiosity and appreciation of many citizens who seek 
the company to learn more about the service provided and its behind-the-scenes activities. 
Below are the numbers of visits made in 2019:

National Technical Visits International Technical Visits Institutional Visits

60 visits
1,466 visitors

4 visits
37 visitors

60 visits
3,163 visitors
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Achievements 2019

In order to strengthen the 
relationship with this audience, 
the São Paulo Metro hosts on an 
annual basis an event that aims 
to give voice and visibility to the 
topic of social inclusion of people 
with disabilities.

We carry out specifi c visits directed 
to the public with disabilities and 
rehabilitation institutions, in addition to 
organized groups related to the topic of 
accessibility. In 2019, 13 visits were made 
with the participation of 116 people.
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Achievements 2019

The More Metro Program (Mais do Metrô) has 
the mission of “taking the Metro” to interested 
institutions, thus increasing the connection between 
the Operation and society. In 2019, we visited 11 
institutions such as Petrobras, Unicid, Senac, among 
others with the participation of 1,176 people.

19 lectures were also given with the topic: Together, 
we make the Metro safer!

Communication with Society

In 2019, the Corporate Customer Service System 
(CRM-Sugar) received 12,076 inputs from citizens, 
representing a 34% drop in the total of demands 
received compared to 2018, involving complaints 
(7,880), requests for information (2,528), praise (951), 
suggestions (605), reporting (68) and appreciation 
(44).

This drop, both in the number of complaints and 
praise, may be related to the Company’s decision 
to discontinue the “Metrô + Música Program” axion, 
which addressed the “ambient sound in stations and 
trains”, the main reason for the high demand in the 
year 2018. 

As for the drop in the number of requests for 
information, one of the factors that contributed and 
which are part of the continued improvements that 
the Company seeks to implement is the automatic 
access of the citizen to the FAQ – Frequently Asked 
Questions when submitting a request via ‘Fale 
Conosco’ (Contact Us), enabling prompt clarifi cation. 

Another factor that may also have contributed 
to this drop, it seems, is related to the migration 
of complainers from traditional channels to the 
Company’s social media, which have been gradually 
increasing their demands (the numbers of social 
media platforms are not part of this statistic), 
revealing a trend indicator of the new profi le of users 
of the Rapid Transit System, which has been looking 
for prompt answers.
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Achievements 2019

Summary of Total Demand 2018/2019

In addition to Fale Conosco, the São Paulo Metro maintains other channels of 
relationship with its users, as shown in the following table.

National Technical Visits 2018 2019

Complaints

Information

Suggestions

Praising

Reporting

Appreciation

Total

12,094

4,013

951

1,187

38

105

18,388

7,880

2,528

605

951

68

44

12,076

Change

-35%

-37%

-36%

-20%

79%

-58%

-34%
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Achievements 2019

User/citizen relationship channels

Text Message - Reporting
Messages received

60,070 60,884

Metro Conecta
Messages received

28,164 39,484

Suggestion Box
Letters received

976 1,143

Face-to-face service
Service interactions

196

Social Media
Service interactions

15,657

62

27,742

Contact Us
Opinions received (except SIC)

13,386 12,076

Citizen Information Service – SIC
Service interactions

1,752 2,395

Contacts1

2019
Channel Contacts1

2018

¹ In each contact, the user is able to make several statements    
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Achievements 2019

Citizen Information 
Service – SIC
You speak, the Metro listens

As one of the 3 most used information services in 
the state, with 2,395 services in 2019, this was the 
year in which Metro SIC further enhanced active 
transparency, making more than 800 data sets 
available on the Transparency Portal, always in open 
format, consolidating the Company’s willingness to 
give transparency to its actions. 

More humane, kinder transport is at 
the Metro’s core

Carrying 4 million passengers every day is 
a challenge that requires fast, integrated 
communication that is capable of informing citizens 
in an objective and transparent manner.

In 2019, Metro started to focus on journalism with its 
actions, events and deliveries, remaining one step 
ahead every year. This strategy proved to be e¥  cient 

both in traditional media and social media, turning 
negative mentions into positive ones.

The country’s main TV networks exploited a less 
obvious human side of the Metro, and gave space to 
the people who run the Metro and how complex the 
training of employees is.

The São Paulo Metro is currently being recognized 
not only for its technologies and innovations, but 
also for its competent sta� , its qualifi ed professionals 
who ensure the quality and safety of the best Metro 
in Brazil and one of the most e¥  cient in the world.
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Metrô is also a hit on TV

A 6-minute story about the operator who saved a person’s 
life on the tracks without jeopardizing the safety of train 
passengers.

A 10-minute story about the heroic story of two trained 
security guards who delivered a baby in the middle of the 
station.

On Fantástico. On Globo Repórter.

Achievements 2019

Metro’s di� erent communication channels acted in an integrated manner, ensuring 
standardization, continuity and the disclosure of information that helped to 
signifi cantly improve the Metro’s image. Proof of this is that the Company was chosen 
by society as the best public service and the best public transport in São Paulo.
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Achievements 2019

•  Web Series

Between the Lines – Stories in Motion.
The Web Series “Entrelinhas – Histórias em 
Movimento” (Between the Lines – Stories in 
Motion) featured the work carried out behind the 
scenes of the Metro, interspersing real stories of 
employees and passengers in their daily travels.

The viewers had the opportunity to get to know 
machinery, computer rooms, complex monitoring 
systems, all the technological apparatus that 
is used in the company’s daily routine through 
6 episodes: Maintenance, Operational Control 
Center (CCO), Accessibility, Security, Tra¥  c and 
Passenger.

•  Minute Metro 
Radio Program

Metro also used radio stations to share information 
about its work, challenges and achievements in 
2019. 10 one-minute programs were broadcast on 
the main radio stations in the state.

Institutional communication campaigns
The Metro showing who makes the Metro

To build a new perception of the Metro and improve its 
image, communication actions were developed throughout 
the year, focusing on the company’s behind-the-scenes 
activities and on the human and trained side of employees.

Web Series “Entrelinhas – Histórias em Movimento”
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Achievements 2019

Social Media

The Metro’s relationship with its 4 million daily 
passengers is not limited to contact on trains 
and stations. 

Metrics to increase communication data

Number of views of videos and ads: 
52,161,973

Number of di� erent people impacted:
13,068,263

Metro is present in the main digital social media 
platforms: Twitter, Facebook, Instagram, YouTube 
and most recently LinkedIn, where it is very active. 
At present, these are the primary channels of 
information and relationship with the population 
and with the 4 million daily passengers. 

YEAR 2018 2019

Facebook
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YouTube
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Achievements 2019

YEAR 2018 2019

Facebook
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Million

Twitter Followers Facebook Likes

1st Metro 1,881,511 1st Metro 270,178

2nd CET-SP 1,327,255 2nd Metro Rio           250,086

3rd SPTrans 741,448 3rd CPTM 188,095

4th CPTM 731,726 4th SPTrans 108,235

5th Metro Rio 233,333 5th TrensUrb - Porto Alegre 104,896

6th TrensUrb - Porto Alegre 80,540 6th CET 32,227

Comparison with other companies in the sector

In 2019, Metro had 27,742 customer service interactions through social media, an increase 
of 47% in relation to 2018.

Achievements 2019
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Achievements 2019

Thanks to a fast and targeted performance, Metro reversed the trend of negative mentions from 
2018 to 2019. It also saw the number of positive mentions increase, as shown in the graph below:

50%

40%

30%

20%

10%

0%

Jun/18 Jul/18 Aug/18 Sep/18 Oct/18 Nov/18 Dec/18 Jan/19 Feb/19 Mar/19 Apr/19 May/19 Jun/19 Jul/19 Aug/19 Sep/19 Oct/19 Nov/19 Dec/19

Positive Negative
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5th Metro Games
More than 800 employees attended this edition, 
which distributed 200 medals and 44 trophies 
among the 10 sports: soccer, futsal, volleyball, tennis, 
table tennis, basketball, chess, dominoes, truco and 
games.

Metro Click
122 communications on the intranet serving 
all areas of the company.  

Internal Communication

Employees engaged with the 
company’s values   work 
harder and better

Mural Journal
Publication of 91 editions telling the story of some 
metro workers who make the Company proud.

Achievements 2019
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Internal communication favorability index 

53% of employees consider the Internal Communication of the Metro to be 
Good/Excellent

Achievements 2019

Excellent

Good

Average

Poor

Very poor

Other

6%

47%

34%

8%

4%

1%

50%

45%

40%

35%

30%

25%

20%

15%

10%

5%

0%

6%

Excellent

8%

Poor

4%

Very poor

47%

Good

34%

Average

Increase in Followers

Other

1%

105

INTEGRATED REPORT - 2019

INTRODUCTION

HIGHLIGHTS 2019

STATEMENT FROM 
THE CEO

OVERVIEW 

SIGNIFICANT NUMBERS

ACHIEVEMENTS 2019

SOCIAL BALANCE

CORPORATE
STRATEGY

FINANCIAL AND ECONOMIC
PERFORMANCE

ANNUAL CHART

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

FINAL PROVISIONS

GRI INDEX

DIRECTORS

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS



Achievements 2019

Metro always has a place for 
social actions by public or private 
institutions

Health

•  2.5 million condoms distributed 
on displays at stations

•  49,405 vaccines applied 

•  5,712 tests to combat cholesterol 
and blood glucose performed 

•  3,366 hepatitis C tests

•  1,356 HIV tests 

•  655 syphilis tests 

•  230 blood pressure measurements 

•  386 cardiopulmonary resuscitation training sessions

Several public awareness campaigns were also 
carried out on extremely relevant topics such as 
sexual harassment, religious intolerance, recycling of 
oil and garbage, alcoholism, leptospirosis, prostate 
cancer, AIDS, drug disposal, fi nancial education and 
suicide, among others.

Social Actions

Metrô makes its stations available to carry out 
health promotion activities, encourage reading, 
entrepreneurship, information on citizens’ rights, 
social inclusion and public benefi t campaigns for 
passengers and non-passengers. 

The initiatives have the support and partnership 
of entities, institutions, professional councils, 
philanthropic institutions, voluntary sector 
organizations and universities. Please note that these 
actions should not generate any direct or indirect 
costs to the public, and should take place entirely 
free of charge.
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Achievements 2019

The Metro promotes culture to all regions 
it reaches
Culture Line Program 

Monthly lineup with di� erent forms of artistic-cultural expressions: exhibitions, 
music, dance, circus and theater.

200

250

300

350

150

100

50

0

choirs with singers, musicians and conductors

presentations of musical, theatrical and dance 
events at stations

performance by the Metro Security Agents Band

presentations with an average of 25 monthly exhibitions

cultural actions

7
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A
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Achievements 2019

The activities took place in the months of July and 
August at the site where the work is installed, at 
Pedro II station, which allowed the contact between 
the artist and the public, who were able to witness 
the entire restoration process, talking to the artist 
about the artwork while the process was underway.

As part of this project, a round-table discussion was 
held with the artist and participation of guests and 
employees of GCM.

Art on the Metro

Metro stations are a large gallery of contemporary 
art, providing passengers with daily contact with 
expressive plastic artists from the Brazilian and 
international scene. There are murals, installations, 
paintings and sculptures. At present, the collection 
has 87 works of art.

Restoration of Works of Art

In 2019, the restoration of the work of art Solaris 
was carried out by the artist and author of the work, 
Eliana Zaroni. 
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Achievements 2019

Environmental Education 

In 2019, a Photography Contest was promoted with the 
topic “Sustainable City – What are the benefi ts of Metro SP 
running around the city”, with the aim of provoking public 
refl ection and view on the Metro and its importance for 
people’s lives in the city and for sustainable mobility.  

Public participation was signifi cant. Through cultural 
action we get closer to the stories of each passenger 
and employee on the topic, with 169 entries, 
approximately 6 thousand likes in the popular voting 
process and a total engagement of more than 100 
thousand people on Facebook.

The quality of the photographs and stories told by 
the public illustrated the knowledge and awareness 
of the main benefi ts of sustainable transport with the 
characteristics of the Metro.  

The contest also brought the opportunity to 
promote in a didactic manner the presentation of the 
Sustainable Development Goals – SDGs, defi ned by 
the UN for the Global Agenda 2030, and to evaluate 
the contribution of expanding quality rapid transit 
transport to sustainable development, by considering 
Sustainable Development Goal 11 – Sustainable Cities 
and Communities.
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Achievements 2019

Actions in neighboring communities

In 2019, 696 customer service interactions and 
activities were carried out regarding expropriation, 
resettlement, social communication and the impact 
of works.

This year, customer service and activities related to 
expropriation involved consultations with residents 
regarding the expropriation of properties and general 
guidelines, conducting socioeconomic research 
in properties deemed to be of public interest for 
the implementation of a track switch west of Vila 
Prudente, on Line 15-Prata.

In respect of resettlement issues, work was carried 
out on resolving the agreements entered into with 
the Urban Development and Housing Company – 
CDHU for those impacted by the 5-Lilac, 15-Silver 
and 17-Gold lines. 

2019 ended with 127 vulnerable families assisted by 
resettlement plans, removed in areas of lines 5-Lilac, 
15-Silver and 17-Gold, and who currently receive 
housing assistance until fi nal resettlement.

In the Social Communication and Works Impact 
macroprocess, the actions taken to resolve pending 
issues in the execution of Line 5-Lilac and support 
for the impacts of works in Line 4-Yellow, as a result 
of the structural works at Vila Sônia Station and track 
tunnels stand out. 

As a result of the resumption of the project 
scheduled for 2020, the communication activities 
of precautionary surveys on Line 2-Green began 
in November 2019. Contracting of research to map 
neighboring population in areas of infl uence of social 
impacts and works is underway. 

In all, there were 675 customer service interactions in 
respect of the community and proactive relationship 
activities, within this macroprocess.
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Achievements 2019
Institutional Program for Visiting the Works allowed 
24 visits to lines 4-Yellow (Vila Sônia Station), 5-Lilac 
(Campo Belo Station) and 17-Gold (Congonhas, 
Morumbi and Pátio Água Espraiada Stations). This 
year, the program served the public neighboring the 
works, students and other residents interested in the 
expansion of the Metro. This stage ended with 443 
visitors, between January and December 2019.

Union Relations

The relationship with the majority Union of 
employees brought important advances in 2019. In 
compliance with the applicable law, Metro and the 
Rapid Transit Workers Union renewed the CIPAS 
Collective Bargaining Agreement, with important 
amendments to the Agreement, including a more 
adequate dimensioning, in the representation of 
employees, with the reduction of 24 (twenty-four) 
positions in the Internal Commission of Accident 
Prevention (CIPAS).

A specifi c Working Hours Agreement was also 
entered into in 2019 in order to ensure the practice of 
traditional work schedules and the 30-minute intra-
day break for rapid transit workers, but including 
new demands from the organization to meet the 
company’s needs, providing the parties with legal 
certainty indispensable for their practices.

Personnel Management
Metro knows that a company’s greatest asset 
is its employees.

The São Paulo Metro promoted actions to develop 
the performance and skills of its sta� . To face this 
challenge, several strategies were employed.

A Performance Evaluation Cycle is held on an 
annual basis, and all areas are kept up-to-date on 
the guidelines and news of the process. 

In 2019, driven by the Business Planning guidelines, 
focus was placed on establishing the PDI – 
Individual Development Planning, aiming to align 
the organization’s interests with the employee’s 
professional goals, connecting people for the 
benefi t of productivity in the company and the 
professional development of each employee. 

In order to narrow the communication channels, 
dissemination videos and face-to-face meetings 
were prepared with the areas, with signifi cant 
participation of managers.

Aiming at the development of Metro leaders and 
successors, Executive Coaching and Organizational/
Team Development processes were carried out, 
which covered the topics: strategic alignment 
and defi nition of Vision, Mission and Values, 
Management of Organizational Culture; and 
defi nitions of Action Plans to leverage the demands 
of strategic planning in the areas.
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Achievements 2019
In addition, within the Succession Program, in 2019, 
102 professionals were mapped for a number of 
positions in the executive planning. As a result, 14 
employees were promoted. 

This process aims to identify potential successors, 
expand self-knowledge, encourage self-development 

and support managers in relation to the behavioral 
profi le and level of profi ciency in leadership skills.

In order to fi ll vacant Leadership positions in 
2019, an assessment process was included for 
all open positions, thus allowing to identify and 
evaluate external applicants with specifi c tools and 
instruments, fi lling these positions more e� ectively.

Distribution of Sta�¹ 2016 2017 2018 2019

Operation  4,446 4,526  4,399  4,115

Maintenance  2,822 2,769  2,633 2,500

Management  1,228  1,161  1,381  1,106

Expansion  758  697  404  563

Sta� Indicators¹

Number of Employees¹   9,254  9,153  8,817 8,284

Admissions in the Year¹   86  336  404  160

Terminations in the Year¹,²  240  439  652  830

Division by gender and color¹

Male  7,417 7,363  7,104 6,671

Female  1,837 1,790  1,713  1,613

% of management positions held by women  16%  15%  20%  22%

Number of afro-descendants4  2,351 2,357 2,334

% of management positions held by afro-descendants  14%  15%  16%  17%

1 Data does not include apprentices. 2 In 2016, the layo� s of the Voluntary Employment Termination Program (PDV) started. 3 Interns at higher and secondary 
education levels. 4 Considered employees who declare themselves black and brown. 5 Quotas: People with disabilities: 407 employees (5% of the sta� , excluding 
ASM1 Security O¥  cers); Apprentices: 312 (at the end of 2017, 47 apprentices were terminated due to expiration of contract, who will be replaced in 2018).
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Achievements 2019

Distribution of Sta� ¹ 2016 2017 2018 2019

Age group1

20 years old or less  2  27  24  4

21-30 years old  1,045  1,022  998  894

31-40 years old  1,695  1,766  1,849  1,874

41-50 years old  2,293 2,086  2,018  1,952

51-60 years old  3,213  3,223  2,951  2,701

61 years old or more  1,006  1,029  977  859

Average length of service at the company1 18.4  18.3  17.8 18.04

number of employees working in the company for five years or longer 1,712  1,590  1,028  1,135

Education Level

Primary Education  331  309  221  172

Incomplete Secondary Education  363  347  369  175

Complete Secondary Education  3,783  3,727 3,274 2,998

Incomplete Higher Education  1,318  1,339  1,127  1,033

Complete Higher Education  2,890 2,730  3,327  3,141

Graduate Education  476  459  736  700

Other (Master’s Degree/Doctor’s Degree)  93  76  142  141

Not registered  166  4  2

Number of apprentices5   325  249  252  78
1 Data does not include apprentices. 2 In 2016, the layo� s of the Voluntary Employment Termination Program (PDV) started. 3 Interns at higher and secondary 
education levels. 4 Considered employees who declare themselves black and brown. 5 Quotas: People with disabilities: 407 employees (5% of the sta� , excluding ASM1 
Security O¥  cers); Apprentices: 312 (at the end of 2017, 47 apprentices were terminated due to expiration of contract, who will be replaced in 2018).
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Achievements 2019

eSocial

Labor law and eSocial

All actions were implemented without losing 
sight of compliance with law and the pursuit for 
improvement in collective bargaining. 

As an example, the Metro complied with the terms 
of eSocial (Digital Bookkeeping System for Tax, 
Social Security and Labor Obligations), which 
required companies of the size of Metro to organize 
themselves to send their data in an integrated 
manner to the Federal Government base. 

Accordingly, Metro has revised all of its Human 
Resources processes and is currently in the process 
of updating all Normative Instruments, in addition to 
taking a decisive step towards the implementation of 
ISO 9000, related to the management processes of 
personnel.

Taking advantage of the labor reform, another 
important step was taken in order to ensure the 
maintenance of working hours, hired work schedules 
and intra-day breaks, which are subjects of a public-
interest civil action questioning the validity of some 
work schedules practiced by the Company. 

A Collective Working Hours Agreement was entered 
into with the Union of Rapid Transit Workers, thus 
settling this civil action with the Prosecution O¥  ce. 
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Achievements 2019

Training, qualifi cation 
and corporate university

Corporate University – Unimetro

The Metro Corporate University acts in training, 
management of corporate knowledge and 
management of educational actions aimed at 
innovation, in support of the Innovation and 
Technology Center – NIT and commercialization of 
Railway Technology programs, in partnership with 
Metro Consulting.

The activities meet the strategic objectives of the 
Metro, organizational skills and educational premises 
to ensure consistent and continuous learning for the 
organization and the rail transport sector.

In 2019, 332,314 man-hours of face-to-face training 
sessions were held with 43,094 participations, an 
average of 36 hours per employee. In all, in 2019, 
22,957 man-hours of distance education training 
were carried out, with 9,990 participations.

In order to improve and standardize contract 
management, in 2019, 8 educational activities 
were prepared with a focus on auditing by control 
agencies, management, overview, contracting 
process, law on abuse of authority, qualifi cation and 
representatives and training of security o¥  cers for 
criminal situations.

Leadership Development

Active Leadership Program

Focused on executive leadership, the Program 
was developed from the contributions presented 
by a group of leaders, who participated in Design 
Thinking workshops in May 2019. The challenges 
of the corporate world are increasingly complex, 
requiring a new meaning to the leadership role and 
the mental model of the leadership at Metro.

With a focus on the need for organizational 
transformation, in line with the strategic objective 
of Management 5.0, the program began with the 
90 executives, managers and department heads of 
Metro.

Based on strategic topics seen through the biases of 
four contemporary leadership profi les (autonomous, 
inspiring, shared and transformative), the exchange 
of knowledge and experiences among leaders 
was stimulated, reviewing mental models and 
strengthening the leadership body of Metro as a 
group responsible for the transformation of the 
company.

In 2019, two activities were carried out: “Engaging 
Communication” and “I am a Startup”. For the 
next year, two additional topics will be addressed: 
Networking and Decision Making in Complex 
Scenarios.
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Achievements 2019

Basic Training – Middle Management

Two basic training sessions were held for 41 new 
managers, between coordinators and supervisors 
from the various areas of the Company. 

The 48-hour training addressed essential topics for 
exercising the leadership and team management 
role, such as: coaching, empathic communication, 
feedback, productive meetings, delegation, 
bargaining and emotion management. 

The leaders were challenged to identify a relevant 
topic for personnel management and to develop 
group projects to be implemented in the Company.

Basic Training – Operational 
Leadership

The training of Station and Tra¥  c (OTM3) and 
Security (ASM2) supervisors is organized in trails 
including technical/operational, administrative and 
management skills. Total workload:

•  OTM3 Tra¥  c Training – 400 hours (face-to-face 
training + Operational Practice) – 50 business days 
– 1.6 months.

•  OTM3 Station Training – 472 hours (face-to-face 
training + Operational Practice) – 59 days – 2 
months.

•  ASM2 Field Training – 828 hours (face-to-face 
training + Operational Practice) – 103.5 days – 3.45 
months.

Most of the training modules were developed and 
conducted by the Company’s in-house educators. In 
2019, the following training sessions were carried out: 
2 classes of OTM3 Tra¥  c and 1 class of OTM3 Station.

Innovation Trail

The Metro with open doors 
to new ideas

Workshop for Introducing Design 
Thinking and Services

With a view to creating a culture of innovation, a 
training trail in Design Thinking was developed. 

The profi le of the participants are people who have 
an interface with some complex problem in the 
company and who genuinely want to solve it, aiming 
to improve matters for customers facing this issue. 

In 2019, 3 classes were held, amounting to 70 
participants and 72 hours of training.
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Achievements 2019

Workshop for Introducing Agile & 
Scrum Methodologies

Agile methods allow short development cycles, 
with well-defi ned deliveries, focusing on continuous 
process improvement. These encourage teamwork, 
self-organization, frequent communication, focus on 
the customer and the delivery of value. 

Agile methods have been helping many teams 
to face unpredictability within a project through 
incremental deliveries and iterative cycles. As it 
is easier to identify errors and fl aws during the 
execution of the project, make adjustments and 
prevent the fi nal outcome from being compromised, 
these methodologies are being used in the most 
varied segments, although they were developed for 
the software industry.

In 2019, 4 classes were held, amounting to 93 
participants and 40 hours of training.

BDCon – Knowledge Base

In 2019, Unimetro launched BDCon – Corporate 
Knowledge Base, a system where rapid transit 
workers are able to record all the experience 
accumulated in their life experiences, allowing 
consultation of the profi les of the most appropriate 

employees to develop each project, aiming at the 
best use of individual skills and,
accordingly, the improvement of the quality and 
e¥  ciency of the company’s deliveries in respect of 
its challenges. 

In addition, this source of organized information 
will make it possible to point out the gaps of critical 
skills, in order to optimize investments in hiring and/
or development.

Occupational Safety & Health (OSH) 
and Quality of Life

Concern for safety and the environment guided legal 
occupational health programs and those focused on 
the Occupational Safety and Health Management 
System (OHSMS) complying with the OHSAS 18001 
Standard, version 2007, with the Metro certifi cation 
e� ective until June 11, 2021.

Another aspect considered was the social programs 
aimed at employees, dependents and family 
members, in the areas of fi nancial education, 
retirement preparation, social assistance, special 
medications and support for the inclusion of 
dependents with disabilities.
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Achievements 2019

Occupational Health

The occupational disease index in 2019 closed at 
0.023%. Regarding gender, all occupational disease 
cases are related to males.

Occupational health medical control 
program

In order to determine the health/disease profi le 
of rapid transit workers and plan actions for the 
promotion and preservation of health, 10,414 
occupational examinations were carried out in 2019, 
in compliance with Regulatory Rule NR 7.

In 2019, the Professional Rehabilitation Program hired 
25 employees whereas 9 employees, so far, obtained 
a rehabilitation certifi cate in a new career.

Occupational disease

Type of Accident 2015 2016 2017 201 8 201 9

Commuting accidents 99 116 105 117 95

Typical accidents 490 508 51 2 566 550

Total accidents 598 624 61 7 683 645

Occupational accidents

Publications 2019

E-mails 258

Email for managers and specific audiences

Message Boards

Linha de Frente Journal (editions)

1 81 

89

1 6

YEAR 201 5 201 6 201 7 201 8 201 9

Number of cases 2 6 5 5 2

Indicator 0.021% 0.052% 0.062% 0.054% 0.023%

Occupational Disease

201 9

Length of Service 
(years)

1 0 20 30 35

522 0 1 31 65

40

41 Employees

Achievements 2019
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Achievements 2019

Occupational accidents
In 2019, 639 occupational accidents were recorded, as shown 
in the table below.

Diversity and inclusion for employment

On the Metro, respect is present in every way

To expand the discussions and knowledge about diversity groups, the following actions were taken:
•  Participation in the Code of Conduct and Integrity communication campaign with a focus on diversity.

Type of Accident 2015 2016 2017 201 8 201 9

Commuting accidents 99 116 105 117 95

Typical accidents 490 508 51 2 566 550

Total accidents 598 624 61 7 683 645

Occupational accidents

Publications 2019

E-mails 258

Email for managers and specific audiences

Message Boards

Linha de Frente Journal (editions)

1 81 

89

1 6

YEAR 201 5 201 6 201 7 201 8 201 9

Number of cases 2 6 5 5 2

Indicator 0.021% 0.052% 0.062% 0.054% 0.023%

Occupational Disease

201 9

Length of Service 
(years)
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522 0 1 31 65

40

41 Employees

Achievements 2019
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Achievements 2019

•  Diversity Module Training – Training of new 
managers. Disseminating concepts of respect for 
diversity, raising awareness of new managers as to 
the importance of their role, introducing concepts, 
laws and expected role.

•  ASM2 – 4 participants

•  OTM3 – Tra¥  c – 26 participants

•  OTM3 – Station – 12 participants

•  Approval of the Diversity Guidelines. To develop 
these guidelines, goals and other actions, a¥  nity 
groups were created: LGBT, Women and Afro-
descendants. The groups consist of representatives 
from di� erent areas of the Company and 
representatives of the Union of Rapid Transit 
Workers.

•  Lectures, in partnership with the Coordination 
of Policies for Sexual Diversity of the São Paulo 
State O¥  ce of Justice and Citizenship, on sexual 
diversity, aimed mainly at supervisors and 
coordinators of the Operation and Security teams, 
with 110 participants.

All received the third edition of the booklet “Sexual 
Diversity and LGBT Citizenship” from the São Paulo 
State O¥  ce of Justice and Citizenship – SJDC.

Commission for A�  rmative Actions of 
the Rapid Transit Workers’ Union

Metro is complying with items 34.1 regarding the 
frequency of meetings and 34.2 regarding the 
disclosure of the ACT Diversity program of May 
1, 2018. Four meetings were held: January, March, 
August and December.

Intero�  ce Committee for the Defense 
of Sexual Diversity 

The committee consists of all o¥  ces of the state 
of São Paulo and aims to develop a campaign 
promoting respect for the LGBTQ+ public. Metro is a 
substitute for the position fi lled by the Metropolitan 
Transportation O¥  ce – STM (Resolution SJC No. 152 
of September 20, 2019).
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Achievements 2019

Opportunity for young people

Students were hired in partnership with the Via de 
Acesso Institute and the Employment and Labor 
Relations O¥  ce. 
In early 2019, the Employment and Labor Relations 
O¥  ce – SERT was extinguished by the Government 
of the State of São Paulo and the Youth Citizen 
Program started to be managed by the Economic 
Development O¥  ce – SDE.

Engagement

Another edition of the Employee Recognition 
Program for length of service was held. 759 pins 
were delivered with a statement from the CEO, in 
recognition of the time dedicated 
to the Company:

Type of Accident 2015 2016 2017 201 8 201 9

Commuting accidents 99 116 105 117 95

Typical accidents 490 508 51 2 566 550

Total accidents 598 624 61 7 683 645

Occupational accidents

Publications 2019

E-mails 258

Email for managers and specific audiences

Message Boards

Linha de Frente Journal (editions)

1 81 

89

1 6

YEAR 201 5 201 6 201 7 201 8 201 9

Number of cases 2 6 5 5 2

Indicator 0.021% 0.052% 0.062% 0.054% 0.023%

Occupational Disease

201 9

Length of Service 
(years)

1 0 20 30 35

522 0 1 31 65

40

41 Employees

Achievements 2019
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Achievements 2019

HR Communication

It is a priority to communicate with employees on 
HR matters to emphasize the manager’s role as a 
representative of the Company and their duty to 
keep employees duly informed about the company’s 
news. 

The fundamental objective of this process is also to 
engage and mobilize rapid transit workers to refl ect 
and review processes which can contribute to the 
sustainability of the Metro.

Several HR issues were disclosed to rapid transit 
workers throughout 2019, such as personnel 
management, recruitment, safety and health, union 
and labor relations, training and development 
actions, innovation, etc.

Products such as the “Linha de Frente” (Frontline) 
newsletter, the exclusive vehicle of the salary 
campaign, were once again an important 
communication tool which helps to prevent 
misinformation and “fake news”, resulting in a 
successful bargaining process.

Type of Accident 2015 2016 2017 201 8 201 9

Commuting accidents 99 116 105 117 95

Typical accidents 490 508 51 2 566 550

Total accidents 598 624 61 7 683 645

Occupational accidents
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Achievements 2019

Metro Memory 

In view of the celebrations of 2018 for the 50th 
anniversary of the Company’s foundation, a 
multidisciplinary committee was created in 2019 with 
the objective of evaluating the opportunity to create 
a Memory Center for the Company, considering its 
legal, fi nancial and operational aspects. 

The Memory Centers, in addition to supporting 
important activities of an organization, aim to 
gather, maintain, preserve and display documents 
and assets which evidence an organization’s 
journey, considering the importance, rarity, 
representativeness and originality of its collection. 

The study, completed in October 2019, indicates all 
the potential that the Company brings together: 
a historical collection with over 220 thousand items, 
both treated and untreated, more than 26 thousand 

items of archaeological fi nds, which it monitors with 
museums, where the pieces retrieved due to the 
Company’s expansion works are kept. 

In addition to a relevant art collection: 91 works of art 
by 65 artists, distributed in 37 stations. 

Open environments – new work 
layouts

As part of the implementation of a new culture, a 
new layout for administrative facilities was defi ned, 
in line with the best market practices (open space), 
aiming to optimize resources, reduce costs and 
improve integration among employees. The new 
work environment format results in a reduced 
physical space by approximately 20%.
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Achievements 2019

Voluntary employment termination 
program

The Voluntary Employment Termination Program – 
PDV, launched at the end of 2016 and started in 2017, 
considers the company’s fi nancial capacity and the 
impact on the activities of the areas, enabling the 
permanent reduction of the number of employees in 
the administrative areas and promoting the renewal 
of work teams in operational and legal positions 
(mandatory according to labor law).

During the fi ve enrollment stages, 1,613 entries were 
registered, with 844 employees being terminated by 
the end of 2018. 

Continuing the established schedule in 2019, 641 
employees were terminated, with accumulated 
savings up to December 2019 of R$ 381.5 million, 

without jeopardizing service levels for serving the 
population. 

The remaining 120 terminations are expected to take 
place in 2020. 

Of the total resulting open operating and legal 
positions, which are scheduled to be replaced 
according to criteria defi ned and approved in the 
PDV Regulation, 130 new employees were hired in 
2019 to reinstate the sta� . 

The execution of the Voluntary Termination Program 
will make it possible to permanently reduce the 
number of administrative areas and promote the 
renewal of work teams in operational and legal 
positions (mandatory according to labor law).
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Social Balance

Sustainability as a Value 
Asset
The improvement of Metro Management has 
the main objective of creating value for society, 
impacting the city and people’s lives. 

The Social Balance evidences the e¥  ciency of the 
strategies and actions to create sustainability as a 
valuable asset.

Investments in expanding the network to promote 
urban mobility and o� er fast, safe and regular travel 
to the nearly four million passengers, on a daily basis, 
result in signifi cant benefi ts, ensuring the well-being 
of the population and the development of cities.

Passenger travel time will always be the main benefi t 
of the rapid transit system. Circulating quickly on 
segregated tracks, trains overcome the barriers of 
congestion on the streets, unlike cars and buses.

With a high capacity for passenger transport and 
integration with other modalities, Metro plays its role 
in urban functionality with important technological 
attributes for sustainable transport.

In addition to promoting greater mobility, the Metro’s 
contribution to environmental quality in cities is 
signifi cant, also associated with climate change, 
with the urban insertion of a transport system with 
sustainable operational characteristics such as the 
use of clean electricity.

Accordingly, the journey towards Management 5.0 
is in line with the Metro’s substantial contribution to 
sustainable development.
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Social Balance

Connection with the Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDGs)

The Metro is aligned with the United Nations’ (UN) 
Sustainable Development Goals (SDG) agenda. 

Its strategic guidelines, initiatives and management 
results contribute to the objectives and goals 
expressed in the UN Agenda for 2030, and engage 
primarily the areas of infrastructure and innovation, 
sustainable cities, accessible and clean energy, 
global climate change, health and well-being, and 
decent work and responsible economic growth, 
consumption and production foreseen on the global 
agenda. 

This agenda signed by 193 UN member countries in 
2015 consists of 17 objectives and goals comprising 
several areas for social, economic and environmental 
development. 

Metro’s actions are aligned with the work of the 
Government of São Paulo for the institutionalization 
of Agenda 2030 and the SDGs in its plans and 
programs, which is being monitored by an Intero¥  ce 
Working Group (Decree No. 62,063), and by the 
State SDG Commission (Decree No. 63,792/18 and 
Decree No. 64,14819. 

127

INTEGRATED REPORT - 2019

INTRODUCTION

HIGHLIGHTS 2019

STATEMENT FROM 
THE CEO

OVERVIEW 

SIGNIFICANT NUMBERS

ACHIEVEMENTS 2019

SOCIAL BALANCE

CORPORATE
STRATEGY

FINANCIAL AND ECONOMIC
PERFORMANCE

ANNUAL CHART

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

FINAL PROVISIONS

GRI INDEX

DIRECTORS

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS



Social Balance

UN GoalMetro/SP ContributionMetro Connection AOS SDGs

Investments in the rapid transit network and in the 
operation promote benefits for the health and 
well-being of the population, passengers and 
employees, with the promotion of fast, safe and 
non-polluting transport. Metro invests in programs 
and enters into partnerships to promote 
educational campaigns of public utility.

Promoting an inclusive, productive and decent 
environment for all employees, generating 
opportunities for professional development, 
creativity and innovation.Encouraging the 
expansion and development of economic sectors 
such as engineering, construction, technology, 
transport.

                   

Ensuring a healthy life and promoting 
well-being for all, at all ages.

Promoting sustained, inclusive and sustainable 
economic growth, full and productive 
employment and decent work for all.

128

INTEGRATED REPORT - 2019

INTRODUCTION

HIGHLIGHTS 2019

STATEMENT FROM 
THE CEO

OVERVIEW 

SIGNIFICANT NUMBERS

ACHIEVEMENTS 2019

SOCIAL BALANCE

CORPORATE
STRATEGY

FINANCIAL AND ECONOMIC
PERFORMANCE

ANNUAL CHART

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

FINAL PROVISIONS

GRI INDEX

DIRECTORS

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS



Social Balance

UN GoalMetro/SP ContributionMetro Connection AOS SDGs

Investments in projects, equipment and 
management systems aimed at e
ciency in water 
and energy consumption, cost reduction and 
environmental impacts associated with its 
activities in operation, maintenance and 
administrative buildings.
                                                                                                                                   

Investments in transport systems with sustainable 
operational and technological characteristics and 
with clean energy, ensuring the reduction of 
impacts associated with greenhouse gas emissions.

Investments in the review of management 
processes aiming at e
ciency, quality, time and 
costs of expansion and operation and the 
promotion and development of its value chain.

Expanding infrastructure and modernizing 
technology to provide modern and sustainable 
energy services.

Taking urgent measures to combat climate 
change and its impacts.

Building resilient infrastructure, promoting 
inclusive and sustainable industrialization and 
fostering innovation.
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Social Balance

UN GoalMetro/SP ContributionMetro Connection AOS SDGs

Continuous investment in the planning and 
development of projects for an integrated 
transport system with sustainable technologies and 
operational characteristics, transforming urban 
space and the environment in cities, in order to 
ensure access, sustainable mobility, well-being and 
people’s health.

Investments in projects referenced in sustainable 
civil construction and sustainability throughout the 
life cycle of the projects, covering the processes of 
purchasing inputs and consuming natural 
resources.
                               

Providing access to safe, accessible, sustainable 
and a�ordable transportation systems for all, 
improving road safety through the expansion of 
public transport, with special attention to the 
needs of vulnerable people, women, the elderly, 
children and people with disabilities.

Ensuring sustainable production and 
consumption standards.
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Social Balance

Social Benefi ts
The social benefi ts that make up the METRO Social 
Balance represent the positive impacts of the 
network operated by the Company for the quality 
of life of the metropolis due to its technical aspects, 
operational performance and use of clean energy.

For the calculation, it is assumed that if the METRO 
stops operating, the mobility of people in the city 
would be modifi ed as its users would have to travel 
by other means of transport. Part of their demand 
would migrate to buses, another part would use cars 
and another part would use motorcycles3.

With the transfer of METRO users to these 
modalities, there would be an increase in the 
frequency of buses and the number of cars and 
motorcycles in circulation. 

This would lead to increased congestion, increased 
travel times and fuel consumption, additional 
operating costs for vehicles and road operation and 
maintenance.

In addition, the number of tra¥  c accidents and air 
pollution would increase, with their following impacts 
on the population’s health and the quality of life in 
the metropolis.

Accordingly, when monetized, it is possible to 
measure how much the operation of the METRO4

network provides social benefi ts. 

In 2019, the costs were estimated at R$ 10,982.49 
million. Reduced travel times is the most signifi cant 
benefi t of the measured set, as shown in the graph 
below.

3 The percentages of transfer to the car, bus and motorcycle modalities were obtained in the Survey of socioeconomic characterization of users and 
their travel habits – 2012, carried out by the Operations Management. The transfer percentage for the metropolitan train is not considered, as this 
modality has operational characteristics similar to those of the Metro. 
4 The social benefi ts presented here refer exclusively to the lines operated by Metro, as they are part of its Social Balance. The benefi ts of Lines 
4-Yellow and 5-Lilac, operated by concessionaires, are not included in the amounts presented.
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R$Social Benefits

2019

Reduced Track Maintenance and Operation Costs

Reduced Accidents

Reduced Pollutant Emissions

Reduced Fuel Consumption

Reduced Operating Costs with Buses, Automobiles and Motorcycles

Reduced Travel Time

Total

 136,224,756

 185,101,407

 178,527,775

 1,390,719.045

 2,704,273,121

 6,384,551.012

 10,979,397,117

 1.2%

1.7%

1.6%

12.7%

24.6%

58.2%

100.0%

% on total

“Amount
(thousand)”UnitSocial Benefits

2019

Reduced Track Maintenance and Operation Costs

Reduced Accidents

Reduced Pollutant Emissions

Reduced Fuel Consumption

Reduced Operating Costs

(buses, automobiles and motorcycles)

Total

-

number of accidents

tons

liters

kilometers

hours

-

10

766

399,948

2,044,443

603,912

-

136.22

185.10

178.53

1390.72

2704.27

6384.55

10979.40

Amount
(R$ Million)

“Amount
(thousand)”

2018

-

9

855

469,487

2,155,523

843,902

-

 67.91

157.27

194.41

1621.59

2510.81

7577.96

12129.95

Amount
(R$ Million)

5,000

6,000

7,000

4,000

3,000

2,000

1,000

6,385

2,704

1,391

136
185 182

In 2019 R$Accumulated Social 
Benefits / Year

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

Accumulated Social 
Benefits 2003-2019

 8,338,572,823.33

15,891,617,970.84

 23,681,814,429.62

31,650,429,540.61

39,750,041,119.77

 48.659,686.790.76

 58,142,590,945.63

 67,624,832,709.97

77,837,501,077.84

 88,405,317,384.38

101,776,130,134.58

114,204,078,160.55

127,943,400,392.24

142,466,928,272.29

157,025,790,781.75

169,862,917,519.70

180,842,314,636.41

R$ 180,842,341,636.41

100,000,000,000

120,000,000,000

140,000,000,000
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2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Reduced Track Maintenance and 
Operation Costs

Reduced Accidents

Reduced Pollutant Emissions

Reduced Fuel Consumption

Reduced Operating Costs with Buses, Automobiles 
and Motorcycles

Reduced Travel Time

Source: Metro, 2020

Source: Metro, 2020
* Current amounts.

* Current amounts.

* Current amounts.

R$Social Benefits

2019

Reduced Track Maintenance and Operation Costs

Reduced Accidents

Reduced Pollutant Emissions

Reduced Fuel Consumption

Reduced Operating Costs with Buses, Automobiles and Motorcycles

Reduced Travel Time

Total

 136,224,756

 185,101,407

 178,527,775

 1,390,719.045

 2,704,273,121

 6,384,551.012

 10,979,397,117

 1.2%

1.7%

1.6%

12.7%

24.6%

58.2%

100.0%

% on total

“Amount
(thousand)”UnitSocial Benefits

2019

Reduced Track Maintenance and Operation Costs

Reduced Accidents

Reduced Pollutant Emissions

Reduced Fuel Consumption

Reduced Operating Costs

(buses, automobiles and motorcycles)

Total

-

number of accidents

tons

liters

kilometers

hours

-

10

766

399,948

2,044,443

603,912

-

136.22

185.10

178.53

1390.72

2704.27

6384.55

10979.40

Amount
(R$ Million)

“Amount
(thousand)”

2018

-

9

855

469,487

2,155,523

843,902

-

 67.91

157.27

194.41

1621.59

2510.81

7577.96

12129.95

Amount
(R$ Million)

5,000

6,000

7,000

4,000

3,000

2,000

1,000

6,385

2,704

1,391

136
185 182

In 2019 R$Accumulated Social 
Benefits / Year

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

Accumulated Social 
Benefits 2003-2019

 8,338,572,823.33

15,891,617,970.84

 23,681,814,429.62

31,650,429,540.61

39,750,041,119.77

 48.659,686.790.76

 58,142,590,945.63

 67,624,832,709.97

77,837,501,077.84

 88,405,317,384.38

101,776,130,134.58

114,204,078,160.55

127,943,400,392.24

142,466,928,272.29

157,025,790,781.75

169,862,917,519.70

180,842,314,636.41

R$ 180,842,341,636.41

100,000,000,000

120,000,000,000

140,000,000,000

160,000,000,000

180,000,000,000

200,000,000,000

80,000,000,000

60,000,000,000
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20,000,000,000

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Reduced Track Maintenance and 
Operation Costs

Reduced Accidents

Reduced Pollutant Emissions

Reduced Fuel Consumption

Reduced Operating Costs with Buses, Automobiles 
and Motorcycles

Reduced Travel Time

Source: Metro, 2020

Source: Metro, 2020
* Current amounts.

* Current amounts.

* Current amounts.

Million

Social Benefi ts 2019 – Average Prices 2019
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Social Balance

Amount
(thousand)UnitSocial Benefits

2019

Reduced Track Maintenance and Operation Costs

Reduced Accidents

Reduced Pollutant Emissions

Reduced Fuel Consumption

Reduced Operating Costs
(buses, automobiles and motorcycles)

Total

-

number of accidents

tons

liters

kilometers

hours

-

10

766

399,939

2,044,429

603,912

-

136.22

185.10

181.76

1,390.69

2,704.17

6,384.55

10,982.49

Amount
(R$ Million)*

Amount
(thousand)

2018

-

9

855

469,487

2,155,523

843,902

-

 67.91

157.27

194.41

1,621.59

2,510.81

7,577.96

12,129.95

Amount
(R$ Million)*

* Current amounts

Reduced Travel Time
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Social Balance

Notes:

The 14.4% decrease in social benefi ts, when 
compared to 20185, in constant amounts  (Brazilian 
Reais in 2019), can be explained mainly by the 
exclusion of Line 5-Lilac from the calculation base, 
with the update of the area impact and the number 
of entries in the network, due to its transfer to the 
concessionaire in the second half of 2018.

The methodology for calculating social benefi ts 
uses several data from the Origin-Destination survey, 
carried out every ten years by Metro. With the 
disclosure of data from the OD 2017 Survey, it was 
possible to update several parameters. Among the 
main updated parameters are: number of bus, car 
and motorcycle travels and their respective travel 
times and kilometers traveled; average time willing 
to walk, individual income ratio; and users of public 
transport and individual transport and the average 
time of exclusive metro travel. 

In addition to updating these parameters, it was 
necessary to review the impact area where the 
hypothetical Metro shutdown would a� ect the 
population’s travel. Therefore, the commercial 

operation of Line 15-Silver was included, in 2019, 
and the Line 5-Lilac, already mentioned above, was 
excluded.

Despite the signifi cant reduced kilometers traveled 
of modalities, an indicator that directly a� ects 
benefi ts, with the exception of travel time, there 
was a signifi cant increase in the amount, in Brazilian 
Reais, of the cost/km of buses, cars and motorcycles. 

Bus data are provided by SPTrans6 and the remaining 
data are calculated using the methodology based on 
the values   of a popular new vehicle (zero km). 

Considering the availability of new accident numbers 
by the Tra¥  c Engineering Company – CET, there was 
a methodological update in the calculation method. 
In view of the new fi gures, new accident rates were 
defi ned and applied for the additional kilometers 
traveled from the transferred travels. 

Accumulated Social Benefi ts

From 2003 to 2019, the benefi ts provided by 
the Metro network amounted to R$ 180.8 billion, 
equivalent to an average savings of R$ 10.6 billion 
per year in the reported period.

5  The amount of the 2018 Social Benefi ts, with prices applicable in 2019, is equivalent to R$ 12.84 billion. If the amounts for 2019 and 2018 are compared to current fi gures, 
there is a is drop by 9.5%.

6  SPTrans cost/km data were made available considering an estimate for the month of December. The data referring to carried passengers was updated according to the 
SPTrans website, Access to Information. 
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Social Balance

Accumulated Social Benefi ts – 2003-2019

Total R$ 180.8
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Social Balance

Environmental Impacts
Licensing and environmental control.
Metro respects the environment in the 
present, the past and the future.

From conception to operation, rapid transit projects 
undergo careful technical analysis so that all 
environmental, social and economic-fi nancial aspects 
are met and comply with applicable laws.

The Basic Environmental Plan – PBA, for instance, 
is an instrument that guides how the environmental 
impacts of the works should be reduced, specifi c for 
each project. The PBA guides the prevention and/
or mitigation of the impacts generated during the 
implementation phase, also aiming to enhance the 
positive impacts that the project may have.

The Environmental Management Program – PGA, 
which makes up the PBA, provides guidance on the 
actions to be taken in relation to contaminated areas, 
archeology, noise and vibration, waste, eÄ  uents, 
excess excavation material, erosion and aggradation, 
air quality, settlement in neighboring buildings, 
vectors, social communication and tree management 
as indicated in the Term of Environmental 
Commitment – TCA.

In 2019, 18 environmental licenses for four lines 
in operation and in expansion were obtained or 
renewed, with two prior licenses, two installation 
licenses, 11 extension of installation licenses, two 
rectifi cation of operation license and one operation 
license that generated a series of technical reports, 
monitoring of works, investigation and mitigation in 
contaminated areas, noise and vibration and also tree 
management.

Metro awaits the response of the responsible 
environmental agency regarding the three 
applications for renewals of three operating licenses 
for two lines, applied for in 2018, for three operating 
licenses, one of which refers to Line 1-Blue and the 
other to Line 2-Green. This renewal application 
comprises a process of standardization of the 
licenses, requiring a longer period for analysis by the 
environmental agency. 

Contaminated areas

Contaminated areas refer to all regions presenting 
a quantity or concentration of any substance that 
causes or has the potential to cause damage to 
human health, the environment or other property to 
be protected.
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Social Balance
In cases where property is expropriated, Metro 
assumes the environmental liabilities of such areas 
and, in all cases, actively manages the contamination 
of external areas and areas of infl uence of the 
project, particularly when the construction method 
may change the extent and/or the contamination 
behavior in the subsoil.

The company also seeks to reduce legally the price 
paid for the expropriation of the property, based 
on the environmental liability determined in the 
court-supervised investigation, which obviously 
reduces the market value of the property considering 
the expenses necessary for the remediation and 
treatment of contaminated soil. In certain cases, 
compensation is also sought from the responsible for 
the environmental damage, when it is not possible 
to verify it in the records of the expropriation 
proceeding.

Due to demands originating from the São Paulo 
State Environmental Company – CETESB for 
environmental studies on gases and vapors in the 
soil, in 2019 investigation steps were taken in two 
areas of the company, one operational area and 
one which will be intended for the installation of a 
maintenance and parking yard for trains, through a 
consortium consisting of specialized companies. 

For the next year, an investigation of another 
operational area of   the company is expected to be 
conducted. 

The completion of the management of these areas 
is subject to the fi ndings to be obtained in the 
investigations and in any intervention measures that 
may be adopted.

With the resumption of works on Line 2-Green 
(scheduled for February 2020) once environmental 
investigations are carried out in 34 of the 42 areas 
with potential or suspicion of contamination in 
the region of expansion of the line, the fi ndings 
pointed to the need for continuity of environmental 
management with intervention measures in at least 
four areas considered contaminated. 

Among them, one should be remedied from the 
year 2020 with the implementation of a multi-phase 
extraction system to remove contaminant-free phase. 
The remaining eight areas, the investigations of 
which have not yet been completed, belong to the 
future Pátio Paulo Freire yard.

Archeology

In designing new projects, studies are carried out to 
assess the impacts of said projects. 

In addition to environmental issues, the studies 
shine a light on the formation of the city and 
reveal architectural, cultural and historical aspects 
of the insertion areas and historical records. They 
also anticipate the possibility of traces of human 
occupation in these areas.
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Social Balance
During the implementation works, the archaeological 
heritage still preserved in the underground of the city is 
retrieved. 

The material traces of people’s way of life comprise 
several aspects: types of housing, eating habits and 
domestic utensils, consumption, professional activities, 
industrialization, transport, religion, customs, among 
others.

In view of the expansion works on lines 2, 4, 5, 15 and 
17, a number of archaeological fi nds are now under 
the tutelage of institutions, with the approval of the 
National Historical and Artistic Heritage Institute – IPHAN, 
responsible for looking after the historical and cultural 
heritage. 

The collection consists of 26,639 fragments, originating 
from the works to implement these lines, which are of 
great interest to communities in the south and west 
regions of São Paulo, as well as for the population as a 
whole.

In 2019, Metro completed a study for the implementation 
of a Memory Center and a set of actions aimed at 
the management of the Historical Collection and the 
Preservation of the Company’s Corporate Memory.

Urban landscaping and renewal

The implementation of large projects in the cities foresees 
the integration and suitableness with the existing urban 
context, thus reducing its impact. For this reason, 

environmental licenses provide that entrepreneurs 
consider this context in their projects.

The Landscape Project for Line 15-Silver under the 
elevated road was conceived considering the integration 
with the a� ected regions and with the design of a bike 
path. In 2019, the implementation of the bike path on the 
Vila Prudente–São Mateus section was completed.

Ecological restoration

In September 2019, an agreement was entered into 
between Metro and a specialized company to carry out 
ecological restoration, in compliance with two Terms of 
Compensation and Environmental Recovery referring to 
the intervention in the Preliminary Hazard Analysis – APP 
in respect of the Pátio Guido Caloi yard in Line 5-Lilac.

The subject matter of the agreement provides for the 
environmental recovery of an area of   8 hectares in the 
municipality of Santa Isabel, in the State of São Paulo, 
with the planting of native species coupled with the 
natural regeneration of the area in question in accordance 
with SMA Resolution No. 32/2014.

Operational Network Environmental 
Management System

The Environmental Management System – EMS comprises 
the management of all environmental aspects related to 
the network operated by the Company, in accordance 
with the NBR ISO 14001 Standard.
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Social Balance

The processes within the scope of the EMS are managed by 
the following organizational units:

Organizational Unit Processes

Maintenance of rolling stock, permanent way,
fixed equipment and civil structures and installations.Management and Maintenance

Operations Management Operation of Lines 1-Blue, 2-Green, 3-Red and 15-Silver.

Resource and Infrastructure Management Infrastructure and property security services in buildings.

Logistics Management Logistics and supply management and inspection services for
materials, equipment and systems.

Department of Integrated Management Systems Management of the EMS.

Department of Environment and Sustainability Environmental licensing and promotion of sustainability.

Operations Management Operation of Lines 1-Blue, 2-Green, 3-Red and 15-Silver.

Logistics Management Logistics and supply management and inspection services for
materials, equipment and systems.

Department of Environment and Sustainability Environmental licensing and promotion of sustainability.

In 2019, the environmental objectives and programs defi ned in the EMS were related to reducing the 
consumption of drinking water, reducing the consumption of electricity in buildings and stations, 
improving the management of environmental aspects arising from services provided by engaged 
companies, managing solid waste and sustainable procurement and contracting process.
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Social Balance

Sustainable Contracting

In 2019, the project to establish and implement 
the systematic use of sustainability criteria in 
the processes that would result in purchases or 
contracting was continued. 

Two technical fi les were developed, one with the 
objective of guiding processes for contracting 
maintenance services for green areas and the other 
for the purchase of industrial detergents.

Environmental aspects of engaged 
companies

The management of the environmental aspects of 
the activities carried out by engaged companies is 
also part of the scope of the EMS. To carry out this 
management, an Environmental Aspect Management 
Plan – PGAA is requested from companies that carry 
out activities having the potential to pollute the 
environment, controlling possible impacts of these 

activities before the companies start working on the 
Metro.

Since the EMS was implemented, around 300 
companies have already presented PGAA reporting 
the method of controlling the environmental 
aspects resulting from the services provided at the 
Company’s facilities. 

This document also serves as a basis for inspecting 
contractors for compliance with applicable 
environmental laws and regulations. 

Environmental education

Law No. 9.795/1999, in its article 1, provides that: 
“Environmental education is understood as the 
processes through which the individual and 
the community build social values, knowledge, 
skills, behaviors and competences aimed at the 
conservation of the environment, an asset for the 
common use of the people, essential to a healthy 
quality of life and its sustainability”. 
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Based on this concept of environmental education, 
many actions have been promoted on the Metro on a 
continuous basis:

•  Presentation of the main items of the EHS and 
waste sorting to new employees. 

•  Waste sorting campaign for internal audiences and 
users. 

•  Lectures to raise awareness of engaged companies. 

•  Lectures to raise awareness of employees every six 
months.

•  Environmental reports for all employees. 

•  Water and energy reduction campaigns.

•  Innovative materials for training with videos and 
documentaries.

Water

In 2019, Metro continued to study alternative sources 
of non-potable water. 

The fl ow and the quality of the drainage water 
existing along the lines was evaluated and the 
possible uses were raised in activities that do not 
require potable water. 

Costs incurred with project and implementation of 
a water distribution system along Line 1-Blue are 
expected to be estimated in the fi rst half of 2020.

The Vila Prudente Station expansion project has 
started, with adjustments to the rainwater collection 
and use system.
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Social Balance

Summary of the main measures to reduce water consumption

Water Consumption Locations

Summary of the key measures to reduce water consumption

Reduction Measures

Daily monitoring of water consumption at stations with the 
reading of water meters.

Seasons

Yards Operation of Lines 1-Blue, 2-Green, 3-Red and 15-Silver.

Administrative buildings and construction sites Infrastructure and property security services in buildings.

Projects

Issuance of general rules to establish and disseminate basic 
guidelines for projects related to the capture of alternative 
sources of water, non-potable uses and monitoring of the water 
systems of the new Metro yards and stations and for 
refurbishing/modernizing the existing lines. Expansion of Vila 
Prudente Station. Forecast of rainwater use.

All Campaigns to encourage conscious consumption to reduce 
the consumption of drinking water.
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Social Balance

Waste

As an environmentally appropriate destination 
for solid waste generated in the waste sorting 
implemented, the company consolidated in its 
processes the use of the reverse logistics instrument 
– implemented in 2018 – for two of its hazardous 
waste: portable batteries and lead-acid batteries. 

In addition to these cases, Metro has been studying 
reverse logistics alternatives for aerosol packaging 
generated in its maintenance processes.

With these initiatives, Metro is in line with modern 
solid waste management practices, moving towards 
meeting its internal goals and contributing to 
meeting the principles and objectives of the National 
Solid Waste Policy, recognizing of its importance to 
society. 

In addition, it reinforced the environmental education 
of the internal public, based, since 2008, on the 3R 
Program, aimed at reduction, reuse and recycling, as 
well as the rational use of resources. 

The waste sorting process implemented has allowed 
employees, third-parties and users of the system to 
properly dispose of the waste generated. 
In the annual total, the administrative areas and 
stations generated 6.617 tons of Class II – Non-
Hazardous Waste, 2.5% of which was sent for 
recycling.

In respect of Class I – Hazardous Waste, 121.7 tons 
were properly disposed of. Of the total Class I Waste, 
19.7% was destined for recycling/reuse, 71.6% for co-
processing and 8.7% for Class I Landfi ll.

In addition to the above, 71.7 tons of civil 
construction waste (RCC) were generated in the 
small works carried out in the maintenance areas.
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Social Balance

Class I, Class II and Class IIB Waste

Class II
Non-Hazardous

Type of waste Generation locations
Quantitative 
2018 (tons)

68,0

6500,0

71,7

87,2

87,2

87,2

Chemical product packaging, 
PPE (personal protective 
equipment), oil-soiled cloth and 
rags, heavily-soiled oil, liquids 
that cannot be sent to the 
sewage treatment network

Fluorescent lamps

Batteries

Stations, trains, yards, 
administrative buildings 
and construction sites

Trains, stations and yards

Yards and maintenance 
bases

Processing and destination

Coprocessing

Decontamination and recycling.
Changes in preventive 
maintenance, observing the cycle 
of lamp life. Each train contains, 
on average, 200 lamps.

Maintenance of batteries.
When their useful life expires, 
they are stored and 
subsequently sold at auction.

Civil Construction Waste (RCC)

Recyclable

Non-recyclable

Maintenance

Cooperatives

Landfill

Controlled Landfill

Class I
Hazardous

Stations and 
administrative areas

Stations and 
administrative areas
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Social Balance

Energy

The consumption and costs of acquiring electricity 
for the rapid transit system are strategic aspects for 
the management of the system due to the signifi cant 
impacts on the environmental and economic-
fi nancial areas. 

In 2019, the total energy consumption of the lines 
controlled by the Metro remained virtually stable 
even with the inauguration of four (4) new stations 
on the 15-Silver line. 

Please note that in the 2015-2017 period, energy 
e¥  ciency initiatives led to signifi cant results in 

The energy for operating the system represented 
more than 95% of the total consumed by the 
company, including administrative buildings and 
construction sites, especially with the signifi cant 
decrease in consumption at the construction 
sites, as can be seen in the table below.

reducing consumption, reinforcing 
the company’s commitment to fi nancial balance and 
reduction of environmental impact. 

Energy consumption per car.kilometer dropped 
from 3.41kwh/car.km in 2015 to 2.86 in 2019.

Electricity Consumption (GWh)* 2017

530

515

9

5

Total Consumption
Operation
Construction Site
Administration Buildings

2018

477

470**

3

4

2019

477

473

1

3

* Values   rounded to one decimal place.
** Operation consumption data exclude the 5-Lilac line from the total accounted for in 2018, the year in which the line was granted in concession to the private sector.
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Social Balance

Electricity consumption and passenger.kilometer – pkm 
2008-2019
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Social Balance

Operation costs – Electricity 

In 2019, the average cost of energy was 
approximately R$ 466.85/MWh, 23.5% higher than 
the average cost of 2018, which was 
R$ 378.00/MWh. 

The total cost of energy for the operation increased 
from R$ 197 million in 2018 to R$ 227.4 million in 
2019, due to the higher electricity price. 

In view of this fact, Metro has restructured the 
form of energy acquisition, seeking greater savings 
and advantages in contracting through electronic 
procurement.

Greenhouse gas emissions

Variations in electricity consumption and in the 
emission factor for power generation in Brazil, 
calculated by the National Interconnected System-
SIN, have a major impact on the total greenhouse 
gas emissions generated as a result of the Metro’s 
activities. 

The emission factors vary on an annual basis 
depending on the power generation process in Brazil 
and the consumption scenario associated with the 
economic dynamics and environmental conditions. 

In 2019, there was no signifi cant variation in the total 
electricity consumed by Metro compared to 20181. 
On the other hand, there was a slight increase in the 
GHG emission factor for electricity consumed (1%). 

Thus, a total of 40 thousand tCO2e of greenhouse 
gas emissions was accounted for, of which 35 
thousand tons were associated with the consumption 
of electricity for system operation (traction of trains, 
stations, operational control center and maintenance 
yards). This value, in percentage terms, has always 
been higher than 85% of the Company’s total 
emissions. 

In summary, the total of emissions related to energy 
consumption and accordingly the total emissions of 
Metro-SP su� ered little change, compared to 2018.

  1The calculation of GHG emissions was revised to adjust the result with the concession of Line 5-Lilac to the private sector. 
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Social Balance

GHG emissions from the São 
Paulo Metro and emission 
factors for power generation 
in Brazil calculated by the 
National Interconnected 
System-SIN.
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Social Balance

Balance of carbon emissions in the 
operation phase

In order to assess the benefi ts promoted by the 
rapid transit network in terms of the amount of CO2e 
emitted, the impacts avoided with the existence 
of the network and the impacts generated by the 
operation of the system are considered. 

The indicator represents the importance of rapid 
transit systems throughout their life cycle and 
supports the importance of investments in these 
systems for low carbon scenarios, as well as for the 
reduction of air pollution due to the reduction of 
fossil fuel consumption, among others benefi ts.

In 2019, the carbon balance was 725 thousand tCO2e 
of net avoided greenhouse gas emissions. This is the 
result obtained when considering that 760 thousand 

tons of CO2e were avoided with the existence of 
the São Paulo Metro network and 35 thousand tons 
of CO2e were emitted due to the consumption of 
electricity for the operation. 

This means that, for each ton of CO2 emitted by the 
operation of São Paulo Metro trains, the emission of 
22 tCO2e is avoided – a benefi t 
of approximately 2,200%.

This benefi t is also evident when comparing the GHG 
emissions per passenger-kilometer of the metro with 
buses and cars. In 2019, to carry each passenger 
for a distance of one kilometer, the Metro operation 
generated an indirect emission of 5 grams of CO2
equivalent (CO2e). 
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Social Balance

* The 2018 data was revised because some data were not made available by the Ministry of Science, Technology, Innovations and Communications in time for the 
fi nal edition of the Integrated Report 2018. 
** The emission values   per pkm were recalculated for the years 2017 and 2018, considering updated data from the Origin/Destination Survey, carried out in 2017.

Environmental Indicators 2017

54

723

49

4

6

40

942

35

4

5

40

624

35

4

5

Greenhouse gas emissions

2018* 2019

Total (thousands of tCO²e)
Direct GHG emissions (tCO2e)
Indirect GHG emissions from energy 
acquisition (thousand tCO2e)
Other indirect GHG emissions (thousands tCO2e)
Emissions per passenger.km (gCO2e/pkm)**

Hazardous Waste
Total (t)

Water - Consumption
Total (mil m3)

Electricity - Consumption
Total (GWh)
Train traction consumption (GWh)

192
(40% recycled)

542

530

364

147
(29% recycled)

493

477

326

232
(32% recycled)

448

477

330
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2019 was marked by a commitment to maintaining 
the company’s economic AND fi nancial balance, 
increasing non-fare revenues, delivering the 
expansion works of the rapid transit network, 
ensuring the quality of the transport service and the 
satisfaction of users and the community. 

An e¥  cient management is evidenced by 
the physical evolution of the network and the 
administrative measures adopted to face the budget 
constraint resulting from the economic crisis in the 
country: the management processes have been 
revised and expenses have been reduced. 

The company used in its agenda, as has happened 
continuously in recent years, e� orts to reduce its 
costs, increase its quality, e¥  ciency and productivity 
indexes, maintaining high quality of service 
o� ered, critical measures for the sustainability 
of the business, particularly in an unfavorable 
macroeconomic scenario. 

Throughout 2019, the rapid transit network was 
extended by 5 kilometers and 4 new stations on Line 
15-Silver were opened to the population. 

Thus, the São Paulo rapid transit network currently 
has six lines, 101.1 kilometers in length and 89 

stations, whereas 69.7 kilometers and 62 stations are 
operated by the Metro and 31.4 kilometers and 27 
stations operated by the private sector (Via Quatro 
and Via Mobilidade), through a concession.
The services provided by Metro served, on average, 
3.85 million passengers/day. 

The great challenge of carrying passengers with safe, 
fast, reliable, predictable and humanized service was 
faced by providing extremely e¥  cient and e� ective 
operation and maintenance services. 

The passengers’ recognition of the service rendered 
resulted in two awards given by the DataFolha 
Institute: best public service and best public 
transport. In addition to the e� orts and successful 
outcomes achieved in the core activity, Metro 
increased non-fare revenues in 2019 and secured 
additional funds to meet the costs of its operation, 
contributing to a stable and positive fi nancial 
coverage rate. 

Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo 
maintained the following ISO certifi cations: 9001 
(quality), 45001 (occupational health and safety) and 
14001 (environmental management).
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Corporate Strategy

Long-Term 
Strategy 2019-2023 and 
Business Plan 2019
The 2019 Business Plan and the 2019-2023 Long-
Term Strategy of Companhia do Metropolitano de 
São Paulo – Metro were, in compliance with Law No. 
13,303, dated June 30, 2016, approved by the Board 
of Directors at the last meeting of 2018 and disclosed 
to the public in the Integrated Report 2018 upon 
publication on the São Paulo Metro website (http://
www.metro.sp.gov.br/metro/institucional/pdf/rel-
integrado.pdf).

In the 2019 Business Plan and the 2019-2023 Long-
Term Strategy, the development, implementation or 
improvement of solutions that could bring relevant 
gains to increase the e¥  ciency of the company’s 
management, excellence of services provided to 
passengers and improved mobility for all citizens of 
the Metropolitan Area of São Paulo were foreseen. 

In this context, in addition to expanding the network 
and providing services, projects were considered 
that sought higher levels of quality, e¥  ciency and 
productivity or that adopted measures to obtain 

gains in scale and improved controls and processes 
to ensure the leading position of the São Paulo 
Metro. 

The 2019 Business Plan was structured around four 
strategic objectives and included 19 initiatives, the 
goals of which were monitored by the Executive 
Board and the Board of Directors, as provided for in 
art. 23, paragraph 2, 
of Law No. 13,303/16. 

All 65 goals provided for in the 2019 Business Plan 
were met or partially met, whereas part of the 
activities were rescheduled for 2020, evidencing that 
the result of the work carried out by the São Paulo 
Metro was e� ective and fulfi lled its objectives as 
planned, except for specifi c projects, which, for duly 
justifi ed reasons, have been rescheduled. 

Likewise, the corresponding budgets were made 
available and allocated to the respective projects, 
the management of which ensured their perfect 
application, contributing to their proper progress. 
The results obtained from each strategic objective 
are presented below.
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Corporate Strategy

• Cost restructuring

This strategic objective focused on the preparation 
of a structure of management, expansion, 
operation and maintenance costs, addressing fi xed 
and variable costs (related to direct and indirect 
labor, materials, acquisitions and modernization) 
and revenues (fares, reimbursement of free 
transport, ancillary revenues, government 
contributions and fi nancing). 

The internal processes were analyzed, products 
and services were identifi ed for acquisition, 
contracting or outsourcing, as well as the 
possibility of unifi cation or co-management of 
contracts was evaluated, considering the new 
labor and administrative laws and the applicable 
normative instruments. 

The implementation of cost reduction projects 
continued, such as: mitigating the causes of 
employment disputes, reviewing working hours 
and schedules, voluntary employment termination 
program, health insurance, electricity consumption 
and increased e¥  ciency of operation and 
maintenance.

•  Management 5.0/organizational 
transformation

This strategic objective focused on the redesign 
of the organizational structure and the corporate 
model, through the creation, division or merger of 
business units and the establishment of a shared 
services center, observing the best practices of 
the market and the sector, aiming at making the 
company more dynamic and e¥  cient. 

The management processes and the responsibilities 
assigned by means of normative instruments, which 
establish and confer authority and responsibility to 
the di� erent levels of leadership, were reviewed. 

Proposals were prepared to review the Company’s 
career chart and positions, as well as a proposal to 
intensify the use of matrix structures. 

The mapping of critical processes was resumed with 
the aim of promoting automation, digitalization and 
continuous monitoring and implementing corporate 
risk management. 
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Corporate Strategy

•  Expansion management 
and governance

This strategic objective focused on reviewing the 
project implementation model based on diagnoses 
and proposing improvements to the processes 
in the stages of preparing the network and line 
planning, the functional, basic and executive 
projects, as well as the expropriation, resettlement, 
environmental licensing, bidding processes and 
implementation of civil works, systems and 
commissioning of facilities. 

This objective was consolidated in new design and 
contracting guidelines, as well as in a new model 
for the implementation of projects, improving the 
methods for monitoring and controlling quality, 
terms and costs of the expansion works of the 
rapid transit system.

•  Integrated communication strategy

This strategic objective focused on the institutional 
relationship with the di� erent stakeholders to 
disseminate information assertively through the 
alignment of messages and the integration of 
interlocutors and to raise awareness and infl uence 
stakeholders, seeking the e� ectiveness and 
credibility of the relationship channels by means of 
a new Communication and Relationship Policy. 

The attributions of the areas were revised in order 
to integrate communication and relationship 
actions with stakeholders better, whether internal 
and external. Communication programs were 
developed and its results monitored, relying heavily 
on digital technologies.
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Corporate Strategy

Long-Term Strategy 2020-
2024 and Business Plan 
2020
Based on the premises described below and in 
compliance with the provisions of art. 23, paragraph 
1, of Federal Law No. 13.303/2016 – Provisions 
applicable to government-owned and government-
controlled companies –, regulated by State Decree 
No. 62.349/2016, the São Paulo Metro Board 
formulated the Company’s Long-Term Strategy 
for the 2020-2024 period, as well as prepared the 
Business Plan for the year 2020.

In order to continue securing the economic 
and fi nancial balance and ensuring economic 
sustainability, the Company must seek to operate 
with a minimum adjusted EBITDA of 9%, which 
implies structural changes. 

Defi ned as “Management 5.0”, the 2020 Business 
Plan provides bold challenges that will bring relevant 

gains for the company’s management and for the 
improvement of services provided to citizens in the 
area of   mobility. Both for the Long-Term Strategy 
for the period 2020-2024 and for the 2020 Business 
Plan, projects are planned to seek higher levels of 
quality, e¥  ciency and productivity, which adopt 
measures to obtain gains in scale, improvement of 
controls and processes to ensure the leading position 
of the São Paulo Metro.

The process of selecting strategic objectives and 
initiatives has shown that structural changes are an 
essential condition for ensuring their sustainability. 
In order to face the challenges, it was decided to 
continue e� orts based on the four objectives that 
structured the strategy in 2019, with the necessary 
adjustments to support the 2020-2024 Long Term 
Strategy. 

In the 2020 Business Plan, the strategic objectives 
were divided into 12 initiatives with the respective 
actions and goals, with systematic monitoring, in 
order to ensure their performance.
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Corporate Strategy

Strategic objective: 
economic and fi nancial balance

This strategic objective focuses on the balance of 
revenues and expenses, with a view to ensuring the 
Company’s fi nancial autonomy. 

Actions are planned to achieve reduced 
administrative expenses and collection and payment 
processes. 

Since the passenger transport services sector 
requires the intensive use of labor, this objective 
emphasized the projects for optimization of 
personnel costs, which represent a signifi cant portion 
of the company’s total costs. 

At the same time, actions will be prioritized to make 
it possible to increase the fare revenues related to 

the exploitation of buildings erected in the areas 
remaining to the implementation of the rapid transit 
network, development of commercial activities 
and placement of advertising campaigns inside the 
stations and urban terminals and exploitation of 
station and tunnel spaces for the development of 
telecommunication projects focused on providing 
users with greater availability of access to telephone, 
internet and fi ber optic services. 

The growth of ancillary revenues is expected from 
the possibilities o� ered by Metro Consulting, 
through the sale of products and services and the 
exploitation and new markets in Brazil and abroad, 
considering the expertise in the various areas of 
Transport and Urban Mobility, with special interest in 
the operation of rapid transit and railway lines in the 
concession process.
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Corporate Strategy

Initiatives Projects and Goals 2020

• Management and Performance Agreement – Sign and implement.
• Matrix Budget – Structure and implement
• Fare revenue – Reduce expenses by 1% of net revenue.
• Revenue taxes – Reduce expenses by R$ 5 million.
• Financial Payment Discounts – Accrue R$ 10 million in discounts.
• Reduction of Security – Increase the amount secured by judicial deposit 
insurance to R$ 200 million.

1 - Costs

3 - Revenues • Non-fare revenues – Increase the share of ancillary revenues over fare 
revenues to 17%.

2 - Expenses

• Personnel - Reduce expenses by 10%.
• Employment Disputes - Reduce the number of new lawsuits by 5%, 
considering the five most significant causes.
• Absenteeism - Reach the rate of 7%, with individualized measurement.
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Corporate Strategy

Strategic objective: 
e�  ciency in management

This strategic objective aims to increase e¥  ciency 
and productivity and focuses on the pillars of 
management: structure, processes, personnel and 
technology. 

In addition to the review and implementation of the 
new organizational structure, based on the value 
chain and the main macroprocesses of the company, 
the implementation of a process management 
methodology and the implementation of the control 
panel for the corporate indicators deployed for the 
business units are planned. 

The company intends to start the implementation of 
the Shared Services Center – CSC, ensuring quality, 

agility, standardization and savings in the processes 
of providing administrative services to other areas of 
the company. 

Career chart and positions will remain being 
structured along with the mapping and recording of 
the organization’s critical knowledge, according to 
the new organizational structure and, simultaneously, 
monitoring of employee engagement and 
satisfaction will be resumed. 

The structuring and development of innovation 
projects and the completion of the Information 
and Communication Technology Master Plan 
should guide future investments in technological 
modernization and automation, aiming to ensure the 
company’s transition in the digital transformation 
processes.
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Corporate Strategy

• Organizational Structure - Define and approve the new structure based on 
processes and start the implementation.
• Shared Services Center-CSC - Complete the redesign of the processes and 
implement all services of Wave 1 and 4 and services of Wave 2.

4 - Structure

• ICT Master Plan - Complete the preparation and approve the plan.
• Innovation - Structure at least 20 projects with a focus on increasing e�ciency 
and reducing costs.

7 - Technology

5 - Processes

• Process Management - Start implementing the methodology according to 
the new organizational structure.
• Corporate Indicators - Implement a control panel with the deployment of 
indicators for the business units.
• Standard Notice - Prepare a standard draft for contracting services/supplies 
which do not require technical training.

6 - Personnel

• Career and Position Chart - Complete the proposal structure and approve the 
chart. 
• Knowledge Bank - Complete the knowledge recording for all professionals 
associated with CREA/CAU/OAB. 
• Employee satisfaction - Achieve at least 80% positive evaluation in the satisfac-
tion survey in all departments.

Initiatives Projects and Goals 2020
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Corporate Strategy
Strategic objective: investment 
management

This strategic objective focuses on the 
implementation of the new project management 
model according to the Life Cycle of Expansion 
Projects, based on the improvements achieved in the 
stages of preparing the network and line planning, 
the functional, basic and executive projects, as well 
as the expropriation, resettlement, environmental 

licensing, bidding processes and implementation 
of civil works, systems and commissioning of the 
facilities. 

This objective should also improve the methods 
of structuring and controlling the Investment Plan, 
which includes modernization and expansion works, 
considering the scope, terms and costs, in addition 
to implementing a control panel for modernization, 
automation and innovation projects.

• Investment Plan - Developing the management model based on scope, time and cost.

• Expansion Projects - Implementing and monitoring the application of the new 
management methodology

• Modernization, automation and innovation projects - Structuring and implementing 
the scope, time and cost control panel.

8 - Management

• CCO modernization – Entering into the contract.

• Acquisition of 44 trains - Publishing the advertisement for bids for supply.

• CBTC System - Starting commercial operation of Line 1-Blue and Line 3-Red.

• Platform Screen Doors - Completing commissioning at 13 stations - 2 on L1 
| 1 on the L2 | 4 on the L3 | 6 on the L5.

• Electronic Monitoring System - Completing the project and installation in 2 
stations.

• Inventory Management - Completing the implementation of digital data 
collectors to automate the receipt of materials.

• Electricity - Reducing consumption by 5%.

9 - Modernization

Initiatives Projects and Goals 2020
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Corporate Strategy

• Line 2-Green - Issuing the Civil Works Service Orders for the Vila Prudente – Penha 
section - Lots 1 to 6.

• Line 4-Yellow – Completing the Vila Sônia Station and Bus Terminal.

• Line 4-Yellow – Publishing the Advertisement for Bids for Contracting Civil Works 
and Systems of the São Paulo / Consolação Connection Tunnel.

• Line 15-Silver - Publishing the Advertisement for Bids for the Civil Works and Systems 
of the Jacu – Pêssego, Boa Esperança and Pátio Ragueb Chofhi Stations and 
completing the executive project for the Ipiranga station.

• Line 17-Gold - Completing the Civil Works at the Morumbi Station (CPTM).

10 - Expansion Works

• Line 16-Violet - Establishing the guidelines to support the technical, economic, 
financial and environmental assessment by private sector investors.

• Line 19-Sky Blue - Issuing the Service Order for the execution of Surveys and Tests, 
Topography, Mapping of Utility Networks, Basic Civil Project and BIM Systems.

• Line 20-Pink - Establishing the guidelines to support the technical, economic, 
financial and environmental assessment by private sector investors and contracting 
the Functional Project.

11 - Expansion Projects
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Corporate Strategy

Strategic objective: 
integrated communication

This strategic objective focuses on the institutional 
relationship with the various stakeholders, through 
the alignment of messages and the integration 
of relationship channels in a single multichannel 
platform based on digital technologies, seeking 
e� ectiveness and credibility with stakeholders. 

The structuring and development of communication 
and relationship methodology with stakeholders 
at each stage of the life cycle of the projects 
aim to encourage greater participation of these 
stakeholders in the planning and implementation 
processes of mobility projects. 

Actions to improve the relationship with the internal 
public through new communication channels will 
also be prioritized. The results of communication 
and relationship actions with stakeholders, whether 
internal and external, will be monitored by means of 
indicators.

• Communication Policy - Reaching the average rate of positive mentions of at least 55% 
on social media and 75% on traditional media.

• Internal Communication - Establishing and implementing new communication channels.

• External Communication - Establishing the methodology of communication and 
relationship with stakeholders for each stage of the life cycle of the projects.

• Communication Technology - Integrating all channels on a single multichannel platform 
(OMNICHANNEL).

12 - Integrated Communication
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Corporate Strategy

Strategic Map
PERSPECTIVES

Finance Results 
Shareholders

Balancing transport revenues and 
operating costs

Promoting cost optimization Driving ancillary 
revenue generation

Securing the financial autonomy of the São Paulo Metro

Market 
Customers Providing competitive 

services in the urban mobility 
market, in line with 

expectations of passengers

Providing design, implementation 
and management services for 

projects

Providing solutions in combined mobility 
through consultancy, training and 

operation and maintenance services at 
national and international level

Internal 
Processes

Having efficient operation 
and maintenance processes 
in place to bring services to 

world-class standards

Having efficient processes in place 
for the design, implementation and 

management of projects

Structuring consultancy businesses, 
training, services, public-private 
partnerships and concessions

Having efficient administrative 
processes in place to bring the 

effectiveness of Metro to 
market standards

Learning 
& Growth

Promoting integrated and efficient internal and external communication

Structuring a service line in pursuit 
of greater efficiency and scale gain

Developing a new Management 5.0 model 
(organizational structure, processes, results, 

authority/delegation, career chart) Supporting development and 
expanding the knowledge base of 
professionals, maintaining a high 

degree of motivation and productivity

LONG-TERM STRATEGY 2020 - 2024 + BUSINESS PLAN 2020

Continuously innovating and promoting process 
automation and technological modernization of 

information and operation systems

Strategic Map
In 2018, with the support of the Economic Research 
Institute Foundation – Fipe, Metro promoted the 
revision of the current Strategic Map, improving its 
alignment with the prioritized strategic objectives. 

At the end of 2019, the elements contained therein 
were revised, considering the advances occurred 
in the period, the new strategic objectives and the 
reported scenario.
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Corporate Strategy

Mission
To o� er public transport services with quality and 
kindness, through an increasingly closer network to 
take people as further as possible.

Vision
To remain as the preferred transportation option in 
the Metropolitan Area of São Paulo, o� ering quality 
services and increasingly attentive to the needs of 
the citizen. We will make passengers’ travel an even 
more pleasant experience with great promptness, 
kindness and respect.

Ethical Principles
Metro is committed, among others, to ethical 
business principles:

•  E¥  ciency and E� ectiveness – Carrying out 
its duties with professionalism, promptness, 
competence, ensuring the quality of processes and 
services.

•  Equity – Promoting equal opportunities and 

professional development.

•  Integrity – Acting with honesty, truth, fairness, 
legality, impartiality, impersonality, transparency, 
equity, responsibility, care, commitment and 
consistency in all practices and decisions.

•  Morality – Complying with the principles of ethical, 
honest conduct, requiring the observance of ethical 
standards, good faith, loyalty and rules ensuring 
e¥  cient management.

•  Respect for Human Rights – Respecting the right to 
life and freedom, freedom of speech and opinion, 
the right to work, education, diversity and to treat 
people equally, without prejudice of origin, religion, 
race, gender, sexual orientation, ethnicity, age, or 
any other forms of discrimination.

•  Responsibility – Integrating economic, urban, 
environmental and social aspects in a balanced 
manner in the operation and expansion of the rapid 
transit network.

•  Transparency and Advertising – Disclosing 
information and documents that are of public 
interest, safeguarding confi dentiality when 
supported by law.
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Corporate Strategy

Values
•  Promptness – Providing customers with the fastest 

option to move between di� erent modalities.

•  Reliability – Providing travel with a high degree of 
predictability. 

•  Public Interest – Providing passenger transportation 
service aiming at the common good at all times 
and ensuring the needs of society, represented by 
users – actual and potential, direct and indirect –, 
rejecting any deviation from this purpose. 

•  Innovation – Continuously improving practices, 
aiming to increase the satisfaction of our 
stakeholders. 

•  Economy – O� ering quality public transport at the 
lowest possible cost to the population. 

•  Security and Safety – Seeking to provide customers 
with services and facilities that ensure proper 
physical, occupational and operational security and 
safety. 

•  Sustainability – Operating and expanding the 
network with respect to quality of life, the 
environment and social aspects, maintaining the 
company’s economic feasibility. 

•  Mobility – Providing the public with a rapid transit 
network in the Metropolitan Area of São Paulo with 
accessibility, availability, utility and integration.
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Financial and Economic Performance

Achievements and 
Performance 
Financial and Economic Analysis 
The São Paulo Metro reported, in the period, a loss of R$ 
599 million in 2019, compared to R$ 672 million in 2018, a 
drop of 11% in relation to the comparative period. 

Net operating revenue was R$ 2,811 million in 2019, up 
3%, compared to 2018, refl ecting the increase in fare 
revenue, which was R$ 2,023 million in 2019, compared 
to R$ 1,967 million in 2018.

The company’s main source of funds from operating 
activities is the provision of passenger transportation 
services, comprising fare revenue and reimbursement 
of free transport. This service represented 92% of 2019 
gross operating revenue.

Non-fare revenue also increased by 6% in the 
comparative period with 2018, amounting to 
R$ 247 million in 2019.
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Financial and Economic Performance

R$ 2,023R$ 1,967

2018 2019

Fare revenue

3%

R$ 630R$ 638

2018 2019

Revenue from free 
transport services

1%

R$ 247R$ 234

2018 2019

Non-fare revenue

6%

In millions of Brazilian R$
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Financial data:

The adjusted EBITDA refl ects the economic measure of potential cash generation 
adjusted by the “non-recurring” and “non-cash” items, amounting to R$ 64 million 
in 2019, compared to R$ 27 million in 2018.

Components 201 9

2,811

1 ,098

(2,469)

342

(954)

(35)

64

201 8

2,720

1 ,092

(2,409)

311

(839)

(172)

27

Change 2018 x 2019

3%

1 %

2%

10%

14%

(80%)

133%

Net revenue

Passengers carried

Cost of services (CSP)

Gross profit

Administrative expenses, revenues and sales

Other operating expenses/revenues

Adjusted EBITDA

Financial Data

Components 201 9

(599)

-

(48)

579

(68)

201 8

(672)

(12)

(1 6)

577

(1 23)

(11%)

-

196%

0%

(45%)

132

64

151

27

(12%)

133%

Earnings (loss) for the year

Income tax and social contribution

Net financial result

Depreciation and amortization

(=) EBITDA

EBITDA Adjustments

EBITDA Reconciliation

Adjustment of non-recurring events

(=) Adjusted EBITDA

In R$ millions

In R$ millions

Change 2018 x 2019
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EBITDA Reconciliation:

The net fi nancial income was positive by R$ 48 million in 2019, compared to the income of R$ 16 
million in 2018. This income mainly refl ects higher revenues from fi nancial investments and lower 
interest expenses.

The loss determined after income tax and social contribution was R$ 599 million.

Components 201 9

2,811

1 ,098

(2,469)

342

(954)

(35)

64

201 8

2,720

1 ,092

(2,409)

311

(839)

(172)

27

Change 2018 x 2019

3%

1 %

2%

10%

14%

(80%)

133%

Net revenue

Passengers carried

Cost of services (CSP)

Gross profit

Administrative expenses, revenues and sales

Other operating expenses/revenues

Adjusted EBITDA

Financial Data

Components 201 9

(599)

-

(48)

579

(68)

201 8

(672)

(12)

(1 6)

577

(1 23)

(11%)

-

196%

0%

(45%)

132

64

151

27

(12%)

133%

Earnings (loss) for the year

Income tax and social contribution

Net financial result

Depreciation and amortization

(=) EBITDA

EBITDA Adjustments

EBITDA Reconciliation

Adjustment of non-recurring events

(=) Adjusted EBITDA

In R$ millions

In R$ millions

Change 2018 x 2019
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Coverage rate 

The coverage rate is the indicator 
representing the ratio between 
the Company’s total recognized 
revenues and the total operating 
expenses with cash e� ect. 

It aims to indicate whether the 
cash infl ow/outfl ow ratio remains 
at satisfactory levels.

In 2019, Metro’s total net 
revenue covered 100.9% of total 
expenditure. These expenses 
include the cost of services 
provided, operating expenses, in 
addition to the cost of managing 
the expansion works of the 
system.

2019 2018

Total Revenue  2,973   2,863 

Fare revenue  2,023   1,967 

Non-fare revenue 247   234 

Free transport service – Government reimbursement   630   638 

Other operating revenues  97   100 

Financial revenue 65   43 

Deductions from gross revenue  (89)  (119) 

Total Expenses  2,948   2,636 

Personnel 1,753   1,824 

Material 62   47

Outsourced Services 270   -   

General Expenses 505   801

Other Expenses 358   (36)

Coverage Rate (Revenues/Expenses) 100.9% 108.6%

*in R$ millions
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Value-Added Statement 2018

Revenues

Inputs acquired from third-parties

(=) Gross added value

Withholdings

(=) Net added value

Added value received on transfer

(=) Total added value to distribute

Employees

Taxes, fees and contributions

Interest on creditors’ equity

Interest on stockholders’ equity

(=) Total added value distributed

2019

3.090

-1.019

2.071

-769

1.302

74

1.376

1.741

265

30

-659

1.376

2.725

-830

1.895

-386

1.509

48

1.557

1.840

201

35

-519

1.557

Economic value generated and distributed by the Operation

*in R$ millions

Economic value generated and 
distributed by the Operation

Value-Added Statement 2019

Revenues

Inputs acquired from third-parties

(=) Gross added value

Withholdings

(=) Net added value

Added value received on transfer

(=) Total added value to distribute

Employees

Taxes, fees and contributions

Interest on creditors’ equity

Interest on stockholders’ equity

(=) Total added value distributed

2018

2,946

(1,001)

1,944

(579)

1,366

74

1,440

1,742

267

30

(599)

1,440

2,870

(940)

1,930

(577)

1,354

48

1,402

1,840

199

35

(672)

1,402

E conomic value generated and distributed by the O peration

*in R$ millions
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Investments and Fundraising
In 2019, investments in 
network expansion and 
modernization (refurbishment) 
amounted to R$ 1,693.9 
million, whereas these funds 
were earned from capital 
contributions from the 
Government of the State 
of São Paulo and fi nancing 
obtained from national and 
international banks.  

Funds are allocated in 
accordance with the 
investment plan, which is in 
line with the Government 
of São Paulo’s Multi-Year 
Planning.

The following is a comparative 
table of investments 2019 x 
2018.

Investment Program

1. Current Network (Modernization and Refurbishment)

2. Network Expansion

3. Related Investments to be made

2019 2018

Total Investments (R$ millions)

126.3 214.7

1,081.6 1,711.1

486.0 643.9

Line 1-Blue  
Line 2-Green  
Line 3-Red  

66.2
6.0
22.1

124.4
8.0

51.0
Line 5-Lilac 0.5 1.0
Modernization of Rapid Transit Lines  31.5 30.3

Line 2-Green (Vl. Prudente/Dutra)
Line 4-Yellow (Phase II Vl. Sônia/Luz)
Line 5-Lilac (Lg. Treze/Chác. Klabin)
Line 15-Silver (Ipiranga/Tiradentes)
Line 17-Gold (Jabaquara/São Paulo-Morumbi) 
Development of Expansion Projects

17.1
393

250.2
252.7
168.2

0.4

17.2
224.5
763.4
462.3
243.3

0.4

1,693,9 2,569.7
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The fundraising strategy in 2019 was based on the 
continuity of working together with the Government 
of the State of São Paulo in the development and 
structuring of additional sources of funds and at a 
competitive cost of fi nancing, in order to supplement 
the amounts already transferred by the Treasury of 
the State of São Paulo. 

The proposal will provide fi nancial support to 
the investment plans and goals established by 
Companhia do Metrô, including the formalization of 
new fi nancing for Line 17-Gold.  

This entire proposal was mainly aimed at relieving 
the Government of the State of São Paulo, replacing 
it with sources of fi nancing with Banks. 

Accordingly, the Government of the State of 
São Paulo, the entity responsible for raising and 
transferring funds, entered into, on October 7, 2019, 
a new Loan Agreement between the State of São 
Paulo, as Borrower, and the Development Bank of 

Latin America – CAF in the amount of up to US$ 
296.0 million, which will be used to partially fi nance 
the Project: Rapid Transit Network of São Paulo – 
Implementation of Line 17-Gold – Monorail System 
– Section 1 – Morumbi (CPTM) – Jardim Aeroporto – 
Pátio Água Espraiada.

In 2019, actions were developed jointly with the 
Government of the State of São Paulo and the Inter-
American Development Bank – IDB in order to settle 
the balance of the Loan Agreement and extend 
the disbursement term from December 3, 2019 to 
December 3, 2020. 

These actions will make it possible to maintain the 
goals established for the Line 5-Lilac Project and 
allow contracting for the purchase of a vehicle 
to correct the rail profi le (grinder train) and the 
Electronic Monitoring System-SME.
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In addition to the investments, the Government of the State of São Paulo transferred R$ 
604.1 million in reimbursement of free transport and subsidies to students and R$ 204.7 
million related to support for the Public-Private Partnership of Line 4-Yellow. 
The following is a comparative table of fundraising 2019 x 2018.

1 - Other Sources: Financing and income cash balance. 

Govern of the State of São Paulo 1,059.4 2,055.4

Treasury of the State of São Paulo 482.1 676.8

National Development Bank - BNDES 0.0 13.3

International Bank for Reconstruction and 
Development - BIRD 455.1 193.4

Inter-American Development Bank - BID 82.1 837.9

Japan Bank for International Cooperation - JBIC 0.0 6.6

Banco Santander 0.0 250.0

Caixa Econômica Federal - CEF 40.1 77.4

Other Sources1 634.5 514.3  

Subtotal – Fundraising for Investments 1,693.9 2,569.7

Reimbursement for Free Transport Services  604.0 638.4

Support for Line 4-Yellow Public-Private Partnership 204.7 198.1

Total  2,502.6 3,406.2

Fundraising Sources 2019 2018

In R$ millions
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Dividends
The Articles of Incorporation, article 44, and the 
Dividend Policy of Companhia do Metrô, in line 
with the principles of the applicable law, establish a 
mandatory minimum dividend for its common stocks 
corresponding to 25% of the adjusted net income 
for the year, obtained after deductions determined 
pursuant to article 202 of the Brazilian Corporation 
Law (Law No. 6.404/76).

In 2019, the Company’s Management will propose to 
the General Shareholders’ Meeting that no dividends 
or interest on equity are paid, since, in the fi scal year 
ended on December 31, 2019, the Company reported 
an accounting loss in its fi nancial statements.
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Identifi cation
In accordance with art. 8, items I and VIII, of Law No. 
13,303, of June 30, 2016, the Board of Directors signs 
this Annual Chart on Public Policies and Corporate 
Governance.

On April 24, 1968, Companhia do Metropolitano 
de São Paulo was organized under the terms of 
Municipal Law No. 6,988, of December 26, 1966, 
under the legal form of a Corporation (“Sociedade 
Anônima”), and its organizational documents are 
fi led with the Registry of Commerce of the State of 
São Paulo – JUCESP, under No. 373,811. The Company 
is controlled by the Government of the State of São 
Paulo and other information is described in the item 
“Overview” of this Report.

All the organization’s e� orts are aimed at achieving 
the subject matter of its area of   operation within 
the best quality and existing technology to provide 
the economic, social and environmental return 
of its purpose, which includes planning, design, 
construction, implementation, operation and 
maintenance of public transport in the Metropolitan 

Area of São Paulo with quality, legality, safety 
and operational e¥  ciency observing recognized 
parameters of reliability.

Public Policies
The metropolitan rail transport network is the 
structuring element of mobility in the Metropolitan 
Area of São Paulo – RMSP, whereas the State is 
responsible for the functions of design, planning and 
organization of a high-capacity system, comprising 
the implementation of the rapid transit network and 
its articulation with the other modalities of transport 
in operation in the city.

An essential component of this activity is the 
ten-year research that has been carried out since 
the foundation of Companhia do Metrô and the 
6th edition of which is the Origin and Destination 
Survey for 2017, which provides elements for the 
up-to-date diagnosis and the parameters and 
indicators necessary to defi ne the expansion of the 
metropolitan transport network over the next 20 
years.
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The data collected feed the demand simulation 
models, the qualifi cation and quantifi cation of 
the need for investments, as well as their social, 
environmental, economic and fi nancial and urban 
impacts, for the projected period.

Another aspect of the State’s sectoral policy is the 
operation by the São Paulo Metro of part of the 
metropolitan network of the Metropolitan Area 
of São Paulo accounting for the daily travel of 
3.7 million passengers, within strict standards of 
quality, reliability, safety and economic and fi nancial 
balance. Such standards are technical, technological, 
procedural and strategic references for the operation 
of high-capacity transportation services, applied to 
the Company and other concessionaires.

The Fare Policy is the responsibility of the State 
Government, which, through the Metropolitan 
Transportation O¥  ce, sets the prices of the fares 
practiced, taking into account the operating costs 
and their reasonableness. Such policy provides 

fares with reduced price per travel in di� erent types 
of tickets, in addition to total free transport, free 
integrations with metropolitan trains and reductions 
in fares integrated with other modalities, such as 
municipal and metropolitan buses, with the objective 
of providing the population with access to a fast, safe 
and comfortable means of transport, with quality 
and e¥  ciency, in line with the concern with urban 
mobility.

The more than one billion passengers served in 2019 
and the customer satisfaction index of around 59% of 
“Very Good” and “Good” ratings refl ect the adequacy 
of the investments made in the modernization of 
equipment and tracks, as well as in the expansion of 
the rapid transit network. Increasing the supply and 
expanding the public transport network on rails has 
been one of the priorities of the State Government 
to o� er fast and safe public transport for the 
population.



The Operation and Maintenance indicators 
presented below evidence that investments in the 
modernization of the fl eet and systems, in addition 
to the continued training of teams, fulfi ll the mission 
of providing quality of life to the population through 
a fast and safe transport system.

The signifi cant investments in the implementation 
of four lines simultaneously (Lines 4-Yellow, 5-Lilac, 
15-Silver and 17-Gold) and investments in the 
modernization of the train fl eet and in the signaling 
system of Lines 1-Blue, 2-Green and 3-Red evidence 
the interest and concern of the State Government 
in expanding the service of urban transport to 
meet the requirements of demand, leaving the São 
Paulo Metro responsible for investing the funds and 
ensuring the return in the form of network expansion 
and better transportation supply.

The State Government allocates, through its Budget, 
funds to Companhia do Metrô referring to the 
reimbursement of free transport and subsidies to 
student users, aiming to o� set the loss of revenue 
resulting from the transportation of these users. In 
addition to free transport, the term of agreement 
entered into on October 30, 2015 between the State 
and the Metro provides for the transfer of funds by 

supporting the Public-Private Partnership of Line 
4-Yellow.

Revenue from the use of the rapid transit system 
was R$ 2,653 million in 2019, while actual earnings 
amounted to around R$ 1,818 million. This is mainly 
due to the di� erence between the sale of travel 
rights for the railway system, with the application 
of the current public fare, and the fi nancial share 
received by this Company, according to the rules of 
apportionment of the Transfer Agreement in force 
between Companhia do Metrô, Companhia de Trens 
Metropolitanos – CPTM, Concessionaire ViaQuatro 
and São Paulo Transportes S/A – SPTrans.

Commitments to Achieve 
Public Policy Objectives
In order to achieve the objectives of Public Policies, 
the Long-Term Strategy for 2020 – 2024 and the 
Business Plan for 2020, included in this Integrated 
Report, were prepared considering the Budget for 
2020 and the Multi-Year Plan in force.
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Annual Chart

Budget Planning for 2020
In accordance with Law No. 17,244, of January 10, 
2020, which estimates the revenue and sets the 
State’s expenditure for the fi scal year 2020, the 

amount of funds expected to be allocated to Companhia do 
Metrô is in the amount of R$ 2,763.6 million. This sum includes 
the amounts referring to the reimbursement of free transport 
for users benefi ted by exemption in the payment of the public 
transport fare and the funds of the Support for the Public-
Private Partnership – PPP of Line 4-Yellow, as shown in the 
following tables:

GRAND TOTAL (FREE TRANSPORT SERVICE AND SUPPORT FOR LINE 4-YELLOW PUBLIC-PRIVATE PARTNERSHIP)

Reimbursement for free transport services to users of rapid transit lines

Reimbursement to student users of rapid transit lines

Support for Line 4-Yellow Public-Private Partnership

1. Line Refurbishment and Modernization

FUNDS EXPECTED LOA
2020

BANK FINANCING
³(R$ thousand)

2. Rapid Transit System Expansion

REIMBURSEMENT FOR FREE TRANSPORT SERVICES 691,108

ITEMS    R$(thousand)

446,020

245,088

200,000

891,108

Total Investments (R$ thousand)

Line 1-Blue  
Line 2-Green  
Line 3-Red  
Operation of Rapid Transit Lines 

Line 2-Green (Vl. Prudente/Dutra)
Line 4-Yellow (Phase II Vl. Sônia/Luz)
Line 5-Lilac (Lg. Treze/Chác. Klabin)
Line 15-Silver (Ipiranga/Tiradentes)
   • Section: Vila Prudente – Jardim Colonial 
   • Section: Vila Prudente – Ipiranga
   • Section: Jardim Colonial – Cidade Tiradentes
Line 17-Gold (Jabaquara/São Paulo-Morumbi) 
Line 19-Sky Blue (Praça Bandeira – Guarulhos) 
Development of Expansion Projects 

¹ Source 1 – Govern of the State of São Paulo (GESP), through the Finance and Planning O§ce
² Source 6 – Decoupling of State and Municipal Revenue (DREM).
³ Source 7 – Financing with national and international development banks.
4 Operation of Rapid Transit Lines: in the Budget Planning for 2020, it includes R$ 91,940 thousand of cash balance.
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Reimbursement of free transport for users benefi ted by exemption from the payment 
of public transport fare and support for the Public-Private Partnership of Line 4– 
Yellow, as shown in the following table:

Risk Factors
The investments planned for 2020 
were a® ected by several factors:

•  The scenario of economic recession in Brazil, which 
still has negative e� ects on the level of economic 
activity, the slow pace of recovery in the level of 
employment, the reduction of the population’s 
income and consumption. Such aspects which 
negatively a� ect the revenues of the State, causing 
certain di¥  culties in the allocation of funds for 

the execution of the works planned for 2019 and 
which still face restrictions for 2020, even though 
the prospects are more positive for the new cycle. 
The crisis also a� ected the Company’s fare revenue 
given the drop in demand, impacting its fi nancial 
balance.

•  Delays in releasing of the expected funds may 
a� ect the development in the execution of the 
rapid transit works within the planned schedule 
curves, a procedure that applies to the transfer 
of free transport which compromise the fi nancial 
balance.

Annual Chart

GRAND TOTAL (FREE TRANSPORT SERVICE AND SUPPORT FOR LINE 4-YELLOW PUBLIC-PRIVATE PARTNERSHIP)

Reimbursement for free transport services to users of rapid transit lines

Reimbursement to student users of rapid transit lines

Support for Line 4-Yellow Public-Private Partnership

1. Line Refurbishment and Modernization

2. Rapid Transit System Expansion

FUNDS EXPECTED LOA
2020

BANK FINANCING³
(R$ thousand)

REIMBURSEMENT FOR FREE TRANSPORT SERVICES 

ITEMS    R$ (thousand)

446,020

245,088

200,000

891,108

Total Investments (R$ thousand)

Line 1-Blue  
Line 2-Green  
Line 3-Red  
Operation of Rapid Transit Lines 

Line 2-Green (Vl. Prudente/Dutra)
Line 4-Yellow (Phase II Vl. Sônia/Luz)
Line 5-Lilac (Lg. Treze/Chác. Klabin)
Line 15-Silver (Ipiranga/Tiradentes)
   • Section: Vila Prudente – Jardim Colonial 
   • Section: Vila Prudente – Ipiranga
   • Section: Jardim Colonial – Cidade Tiradentes
Line 17-Gold (Jabaquara/São Paulo-Morumbi) 
Line 19-Sky Blue (Praça Bandeira – Guarulhos) 
Development of Expansion Projects 

¹ Source 1 – Govern of the State of São Paulo (GESP), through the Finance and Planning O¦ce
² Source 6 – Decoupling of State and Municipal Revenue (DREM).
³ Source 7 – Financing with national and international development banks.
4 Operation of Rapid Transit Lines: in the Budget Planning for 2020, it includes R$ 91,940 thousand of cash balance.
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Compensation for the 
Board of Directors
Information on the compensation for the Metro’s 
Board of Directors can be consulted, under the 
terms of the applicable law, in all its details, fi gures 
and tables, on the Transparency Portal of the 
Government of the State of São Paulo: 
www.transparencia.sp.gov.br.

Relationship with the 
Controlling Shareholder
Companhia do Metrô de São Paulo is a state-
owned company, founded as a result of the São 
Paulo Municipal Law No. 6.988/1966 to perform the 
rapid transit passenger transportation service and 
the planning and development of the rapid transit 
network in the State of São Paulo.

In 2018, Companhia do Metrô de São Paulo, guided 
by the Finance O¥  ce – CODEC, complied with the 
contents of Law No. 13.303/2016, paragraph 1 of 
article 91, which provides: “government-controlled 
companies having privately-traded stocks on the 
date of its entry into force may be converted into 

a state-owned company, upon redemption of all 
shares held by private shareholders”. Accordingly, 
the totality of the shares of shareholders considered 
to be private was redeemed and, therefore, 
the Company’s capital consists of state-owned 
shareholders only.

The law provides that the controlling shareholder 
is the one that holds the majority of the common 
stocks with voting rights, having the power to 
elect the majority of the members of the Board of 
Directors and, accordingly, through this board, the 
directors responsible for the management of the 
Company, observing the prerogatives imposed by 
Law No. 13.303/2016.

Ownership Breakdown in 
2019
The paid-in capital of the Company as of December 
31, 2019 consists of a total of 7,182,690 (seven 
million, one hundred and eighty-two thousand, six 
hundred and ninety) common stocks of single class, 
registered, without par value and with right 
to one vote each.

The following is the breakdown of the Company’s 
capital:
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Capital – Interest as of December 31, 2020

CAPITAL - INTEREST AS OF - DECEMBER 31, 2020

São Paulo State Tax Authority - Fesp

Municipal Government of São Paulo - PMSP

BNDES Participações S.A.

Companhia Paulista de Obras e Serviços - CPOS

Empresa Paulista de Planej. Metropol. S/A - Emplasa

Others - Treasury stock

1,171 1,043 547 4

7,182,690TOTAL

7,000,000

6,000,000

5,000,000

4,000,000

3,000,000

2,000,000
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The Company is managed by the Board of Directors 
and the Executive Board.

The Board of Directors is the collegiate decision-
making body responsible for the Company’s higher 
guidance, consisting of 3 to 11 members, elected by 
the General Shareholders’ Meeting, all with a unifi ed 
term of two years from the date of the election, with 
reelection permitted.

The company’s Executive Board consists of six 
members. In addition to the duties provided for by 
law, it is responsible for the executive management 
of Companhia do Metrô.

The Fiscal Committee is a permanent body mainly 
responsible for supervising the activities of the 
Directors, examining the fi nancial statements 
and issuing opinions on the fi nancial reports, 
in accordance with Laws No. 6.404/1976 and 
13.303/2016, as amended thereafter, and the Articles 
of Incorporation. The Fiscal Committee consists of 
three to fi ve e� ective members and an equal number 
of alternates, elected on an annual basis by the 
Annual Meeting, with reelection permitted.

The Statutory Audit Committee, a technical body 
permanently assisting the Board of Directors, is 

mainly responsible for supervising the process of 
preparing the fi nancial statements, ensuring that the 
Board develops e� ective internal controls, ensuring 
that the internal audit performs its role satisfactorily, 
evaluating and monitoring the company’s risk 
exposure, and ensuring compliance with the Code of 
Conduct and Integrity, monitoring the investigative 
procedures for any violations thereof.

The internal audit is subordinated to the Statutory 
Audit Committee and the Board of Directors and is 
associated with the Presidency’s operational needs. 
It is an independent activity and aims to assess the 
integrity, adequacy, e� ectiveness and e¥  ciency of 
internal processes, based on the strategic planning 
and the main risks of Companhia do Metrô, with the 
purpose of mitigating and identifying material risks 
to accounting, fi nancial and operational information 
upon annual planning approved by the Statutory 
Audit Committee. 

Its reports are made available to the Accounting 
Court of the State of São Paulo and the State 
Finance O¥  ce and its summary forwarded to the 
Internal A� airs Board of the State of São Paulo. 
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O�cers

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

LAW No. 13.303/16
Art. 9o The state-owned company and the government-controlled company shall adopt rules of structures and practices for 

risk management and internal control including:
c

I - action by directors and employees, through the daily implementation of internal control practices; 
II - area responsible for verifying compliance with obligations and risk management;
III - internal audit and Statutory Audit Committee.

Shareholders’ meeting

Board of Directors

Chief Executive O�cer

Statutory Audit Committee

ADI - Internal Audit

GRC - Corporate 
Risk, Information 
Security and 
Compliance 
Management

Eligibility and 
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O�cers

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

LAW No. 13.303/16
Art. 9o The state-owned company and the government-controlled company shall adopt rules of structures and practices for 

risk management and internal control including:
c

I - action by directors and employees, through the daily implementation of internal control practices; 
II - area responsible for verifying compliance with obligations and risk management;
III - internal audit and Statutory Audit Committee.
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Management of Corporate Risk, Information Security 
and Compliance – GRC is the unit responsible for 
managing the process for identifying, assessing, 
measuring and mitigating risks, in addition to 
proposing measures to improve internal controls, 
information security and compliance.

The Eligibility and Advisory Committee, also 
established in 2018, is the body responsible 
for supervising the process for appointing and 
evaluating Directors and Fiscal Committee members, 
in compliance with the provisions of Article 10 of 
Federal Law No. 13,303/2016.

Also established in 2018, the Ethics Committee is 
responsible for receiving complaints, evaluating 
and judging violations of the Code of Conduct and 
Integrity, with the objective of continually improving 
governance and ethical standards. It is supervised by 
the Statutory Audit Committee and reports to the 
Board of Directors.

To facilitate referral of reports of illegal situations 
with the secured confi dentiality of information to the 
Ethics Committee, two methods are available:

•  Reporting Channel, on the website: 
http://www.metro.sp.gov.br/denuncia/index.aspx;
and

•  Physical address for receiving complaints by letters 
at Rua Augusta, 1626 – São Paulo, SP, 
CEP 1304-902.

In compliance with Law No. 13.303/2016, the 
structuring of Corporate Governance remained 
in progress, in compliance with the provisions of 
Chapter X of the Articles of Incorporation.

The following policies have been implemented:
•  Governance Policy 
•  Compliance Policy
•  Corporate Risk Policy

Personal Data Protection Law – LGPD
Law No. 13.709/2018, known as the General Data 
Protection Law (LGPD), will come into force in 
August 2020 and brings changes in the conditions 
for the processing of personal data. On December 
11, 2019, to adapt its processes to the LGPD, Metro 
established a committee to assist the company 
in observing the law, considering the legal 
terms, processes and technologies necessary for 
compliance. 

The main objective of LGPD is to secure the right to 
privacy and protection of users’ personal data, as 
well as to establish clear rules for its collection, use, 
processing, storage and disposal.
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Personal information is any information related to 
an identifi ed or identifi able individual. For example: 
Identity Card (“RG”), Individual Taxpayer ID Number 
(“CPF”), date of birth, geographic location and 
navigation data, such as IP address. 

One of the general principles of the law is that 
personal data should only be collected and 
processed for the specifi c purposes and for the 
intended end for which they were requested. 

Code of Conduct and Integrity

Ethics, respect and integrity are part of our daily 
lives.

The São Paulo Metro’s Code of Conduct and Integrity 
(CCI), revised and approved in 2018, (available 
at: https://transparencia.metrosp.com.br/search/
fi eld_topic/institucional-24) outlines the set of 
principles regarding ethics, respect for the law, 
transparency and public interest guiding the conduct 
and ethical behavior of all directors, members of 
the fi scal committee, employees, interns, young 
citizens, apprentices, third-parties at the service 
of Metro, service providers and suppliers in the 
relationship with stakeholders, aiming to combat the 
practice of illegal acts, with emphasis on corruption, 
fraud, money laundering, bribery, moral or sexual 
harassment.

The Code of Conduct and Integrity was disclosed 
in order to raise awareness among all directors, 
members of the fi scal committee, employees, interns, 
young citizens, apprentices, third-parties at the 
service of Metro, service providers and suppliers, 
with emphasis on the following actions:

Application of annual training in distance learning 
format from November 2018 to April 2019, made 
available on the company’s networked computers 
to disseminate the need for ethical performance, 
successfully performed by 99% of employees, 
directors, members of the fi scal committee, interns, 
young citizens, apprentices.

Campaign with distribution of promotional material 
on the Code of Conduct and Integrity in accordance 
with the provisions of Article 5, IV of State Decree 
No. 62349/16 and Article 8, paragraph 1 of CODEC 
Resolution No. 005/17, of November 27, 2017, for 
all third-parties at the service of Metro, service 
providers and suppliers.

Awareness campaign, with videos, communications, 
e-mails, and digital magazine, to managers and 
employees, on the role of all in complying with the 
Code of Conduct and Integrity of the Company with 
the objective of disseminating this campaign to 
passengers of rapid transit transportation in 2020.
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Pricing Policy
The fare pricing policy for the rapid transit 
transportation system follows the public fare policy 
issued by the Government of the State of São Paulo, 
through the Metropolitan Transportation O¥  ce – 
STM, based on the principle of reasonable fare and, 
simultaneously, maintenance and the Company’s 
economic and fi nancial balance, considering the 
increase of operating costs in providing services.

In 2019, all tickets in the fare grid in the rapid transit 
system were adjusted, according to Resolution STM-
01, of 11/01/2019. The São Paulo Metro operates 
in Public-Private Partnerships entered into by the 
Government of São Paulo, providing line layout 
studies and technical subsidies for the development 
of bidding processes, under the responsibility of the 
Metropolitan Transportation O¥  ce of the State of 
São Paulo - STM.

Regarding the implementation of Line 18-Bronze, 
which will connect the Tamanduateí station in São 
Paulo and the Djalma Dutra station, in downtown 
São Bernardo do Campo, the Government of the 
State of São Paulo seeks alternative funds to fi nance 
expropriations and works of the monorail. The 
project will be carried out by the “VemABC – Vidas 
em Movimento” Consortium, which will build and 
operate the line.

On October 30, 2015, the Government of the State 
of São Paulo and Companhia do Metrô entered into 
a Term of Agreement, whereby the State recognized 
the responsibility for resolving the e� ects of the 
rules for apportioning the amounts collected at the 
Clearing House of the Electronic Ticketing System 
for the Unifi ed Ticket (“Bilhete Único”), due to the 
di� erence between the sale of travel rights on Line 
4-Yellow and the payment of compensation to the 
ViaQuatro concessionaire.

In this process, the Line 4-Yellow concessionaire 
company has priority to withdraw the amounts 
collected for the purpose of contractual 
compensation provided for in the concession 
agreement entered into between the Government of 
the State of São Paulo (contract-letting agency) and 
ViaQuatro (Line 4-Yellow concessionaire). 

Under the Term of Agreement, the State will transfer 
the di� erence amount determined in the current 
year in the subsequent year, in the form of a capital 
contribution. In 2019, the Treasury of the State of 
São Paulo transferred the amount of R$ 204.7 million 
related to the 2018 calculation. The calculation for 
2019 is R$ 228,388, expected to be received in 2020.

In this context, Companhia do Metrô has been 
studying the adoption of a Management Contract, 
based on compensation fees related to performance 
indicators.
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We would like to thank our employees, users, shareholders, suppliers and all those who 
contributed to the performance of Companhia do Metrô in 2019. 

In addition, we rely on continued commitment and dedication as the basis for carrying 
out our work, in line with the actions developed by the Government of the State of São 
Paulo at tall times.
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The Financial Statements presented observe the International Accounting Standards, in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards – IFRS and with the criteria of Brazilian corporate law, 
Law No. 6.404/76.
The Financial Statements are an integral part of this Integrated Report and are audited by an independent auditor 
registered with the Brazilian Securities and Exchange Commission – CVM, in accordance with Law No. 13,303/16. 
Non-fi nancial information, as well as other operating information, was not audited.

The full version of Companhia do Metrô’s Integrated Report for 2019 is available at: 
www.metro.sp.gov.br/metro/institucional/pdf/rel-integrado-2019.pdf
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The Global Reporting Initiative – GRI reporting items, which is an international standard used 
by companies to refer to sustainability management, are presented according to the topic to 
which they refer: 

102-1 Name of the organization Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo.

102-2 Activities, brands, products, and/or 
services

Pages 11-29 

102-3 Location of headquarters 
Rua Boa Vista, 175 - Centro, São Paulo-SP,
CEP 01014-920

102-4 Location of operations Metropolitan Area of São Paulo - Brazil.

102-5 Ownership and legal form State-Owned Company

102-6 Markets served Pages 12-17

102-7 Scale of the organization Pages 11-29 

102-8 Information on employees and other 
workers

Pages 111-116

GRI 102 General Disclosures

GRI 102 Organizational Profi le Page Number / InformationGRI 102 Organizational Profi le Page Number / Information
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102-9 Supply chain

The company has a vast chain of suppliers subdivided 
into three major groups: supplies, energy and services. 
The company has a supplier management and 
registration system, in addition to quality management 
systems. Engaged companies must comply with 
legal and regulatory requirements related to the 
activity carried out and its environmental, safety and 
occupational health impacts, in addition to the labor and 
human rights matters provided for in the law. 

102-10 Signifi cant changes to the organization 
and its supply chain

Concession of Lines 5-Lilac and 17-Cold: contract 
entered into on April 5, 2018. In 2019, the concession 
process for Line 15-Silver, the bidding process of which 
opened on March 11, 2019, was annulled in court.

102-11 Precautionary principle or approach Pages 152-164
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GRI 102 General Disclosures

GRI 102 Organizational Profi le Page Number / InformationGRI 102 Organizational Profi le Page Number / Information



102-12 External initiatives

Metro participates in the national and international 
technical community with the objective of carrying out 
technical exchanges in relation to the best management 
and operation practices of the rapid transit system and 
in the sector’s commitments to expand the participation 
of public transport in sustainable development. Its 
strategic guideline is the commitment to generate 
sustainability as a value for society, in all phases of the 
life cycle of its projects. 

In the social sphere, it outlined the “Regulation for the 
Resettlement of Vulnerable Families Expropriated by 
Expansion Works”, based on International Human Rights 
Pacts – UN International Covenant on Economic, Social 
and Cultural Rights, ensuring the analysis of vulnerability 
and socio-economic reintegration.

102-13 Membership of Associations

AASP - Association of São Paulo Lawyers

ABCP - Brazilian Association of Portland Cement

ABED - Brazilian Association of Distance Learning

ABAS - Brazilian Association of Non-Destructive Testing 
and Inspection

GRI 102 General Disclosures

GRI 102 Organizational Profi le Page Number / InformationGRI 102 Organizational Profi le Page Number / Information
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102-13 Membership of Associations

ABGE - Brazilian Association of Engineering Geology

ABMS - Brazilian Association of Soil Mechanics

ABNT - Brazilian Association of Technical Standards

ABO - Brazilian Association of Ombudsmen

ABPV - Brazilian Association of Paving

ABRACO - Brazilian Association of Corrosion

ABRAMAN - Brazilian Association of Maintenance

ABRASCE - Brazilian Association of Shopping Malls

ABRH - Brazilian Association of Human Resources

ABTD - Brazilian Association of Training & Development

ACFE - Association of Certifi ed Fraud Examiners

AEC - Brazilian Association of Corporate Education

GRI 102 General Disclosures

GRI 102 Organizational Profi le Page Number / InformationGRI 102 Organizational Profi le Page Number / Information
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102-13 Membership of Associations

ALAMYS - Latin American Association of Metros and 
Undergrounds

ALSHOP - Brazilian Association of Shopping Mall 
Tenants

ANPET - National Association for Research and Study 
in Transportation

ANPTRILHOS - National Association of Railroad 
Passenger Transport

ANTP - National Association of Public Transport

APM - São Paulo Association of Municipalities

CB-06 - Brazilian Railway Committee

CBAr - Brazilian Arbitration Committee

CBT - Brazilian Tunneling Committee

CRBIO - Regional Council of Biology

CREA - Regional Council of Engineering and Agronomy

CRQ - Regional Chemistry Committee

GRI 102 General Disclosures

GRI 102 Organizational Profi le Page Number / InformationGRI 102 Organizational Profi le Page Number / Information
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102-13 Membership of Associations

IBAPE - Brazilian Institute of Engineering Assessments 
and Expertise

IBRACON - Brazilian Concrete Institute

ICON - IC Consultants Ltd. / Imperial College

INMETRO - Institute of Metrology, Standardization and 
Industrial Quality

SBSG - Brazilian Society for Knowledge Management

UITP - International Association of Public Transport

102-14 Statement from the CEO Page 10

102-15 Key impacts, risks, and opportunities Pages 3-9, 12-16, 18, 19, 152-164

Ethics and Integrity

102-16 Values, principles, standards, and norms 
of behavior

Pages 165, 166, 186, 188-189

GRI 102 General Disclosures

GRI 102 Organizational Profi le Page Number / InformationGRI 102 Organizational Profi le Page Number / Information
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Governance

102-18 Governance Structure Pages 186-187

102-19

Delegating authority for economic, 
environmental and social topics from 
the highest governance body to senior 
executives and other employees

The Company has its structure aligned to manage the 
economic, environmental and social impacts associated 
with its business activities. The respective responsible 
persons report to the Executive Board. 

102-25 Confl icts of interest Page 186

102-29 Identifying and Managing Economic, 
Environmental, and Social Impacts

Pages 126-150 (Environmental and Social Impacts)

Pages 153-172 (Strategies and Financial and Economic 
Impacts)

102-32 Highest governance body’s role in 
sustainability reporting

The Board of Directors and the Executive Board are 
responsible for the Integrated Report. The defi nition of 
content and preparation are coordinated by the Special 
Advisory Board of the Presidency. 

102-36 Process for determining remuneration Page 184

GRI 102 General Disclosures

GRI 102 Organizational Profi le Page Number / InformationGRI 102 Organizational Profi le Page Number / Information
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GRI 102 General Disclosures

GRI 102 Organizational Profi le Page Number / InformationGRI 102 Organizational Profi le Page Number / Information

Stakeholder Engagement

102-40 List of stakeholder groups Page 84

102-41 Collective bargaining agreements
All employees are covered by collective bargaining 
agreements.

102-43 Approach to stakeholder engagement Pages 83-87

102-44 Key topics and concerns raised Pages 81-107

Reporting practice

102-45 Entities included in the consolidated 
fi nancial statements

The statements presented are individual and refer to the 
Company only.

102-46 Defi ning report content and topic 
boundaries

Page 3

102-47 List of material topics Page 3

102-48 Restatements of information provided in 
previous reports

Reporting for the 2019 period does not present 
restatements of information and/or measurement 
methods.
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Reporting practice

102-49 Changes in reporting

The Company adopts the basic principles for integrated 
reporting while maintaining the IIRC and GRI guidelines. 
The necessary changes were implemented to present 
information in a transparent manner to stakeholders, 
bringing an integrated view of the business model and 
strategies, as well as the fi nancial, human, intellectual, 
manufactured, natural and social capital considered to 
create value.

102-50 Reporting Period January-December 2019.

102-51 Date of most recent report Integrated Report 2018.

102-52 Reporting Cycle The Integrated Report is annual.

102-53 Contact point for questions regarding the 
report

www.metro.sp.gov.br/
Contact Us (Fale Conosco) > Send Your Query (Registro 
da Manifestação)

102-54 Claims of reporting made by the 
organization

The report was prepared according to GRI Standards: 
Core option.

102-56 External assurance
The report has not been submitted to external 
assurance.

GRI 102 General Disclosures

GRI 102 Organizational Profi le Page Number / InformationGRI 102 Organizational Profi le Page Number / Information
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Reporting practice

103-1 Explanation of the material topic and its 
boundary

The reports are restricted to Companhia do Metrô. The 
report covers all information on strategies, management 
and performance of business activities in respect of 
sustainability. 

GRI 200 Standards - Economic Series

GRI 200 Reporting Items Pages / Information

103-2 The management approach and its 
components

Policies; commitments; goals; responsibilities; complaint 
mechanisms and specifi c actions are presented on 
pages 152-164.

GRI 200 Economic Performance

201-1 Direct economic value generated and 
distributed

Pages 168-173

GRI 102 General Disclosures

GRI 102 Organizational Profi le Page Number / InformationGRI 102 Organizational Profi le Page Number / Information

GRI 200 Standards - Economic Series

GRI 200 Reporting Items Pages / Information
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201-3 Defi ned Benefi t Plan Obligations 
and other retirement plans

The company grants to its employees a set of benefi ts 
compatible with the best market practices and part 
of these benefi ts is provided for in the Collective 
Bargaining Agreement with the Unions of Rapid Transit 
Workers and Engineers and others are o� ered by the 
company. Metro has a Profi t and/or Income Sharing 
Program – PLR, with the distribution of amounts related 
to the program based on operational, business and 
corporate indicators and targets involving, directly or 
indirectly, all areas of the company. 

201-4 Financial assistance received 
from government

Pages 169-171, 174-177

GRI 200 Economic Performance

GRI 200 Reporting Items Pages / InformationGRI 200 Reporting Items Pages / Information
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Market Presence

202-1 Ratios of standard entry level wage by 
gender compared to local minimum wage

The employees of the São Paulo Metro are paid equally 
according to their responsibilities and according to a 
Position and Wage Chart. The lowest wage practiced 
by the Company in 2019 was R$ 2,296.13 for a 40-hour 
weekly schedule, which is 230% above the federal 
minimum wage, of R$ 998.00 (as of December 2019).

Indirect Economic Impacts

203-1 Infrastructure investments and services 
supported

Pages 11-17, 20-24, 28

203-2 Signifi cant indirect economic impacts Pages 27, 131-135

GRI 200 Economic Performance Pages / InformationGRI 200 Economic Performance Pages / Information

205

INTEGRATED REPORT - 2019

GRI INDEX

INTRODUCTION

HIGHLIGHTS 2019

STATEMENT FROM 
THE CEO

OVERVIEW 

SIGNIFICANT NUMBERS

ACHIEVEMENTS 2019

SOCIAL BALANCE

CORPORATE
STRATEGY

FINANCIAL AND ECONOMIC
PERFORMANCE

ANNUAL CHART

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

FINAL PROVISIONS

GRI INDEX

DIRECTORS

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS



Procurement Practices 

204-1 Proportion of spending on local suppliers 

The São Paulo Metro is subject to laws providing 
rules for public practice in processes involving 
the procurement of goods and services, including 
specialized services, such as engineering and 
architecture, such as Federal Law No. 8.666/93, 
Federal Law No. 13.303/2016 and the laws governing 
the bidding and procurement of materials, through 
electronic procurement and the Electronic 
Procurement Exchange of the State of São Paulo – 
BEC. 
In this context, compliance with the constitutional 
principle of equal protection is required, which implies 
o� ering the same conditions of participation and 
competition to suppliers, regardless of where they are 
based.

GRI 200 Economic Performance Pages / InformationGRI 200 Economic Performance Pages / Information
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Anti-corruption

205-1 Operations assessed for risks related to 
corruption

Metro encourages directors, members of the fi scal 
committee, employees, interns, apprentices, young 
citizens and third-parties at the service of Metro to 
perform their functions and activities in an ethical 
and transparent manner, fi ghting any form of bribery, 
fraud, corruption, kickback and acts harmful to the 
Government. 
During the contractual term, Metro formally requires 
its suppliers and service providers to perform their 
activities based on ethics, mandatory compliance with 
the Code of Conduct and Integrity, labor, criminal, civil, 
tax, environmental laws, preservation of the cultural 
heritage, respect for human rights, accessibility for 
people with disabilities or reduced mobility, as well 
as internal regulatory instruments and particularly for 
compliance with the anti-corruption law.

GRI 200 Economic Performance Pages / InformationGRI 200 Economic Performance Pages / Information
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Anti-corruption

205-2 Communication and training about anti-
corruption policies and procedures

Pages 184, 188-189

The conduct of the Executive Board, employees and 
the various stakeholders is guided by the Code of 
Ethics and Integrity. Its practices are monitored by the 
Ethics Committee, which reviews the cases and acts 
on an ongoing basis. The Company carried out specifi c 
training.

Anti-competitive Behavior

206-1
Legal actions for anti-competitive 
behavior, anti-trust, and monopoly 
practices

Page 210 - Financial Statements

GRI 200 Economic Performance Pages / InformationGRI 200 Economic Performance Pages / Information
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103-2 The management approach and its 
components

Policies; commitments; goals; responsibilities; complaint 
mechanisms and specifi c actions are presented on 
pages 82, 83, 109 and 126-150.

Materials

301-1 Materials used by weight or volume Pages 140 and 143

Energy

302-1 Energy consumption within the 
organization

Pages 145-147

302-3 Energy intensity Pages 145-147

302-4 Reduction of energy consumption Pages 145-147

GRI 300 Standards - Environment Series Pages / Information

GRI 103 Reporting ItemsGRI 103 Reporting Items
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Water

303-1 Interactions with water as a shared 
resource

Page 150

303-2 Management of water discharge related 
impacts

The water consumed is supplied by the Basic Sanitation 
Company of the State of São Paulo – Sabesp. 

Emissions, E²  uents and Waste

305-1 Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions Pages 147-150

305-2 Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions Pages 147-150

305-3 Other indirect (Scope 3) GHG emissions Pages 147-150

305-4 GHG emissions intensity Pages 147-150

305-5 Reduction of GHG emissions Pages 147-150

306-2 Waste by type and disposal method Page 150

GRI 300 Standards - Environment Series Pages / InformationGRI 300 Standards - Environment Series Pages / Information
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Environmental Compliance 

307-1 Non-compliance with environmental laws 
and regulations

The Environmental Management System and Quality 
Management Systems are adapted to the new versions 
of NBR ISO 9001 and NBR ISO 14001, published in 2015.  
Contractors are required to present an Environmental 
Aspect Management Plan – PGAA, where applicable, 
and control, inspection and awareness of outsourced 
employees is carried out. 

GRI 300 Standards - Environment Series Pages / InformationGRI 300 Standards - Environment Series Pages / Information

GRI 400 Standards - Social Series

GRI 103 Reporting Items Pages / Information

103-2 The management approach and its 
components

Policies; commitments; goals; responsibilities; complaint 
mechanisms and specifi c actions are presented on 
pages 83-124

Employment

401-1 New employee hires and employee 
turnover 

Pages 112-113
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401-2
Benefi ts provided to full-time employees 
that are not provided to temporary or 
part-time employees

The company grants to its employees a set of benefi ts 
compatible with the best market practices and part 
of these benefi ts is provided for in the Collective 
Bargaining Agreement with the Unions of Rapid Transit 
Workers and Engineers and others are o� ered by the 
company. Metro also has a Profi t and/or Income Sharing 
Program – PLR, with the distribution of amounts related 
to the program based on operational, business and 
corporate indicators and targets involving, directly or 
indirectly, all areas of the company. 

Labor/Management Relations

402-1 Minimum notice periods regarding 
operational changes

Not applicable. This varies depending on the change/
level of impact. 

Employment

403-1
Workers representation in formal joint 
management-worker health and safety 
committees

All employees.

403-2
Types of injury and rates of injury, occupational 
diseases, lost days, and absenteeism, and number 
of work-related fatalities

page 118

GRI 400 Standards - Environment Series Pages / InformationGRI 400 Standards - Environment Series Pages / Information
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403-4 Health and safety topics covered in 
formal agreements with trade unions

Pages 117-118

Training and Education

404-1 Average hours of training per year per 
employee 

115

404-2 Programs for upgrading employee skills 
and transition assistance programs

The Company provides employees with a program 
covering topics associated with the life cycle and 
retirement, supplementing it with the development of 
the Future Life Project. 

404-3
Percentage of employees receiving 
regular performance and career 
development reviews 

All employees.

Diversity and Equal Opportunity

405-1 Diversity of governance bodies and 
employees

Pages 112, 186-187

GRI 400 Standards - Environment Series Pages / InformationGRI 400 Standards - Environment Series Pages / Information

213

INTEGRATED REPORT - 2019

GRI INDEX

INTRODUCTION

HIGHLIGHTS 2019

STATEMENT FROM 
THE CEO

OVERVIEW 

SIGNIFICANT NUMBERS

ACHIEVEMENTS 2019

SOCIAL BALANCE

CORPORATE
STRATEGY

FINANCIAL AND ECONOMIC
PERFORMANCE

ANNUAL CHART

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

FINAL PROVISIONS

GRI INDEX

DIRECTORS

FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS



Equal Pay for Women and Men

405-2 Ratio of basic salary and remuneration of 
women to men

There is no wage distinction.

Security Practices

410-1 Security personnel trained in human 
rights policies or procedures

All sta�  of the Operational Security Corps has 
undergone training. 

Local Communities

413-1
Operations with local community 
engagement, impact assessments, and 
development programs

Pages 110-111

413-2
Operations with signifi cant actual and 
potential negative impacts on local 
communities

In all phases of rapid transit projects, from design to 
operation, environmental, social, fi nancial and economic 
impacts are assessed, ensuring best practices and 
compliance with applicable law. 
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Socioeconomic Compliance

419-1
Non-compliance with laws and 
regulations in the social and economic 
area

In all phases of rapid transit projects, from design to 
operation, environmental, social, fi nancial and economic 
impacts are assessed, ensuring best practices and 
compliance with applicable law. 

Customer Health and Safety

416-1
Assessment of the health and safety 
impacts of product and service 
categories

Pages 83-109

416-2
Incidents of non-compliance concerning 
the health and safety impacts of products 
and services

Not applicable.

Marketing and Labeling

417-2
Incidents of non-compliance concerning 
product and service information and 
labeling

Not applicable.

GRI 400 Standards - Environment Series Pages / InformationGRI 400 Standards - Environment Series Pages / Information
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Marketing Communications

417-3 Incidents of non-compliance concerning 
marketing communications

Not applicable.

Customer Privacy

418-1
Substantiated complaints regarding 
concerning breaches of customer privacy 
and losses of customer data

Not applicable.

GRI 400 Standards - Environment Series Pages / InformationGRI 400 Standards - Environment Series Pages / Information
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3  
T he accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  

 

Management’s Report 
 

T he pursuit of more efficient management mark ed the year 20 1 9  and will continue to be the 
company’s primary guideline in its long- term planning.  More than continuously monitoring the 
economic position of the company, C ompanhia do Metropolitano de Sã o P aulo will gradually 
implement the “Management 5.0” concept, which is based on the well - being of our employees, 
outsourced work ers and, particularly, passengers.  

 
To manage the financial vision and care for people, we rely on the Company’s Business Plan for 
20 20 - 20 24 , which is based on four pillars:  F inancial and E conomic Balance, Management 
E fficiency, I nvestment Management and I ntegrated C ommunication.  

 
Many values will support our work during the next year, but “integration” will certainly guide the 
company’s actions. 

 
W e are committed to the sustainable development of our structure, processes and personnel.  
F or all of these pieces to work  smoothly, innovation is critical.  

 
T he innovative purposes of Metro will be present in proj ects to be developed with the support of 
the T echnological I nnovation C enter ( N I T ) .  I n 20 1 9 , in addition to N I T , we set up a C ommercial 
O ffice to be able to plan our increased non- fare revenues strategically.  

 
W e started prospecting new mark ets in Braz il and abroad, through Metro C onsulting, with the 
obj ective of selling products and services in a number of T ransport and U rban Mobility areas.  
Continuous service improvement actions impact the perception of the company’s image, 
increasing its added value. “No metro project on hold” was the Company’s motto in 2019. 

 
I t was hard work , which has already resulted in many achievements.  T hroughout the year, we 
were able to overcome several contractual difficulties, and priority proj ects were put into 
practice.  

 
W e announced the resumption of the expansion of L ine 2- G reen with eight stations ( O rfanato, 
Á gua R asa, Aná lia F ranco, V ila F ormosa, G uilherme G iorgi, N ova Manchester, Aricanduva and 
P enha) .  I n addition, a new bidding process was called to give continuity to the civil work s of the 
L ine 1 7 - G old stations:  C ongonhas, Brook lin P aulista, J ardim Aeroporto, V ereador J osé  D iniz , 
C ampo Belo, V ila C ordeiro, C hucri Z aidan and P á tio Á gua E spraiada.  

 
O ur year ended on a high note!  O ur network  has been expanded with the addition of four more 
stations on L ine 1 5- Silver:  J ardim P lanalto, Sapopemba, F az enda da J uta and Sã o Mateus.  W e 
have structured the department that will be responsible for the deployment of L ine 1 9 - Sk y Blue, 
in the Anhangabaú  – Bosq ue Maia ( G uarulhos)  section.  

 
I f we consider the entire Sã o P aulo rapid transit network , we have exceeded 1 0 1 . 0  k m having 
8 9  stations.  20 1 9  ended with Metro- SP  operating on 6 9 . 7  k m of route having 6 2 stations.  

 
Sã o P aulo is lively and dynamic.  O ur goal is to mak e people live intensely in this city and reach 
their destinations easily and safely.  

 
Leading transformations is at the Company’s core! 
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Composition of the Board of Directors  

Chief E xecutive Officer 

 
O svaldo G arcia 

 
 
 

Members: 
 
 

Almino Monteiro Á lvares Affonso 
 
 
 

G ilmario R ibeiro 
 
 
 

J erô nimo Antunes 
 
 
 

J osé  U mberto P ereira 
 
 
 

L uis F elipe V idal Arellano 
 
 
 

Marise F ernandes de Araú j o 
 
 
 

R odrigo Sergio D ias 
 
 
 

R uy Martins Altenfelder Silva 
 
 
 

Silvani P ereira 
 
 
 

T orq uato L orena J ardim 
  

Statements of financial Statements of financial

220

INTEGRATED REPORT - 2019

Financial Statements

INTRODUCTION

HIGHLIGHTS 2019

STATEMENT FROM  
THE CEO

OVERVIEW 

SIGNIFICANT NUMBERS

ACHIEVEMENTS 2019

SOCIAL BALANCE

CORPORATE 
STRATEGY

FINANCIAL AND ECONOMIC 
PERFORMANCE

ANNUAL CHART

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

FINAL PROVISIONS

GRI INDEX

DIRECTORS

FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS



Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metro 
Comprehensive income statements  
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018 
(In thousands of Brazilian reais, except as otherwise stated) 

 

5  
T he accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  

 
Statutory Audit Committee’s Opinion 

 
 

T he Statutory Audit C ommittee ( C ommittee or C AE )  is a statutory technical body responsible for 
continuously assisting the Board of D irectors of C ompanhia do Metropolitano de Sã o P aulo – 
ME T R O  ( ME T R O ) , in the exercise of its activities for reviewing, monitoring and evaluating the 
Company’s internal controls and financial reports, in particular the financial statements for the 
fiscal year ended on D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 , supervising the effectiveness of the work  and findings 
of the independent auditing company BD O  R C S Auditores I ndependentes and the internal audit, 
during the aforementioned year, issues the following opinion:  

 
“Considering the work carried out b y  C A E  during  the fiscal y ear 2 0 1 9  and up to this date, the 
m eeting s held with the presence of sev eral m em b ers of the E xecutiv e Board, internal audit and 
independent auditors, all em b odied in the exam ination of docum ents and in the respectiv e 
m inutes entered upon, which are filed at the Company’s head office, in addition to the analysis 
of the inform ation disclosed to the Board of D irectors and shareholders, exam inations of the 
F inancial S tatem ents and respectiv e accom pany ing  notes for the fiscal y ear ended on 
D ecem b er 3 1 , 2 0 1 9 , and b ased on the report prepared b y  BD O  R C S  A uditores Independentes, 
issued:  a) with reserv ations reg arding  the im possib ility  of the audit concluding  on the need to 
create – or not – an allowance for losses on property , plant and eq uipm ent, and b ) with focus on 
the sub j ect referred to in N ote 1  of the F inancial S tatem ents, which cov ers the plea b arg ain to 
turn state’s evidence accepted by a former METRO executive and agreed with the Federal 
P rosecution O ffice, the S tatutory  A udit C om m ittee, hav ing  not found any  occurrence capab le of 
com prom ising  the q uality  and integ rity  of the inform ation to b e disclosed, recom m ends to the 
Board of D irectors the approv al and disclosure of the F inancial S tatem ents of C om panhia do 
M etropolitano de S ã o P aulo – METRO, related to the fiscal year ended on December 31, 2019.” 

 
 
 

Sã o P aulo, March 1 9 , 20 20 .  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

J erô nimo Antunes 
C AE  C oordinator 

 
 
 

Alexandre Akio Motonaga 
Member 

 
 
 

Silverio Crestana 
Member 
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Fiscal Committee’s Opinion 

 
 

T he F iscal C ouncil of C ompanhia do Metropolitano de Sã o P aulo – ME T R O , in the exercise of 
its legal and statutory powers, has examined the Management’s Report, the Financial 
Statements and the respective accompanying N otes, referring to the fiscal year ended on 
D ecember 31, 2019, in addition to the Independent Auditors’ Report – BD O  R C S Auditores 
I ndependentes SS, with the exception of the procedures applied to perform the impairment test, 
and the F iscal C ouncil, unanimously, in view of the findings presented throughout the fiscal 
year, believes that said organiz ational documents fairly reflect, in all relevant aspects, the eq uity 
and financial position of C ompanhia do Metropolitano de Sã o P aulo – ME T R O , notwithstanding 
the reservations expressed, and meet the conditions to be submitted to the appreciation and 
approval of the company’s Shareholders. The Fiscal Council further notes that there are 
ongoing reviews carried out by Management to assess the impacts on the Company’s 
operations and economic position resulting from the C ovid- 1 9  virus pandemic.  

 
 

Sã o P aulo, March 1 9 , 20 20 .  
 
 
 
 
 
 

C assiana Montesiã o de Sousa 
 
 
 
 
 

H enriq ue de C astilho P into 
 
 
 
 
 

P edro T egon Moro 
 
 
 
 
 

W ilson Sergio P edroso J ú nior 
 
 
 
 
 

F elissa Sousa Alarcon 
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Phone: +55 11 3848 5880 Rua Major Quedinho 90
Fax: + 55 11 3045 7363 Consolação – São Paulo, SP - Brazil
www.bdobrazil.com.br 01050-030

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

To the
Shareholders, Directors and Managers of 
Companhia Metropolitana de São Paulo – Metro 
São Paulo - SP

Qualified opinion

We have examined the financial statements of Companhia Metropolitana de São Paulo – Metro 
(‘Company’), which comprise the balance sheet as of December 31, 2019 and the respective
statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows 
for the year then ended, as well as the corresponding accompanying notes, including a 
summary of the major accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the section below 
entitled “Basis for qualified opinion”, the aforementioned financial statements fairly present, 
in all material respects, the equity and financial position of Companhia Metropolitana de São 
Paulo – Metro as of December 31, 2019, the performance of its operations and its cash flows 
for the year then ended, in accordance with accounting practices adopted in Brazil and with 
the international financial reporting standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB).

Basis for qualified opinion

As described in note 10, the Company’s Management, aiming to comply with Technical 
Pronouncement CPC 01 – “Impairment of Assets”, prepared an analysis to evidence that 
property, plant and equipment, recorded on December 31, 2019 for the amount of R$ 
34,302,947 thousand, is not recorded at an amount above its recoverable value (impairment). 
However, we have concluded that the analysis carried out did not meet all the requirements 
defined in that standard and, as a result, it was not possible to conclude on the need to 
create or not an allowance for losses on said assets.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with Brazilian and international auditing standards. 
Our responsibilities, in accordance with such standards, are described in the following section 
entitled “Auditor’s responsibilities for auditing the financial statements”. We are 
independent from the Company, in accordance with the relevant ethical principles set out in 
the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants and in the professional standards issued by 
the Federal Accounting Council, and we comply with other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these standards. We believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to support our qualified opinion.

Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metro 
Comprehensive income statements  
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018 
(In thousands of Brazilian reais, except as otherwise stated) 
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Emphasis of Matter 

 
We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial statements, which provides information on the 
plea bargain to turn state’s evidence accepted by a former executive of the Company and 
agreed with the Federal Prosecution Office. Based on the current stage of knowledge of the 
matter by the Company, no allowance was created in the financial statements. Our conclusion 
is not modified in relation to this topic. 

 
Other matters 

 
Audit of the corresponding amounts 

 
The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018, originally prepared before 
adjustments for error correction, as described in Note 2.2, were examined under the 
responsibility of other independent auditors, who issued an audit report dated February 15, 
2019, without reservations. As part of our examination of the financial statements for the 
year ended December 31, 2019, we have also examined the adjustments described in the 
Note 2.2, which were intended to amend the financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2018. In our opinion, the adjustments made for December 31, 2018 are 
appropriate and have been correctly made. We were not engaged to audit, review or apply 
any other procedure on the financial statements of the Company, for the year ended 
December 31, 2018, and, therefore, we do not issue an opinion, nor any form of assurance on 
said financial statements taken as a whole. 

 
Value-added statements 

 
The value-added statement (VAS) for the year ended December 31, 2019, prepared under the 
responsibility of the Company’s management and presented as supplementary information for 
IFRS purposes, was submitted to audit procedures carried out together with the audit of the 
Company’s financial statements. To support our opinion, we have assessed whether this 
statement is reconciled with the financial statements and accounting records, as applicable, 
and whether its form and content are in accordance with the criteria defined in Technical 
Pronouncement CPC 09 - Value-added Statement. In our opinion, except for the possible 
effects of the matter described in the following section entitled “Basis for qualified opinion”, 
these statements of added value were properly prepared, in all relevant aspects, according to 
the criteria defined in this Technical Pronouncement and are consistent in respect of the 
financial statements taken as a whole. 

 
Social Balance Sheet 

 
Our examinations have been conducted with the objective of supporting an opinion on the 
aforementioned financial statements, taken as a whole. The accounting information 
contained in the balance sheet for the year ended December 31, 2019 represents 
supplementary information to these statements. Said information is not required by 
accounting practices adopted in Brazil and is being presented to allow for further analysis 
only. This supplementary information was submitted to the same audit procedures applied to 
the financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly presented, in its relevant aspects, in 
relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

To the
Shareholders, Board Members and Management of
Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metrô
São Paulo - SP

Qualified opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metrô (the
Company), which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2019, and the
respective statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the
year then ended, as well as the corresponding notes to the financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the following section of this
report “Basis for qualified opinion on the financial statements”, the accompanying financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Companhia do
Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metrô as at December 31, 2019, its financial performance and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Brazilian accounting practices and International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Basis for qualified opinion on the financial statements

As described in Note 10 and with the purpose of complying with Technical Pronouncement CPC 01 –
Impairment, the Company analyzed its fixed assets recorded as at December 31, 2019, amounting to
R$ 34,302,947 thousand, to establish that it is not impaired. However, we concluded that the analysis
did not fulfill all requirements established by the mentioned standard and, therefore, we were unable
to conclude on the need to recognize or not a provision for impairment of the mentioned items.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Brazilian and International Standards on Auditing (ISAs).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in
accordance with the relevant ethical principles established in the Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants and in the professional standards issued by the Brazilian Federal Association of
Accountants (CFC), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
standards. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our qualified audit opinion.

Emphasis

We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial statements, which presents information on plea bargain
agreement of an ex-officer of the Company, entered into with the Federal Public Prosecution Office.
Based on the current stage of the matter known by the Company, no provision was recognized in the
financial statements. Our conclusion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Tel.: +55 11 3848 5880 Rua Major Quedinho 90
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

To the
Shareholders, Board Members and Management of
Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metrô
São Paulo - SP

Qualified opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metrô (the
Company), which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2019, and the
respective statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the
year then ended, as well as the corresponding notes to the financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the following section of this
report “Basis for qualified opinion on the financial statements”, the accompanying financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Companhia do
Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metrô as at December 31, 2019, its financial performance and its cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Brazilian accounting practices and International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

Basis for qualified opinion on the financial statements

As described in Note 10 and with the purpose of complying with Technical Pronouncement CPC 01 –
Impairment, the Company analyzed its fixed assets recorded as at December 31, 2019, amounting to
R$ 34,302,947 thousand, to establish that it is not impaired. However, we concluded that the analysis
did not fulfill all requirements established by the mentioned standard and, therefore, we were unable
to conclude on the need to recognize or not a provision for impairment of the mentioned items.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Brazilian and International Standards on Auditing (ISAs).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in
accordance with the relevant ethical principles established in the Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants and in the professional standards issued by the Brazilian Federal Association of
Accountants (CFC), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
standards. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our qualified audit opinion.

Emphasis

We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial statements, which presents information on plea bargain
agreement of an ex-officer of the Company, entered into with the Federal Public Prosecution Office.
Based on the current stage of the matter known by the Company, no provision was recognized in the
financial statements. Our conclusion is not modified in respect of this matter.

3

Other matters

Audit of corresponding amounts

The audit of the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018, originally prepared
before the adjustments to correct errors as described in Note 2.2, was conducted under the
responsibility of other independent auditors, whose report thereon, dated February 15, 2019, was
unqualified. As part of our audit of the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019,
we have also examined the adjustments described in Note 2.2, which were made to amend the
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018. In our opinion, such adjustments are
appropriate and were correctly made. We were not engaged to audit, review or apply any other
procedure on the Company’s financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018, and,
therefore, we do not express an opinion or any type of assurance on the mentioned financial
statements taken as a whole.

Statements of value added

The statements of value added, prepared under the responsibility of the Company’s Management for
the year ended December 31, 2019, and presented as supplemental information for IFRS purposes,
were submitted to the same audit procedures followed for the audit of the Company’s financial
statements. In order to form an opinion, we have checked whether these statements are reconciled
with the financial statements and accounting records, as applicable, and whether its form and
contents meet the criteria established in Accounting Pronouncement CPC 09 - Statement of Value
Added. In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the section of this
report “Basis for qualified opinion on the financial statements”, the accompanying statements of
value added were fairly prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the criteria established
in this Technical Pronouncement and are consistent with the financial statements taken as a whole.

Social balance

Our exams were conducted with the purpose of issuing an opinion on the financial statements referred
to above, taken as a whole. The financial information included in the social balance for the year
ended December 31, 2019, represents supplemental information to these financial statements. They
are not required under Brazilian accounting practices and are presented for purposes of additional
analysis. This supplemental information was subjected to the same auditing procedures applied to
the financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to
the financial statements taken as a whole.

Other information accompanying the financial statements and auditor’s report

The Company’s Management is responsible for this other information that comprises the Management
Report.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the Management Report and we do not express
any form of audit conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the Management
Report and, in doing so, consider whether the report is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
Management Report, we are required to report that fact. As described in the section of this report
“Basis for qualified opinion on the financial statements”, we were unable to conclude whether the
Management Report could also be materially misstated for the same matter described in the
mentioned section.
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Other information accompanying the financial statements and the auditor’s report ( 4 )  

 
The Company's management is responsible for this other information, which comprises the 
Management’s Report. 

 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the Management’s Report and we do 
not issue any form of audit conclusion on this report. 

 
In connection with the audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
Management’s Report and, in doing so, consider whether that report is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained from the audit or otherwise appears 
to be significantly misstated. If, based on the work carried out, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement in the Management’s Report, we are required to report this fact. As 
described in the section “Basis for qualified opinion” above, it was not possible to conclude 
whether the Management’s Report could also be significantly misstated for the same reason 
as the matter described in that section. 

 
Management and governance’s responsibilities for the financial statements 

 
Management is responsible for preparing and presenting the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting practices adopted in Brazil and with international financial 
reporting standards (IFRS), issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and 
for the internal controls that it has deemed as necessary to support the preparation of 
financial statements free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 
In preparing the financial statements, Management is responsible for assessing the Company’s 
ability to continue operating, disclosing, where applicable, matters related to its operational 
continuity and the use of this accounting basis in the preparation of the financial statements, 
unless Management intends to liquidate the Company or cease its operations, or has no 
realistic alternative to avoid closing the operations. 

 
Those charged with the Company’s governance are those responsible for supervising the 
process of preparing the financial statements. 

 
Auditor’s responsibilities for auditing the financial statements 

 
Our purposes are to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements, taken as a 
whole, are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
audit report containing our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of safety, but not a 
guarantee that the audit carried out in accordance with Brazilian and international auditing 
standards will detect any relevant material misstatements at tall times. Misstatements may 
be due to fraud or error and are considered relevant when, individually or jointly, they can 
influence, within a reasonable perspective, the economic decisions of users made based on 
said financial statements. 
As part of the audit carried out in accordance with Brazilian and international auditing 
standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. In addition: 

 
 We have identified and evaluated the risks of material misstatement in the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, planned and carried out audit procedures in 
response to such risks, as well as provided sufficient, appropriate audit evidence to  
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substantiate our opinion.The risk of not detecting material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is greater than that arising from error, since fraud may involve the act of 
circumventing internal controls, collusion, forgery, omission, or intentional fraudulent 
representation.

 We have obtained an understanding of the internal controls relevant to the audit in order 
to plan audit procedures that are appropriate to the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of issuing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls.

 We have assessed the adequacy of the accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
the accounting estimates and respective disclosures made by Management.

 We have concluded on the adequacy of Management’s use of the accounting basis for 
operational continuity and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether there is 
material uncertainty regarding events or conditions that may raise significant doubts 
regarding the Company’s ability to continue operating. If we conclude that there is 
material uncertainty, we should draw attention in our audit report to the respective 
disclosures in the financial statements or include modification in our opinion if the 
disclosures are inadequate. Our findings are based on audit evidence obtained as of the 
date of our report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to no 
longer be in operational continuity.

 We have evaluated the general presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures and whether the financial statements represent the 
corresponding transactions and events in a manner consistent with the objective of fair 
presentation.

We have contacted those responsible for governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope, timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal controls that we identified during our work.

São Paulo, March 19, 2020.

BDO RCS A u d i t o r e s  I n d e p e n d e n t e s  SS
CRC 2 SP 013846/O-1

Francisco de Paula dos Reis Júnior 
Accountant CRC 1 SP 139268/O-6

4

Responsibilities of Management and those charged with governance for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with Brazilian accounting practices and the IFRSs, issued by IASB, and for such internal
control as Management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, Management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless Management either intends to liquidate the Company or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with Brazilian and International Standards on Auditing (ISAs)
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Brazilian standards and ISAs, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal controls;

Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls;

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by Management;

Conclude on the appropriateness of Management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern;

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

5

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal controls that we identify during our audit.

The accompanying financial statements have been translated into English for the convenience of
readers outside Brazil.

São Paulo, March 19, 2020.

BDO RCS Auditores Independentes SS
CRC 2 SP 013846/O-1

Francisco de Paula dos Reis Júnior
Accountant CRC 1 SP 139268/O-6
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Directors’ statement on the financial statements 

 
I  hereby declare that, as C hief E xecutive O fficer of C ompanhia do Metropolitano de Sã o P aulo – 
Metro, a state- owned company having its principal place of business in the C ity of Sã o P aulo, 
State of Sã o P aulo, at R ua Boa V ista, N o.  1 7 5, C E P / P ostal C ode 0 1 0 1 4 - 9 20 , registered as a 
C orporate T axpayer with the N ational R egister of L egal E ntities under C N P J / MF  N o.  
6 2. 0 7 0 . 3 6 2/ 0 0 0 1 - 0 6 , together with the other members of the Company’s Executive Board, I 
have reviewed, discussed and agreed with the Company’s financial statements for the fiscal 
year ended D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 .  

 
 
 

São Paulo, March 19, 2020.  
 
 
 

Silvani P ereira  
C hief E xecutive O fficer 

 
 
 
 

Alfredo F alchi N eto 
C hief C orporate Affairs O fficer 

 
 
 
 
 

C lá udio R oberto F erreira  
C hief C ommercial O fficer 

 
 
 
 
 

P aulo Sé rgio Amalfi Meca 
C hief E ngineering and P lanning O fficer 

 
 
 
 
 

Milton G ioia J ú nior  
C hief O perating O fficer 

 
 
 
 

R enato P alma F erreira  
C hief F inancial officer 
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Directors’ statement on the independent auditors’ report 

 
I  hereby declare that, as C hief E xecutive O fficer of C ompanhia do Metropolitano de Sã o P aulo – 
Metro, a state- owned company having its principal place of business in the C ity of Sã o P aulo, 
State of Sã o P aulo, at R ua Boa V ista, N o.  1 7 5, C E P / P ostal C ode 0 1 0 1 4 - 9 20 , registered as a 
C orporate T axpayer with the N ational R egister of L egal E ntities under C N P J / MF  N o.  
6 2. 0 7 0 . 3 6 2/ 0 0 0 1 - 06, together with the other members of the Company’s Executive Board, I  
have reviewed, discussed and agreed with the opinion expressed in the independent auditors’ 
report, regarding the financial statements for the fiscal year ended D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 .  

 
 
 

São Paulo, March 19, 2020.  
 
 
 
 

Silvani P ereira  
C hief E xecutive O fficer 

 
 
 
 

Alfredo F alchi N eto 
C hief C orporate Affairs O fficer 

 
 
 
 

C lá udio R oberto F erreira  
C hief C ommercial O fficer 

 
 
 
 
 

P aulo Sé rgio Amalfi Meca 
C hief E ngineering and P lanning O fficer 

 
 
 
 

Milton G ioia J ú nior  
C hief O perating O fficer 

 
 
 
 
 

R enato P alma F erreira  
C hief F inancial officer 
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Assets Note 12/31/2019  1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  

    Restated 
Current 

C ash and cash eq uivalents 

 

4 
 

674,262 
  

8 1 4 ,6 9 7  
Bonds and securities  9,017  8 ,1 51  
Accounts receivable 5 294,003  20 4 ,4 0 6  
I nventories 6 225,276  23 1 ,1 8 0  
T axes recoverable  37,710  3 9 ,4 7 6  
O ther assets  10,373  3 5,0 8 4  

  1,250,641  1 ,3 3 2,9 9 4  

 
Non-current 

Accounts receivable 

 
 

5 

 
 

802 

  
 

7 0 0  
D eposits in court 7 204,747  28 4 ,9 7 3  

D eferred income tax and social contribution  -  3 5,23 5 

I nvestments 8 19,874  5,9 8 7  

P roperty, plant and eq uipment 10 34,302,947  3 3 ,0 8 5,6 1 0  
I ntangible assets 11 52,945  7 2,29 8  

  34,581,315  3 3 ,4 8 4 ,8 0 3  

 
Total assets 11 35,831,956  3 4 ,8 1 7 ,7 9 7  
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Liabilities Note 12/31/2019  1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  

    Restated 

Current 
Suppliers 

 

13 
 

529,976 
  

4 1 2,24 1  

T axes and contributions payable 14 67,325  7 0 ,254  

P ayroll and related costs 15 330,629  4 21 ,6 28  

D eferred revenue from customers 16 412,322  3 6 4 ,7 6 6  

R elated parties 12 26,664  3 4 ,6 7 1  

O ther accounts payable and accrued expenses  3,027  2,0 56  

  1,369,943  1 ,3 0 5,6 1 6  

 
Non-current 

T axes and contributions payable 14 -  1 7 ,51 6  

P ayroll and related costs 15 36,527  6 2,8 0 7  

D eferred revenue from customers 16 118,842  1 1 2,1 8 3  

Supplementary retirement plan 17. 2 90,227  21 6 ,4 1 3  

Allowance for litigation 18 837,469  7 27 ,1 1 2 

R elated parties 12 230,537  23 4 ,4 1 1  

O ther accounts payable and accrued expenses  3,133  3 ,1 3 3  

  1,316,735  1 ,3 7 3 ,57 5 

 
Stockholders’ equity  

C apital 19. 2 40,010,915  3 8 ,51 6 ,4 9 5 

T reasury stock   (16)  ( 1 6 )  

Asset valuation adj ustment  43,271  ( 6 8 ,3 9 7 )  
R etained losses  (6,908,892)  ( 6 ,3 0 9 ,4 7 6 )  

  33,145,278  3 2,1 3 8 ,6 0 6  

 
 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity 11 35,831,956  3 4 ,8 1 7 ,7 9 7  
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Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metro 
Comprehensive income statements  
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018 
(In thousands of Brazilian reais, except as otherwise stated) 

 

1 5  
T he accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  

 
 

 Note 12/31/2019  12/31/2018 

    Restated 
Net operating revenue 20 2,811,170  2,7 20 ,4 0 1  
C ost of services 21 (2,469,207)  ( 2,4 0 9 ,1 4 2)  

Gross profit  341,963  3 1 1 ,259  

Operating revenues (expenses) 21    
Selling expenses  (19,639)  ( 1 6 ,3 50 )  
G eneral and administrative expenses  (934,416)  ( 8 23 ,0 4 5)  
O ther operating revenues ( expenses) , net  (35,076)  ( 1 7 1 ,6 58 )  

  (989,131)  ( 1 ,0 1 1 ,0 52)  

Operating loss before financial result  (647,168)  ( 6 9 9 ,7 9 3 )  

Financial result, net 
 

22    
F inancial revenues  65,401  4 2,9 21  
F inancial expenses  (22,572)  ( 29 ,3 50 )  
Adj ustments for inflation and exchange rate changes, net  4,923  2,58 3  

  47,752  1 6 ,1 54  

Loss before income tax and social 
contribution 

 (599,416)  ( 6 8 3 ,6 3 9 )  

Income tax and social contribution     
C urrent 23. 2 -  ( 4 ,1 8 2)  
D eferred  -  1 5,7 4 3  

Loss for the year  (599,416)  ( 6 7 2,0 7 8 )  
 
 
Loss for the year per share (In R$ ) 
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Base -  O N  24. 1 (83. 45)  ( 9 7 . 8 9 )  

  

Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metro 
Comprehensive income statements  
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018 
(In thousands of Brazilian reais, except as otherwise stated) 

 

1 6  
T he accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  

 
 12/31/2019  12/31/2018 

 
 
Loss for the year 

 
 

(599,416) 

  
Restated 

( 6 7 2,0 7 8 )  

F air value on bonds and securities 867  ( 3 ,23 6 )  
Actuarial gains 146,036  6 3 ,1 7 5 
D eferred income tax and social contribution (35,235)  ( 20 ,3 7 9 )  

Total comprehensive income (487,748)  ( 6 3 2,51 8 )  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metro 
Statements of operations  
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018 
(In thousands of Brazilian reais, except as otherwise stated) 

 

1 5  
T he accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metro 
Statements of comprehensive income  
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018 
(In thousands of Brazilian reais, except as otherwise stated) 

 

1 6  
T he accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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1 7  
T he accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  

Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metro 
Statements of changes in stockholders’ equity As of 
December 31, 2019 and 2018 
(In thousands of Brazilian reais, except as otherwise stated) 

 
 

  

Capital  Treasury stock  
Asset valuation 

adjustment  Retained losses  Total 

Balances as of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 7   
3 6 ,4 6 1 ,0 6 6   -   ( 1 0 7 ,9 57 )   ( 5,6 3 7 ,3 9 8 )   3 0 ,7 1 5,7 1 2 

 
      

 

L oss for the year  -   -   -   ( 6 7 2,0 7 8 )   ( 6 7 2,0 7 8 )  
F air value on bonds and securities  -   -   ( 3 ,23 6 )   -   ( 3 ,23 6 )  
Actuarial gains  -   -   6 3 ,1 7 5  -   6 3 ,1 7 5 
D eferred income tax and social contribution  -   -   ( 20 ,3 7 9 )   -   ( 20 ,3 7 9 )  
Stock  redemption ( L aw N o.  1 3 . 3 0 3 / 1 6 )  and reverse 
stock  split 

 -   ( 1 6 )   -   -   ( 1 6 )  
P aid- in capital  2,0 55,4 29   -   -   -   2,0 55,4 29  

Balances as of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 8  ( R estated)   3 8 ,51 6 ,4 9 5  ( 1 6 )   ( 6 8 ,3 9 7 )   ( 6 ,3 0 9 ,4 7 6 )   3 2,1 3 8 ,6 0 6  

 
L oss for the year  

-  -  -  (599,416)  (599,416) 
F air value on bonds and securities  -  -  867  -  867 
Actuarial gains  -  -  146,036  -  146,036 
D eferred income tax and social contribution  -  -  (35,235)  -  (35,235) 
C apital reduction ( a)   (648,307)  -  -  -  (648,307) 
P aid- in capital ( b)   2,142,727  -  -  -  2,142,727 
Balances as of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9   40,010,914  (16)  43,271  (6,908,892)  33,145,278 

 
( a)  C omprising R $  6 4 8 ,3 0 7  in assets transferred in an asset exchange transaction, involving the controller ( G E SP ) , as shown in note 1 , item ( iii) .  
( b)  C omprising R $  1 ,0 8 3 ,3 4 5 in assets received in an asset exchange transaction, involving the controller ( G E SP ) , as shown in note 1 , item 

( iii)  and R $  1 ,0 59 ,3 8 2 referring to the payment of capital, using funds in national currency.  
 

 

1 7  
T he accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  

Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metro 
Statements of changes equity  
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018 
(In thousands of Brazilian reais, except as otherwise stated) 

 
 

  

Capital  Treasury shares  
E quity valuation 

adjustment  Accumulated 
Losses

  Total 

Balances as of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 7   
3 6 ,4 6 1 ,0 6 6   -   ( 1 0 7 ,9 57 )   ( 5,6 3 7 ,3 9 8 )   3 0 ,7 1 5,7 1 2 

 
      

 

L oss for the year  -   -   -   ( 6 7 2,0 7 8 )   ( 6 7 2,0 7 8 )  
F air value on bonds and securities  -   -   ( 3 ,23 6 )   -   ( 3 ,23 6 )  
Actuarial gains  -   -   6 3 ,1 7 5  -   6 3 ,1 7 5 
D eferred income tax and social contribution  -   -   ( 20 ,3 7 9 )   -   ( 20 ,3 7 9 )  
Stock  redemption ( L aw N o.  1 3 . 3 0 3 / 1 6 )  and reverse 
stock  split 

 -   ( 1 6 )   -   -   ( 1 6 )  
P aid- in capital  2,0 55,4 29   -   -   -   2,0 55,4 29  

Balances as of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 8  ( R estated)   3 8 ,51 6 ,4 9 5  ( 1 6 )   ( 6 8 ,3 9 7 )   ( 6 ,3 0 9 ,4 7 6 )   3 2,1 3 8 ,6 0 6  

 
L oss for the year  

-  -  -  (599,416)  (599,416) 
F air value on bonds and securities  -  -  867  -  867 
Actuarial gains  -  -  146,036  -  146,036 
D eferred income tax and social contribution  -  -  (35,235)  -  (35,235) 
C apital reduction ( a)   (648,307)  -  -  -  (648,307) 
P aid- in capital ( b)   2,142,727  -  -  -  2,142,727 
Balances as of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9   40,010,914  (16)  43,271  (6,908,892)  33,145,278 

 
( a)  C omprising R $  6 4 8 ,3 0 7  in assets transferred in an asset exchange transaction, involving the controller ( G E SP ) , as shown in note 1 , item ( iii) .  
( b)  C omprising R $  1 ,0 8 3 ,3 4 5 in assets received in an asset exchange transaction, involving the controller ( G E SP ) , as shown in note 1 , item 

( iii)  and R $  1 ,0 59 ,3 8 2 referring to the payment of capital, using funds in national currency.  
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1 7  
T he accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.  

Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metro 
Statements of changes equity  
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018 
(In thousands of Brazilian reais, except as otherwise stated) 
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1 8  

T he accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial 
statements.  

Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metro 
Notes to the financial statements  
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018  
(In thousands of Brazilian reais, except as otherwise stated) 

 

 

 

 12/31/2019 12/31/2018 

Restated 

Cash flow s from operating activities 
 

Loss for the year (599,416) ( 6 7 2,0 7 8 )  

Adjustments to reconcile loss for the year to net cash provided 
D epreciation and amortiz ation 578,858  57 6 ,58 2 
G ains on sale of investments (9,600)  ( 1 28 )  
W rite- off of property, plant and eq uipment and intangible assets 99,347  3 6 1 ,9 7 9  
I nterest on actuarial liabilities 19,850  21 ,9 7 7  
Allowance /  ( reversal)  for j udicial and administrative litigation, net 163,431  8 1 ,1 9 9  
Allowance /  ( reversal)  for expected credit loss 43,529  ( 54 ,57 4 )  
Allowance /  ( reversal)  for V oluntary E mployment T ermination P rogram, net -  ( 21 ,8 7 4 )  
O ther taxes and contributions -  8 1 5,7 6 7  
Adj ustments for inflation, net 47,340  -  
O ther taxes and contributions payable -  ( 8 55,3 1 5)  
L iq uidation of lawsuits (100,414)  ( 1 26 ,7 3 5)  

Adjusted net income 242,925  1 26 ,8 0 0  

 
Change in operating assets and liabilities 

   
T rade receivables (133,228)  1 4 0 ,8 4 0  
I nventories 5,904  ( 3 ,9 3 8 )  
T axes recoverable 1,766  1 4 ,0 0 7  
D eposits in court 80,226  1 7 5,3 57  
P repaid expenses -  1 ,8 6 7  
O ther current and non- current assets 24,711  25,27 9  
Suppliers 117,736  ( 3 9 7 ,6 0 0 )  
P ayroll and related costs (117,279)  ( 223 ,29 1 )  
T axes and contributions payable (20,445)  -  
D eferred revenue from customers 54,215  3 1 ,6 51  
R elated parties (11,882)  -  
O ther accounts payable and accrued expenses -  ( 1 ,4 1 9 )  
O ther current and non- current liabilities 971  23 2,4 9 3  

Net cash provided by operating activities 245,621  1 22,0 4 7  

 
Cash flow s from investing activities 

   

Acq uisition of property, plant and eq uipment (1,455,055)  ( 2,0 0 2,1 6 5)  
Acq uisition of intangible assets (38)  -  
Sale of assets 9,656  1 7 ,3 9 2 

Net cash used in investing activities (1,445,437)  ( 1 ,9 8 4 ,7 7 3 )  

 
Cash flow s from financing activities 

   
P aid- in capital 1,059,382  2,0 55,4 29  
P ayment of loans and financing -  ( 7 ,50 0 )  

Net cash provided by financing activities 1,059,382  2,0 4 7 ,9 29  

 
 

  
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (140,435)  1 8 5,20 3  
 

C ash and cash eq uivalents at beginning of year 
 

8 1 4 ,6 9 7  
  

6 29 ,4 9 4  
C ash and cash eq uivalents at end of year 6 7 4 ,26 2  8 1 4 ,6 9 7  

Statement of increase in cash and cash equivalents (140,435)  1 8 5,20 3  

 
Transactions that did not affect cash 
Acq uisition of property, plant and eq uipment through the exchange of assets affecting capital, according 
to note 1 0 . 1  of property, plant and eq uipment.  
T he explanatory notes are an integral part of these financial statements 

   

1,083,345   

  
1 9  

T he accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial 
statements.  

Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metro 
Notes to the financial statements  
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018  
(In thousands of Brazilian reais, except as otherwise stated) 

 

 

 

 12/31/2019 12/31/2018 

Restated 
Revenues 

R evenues from services and others 
 

2,984,016 
  

2,8 52,1 8 9  
O ther revenues ( expenses) , net (9,538)  ( 3 6 ,8 6 6 )  
Allowance /  ( reversal)  for expected credit loss, net (28,750)  54 ,57 4  

 
Inputs acquired from third-parties 

2,945,729  2,8 6 9 ,8 9 7  

C ost of services (396,719)  ( 53 5,8 9 4 )  
Materials, energy, third- party services and others (461,582)  ( 3 50 ,24 8 )  
Asset losses (142,961)  ( 53 ,56 1 )  

 (1,001,263)  ( 9 3 9 ,7 0 2)  

Gross added value 1,944,466  1 ,9 3 0 ,1 9 4  
D epreciation and amortiz ation (578,858)  ( 57 6 ,58 1 )  

Net added value created by the Company Added 
value received on transfer 

I nterest, profits and dividends on shares 

1,365,608 
 

208 

 1 ,3 53 ,6 1 3  
 

528  
F inancial revenues 73,935  4 7 ,6 4 2 

 74,144  4 8 ,1 7 0  

Total added value to distribute 1,439,752  1 ,4 0 1 ,7 8 3  
 
Staff 

P ayroll and related costs 

 
 

1,634,450 

  
 

1 ,7 0 0 ,8 3 9  
Board and committee compensation 2,733  3 ,8 4 8  
P rofit- Sharing P lan 50,870  6 6 ,57 8  
P ension plan 54,323  6 8 ,56 4  

 
Taxes, fees and contributions 

1,742,376  1 ,8 3 9 ,8 29  

F ederal 219,058  1 8 2,24 4  
State 106  7 5 
Municipal 48,026  1 6 ,3 28  

 
Interest on third-party equity 

267,190  1 9 8 ,6 4 7  

F inancial expenses 5,782  7 ,4 0 2 
R ents 23,820  27 ,9 8 2 

 
Interest on stockholders’ equity 

29,602  3 5,3 8 4  

L oss for the year (599,416)  ( 6 7 2,0 7 8 )  

 (599,416)  ( 6 7 2,0 7 8 )  
 

  

Total added value to distribute 1,439,752 1 ,4 0 1 ,7 8 3  
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

1 8  
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Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metro 
Statements of cash flow s  
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018  
(In thousands of Brazilian reais, except as otherwise stated) 

 

 

 

 12/31/2019 12/31/2018 

Restated 

Cash flow s from operating activities 
 

Loss for the year (599,416) ( 6 7 2,0 7 8 )  

Adjustments to reconcile loss for the year to net cash provided 
D epreciation and amortiz ation 578,858  57 6 ,58 2 
G ains on sale of investments (9,600)  ( 1 28 )  
W rite- off of property, plant and eq uipment and intangible assets 99,347  3 6 1 ,9 7 9  
I nterest on actuarial liabilities 19,850  21 ,9 7 7  
Allowance /  ( reversal)  for j udicial and administrative litigation, net 163,431  8 1 ,1 9 9  
Allowance /  ( reversal)  for expected credit loss 43,529  ( 54 ,57 4 )  
Allowance /  ( reversal)  for V oluntary E mployment T ermination P rogram, net -  ( 21 ,8 7 4 )  
O ther taxes and contributions -  8 1 5,7 6 7  
Adj ustments for inflation, net 47,340  -  
O ther taxes and contributions payable -  ( 8 55,3 1 5)  
L iq uidation of lawsuits (100,414)  ( 1 26 ,7 3 5)  

Adjusted net income 242,925  1 26 ,8 0 0  

 
Change in operating assets and liabilities 

   
Accounts receivables (133,228)  1 4 0 ,8 4 0  
I nventories 5,904  ( 3 ,9 3 8 )  
T axes recoverable 1,766  1 4 ,0 0 7  
D eposits in court 80,226  1 7 5,3 57  
P repaid expenses -  1 ,8 6 7  
O ther current and non- current assets 24,711  25,27 9  
Suppliers 117,736  ( 3 9 7 ,6 0 0 )  
P ayroll and related costs (117,279)  ( 223 ,29 1 )  
T axes and contributions payable (20,445)  -  
D eferred revenue from customers 54,215  3 1 ,6 51  
R elated parties (11,882)  -  
O ther accounts payable and accrued expenses -  ( 1 ,4 1 9 )  
O ther current and non- current liabilities 971  23 2,4 9 3  

Net cash provided by operating activities 245,621  1 22,0 4 7  

 
Cash flow s from investing activities 

   

Acq uisition of property, plant and eq uipment (1,455,055)  ( 2,0 0 2,1 6 5)  
Acq uisition of intangible assets (38)  -  
Sale of assets 9,656  1 7 ,3 9 2 

Net cash used in investing activities (1,445,437)  ( 1 ,9 8 4 ,7 7 3 )  

 
Cash flow s from financing activities 

   
P aid- in capital 1,059,382  2,0 55,4 29  
P ayment of loans and financing -  ( 7 ,50 0 )  

Net cash provided by financing activities 1,059,382  2,0 4 7 ,9 29  

 
 

  
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (140,435)  1 8 5,20 3  
 

C ash and cash eq uivalents at beginning of year 
 

8 1 4 ,6 9 7  
  

6 29 ,4 9 4  
C ash and cash eq uivalents at end of year 6 7 4 ,26 2  8 1 4 ,6 9 7  

Statement of increase in cash and cash equivalents (140,435)  1 8 5,20 3  

 
Transactions that did not affect cash 
Acq uisition of property, plant and eq uipment through the exchange of assets affecting capital, according 
to note 1 0 . 1  of property, plant and eq uipment.  
T he explanatory notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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Restated 
Revenues 

R evenues from services and others 
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2,8 52,1 8 9  
O ther revenues ( expenses) , net (9,538)  ( 3 6 ,8 6 6 )  
Allowance /  ( reversal)  for expected credit loss, net (28,750)  54 ,57 4  

 
Inputs acquired from third-parties 

2,945,729  2,8 6 9 ,8 9 7  

C ost of services (396,719)  ( 53 5,8 9 4 )  
Materials, energy, third- party services and others (461,582)  ( 3 50 ,24 8 )  
Asset losses (142,961)  ( 53 ,56 1 )  

 (1,001,263)  ( 9 3 9 ,7 0 2)  

Gross added value 1,944,466  1 ,9 3 0 ,1 9 4  
D epreciation and amortiz ation (578,858)  ( 57 6 ,58 1 )  

Net added value created by the Company Added 
value received on transfer 

I nterest, profits and dividends on shares 

1,365,608 
 

208 

 1 ,3 53 ,6 1 3  
 

528  
F inancial revenues 73,935  4 7 ,6 4 2 

 74,144  4 8 ,1 7 0  

Total added value to distribute 1,439,752  1 ,4 0 1 ,7 8 3  
 
Staff 

P ayroll and related costs 

 
 

1,634,450 

  
 

1 ,7 0 0 ,8 3 9  
Board and committee compensation 2,733  3 ,8 4 8  
P rofit- Sharing P lan 50,870  6 6 ,57 8  
P ension plan 54,323  6 8 ,56 4  

 
Taxes, fees and contributions 

1,742,376  1 ,8 3 9 ,8 29  

F ederal 219,058  1 8 2,24 4  
State 106  7 5 
Municipal 48,026  1 6 ,3 28  

 
Interest on third-party equity 

267,190  1 9 8 ,6 4 7  

F inancial expenses 5,782  7 ,4 0 2 
R ents 23,820  27 ,9 8 2 

 
Interest on stockholders’ equity 

29,602  3 5,3 8 4  

L oss for the year (599,416)  ( 6 7 2,0 7 8 )  

 (599,416)  ( 6 7 2,0 7 8 )  
 

  

Total added value to distribute 1,439,752 1 ,4 0 1 ,7 8 3  
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Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metro 
Notes to the financial statements  
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018  
(In thousands of Brazilian reais, except as otherwise stated) 

 

 

1 Operational context 

Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo (“Company” or “Metro”), is a state - owned company having 
its principal place of business in Sã o P aulo – SP , the controlling shareholder of which is the State 
G overnment of Sã o P aulo – G E SP , with 9 7 . 1 5%  of the shares of common stock .  T he Metropolitan 
T ransportation State O ffice – ST M, an agency of the Sã o P aulo G overnment, is responsible for planning 
and implementing the urban passenger transport policy in the metropolitan area of Sã o P aulo, whereas 
the Company’s purpose is essentially: 

 

 C ommercial operation to provide rapid transit passenger transport services;  

 P lanning of rapid transit and transport network s for the metropolitan area of Sã o P aulo 
– R MSP ;  

 C onstruction and implementation of new railway proj ects and systems;  

 C ommercial exploitation of adj acent businesses through rapid transit spaces and assets;  

 P rovision of services and consultancy specializ ed in technology.  
 

T he Metro currently has 4  ( four)  commercial lines in operation in the city of Sã o P aulo, namely L ine 1  – 
Blue ( J abaq uara -  T ucuruvi) , L ine 2 – G reen ( V ila Madalena -  V ila P rudente) , L ine 3  – R ed ( C orinthians-
I taq uera -  P almeiras- Barra F unda)  and L ine 1 5 – Silver ( V ila P rudente -  J ardim P lanalto) .  T hese lines, 
together, cover 6 9 . 7  k ilometers in length ( unaudited)  and carried an average of 3 . 7  million passengers 
( unaudited)  on business days in 20 1 9 .  

 
L ine 4  – Y ellow:  it is under concession to the private sector ( Sã o P aulo- Morumbi -  L uz )  for a period of 
3 0  years, which is expected to expire on J une 21 , 20 4 0 .  

 
L ine 5 – L ilac:  it started to be operated by the V ia Mobilidade C onsortium on August 4 , 20 1 8  ( C apã o 
R edondo -  C há cara K labin) .  T he contract is effective for 20  years, expiring on August 4 , 20 3 8 , covering its 
management, maintenance and implementation of improvements.  T hus, the consortium started operating 
public passenger transport services on the section between C apã o R edondo and C há cara K labin stations, in 
addition to the G uido C aloi maintenance and park ing yard.  L ine 5 – L ilac connects with L ine 1  – Blue at the 
Santa C ruz  Station and with L ine 2 – G reen at the C há cara K labin station.  I t will connect with the future L ine 
1 7  – G old ( monorail system)  at the C ampo Belo station, and an estimated demand of 8 0 0  thousand new 
passengers per day is expected, in regular commercial operation.  

 
I n addition, L ine 1 5 – Silver ( Sã o Mateus -  J ardim C olonial section)  and L ine 1 7  – G old ( J d.  Aeroporto -  
C ongonhas -  Morumbi ( C P T M)  and P á tio Á gua E spraiada) , related to the monorail transportation 
system, and the extension of L ine 4  – Y ellow ( V ila Sô nia and P á tio V ila Sô nia)  are under construction.  

 
Among the maj or developments tak ing place in 20 1 9  and 20 1 8 , the following stand out:  

 
i)  Authoriz ed capital limit 

 
O n O ctober 23 , 20 1 8 , the Special Meeting of Shareholders -  AG E  approved an increased limit of 
Authoriz ed C apital from R $  3 9 ,8 4 5,226  to the amount of R $  52,6 7 4 ,522.  

 
ii)  Support for lines given in concession 

 
D uring the year of 20 1 9 , the G overnment of the State of Sã o P aulo – G E SP  contributed funds, by 
means of L aw N o.  1 6 ,9 23  of J anuary 7 , 20 1 9 , as well as of D ecree N o.  6 4 ,7 26  of D ecember 27 , 20 1 9 , 
in the amount of R $  20 4 ,7 4 1  in support of P ublic- P rivate P artnerships -  P P P  of L ine 4  – Y ellow and L ine 
5 – L ilac, in order to cover the amounts of financial losses resulting from the impact of these lines on the 
revenue system.  
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Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metro 
Notes to the financial statements  
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018  
(In thousands of Brazilian reais, except as otherwise stated) 

 

 

iii)  C orporate Acts -  Consequences on “Exchange of assets”. 
 

O n D ecember 1 9 , 20 1 9 , the Special Meeting of Shareholders -  AG E  was held, which resolved on the 
corporate acts resulting from “exchange of assets with CPTM”. The following were approved: (a) 
reduction of the Company’s Capital, in the amount equivalent to the assets of the “East Expansion” 
Section ( Artur Alvim -  G uaianases Section of E xpresso L este )  and respective stations of L ine 1 1  – C oral 
which will be transferred to the maj ority shareholder, namely the G overnment of the State of Sã o P aulo;  
( b)  approval of the appraisal report of the “Capão Redondo -  L argo T rez e Section and respective 
stations” of Line 5 – L ilac, and ( c)  approval of the Metro capital increase, paid in by the maj ority 
shareholder ( G overnment of the State of Sã o P aulo) , by means of the contribution of goods from the 
“Capã o R edondo -  Largo Treze section and respective stations”. 

 
Accordingly, the Special Meeting resolved on the capital reduction approved in item ( a)  which amounts 
to R $  6 4 8 ,3 0 7 , corresponding to 1 3 7 ,8 3 8  shares, on O ctober 3 0 , 20 1 8 , and the Metro capital increase 
referred to in item ( c)  above in assets, which amounts to R $  1 ,0 8 3 ,3 4 5, upon the redemption of 1 3 7 ,8 3 8  
shares, resulting from the capital reduction resolution approved in item ( a) , and the issue of 9 2,4 9 4  
shares of common stock , nominative and without par value, intended for payment of the G overnment of 
the State of Sã o P aulo.  

 
T he accounting conseq uences of the above events result in an addition of R $  4 3 5,0 3 8  to property, plant 
and eq uipment, which are indicated in notes 1 0 . 1  and 1 9 . 2.  

 
The Company’s principal place of business is located at R ua Boa V ista, N o.  1 7 5, Bloco B, 7 th floor, 
C entro, Sã o P aulo, Braz il.  

 
Complaints involving Metro – Cartel of the Railw ay sector and Contractors (Operation Car W ash) 

 
i)  R ailway sector cartel:  

 
 

I n 20 1 3 , the State Attorney General’s Office, Metro and CPTM filed a lawsuit against six companies 
seek ing damages resulting from the practice of cartel in the acq uisition of trains and systems, based on 
the leniency agreement entered into by Siemens with the Braz ilian Antitrust Authority -  C AD E .  

 
T he agreement mentioned companies in the railway sector in the world acting to circumvent mark et 
competitiveness, between 1 9 9 8  and 20 0 9 , and among those affected were C P T M train purchase 
contracts for L ine 5 – L ilac and a contract entered by Metro to supply system for L ine 2 – G reen.  

 
Said action is in its early stage, pending service of process upon all the defendants to submit 
statements.  

 
O n J uly 1 0 , 20 1 9 , a decision was rendered by C AD E  entering j udgment against companies for 
carteliz ation and appeals were filed in light of the decision.  

 
The State Attorney’s Office, Metro and CPTM consider the repercussions of CADE’s decision, as well 
as possible measures to be adopted in the legal action.  

 
I n view of the current stage of the action, considering that there is still no final decision on the matter, 
the Company did not record any possible losses in its stockholders’ equity for the year ended December 
3 1 , 20 1 9 , and the C ompany is expected to be successful in reimbursing any losses resulting from the 
conduct of companies.  
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ii)  C ontractors C artel – O peration C ar W ash:  
 

I n 20 1 7 , C AD E  instituted an administrative proceeding to investigate the formation of a cartel by 
contractors who work ed in public procurement, including rapid transit work s in seven states ( Sã o P aulo, 
R io de J aneiro, C eará , Minas G erais, P araná  and R io G rande do Sul)  and in the F ederal D istrict.  T he 
investigation is pending before the G eneral O ffice of the agency and it is based on information obtained 
through a leniency agreement entered into with that C ommittee by the construction company C amargo 
C orrê a and by the F ederal P rosecution O ffice – MP F , subj ect matter of developments of the 23 rd phase 
of C ar W ash O peration.  

 
The alleged scheme involved five main companies (“G - 5” ) :  C onstruç õ es e C omé rcio C amargo C orrea 
S. A. ;  C onstrutora Andrade G utierrez  S. A. ;  C onstrutora N orberto O debrecht S. A. ;  C onstrutora O AS S. A. ;  
Construtora Queiroz Galvão S.A with authorization to operate the “Shield” tunnel boring machine, 
commonly k nown in Braz il as “Tatuzão”, used for construction proj ects for rapid transit tunnels, between 
1 9 9 8  and 20 1 4 .  Such companies allegedly colluded to win bidding processes, avoiding discounts on 
procurement and circumventing competitiveness, with alleged involvement of government agents.  T he 
report of the signatories to the L eniency Agreement indicates the execution of agreements to restrict 
competition for the work s on Metro lines 2 – G reen ( C ompetition N o.  4 0 20 8 21 2)  and 5 – L ilac 
( C ompetition N o.  4 1 4 28 21 2) .  

 
T here is a public- interest civil action filed by the State Prosecution’s Office in 2011, which was held valid 
by the trial court and supported by the Sã o P aulo C ourt of Appeals.  T he companies may still appeal.  
T he adverse j udgment imposed on the contractors, which is not yet final and unappealable, was 1 7 %  of 
the amount of each contract.  

 
T he C ompany ultimately points out that for both cases it is being officially recogniz ed in the lawsuits as 
the aggrieved party.  I n view of the current of the action, considering that there are still no concrete facts 
about the final decision in question, the Company did not record any possible losses in its stockholders’ 
eq uity for the year ended D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 .  

 
iii)  Impacts arising from turning state’s evidence – O peration C ar W ash 

 
D uring the third q uarter of 20 1 9 , the C ompany became aware that former director Sé rgio C orreia Brasil 
accepted a plea bargain offered by the F ederal C ourt in O peration C ar W ash to confirm the receipt of bribes 
during the bidding periods and construction of lines 2 – G reen, 5 – L ilac and 6  – O range.  According to the 
state’s evidence, the cases involving the payment of bribes occurred between 2004 and 2014. Although 
Sé rgio C orreia Brasil negotiated the payment of approximately R $  6 . 6  million as reimbursement to public 
treasury, due to the fact that the action is closed to the public, the C ompany does not yet have material 
elements that can be used as a basis for any assessment of the impacts arising from any losses to be 
recorded in the F inancial Statements for the year ended D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 .  

 
T here is an action against misconduct in public office filed by the P rosecution O ffice of the State of Sã o 
P aulo, against Sergio C orrea Brasil, G ilmar Alves T avares and AV BS C onsultoria e R epresentaç ã o – 
E ireli, case N o.  1 0 3 7 523 - 4 0 . 20 1 8 . 8 . 26 . 0 0 53 , 9 th T ax C ourt, which resulted from the cooperation 
between representatives of the company C amargo C orrea, before the State P rosecution O ffice about 
the collusion between the companies participating in the bidding for the civil work s of L ine 5 – L ilac 
( C ompetition N o.  4 1 4 28 21 2) .  T he amount in controversy is R $  3 3 6 ,9 1 6 .  ( An order to freez e the assets 
of the lawsuit defendants was rendered) .  T he C ompany and G overnment of the State of Sã o P aulo 
have not been summoned for this action.  

 
Senior management reiterates on an ongoing basis with its employees, customers and suppliers its 
commitment to continuous improvement in its internal control and compliance programs and has been 
tak ing internal measures to reinforce actions that are able to mitigate acts of misconduct in office or 
contrary to the rules of governance established by the C ompany.   
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iv)  U nified T ick et ( Bilhete Ú nico )  -  BU  tick eting system:  
 

T he C ompany, as a party in the U nified T ick et System Agreement -  BU , managed by SP T rans, is an 
integral part of the T ransfer Management C ommittee -  C G I .  

 
T he T ransfer Management C ommittee consists of 4  ( four)  representatives of SP T rans, 1  ( one)  
representative of each party, namely:  Metrô , C P T M, V em ABC , V iaQ uatro, Move Sã o P aulo, 
V iaMobilidade, in addition to 2 ( two)  representatives of the Municipal Mobility and T ransportation O ffice -  
SMT  and lastly 1  ( one)  representative of the Metropolitan T ransportation O ffice -  ST M.  

 
T he T ransfer Management C ommittee -  C G I  decided to carry out an independent financial audit and, as 
a party to the agreement, C ompanhia do Metrô  engaged the auditing service on behalf of C G I .  C G I  is 
responsible for supervising and monitoring the progress of the financial audit.  

 
C ompanhia do Metrô , independently of C G I , notified SP T rans extra j udicially about possible 
misappropriation of amounts in the revenue of the BU  system.  C ompanhia do Metrô  will evaluate the 
adoption of legal measures after the result of the agreed audit.  

 
2 Presentation of financial statements 

2. 1 Statement of compliance, basis for preparation and presentation 
 

T he financial statements have been prepared and are presented in accordance with the I nternational 
F inancial R eporting Standards -  I F R S issued by the I nternational Accounting Standards Board -  I ASB and 
in accordance with the accounting practices adopted in Braz il, including the pronouncements issued by 
the Accounting P ronouncements C ommittee -  C P C , and approved by the F ederal Accounting C ouncil -  
C F C , and evidence all the relevant information specific to the financial statements, and only them, which 
correspond to those used by the Company’s Management in its duties. 

 
The issuance of these financial statements was approved by the Company’s Board of Directors on 
March 1 9 , 20 20 .  

 
T he C ompany reiterates that all the relevant facts in the financial statements, and only them, which 
correspond to those used by the Company’s Management in its duties are being duly evidenced. 

 
The Company’s financial statements were prepared based on the Brazilian R eal (“R$”) as the 
functional and presentation currency and are expressed in thousands of Braz ilian R eais, as well as 
the disclosures of amounts in other currencies, where necessary, were also expressed in thousands.  
I tems disclosed in other currencies are duly identified, where applicable.  

 
The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires Management to make judgments, 
use estimates and adopt assumptions that affect the amounts presented for revenues, expenses, 
assets and liabilities.  H owever, the uncertainty related to these j udgments, assumptions and 
estimates could lead to results req uiring a significant adj ustment to the book  value of certain assets 
and liabilities in the following years.  T he C ompany reviews its j udgments, estimates and 
assumptions on an ongoing basis.  

 
T he financial statements were prepared based on historical cost, with the exception of the following 
material items recogniz ed in the balance sheets:  
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ii)  C ontractors C artel –  O peration C ar W ash:  
 

I n 20 1 7 , C AD E  instituted an administrative proceeding to investigate the formation of a cartel by 
contractors who work ed in public procurement, including rapid transit work s in seven states ( Sã o P aulo, 
R io de J aneiro, C eará , Minas G erais, P araná  and R io G rande do Sul)  and in the F ederal D istrict.  T he 
investigation is pending before the G eneral O ffice of the agency and it is based on information obtained 
through a leniency agreement entered into with that C ommittee by the construction company C amargo 
C orrê a and by the F ederal P rosecution O ffice –  MP F , subj ect matter of developments of the 23 rd phase 
of C ar W ash O peration.  

 
T he alleged scheme involved five main companies ( “ G - 5” ) :  C onstruç õ es e C omé rcio C amargo C orrea 
S. A. ;  C onstrutora Andrade G utierrez  S. A. ;  C onstrutora N orberto O debrecht S. A. ;  C onstrutora O AS S. A. ;  
C onstrutora Q ueiroz  G alvã o S. A with authoriz ation to operate the “ Shield”  tunnel boring machine, 
commonly k nown in Braz il as “ T atuzã o” , used for construction proj ects for rapid transit tunnels, between 
1 9 9 8  and 20 1 4 .  Such companies allegedly colluded to win bidding processes, avoiding discounts on 
procurement and circumventing competitiveness, with alleged involvement of government agents.  T he 
report of the signatories to the L eniency Agreement indicates the execution of agreements to restrict 
competition for the work s on Metro lines 2 –  G reen ( C ompetition N o.  4 0 20 8 21 2)  and 5 –  L ilac 
( C ompetition N o.  4 1 4 28 21 2) .  

 
T here is a public- interest civil action filed by the State P rosecution’ s O ffice in 20 1 1 , which was held valid 
by the trial court and supported by the Sã o P aulo C ourt of Appeals.  T he companies may still appeal.  
T he adverse j udgment imposed on the contractors, which is not yet final and unappealable, was 1 7 %  of 
the amount of each contract.  

 
T he C ompany ultimately points out that for both cases it is being officially recogniz ed in the lawsuits as 
the aggrieved party.  I n view of the current of the action, considering that there are still no concrete facts 
about the final decision in q uestion, the C ompany did not record any possible losses in its stock holders’  
eq uity for the year ended D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 .  

 
iii)  I mpacts arising from turning state’ s evidence –  O peration C ar W ash 

 
D uring the third q uarter of 20 1 9 , the C ompany became aware that former director Sé rgio C orreia Brasil 
accepted a plea bargain offered by the F ederal C ourt in O peration C ar W ash to confirm the receipt of bribes 
during the bidding periods and construction of lines 2 –  G reen, 5 –  L ilac and 6  –  O range.  According to the 
state’ s evidence, the cases involving the payment of bribes occurred between 20 0 4  and 20 1 4 .  Although 
Sé rgio C orreia Brasil negotiated the payment of approximately R $  6 . 6  million as reimbursement to public 
treasury, due to the fact that the action is closed to the public, the C ompany does not yet have material 
elements that can be used as a basis for any assessment of the impacts arising from any losses to be 
recorded in the F inancial Statements for the year ended D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 .  

 
T here is an action against misconduct in public office filed by the P rosecution O ffice of the State of Sã o 
P aulo, against Sergio C orrea Brasil, G ilmar Alves T avares and AV BS C onsultoria e R epresentaç ã o –  
E ireli, case N o.  1 0 3 7 523 - 4 0 . 20 1 8 . 8 . 26 . 0 0 53 , 9 th T ax C ourt, which resulted from the cooperation 
between representatives of the company C amargo C orrea, before the State P rosecution O ffice about 
the collusion between the companies participating in the bidding for the civil work s of L ine 5 –  L ilac 
( C ompetition N o.  4 1 4 28 21 2) .  T he amount in controversy is R $  3 3 6 ,9 1 6 .  ( An order to freez e the assets 
of the lawsuit defendants was rendered) .  T he C ompany and G overnment of the State of Sã o P aulo 
have not been summoned for this action.  

 
Senior management reiterates on an ongoing basis with its employees, customers and suppliers its 
commitment to continuous improvement in its internal control and compliance programs and has been 
tak ing internal measures to reinforce actions that are able to mitigate acts of misconduct in office or 
contrary to the rules of governance established by the C ompany.   
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iv)  U nified T ick et ( Bilhete Ú nico )  -  BU  tick eting system:  
 

T he C ompany, as a party in the U nified T ick et System Agreement -  BU , managed by SP T rans, is an 
integral part of the T ransfer Management C ommittee -  C G I .  

 
T he T ransfer Management C ommittee consists of 4  ( four)  representatives of SP T rans, 1  ( one)  
representative of each party, namely:  Metrô , C P T M, V em ABC , V iaQ uatro, Move Sã o P aulo, 
V iaMobilidade, in addition to 2 ( two)  representatives of the Municipal Mobility and T ransportation O ffice -  
SMT  and lastly 1  ( one)  representative of the Metropolitan T ransportation O ffice -  ST M.  

 
T he T ransfer Management C ommittee -  C G I  decided to carry out an independent financial audit and, as 
a party to the agreement, C ompanhia do Metrô  engaged the auditing service on behalf of C G I .  C G I  is 
responsible for supervising and monitoring the progress of the financial audit.  

 
C ompanhia do Metrô , independently of C G I , notified SP T rans extra j udicially about possible 
misappropriation of amounts in the revenue of the BU  system.  C ompanhia do Metrô  will evaluate the 
adoption of legal measures after the result of the agreed audit.  

 
2 Presentation of financial statements 

2. 1 Management́ statement, basis for preparing and presenting the financial statements 
 

T he financial statements have been prepared and are presented in accordance with the I nternational 
F inancial R eporting Standards -  I F R S issued by the I nternational Accounting Standards Board -  I ASB and 
in accordance with the accounting practices adopted in Braz il, including the pronouncements issued by 
the Accounting P ronouncements C ommittee -  C P C , and approved by the F ederal Accounting C ouncil -  
C F C , and evidence all the relevant information specific to the financial statements, and only them, which 
correspond to those used by the C ompany’ s Management in its duties.  

 
T he issuance of these financial statements was approved by the C ompany’ s Board of D irectors on 
March 1 9 , 20 20 .  

 
T he C ompany reiterates that all the relevant facts in the financial statements, and only them, which 
correspond to those used by the C ompany’ s Management in its duties are being duly evidenced.  

 
T he C ompany’ s financial statements were prepared based on the Braz ilian R eal ( “ R $ ” )  as the 
functional and presentation currency and are expressed in thousands of Braz ilian R eais, as well as 
the disclosures of amounts in other currencies, where necessary, were also expressed in thousands.  
I tems disclosed in other currencies are duly identified, where applicable.  

 
T he preparation of the C ompany’ s financial statements req uires Management to mak e j udgments, 
use estimates and adopt assumptions that affect the amounts presented for revenues, expenses, 
assets and liabilities.  H owever, the uncertainty related to these j udgments, assumptions and 
estimates could lead to results req uiring a significant adj ustment to the book  value of certain assets 
and liabilities in the following years.  T he C ompany reviews its j udgments, estimates and 
assumptions on an ongoing basis.  

 
T he financial statements were prepared based on historical cost, with the exception of the following 
material items recogniz ed in the balance sheets:  
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• F inancial investments classified as cash eq uivalents measured at fair value;  

• Bonds and securities measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.  

T he value- added statement – V AS presents information related to the wealth created by the 
C ompany and how such wealth was distributed.  T his statement was prepared in accordance with 
C P C  0 9  – V alue- added Statement, approved by C V M R esolution 557 / 20 0 8 .  I F R S do not req uire the 
presentation of the value- added statement, therefore, it is considered as additional information.  

 
2. 2 Reclassifications and restatement of comparative balances 

 
Some amounts related to the years ended D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 8  have been reclassified for better 
comparability with the current year, and are indicated in the “Reclassifications” column of the tables 
below.  

 
Although the totality of the adj ustments was recorded in the comparative period of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 8 , 
the C ompany found that the total net amount of R $  1 ,1 7 7  corresponds to the effects of periods prior to 
J anuary 1 , 20 1 8 .  H owever, based on the understanding of the relevance of such amounts, Management 
considers that the total amount does not present significant misstatements in the comparative balances 
presented and, therefore, did not record such amount indicated as an opening balance adj ustment on 
January 1, 2018 in its statement of changes in stockholders’ equity. 

 
T he balances of certain asset and liability accounts have been adj usted, with a conseq uence in the 
income of the period previously presented in the amount of R $  1 52,8 9 4 , and are presented in the 
“Balance Adjustment” column of the table below. 

 
T he tables of the 20 1 8  F inancial Statement are restated as follows, evidencing the balances previously 
presented, the adj ustments and reclassifications carried out.  
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a) Balance Sheet  

Assets (Restated) 
 Previously 

presented 
12/31/2018 Reclassifications Balance 

adjustment 
Restated balances 

12/31/2018  
 

 

Current 
     

C ash and cash eq uivalents  8 1 4 ,6 9 7  -  -  8 1 4 ,6 9 7  
Bonds and securities ( a)   -  8 ,1 51  -  8 ,1 51  
Accounts receivable ( b)   1 9 6 ,3 23  -  8 ,0 8 3  20 4 ,4 0 6  
I nventories  23 1 ,1 8 0  -  -  23 1 ,1 8 0  
T axes recoverable  3 9 ,4 7 6  -  -  3 9 ,4 7 6  
P repaid expenses ( c)   2,9 3 9  ( 2,9 3 9 )  -  -  
Advance to suppliers ( c)   3 2,1 4 5 ( 3 2,1 4 5)  -  -  
O ther assets ( c)   -  3 5,0 8 4  -  3 5,0 8 4  

  1,316,760 8,151 8,083 1,332,994 

 
Non-current      

Accounts receivable  7 0 0  -  -  7 0 0  
D eposits in court ( d)   50 6 ,4 1 4  -  ( 221 ,4 4 1 )  28 4 ,9 7 3  
D eferred income tax and social contribution  3 5,23 5 -  -  3 5,23 5 
I nvestments ( a)   1 4 ,1 3 8  ( 8 ,1 51 )  -  5,9 8 7  
P roperty, plant and eq uipment ( e)   3 3 ,4 4 2,4 0 5 -  ( 3 56 ,7 9 5)  3 3 ,0 8 5,6 1 0  
I ntangible assets  7 2,29 8  -  -  7 2,29 8  

  34,071,190 (8,151) (578,236) 33,484,803 

Total assets  35,387,950 - (570,153) 34,817,797 

 
( a)  Reclassification: the amount of R $  8 ,1 51  presented as investment in non- current assets was reclassified to the 

item Bonds and Securities in current assets.  
( b)  Balance Adjustment: the amount of R $  8 ,0 8 3  refers to the balance receivable from credits held by the user 

and was adj usted against the D eferred R evenue from C ustomers liability.  
( c)  Reclassification: the balances of R $  2,9 3 9  of prepaid expenses and R $  3 2,1 4 5 of advances to suppliers are 

now included in the balance of other assets, in current assets.  
( d)  Balance Adjustment: the amount of R $  ( 221 ,4 4 1 )  refers to the balance adj ustment in respect of reconciliation 

of deposit in court in the amount of R $  ( 54 ,4 6 9 ) , recogniz ed in the income in O ther operating revenues 
( expenses) , net and the amount of R $  ( 1 6 6 ,9 7 2)  refers to the use of deposits in court related to the obligation 
presented in payroll and related costs.  

( e)  Balance Adjustment: T he amount of R $  ( 3 56 ,7 9 5)  adj usted in the balance of property, plant and eq uipment 
refers to:  ( i)  retroactive depreciation in the amount of R $  ( 1 9 0 ,29 7 ) , recogniz ed in the I ncome Statement 
restated in costs of services, write- off of the reconciliation process and revision of balance in the amount of R $  
( 1 6 6 ,4 9 8 ) , recogniz ed as administrative expenses in the restated I ncome Statement.  
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L iabilities ( R estated)  
 

P reviously 
presented 
1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  

R eclassifications Balance adj ustment R estated balances 
1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  

      

C urrent      

Suppliers ( a)   54 5,56 7  ( 8 ,6 6 6 )  ( 1 24 ,6 6 0 )  4 1 2,24 1  
T axes and contributions payable ( b)   6 3 ,3 23  4 ,8 53  2,0 7 8  7 0 ,254  
P ayroll and related costs ( c)   57 4 ,7 8 6  4 5,7 1 4  ( 1 9 8 ,8 7 2)  4 21 ,6 28  
Allowance for V oluntary E mployment T ermination P lan -  P D V  ( c)   4 1 ,9 0 1  ( 4 1 ,9 0 1 )  -  -  
D eferred revenue from customers ( d)   4 6 0 ,57 1  -  ( 9 5,8 0 5)  3 6 4 ,7 6 6  
R elated parties ( e)   -  3 4 ,6 7 1  -  3 4 ,6 7 1  
O ther accounts payable and accrued expenses ( e)   3 6 ,7 27  ( 3 4 ,6 7 1 )  -  2,0 56  

  1 ,7 22,8 7 5 -  ( 4 1 7 ,259 )  1 ,3 0 5,6 1 6  
 

Non-current     

T axes and contributions payable ( f)  20 ,6 4 9  ( 3 ,1 3 3 )  -  1 7 ,51 6  
P ayroll and related costs ( g)  -  6 2,8 0 7  -  6 2,8 0 7  
D eferred revenue from customers 1 1 2,1 8 3  -  -  1 1 2,1 8 3  
Supplementary retirement plan 21 6 ,4 1 3  -  -  21 6 ,4 1 3  
Allowance for litigation 7 27 ,1 1 2 -  -  7 27 ,1 1 2 
R elated parties ( h)  -  23 4 ,4 1 1  -  23 4 ,4 1 1  
Allowance for V oluntary E mployment T ermination P lan -  P D V  ( g)  6 2,8 0 7  ( 6 2,8 0 7 )  -  -  
O ther accounts payable and accrued expenses ( h)  23 4 ,4 1 1  ( 23 1 ,27 8 )  -  3 ,1 3 3  

 1 ,3 7 3 ,57 5 -  -  1 ,3 7 3 ,57 5 
     

Stockholders’ equity     

C apital 3 8 ,51 6 ,4 9 5 -  -  3 8 ,51 6 ,4 9 5 
T reasury stock  ( 1 6 )  -  -  ( 1 6 )  
Asset valuation adj ustment ( 6 8 ,3 9 7 )  -  -  ( 6 8 ,3 9 7 )  
R etained losses ( 6 ,1 56 ,58 2)  -  ( 1 52,8 9 4 )  ( 6 ,3 0 9 ,4 7 6 )  

 32,291,500 - (152,894) 32,138,606 
     

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity 35,387,950 - (570,153) 34,817,797 
 ( a)  Reclassification: the amount of R $  4 ,8 53  and the amount of R $  3 ,8 1 3  presented as Suppliers were reclassified 

respectively to taxes and contributions payable and payroll and related costs, both in current liabilities.  
Balance Adjustment: the amount of R$ (124,660) refers to the reconciliation adjustment of Suppliers’ 
balances, and was recogniz ed in other expenses ( revenues) , net.  

( b)  Reclassification: the amount of R $  4 ,8 4 3  was reclassified from suppliers.  
Balance Adjustment: the amount of R $  2,0 7 8  refers to the recognition of Social Security C ontribution on G ross 
R evenue -  C P R B in the period referring to the adj ustment of the balance of F are R evenue.  

( c)  Reclassification: the amount of R $  4 1 ,9 0 1  presented as Allowance for V oluntary E mployment T ermination 
P lan -  P D V  was reclassified to the item P ayroll and related costs, in current liabilities, and the amount of R $  
3 ,8 1 3  reclassified from suppliers.  
Balance Adjustment: the amount of R $  ( 1 9 8 ,8 7 2)  refers to the net adj ustment to the P ayroll and related costs 
item, the amount of R $  ( 1 6 ,1 58 )  was recogniz ed in the income under O perating revenue ( expenses) , the 
amount of R $  ( 1 5,7 4 2)  refers to tax liability used in the T ax Authority System -  SAT  installment plan, and the 
amount of R $  ( 1 6 6 ,9 7 2)  refers to the use of deposits in court.  

( d)  Balance Adjustment: the amount of R $  ( 9 5,8 0 5) , refers to the recognition of fare revenue in the period in 
accordance with the passenger transport carried out in the period in the amount of R $  ( 1 0 3 ,8 8 8 ) , and R $  8 ,0 8 3  
referring to adj ustment of credit held by the passenger.  

( e)  Reclassification: the balance of R $  3 4 ,6 7 1  presented as O ther accounts payable and accrued expenses was 
reclassified to the item R elated parties, in current liabilities.  

( f)  Reclassification: the amount of R$ 3,133 presented as “Taxes and contributions payable” in non - current 
liabilities was reclassified to “Other accounts payable and accrued expenses” in the same group. 

( g)  Reclassification: the balance of R $  6 2,8 0 7  presented as Allowance for V oluntary E mployment T ermination 
P lan – P D V  in non- current liabilities was reclassified to the item P ayroll and related costs in the same group.  

( h)  Reclassification: the balance of R $  23 4 ,4 1 1  presented as O ther accounts payable and accrued expenses in 
non- current liabilities was reclassified to the item R elated parties in the same group.   
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Notes to the financial statements  
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018  
(In thousands of Brazilian reais, except as otherwise stated) 

 

 

b) Income Statement 
  

I ncome Statement ( R estated)   
P reviously 
presented 

1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  
Balance 

adj ustment 
R estated balances 

1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  

 
Net operating revenue 2,6 1 8 ,59 1  1 0 1 ,8 1 0  2,7 20 ,4 0 1  
C ost of services ( 2,21 8 ,8 4 5)  ( 1 9 0 ,29 7 )  ( 2,4 0 9 ,1 4 2)  

Gross profit 399,746 (88,487) 311,259 

 
Operating revenues (expenses)    

Selling expenses ( 1 6 ,3 50 )  -  ( 1 6 ,3 50 )  
G eneral and administrative expenses ( 8 52,4 57 )  29 ,4 1 2 ( 8 23 ,0 4 5)  
O ther operating revenues ( expenses) , net ( 6 2,0 9 6 )  ( 1 0 9 ,56 2)  ( 1 7 1 ,6 58 )  

 (930,903) (80,149) (1,011,052) 

Operating loss before financial result (531,157) (168,636) (699,793) 

 
Financial result, net    

F inancial revenues 4 2,9 21  -  4 2,9 21  
F inancial expenses ( 29 ,3 50 )  -  ( 29 ,3 50 )  
Adj ustments for inflation and exchange rate changes, net 2,58 3  -  2,58 3  

 16,154 - 16,154 

 
Loss before income tax and social contribution (515,003) (168,636) (683,639) 

   
    
Income tax and social contribution    

C urrent ( 4 ,1 8 2)  -  ( 4 ,1 8 2)  
D eferred -  1 5,7 4 3  1 5,7 4 3  

Net loss for the year (519,184) (152,894) (672,078) 

 
c) Comprehensive Income Statement 

 
 

 

Previously presented 
12/31/2018 Balance 

adjustment 
Restated 
balances 

12/31/2018 
    

Loss for the year ( 51 9 ,1 8 4 )  ( 1 52,8 9 4 )  ( 6 7 2,0 7 8 )  
    

F air value on bonds and securities ( 3 ,23 6 )  -  ( 3 ,23 6 )  
Actuarial gains 6 3 ,1 7 5 -  6 3 ,1 7 5 
D eferred income tax and social contribution ( 20 ,3 7 9 )  -  ( 20 ,3 7 9 )  

    
Total comprehensive income (479,624) (152,894) (632,518) 
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L iabilities ( R estated)  
 

P reviously 
presented 
1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  

R eclassifications Balance adj ustment R estated balances 
1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  

      

C urrent      

Suppliers ( a)   54 5,56 7  ( 8 ,6 6 6 )  ( 1 24 ,6 6 0 )  4 1 2,24 1  
T axes and contributions payable ( b)   6 3 ,3 23  4 ,8 53  2,0 7 8  7 0 ,254  
P ayroll and related costs ( c)   57 4 ,7 8 6  4 5,7 1 4  ( 1 9 8 ,8 7 2)  4 21 ,6 28  
Allowance for V oluntary E mployment T ermination P lan -  P D V  ( c)   4 1 ,9 0 1  ( 4 1 ,9 0 1 )  -  -  
D eferred revenue from customers ( d)   4 6 0 ,57 1  -  ( 9 5,8 0 5)  3 6 4 ,7 6 6  
R elated parties ( e)   -  3 4 ,6 7 1  -  3 4 ,6 7 1  
O ther accounts payable and accrued expenses ( e)   3 6 ,7 27  ( 3 4 ,6 7 1 )  -  2,0 56  

  1 ,7 22,8 7 5 -  ( 4 1 7 ,259 )  1 ,3 0 5,6 1 6  
 

Non-current     

T axes and contributions payable ( f)  20 ,6 4 9  ( 3 ,1 3 3 )  -  1 7 ,51 6  
P ayroll and related costs ( g)  -  6 2,8 0 7  -  6 2,8 0 7  
D eferred revenue from customers 1 1 2,1 8 3  -  -  1 1 2,1 8 3  
Supplementary retirement plan 21 6 ,4 1 3  -  -  21 6 ,4 1 3  
Allowance for litigation 7 27 ,1 1 2 -  -  7 27 ,1 1 2 
R elated parties ( h)  -  23 4 ,4 1 1  -  23 4 ,4 1 1  
Allowance for V oluntary E mployment T ermination P lan -  P D V  ( g)  6 2,8 0 7  ( 6 2,8 0 7 )  -  -  
O ther accounts payable and accrued expenses ( h)  23 4 ,4 1 1  ( 23 1 ,27 8 )  -  3 ,1 3 3  

 1 ,3 7 3 ,57 5 -  -  1 ,3 7 3 ,57 5 
     

Stockholders’ equity     

C apital 3 8 ,51 6 ,4 9 5 -  -  3 8 ,51 6 ,4 9 5 
T reasury stock  ( 1 6 )  -  -  ( 1 6 )  
Asset valuation adj ustment ( 6 8 ,3 9 7 )  -  -  ( 6 8 ,3 9 7 )  
R etained losses ( 6 ,1 56 ,58 2)  -  ( 1 52,8 9 4 )  ( 6 ,3 0 9 ,4 7 6 )  

 32,291,500 - (152,894) 32,138,606 
     

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity 35,387,950 - (570,153) 34,817,797 
 ( a)  Reclassification: the amount of R $  4 ,8 53  and the amount of R $  3 ,8 1 3  presented as Suppliers were reclassified 

respectively to taxes and contributions payable and payroll and related costs, both in current liabilities.  
Balance Adjustment: the amount of R $  ( 1 24 ,6 6 0 )  refers to the reconciliation adj ustment of Suppliers’  
balances, and was recogniz ed in other expenses ( revenues) , net.  

( b)  Reclassification: the amount of R $  4 ,8 4 3  was reclassified from suppliers.  
Balance Adjustment: the amount of R $  2,0 7 8  refers to the recognition of Social Security C ontribution on G ross 
R evenue -  C P R B in the period referring to the adj ustment of the balance of F are R evenue.  

( c)  Reclassification: the amount of R $  4 1 ,9 0 1  presented as Allowance for V oluntary E mployment T ermination 
P lan -  P D V  was reclassified to the item P ayroll and related costs, in current liabilities, and the amount of R $  
3 ,8 1 3  reclassified from suppliers.  
Balance Adjustment: the amount of R $  ( 1 9 8 ,8 7 2)  refers to the net adj ustment to the P ayroll and related costs 
item, the amount of R $  ( 1 6 ,1 58 )  was recogniz ed in the income under O perating revenue ( expenses) , the 
amount of R $  ( 1 5,7 4 2)  refers to tax liability used in the T ax Authority System -  SAT  installment plan, and the 
amount of R $  ( 1 6 6 ,9 7 2)  refers to the use of deposits in court.  

( d)  Balance Adjustment: the amount of R $  ( 9 5,8 0 5) , refers to the recognition of fare revenue in the period in 
accordance with the passenger transport carried out in the period in the amount of R $  ( 1 0 3 ,8 8 8 ) , and R $  8 ,0 8 3  
referring to adj ustment of credit held by the passenger.  

( e)  Reclassification: the balance of R $  3 4 ,6 7 1  presented as O ther accounts payable and accrued expenses was 
reclassified to the item R elated parties, in current liabilities.  

( f)  Reclassification: the amount of R $  3 ,1 3 3  presented as “ T axes and contributions payable”  in non - current 
liabilities was reclassified to “ O ther accounts payable and accrued expenses”  in the same group.  

( g)  Reclassification: the balance of R $  6 2,8 0 7  presented as Allowance for V oluntary E mployment T ermination 
P lan –  P D V  in non- current liabilities was reclassified to the item P ayroll and related costs in the same group.  

( h)  Reclassification: the balance of R $  23 4 ,4 1 1  presented as O ther accounts payable and accrued expenses in 
non- current liabilities was reclassified to the item R elated parties in the same group.   
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b) Statements Operations 
  

Statements O perations ( R estated)  
P reviously 
presented 

1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  
Balance 

adj ustment 
R estated balances 

1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  

 
Net operating revenue 2,6 1 8 ,59 1  1 0 1 ,8 1 0  2,7 20 ,4 0 1  
C ost of services ( 2,21 8 ,8 4 5)  ( 1 9 0 ,29 7 )  ( 2,4 0 9 ,1 4 2)  

Gross profit 399,746 (88,487) 311,259 

 
Operating revenues (expenses)    

Selling expenses ( 1 6 ,3 50 )  -  ( 1 6 ,3 50 )  
G eneral and administrative expenses ( 8 52,4 57 )  29 ,4 1 2 ( 8 23 ,0 4 5)  
O ther operating revenues ( expenses) , net ( 6 2,0 9 6 )  ( 1 0 9 ,56 2)  ( 1 7 1 ,6 58 )  

 (930,903) (80,149) (1,011,052) 

Operating loss before financial result (531,157) (168,636) (699,793) 

 
Financial result, net    

F inancial revenues 4 2,9 21  -  4 2,9 21  
F inancial expenses ( 29 ,3 50 )  -  ( 29 ,3 50 )  
Adj ustments for inflation and exchange rate changes, net 2,58 3  -  2,58 3  

 16,154 - 16,154 

 
Loss before income tax and social contribution (515,003) (168,636) (683,639) 

   
    
Income tax and social contribution    

C urrent ( 4 ,1 8 2)  -  ( 4 ,1 8 2)  
D eferred -  1 5,7 4 3  1 5,7 4 3  

Net loss for the year (519,184) (152,894) (672,078) 

 
c) Statements of comprehensive income 

 
 

 

Previously presented 
12/31/2018 Balance 

adjustment 
Restated 
balances 

12/31/2018 
    

Loss for the year ( 51 9 ,1 8 4 )  ( 1 52,8 9 4 )  ( 6 7 2,0 7 8 )  
    

F air value on bonds and securities ( 3 ,23 6 )  -  ( 3 ,23 6 )  
Actuarial gains 6 3 ,1 7 5 -  6 3 ,1 7 5 
D eferred income tax and social contribution ( 20 ,3 7 9 )  -  ( 20 ,3 7 9 )  

    
Total comprehensive income (479,624) (152,894) (632,518) 
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Notes to the financial statements  
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018  
(In thousands of Brazilian reais, except as otherwise stated) 

 

 

  
 

L iabilities ( R estated)  
 

P reviously 
presented 
1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  

R eclassifications Balance adj ustment R estated balances 
1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  

      

C urrent      

Suppliers ( a)   54 5,56 7  ( 8 ,6 6 6 )  ( 1 24 ,6 6 0 )  4 1 2,24 1  
T axes and contributions payable ( b)   6 3 ,3 23  4 ,8 53  2,0 7 8  7 0 ,254  
P ayroll and related costs ( c)   57 4 ,7 8 6  4 5,7 1 4  ( 1 9 8 ,8 7 2)  4 21 ,6 28  
Allowance for V oluntary E mployment T ermination P lan -  P D V  ( c)   4 1 ,9 0 1  ( 4 1 ,9 0 1 )  -  -  
D eferred revenue from customers ( d)   4 6 0 ,57 1  -  ( 9 5,8 0 5)  3 6 4 ,7 6 6  
R elated parties ( e)   -  3 4 ,6 7 1  -  3 4 ,6 7 1  
O ther accounts payable and accrued expenses ( e)   3 6 ,7 27  ( 3 4 ,6 7 1 )  -  2,0 56  

  1 ,7 22,8 7 5 -  ( 4 1 7 ,259 )  1 ,3 0 5,6 1 6  
 

Non-current     

T axes and contributions payable ( f)  20 ,6 4 9  ( 3 ,1 3 3 )  -  1 7 ,51 6  
P ayroll and related costs ( g)  -  6 2,8 0 7  -  6 2,8 0 7  
D eferred revenue from customers 1 1 2,1 8 3  -  -  1 1 2,1 8 3  
Supplementary retirement plan 21 6 ,4 1 3  -  -  21 6 ,4 1 3  
Allowance for litigation 7 27 ,1 1 2 -  -  7 27 ,1 1 2 
R elated parties ( h)  -  23 4 ,4 1 1  -  23 4 ,4 1 1  
Allowance for V oluntary E mployment T ermination P lan -  P D V  ( g)  6 2,8 0 7  ( 6 2,8 0 7 )  -  -  
O ther accounts payable and accrued expenses ( h)  23 4 ,4 1 1  ( 23 1 ,27 8 )  -  3 ,1 3 3  

 1 ,3 7 3 ,57 5 -  -  1 ,3 7 3 ,57 5 
     

Stockholders’ equity     

C apital 3 8 ,51 6 ,4 9 5 -  -  3 8 ,51 6 ,4 9 5 
T reasury stock  ( 1 6 )  -  -  ( 1 6 )  
Asset valuation adj ustment ( 6 8 ,3 9 7 )  -  -  ( 6 8 ,3 9 7 )  
R etained losses ( 6 ,1 56 ,58 2)  -  ( 1 52,8 9 4 )  ( 6 ,3 0 9 ,4 7 6 )  

 32,291,500 - (152,894) 32,138,606 
     

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity 35,387,950 - (570,153) 34,817,797 
 ( a)  Reclassification: the amount of R $  4 ,8 53  and the amount of R $  3 ,8 1 3  presented as Suppliers were reclassified 

respectively to taxes and contributions payable and payroll and related costs, both in current liabilities.  
Balance Adjustment: the amount of R $  ( 1 24 ,6 6 0 )  refers to the reconciliation adj ustment of Suppliers’  
balances, and was recogniz ed in other expenses ( revenues) , net.  

( b)  Reclassification: the amount of R $  4 ,8 4 3  was reclassified from suppliers.  
Balance Adjustment: the amount of R $  2,0 7 8  refers to the recognition of Social Security C ontribution on G ross 
R evenue -  C P R B in the period referring to the adj ustment of the balance of F are R evenue.  

( c)  Reclassification: the amount of R $  4 1 ,9 0 1  presented as Allowance for V oluntary E mployment T ermination 
P lan -  P D V  was reclassified to the item P ayroll and related costs, in current liabilities, and the amount of R $  
3 ,8 1 3  reclassified from suppliers.  
Balance Adjustment: the amount of R $  ( 1 9 8 ,8 7 2)  refers to the net adj ustment to the P ayroll and related costs 
item, the amount of R $  ( 1 6 ,1 58 )  was recogniz ed in the income under O perating revenue ( expenses) , the 
amount of R $  ( 1 5,7 4 2)  refers to tax liability used in the T ax Authority System -  SAT  installment plan, and the 
amount of R $  ( 1 6 6 ,9 7 2)  refers to the use of deposits in court.  

( d)  Balance Adjustment: the amount of R $  ( 9 5,8 0 5) , refers to the recognition of fare revenue in the period in 
accordance with the passenger transport carried out in the period in the amount of R $  ( 1 0 3 ,8 8 8 ) , and R $  8 ,0 8 3  
referring to adj ustment of credit held by the passenger.  

( e)  Reclassification: the balance of R $  3 4 ,6 7 1  presented as O ther accounts payable and accrued expenses was 
reclassified to the item R elated parties, in current liabilities.  

( f)  Reclassification: the amount of R $  3 ,1 3 3  presented as “ T axes and contributions payable”  in non - current 
liabilities was reclassified to “ O ther accounts payable and accrued expenses”  in the same group.  

( g)  Reclassification: the balance of R $  6 2,8 0 7  presented as Allowance for V oluntary E mployment T ermination 
P lan –  P D V  in non- current liabilities was reclassified to the item P ayroll and related costs in the same group.  

( h)  Reclassification: the balance of R $  23 4 ,4 1 1  presented as O ther accounts payable and accrued expenses in 
non- current liabilities was reclassified to the item R elated parties in the same group.   
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Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metro 
Notes to the financial statements  
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018  
(In thousands of Brazilian reais, except as otherwise stated) 

 

 

b) Statements Operations 
  

Statements O perations ( R estated)  
P reviously 
presented 

1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  
Balance 

adj ustment 
R estated balances 

1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  

 
Net operating revenue 2,6 1 8 ,59 1  1 0 1 ,8 1 0  2,7 20 ,4 0 1  
C ost of services ( 2,21 8 ,8 4 5)  ( 1 9 0 ,29 7 )  ( 2,4 0 9 ,1 4 2)  

Gross profit 399,746 (88,487) 311,259 

 
Operating revenues (expenses)    

Selling expenses ( 1 6 ,3 50 )  -  ( 1 6 ,3 50 )  
G eneral and administrative expenses ( 8 52,4 57 )  29 ,4 1 2 ( 8 23 ,0 4 5)  
O ther operating revenues ( expenses) , net ( 6 2,0 9 6 )  ( 1 0 9 ,56 2)  ( 1 7 1 ,6 58 )  

 (930,903) (80,149) (1,011,052) 

Operating loss before financial result (531,157) (168,636) (699,793) 

 
Financial result, net    

F inancial revenues 4 2,9 21  -  4 2,9 21  
F inancial expenses ( 29 ,3 50 )  -  ( 29 ,3 50 )  
Adj ustments for inflation and exchange rate changes, net 2,58 3  -  2,58 3  

 16,154 - 16,154 

 
Loss before income tax and social contribution (515,003) (168,636) (683,639) 

   
    
Income tax and social contribution    

C urrent ( 4 ,1 8 2)  -  ( 4 ,1 8 2)  
D eferred -  1 5,7 4 3  1 5,7 4 3  

Net loss for the year (519,184) (152,894) (672,078) 

 
c) Statements of comprehensive income 

 
 

 

Previously presented 
12/31/2018 Balance 

adjustment 
Restated 
balances 

12/31/2018 
    

Loss for the year ( 51 9 ,1 8 4 )  ( 1 52,8 9 4 )  ( 6 7 2,0 7 8 )  
    

F air value on bonds and securities ( 3 ,23 6 )  -  ( 3 ,23 6 )  
Actuarial gains 6 3 ,1 7 5 -  6 3 ,1 7 5 
D eferred income tax and social contribution ( 20 ,3 7 9 )  -  ( 20 ,3 7 9 )  

    
Total comprehensive income (479,624) (152,894) (632,518) 
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d) Cash Flow  Statement 
  

C ash F low Statement ( R estated)   
P reviously 
presented 
1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  

Balance 
adj ustment R estated balances 

1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  

Cash flow s from operating activities 
 

Loss for the year ( 51 9 ,1 8 4 )  ( 1 52,8 9 4 )  ( 6 7 2,0 7 8 )  
 

Adjustments to reconcile loss for the year to net cash provided 
D epreciation and amortiz ation 3 8 6 ,28 5 1 9 0 ,29 7  57 6 ,58 2 
G ains on sale of investments ( 1 28 )  -  ( 1 28 )  
W rite- off of property, plant and eq uipment and intangible assets 1 54 ,9 0 9  20 7 ,0 7 0  3 6 1 ,9 7 9  
I nterest on actuarial liabilities 21 ,9 7 7  -  21 ,9 7 7  
Allowance /  ( reversal)  for j udicial and administrative litigation, net 8 1 ,1 9 9  -  8 1 ,1 9 9  
Allowance /  ( reversal)  for expected credit loss ( 1 4 ,0 0 2)  ( 4 0 ,57 2)  ( 54 ,57 4 )  
Allowance /  ( reversal)  for V oluntary E mployment T ermination P rogram, net ( 21 ,8 7 4 )  -  ( 21 ,8 7 4 )  
O ther taxes and contributions 8 1 3 ,6 9 0  2,0 7 8  8 1 5,7 6 7  
Adj ustments for inflation, net -  -  -  
O ther taxes and contributions payable ( 8 55,3 1 5)  -  ( 8 55,3 1 5)  
L iq uidation of lawsuits ( 1 26 ,7 3 5)  -  ( 1 26 ,7 3 5)  

Adjusted net income (79,179) 205,979 126,801 

 
Change in operating assets and liabilities    

T rade receivables 1 0 8 ,3 51  3 2,4 8 9  1 4 0 ,8 4 0  
I nventories ( 3 ,9 3 8 )  -  ( 3 ,9 3 8 )  
T axes recoverable 1 4 ,0 0 7  -  1 4 ,0 0 7  
D eposits in court ( 4 6 ,0 8 4 )  221 ,4 4 1  1 7 5,3 57  
P repaid expenses 1 ,8 6 7  -  1 ,8 6 7  
O ther current and non- current assets 25,27 9  -  25,27 9  
Suppliers ( 27 2,9 4 0 )  ( 1 24 ,6 6 0 )  ( 3 9 7 ,6 0 0 )  
P ayroll and related costs ( 24 ,4 1 8 )  ( 1 9 8 ,8 7 3 )  ( 223 ,29 1 )  
T axes and contributions payable -  -  -  
D eferred revenue from customers 1 27 ,4 56  ( 9 5,8 0 5)  3 1 ,6 51  
R elated parties -  -  -  
O ther accounts payable and accrued expenses ( 1 ,4 1 9 )  -  ( 1 ,4 1 9 )  
O ther current and non- current liabilities 23 2,4 9 3  -  23 2,4 9 3  

  -   
Net cash provided by operating activities 81,476 40,571 122,047 

 
Cash flow s from investing activities    

Acq uisition of assets ( 1 ,9 6 1 ,59 4 )  ( 4 0 ,57 1 )  ( 2,0 0 2,1 6 5)  
Acq uisition of intangible assets -  -  -  
Sale of assets 1 7 ,3 9 2 -  1 7 ,3 9 2 

Net cash used in investing activities (1,944,202) (40,571) (1,984,773) 

 
Cash flow s from financing activities    

P aid- in capital 2,0 55,4 29  -  2,0 55,4 29  
P ayment of loans and financing ( 7 ,50 0 )  -  ( 7 ,50 0 )  

Net cash provided by financing activities 2,047,929 - 2,047,929 

    Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 185,203 0 185,203 

 
C ash and cash eq uivalents at beginning of year 

 
6 29 ,4 9 4  

 
-  

 
6 29 ,4 9 4  

C ash and cash eq uivalents at end of year 8 1 4 ,6 9 7  -  8 1 4 ,6 9 7  

Statement of increase in cash and cash equivalents 185,203 - 185,203 
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e) V alue-added Statement 
 
 

 
V alue-added Statement (Restated) 

 Previously 
presented 
1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  

Balance 
adjustment 

Restated 
balances 

1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8    
Revenues 

R evenues from services and others 
  

2,7 4 8 ,3 0 1  
 

1 0 3 ,8 8 8  
 

2,8 52,1 8 9  
O ther revenues ( expenses) , net  ( 3 6 ,8 6 6 )  -  ( 3 6 ,8 6 6 )  
Allowance /  ( reversal)  for expected credit loss, net  1 4 ,0 0 2 4 0 ,57 2 54 ,57 4  

 
Inputs acquired from third-parties 

 2,725,437 144,460 2,869,897 

C ost of services  ( 4 1 3 ,8 1 0 )  ( 1 22,0 8 4 )  ( 53 5,8 9 4 )  
Materials, energy, third- party services and others  ( 3 6 2,7 7 0 )  1 2,522 ( 3 50 ,24 8 )  
Asset losses  ( 53 ,56 1 )  -  ( 53 ,56 1 )  

  (830,141) (109,562) (939,702) 

Gross added value  1 ,8 9 5,29 6  3 4 ,8 9 8  1 ,9 3 0 ,1 9 4  
D epreciation and amortiz ation  ( 3 8 6 ,28 5)  ( 1 9 0 ,29 7 )  ( 57 6 ,58 1 )  

Net added value created by the Company Added 
value received on transfer 

I nterest, profits and dividends on shares 

 1,509,012 
 

528  

(155,399) 
 

-  

1,353,613 
 

528  
F inancial revenues  4 7 ,6 4 2 -  4 7 ,6 4 2 

  48,170  48,170 

Total added value to distribute  1,557,182 (155,399) 1,401,783 
 
Staff 

P ayroll and related costs 

  
 

1 ,7 0 0 ,8 3 9  

 
 

-  

 
 

1 ,7 0 0 ,8 3 9  
Board and committee compensation  3 ,8 4 8  -  3 ,8 4 8  
P rofit- Sharing P lan  6 6 ,57 8  -  6 6 ,57 8  
P ension plan  6 8 ,56 4  -  6 8 ,56 4  

 
Taxes, fees and contributions 

 1,839,829 - 1,839,829 

F ederal 1 8 4 ,7 50  ( 2,50 6 )  1 8 2,24 4  
State 7 5 -  7 5 
Municipal 1 6 ,3 28  -  1 6 ,3 28  

 
Interest on third-party equity 

201,153 (2,506) 198,647 

F inancial expenses 7 ,4 0 2 -  7 ,4 0 2 
R ents 27 ,9 8 2 -  27 ,9 8 2 

 
Interest on stockholders’ equity 

35,384 - 35,384 

L oss for the year ( 51 9 ,1 8 4 )  ( 1 52,8 9 4 )  ( 6 7 2,0 7 8 )  

 (519,184) (152,894) (672,078) 
 

 

Total added value distributed 1,557,182 (155,399) 1,401,783 
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O ther taxes and contributions payable ( 8 55,3 1 5)  -  ( 8 55,3 1 5)  
L iq uidation of lawsuits ( 1 26 ,7 3 5)  -  ( 1 26 ,7 3 5)  

Adjusted net income (79,179) 205,979 126,801 

 
Change in operating assets and liabilities    
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I nventories ( 3 ,9 3 8 )  -  ( 3 ,9 3 8 )  
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6 29 ,4 9 4  
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Statement of increase in cash and cash equivalents 185,203 - 185,203 
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T axes recoverable 1 4 ,0 0 7  -  1 4 ,0 0 7  
D eposits in court ( 4 6 ,0 8 4 )  221 ,4 4 1  1 7 5,3 57  
P repaid expenses 1 ,8 6 7  -  1 ,8 6 7  
O ther current and non- current assets 25,27 9  -  25,27 9  
Suppliers ( 27 2,9 4 0 )  ( 1 24 ,6 6 0 )  ( 3 9 7 ,6 0 0 )  
P ayroll and related costs ( 24 ,4 1 8 )  ( 1 9 8 ,8 7 3 )  ( 223 ,29 1 )  
T axes and contributions payable -  -  -  
D eferred revenue from customers 1 27 ,4 56  ( 9 5,8 0 5)  3 1 ,6 51  
R elated parties -  -  -  
O ther accounts payable and accrued expenses ( 1 ,4 1 9 )  -  ( 1 ,4 1 9 )  
O ther current and non- current liabilities 23 2,4 9 3  -  23 2,4 9 3  

  -   
Net cash provided by operating activities 81,476 40,571 122,047 

 
Cash flow s from investing activities    

Acq uisition of assets ( 1 ,9 6 1 ,59 4 )  ( 4 0 ,57 1 )  ( 2,0 0 2,1 6 5)  
Acq uisition of intangible assets -  -  -  
Sale of assets 1 7 ,3 9 2 -  1 7 ,3 9 2 

Net cash used in investing activities (1,944,202) (40,571) (1,984,773) 

 
Cash flow s from financing activities    

P aid- in capital 2,0 55,4 29  -  2,0 55,4 29  
P ayment of loans and financing ( 7 ,50 0 )  -  ( 7 ,50 0 )  

Net cash provided by financing activities 2,047,929 - 2,047,929 

    Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 185,203 0 185,203 

 
C ash and cash eq uivalents at beginning of year 

 
6 29 ,4 9 4  

 
-  

 
6 29 ,4 9 4  

C ash and cash eq uivalents at end of year 8 1 4 ,6 9 7  -  8 1 4 ,6 9 7  

Statement of increase in cash and cash equivalents 185,203 - 185,203 
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e) Statements of added value 
 
 

 
Statements of Added V alue (Restated) 

 Previously 
presented 
1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  

Balance 
adjustment 

Restated 
balances 

1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8    
Revenues 

R evenues from services and others 
  

2,7 4 8 ,3 0 1  
 

1 0 3 ,8 8 8  
 

2,8 52,1 8 9  
O ther revenues ( expenses) , net  ( 3 6 ,8 6 6 )  -  ( 3 6 ,8 6 6 )  
Allowance /  ( reversal)  for expected credit loss, net  1 4 ,0 0 2 4 0 ,57 2 54 ,57 4  

 
Inputs acquired from third-parties 

 2,725,437 144,460 2,869,897 

C ost of services  ( 4 1 3 ,8 1 0 )  ( 1 22,0 8 4 )  ( 53 5,8 9 4 )  
Materials, energy, third- party services and others  ( 3 6 2,7 7 0 )  1 2,522 ( 3 50 ,24 8 )  
Asset losses  ( 53 ,56 1 )  -  ( 53 ,56 1 )  

  (830,141) (109,562) (939,702) 

Gross added value  1 ,8 9 5,29 6  3 4 ,8 9 8  1 ,9 3 0 ,1 9 4  
D epreciation and amortiz ation  ( 3 8 6 ,28 5)  ( 1 9 0 ,29 7 )  ( 57 6 ,58 1 )  

Net added value created by the Company Added 
value received on transfer 

I nterest, profits and dividends on shares 

 1,509,012 
 

528  

(155,399) 
 

-  

1,353,613 
 

528  
F inancial revenues  4 7 ,6 4 2 -  4 7 ,6 4 2 

  48,170  48,170 

Total added value to distribute  1,557,182 (155,399) 1,401,783 
 
Staff 

P ayroll and related costs 

  
 

1 ,7 0 0 ,8 3 9  

 
 

-  

 
 

1 ,7 0 0 ,8 3 9  
Board and committee compensation  3 ,8 4 8  -  3 ,8 4 8  
P rofit- Sharing P lan  6 6 ,57 8  -  6 6 ,57 8  
P ension plan  6 8 ,56 4  -  6 8 ,56 4  

 
Taxes, fees and contributions 

 1,839,829 - 1,839,829 

F ederal 1 8 4 ,7 50  ( 2,50 6 )  1 8 2,24 4  
State 7 5 -  7 5 
Municipal 1 6 ,3 28  -  1 6 ,3 28  

 
Interest on third-party equity 

201,153 (2,506) 198,647 

F inancial expenses 7 ,4 0 2 -  7 ,4 0 2 
R ents 27 ,9 8 2 -  27 ,9 8 2 

 
Interest on stockholders’ equity 

35,384 - 35,384 

L oss for the year ( 51 9 ,1 8 4 )  ( 1 52,8 9 4 )  ( 6 7 2,0 7 8 )  

 (519,184) (152,894) (672,078) 
 

 

Total added value distributed 1,557,182 (155,399) 1,401,783 
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3 Major accounting policies 

T he maj or accounting policies used by Metro in the preparation of these financial statements are 
defined below, which were applied consistently to all the years presented.  

 
3. 1 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
T he C ompany classifies in this group balances held in cash, bank s and financial investments with 
original maturity less than or eq ual to 9 0  days from the date in which they were tak en out, subj ect to 
an insignificant risk  of change in value.  F inancial investments classified in this group, by their very 
nature, are measured at fair value through profit or loss.  

 
3. 2 Financial instruments 

 
a) General context 

 
F inancial instruments are initially recorded at their fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to their acq uisition or issue, except in the case of financial assets and liabilities classified 
in the category “at fair value through profit or loss”, where such costs are recorded directly in the 
financial results item.  T heir subseq uent measurement occurs at each balance sheet date, according 
to the rules established for each type of classification of financial assets and liabilities.  

 
F inancial assets and liabilities may be offset and the net residual value, if any, reported in the 
balance sheet in the final right or obligation position.  

 
b) Financial assets 

 
T he C ompany classifies its financial assets in the following categories:  i)  at fair value through profit or 
loss, ii)  amortiz ed cost and iii)  at fair value through other comprehensive income.  T he classification 
depends on the business model for which the financial assets were acq uired.  I n addition, the 
C ompany records an allowance for losses on its financial assets, thus maintaining the net financial 
position:  

 
i)  F air value through profit or loss comprises financial assets and financial investments.  Any 

changes are recogniz ed in the income statement under “financial revenues” or “financial 
expenses”, depending on the income. 

 
ii)  Amortiz ed cost consists of financial assets held in the business model in order to:  ( a)  receive the 

contractual cash flow and not for the sale with profit and loss realiz ation;  and ( b)  the contractual 
terms of which originate, on specific dates, only payment of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding (“SPPJ”). 

 
iii)  F air value through other comprehensive income comprises shares traded on the Stock  

E xchange ( B3 ) .  
 

3. 3 Accounts receivables 
 

T rade receivables are recorded net of expected credit losses at the time of revenue generation 
based on the use of passenger transportation services or at the time of recognition of the sale of 
assets, leasing of spaces, stak e in real estate proj ects, reimbursement of values or arising from other 
commercial service operations adj acent to the transport operation.  
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T he C ompany creates allowance for expected credit losses on balances receivable in an amount 
considered sufficient by Management to cover possible losses.  

 
T he C ompany revised its methodology for impairment in accordance with C P C  4 8 , related to I F R S 9 , 
in force for the period started on J anuary 1 , 20 1 8 .  

 
W ith the adoption of C P C  4 8  – “Financial Instruments”, the expected credit losses related to trade 
receivables started to be measured through the application of the simplified approach, using 
historical data, proj ecting the expected loss throughout the term of the contract and no longer based 
on the historical loss incurred, considering the segmentation of the receivables portfolio into groups 
that have the same collection pattern and according to the respective maturity terms.  I n addition, for 
certain cases, the C ompany carries out individual analyz es to assess the collection risk s.  

 
3. 4 Inventories 

 
I nventory balances mainly comprise materials for maintenance and replacement of parts.  I nventories 
are measured at average acq uisition cost and are classified in current assets.  

 
I nventory balances are presented net of allowances for loss due to obsolescence, created to cover 
any probable losses identified or estimated by Management.  

 
T he C ompany evaluates on an ongoing basis whether an inventory is obsolete, and in this 
assessment, among other factors, considers the introduction of new technologies, materials and 
functionalities that may result in the obsolescence of materials.  

 
3. 5 Investments 

 
I nvestments correspond to land for investment and work s of art.  T he investment land was initially 
purchased for the expansion work s of the rapid transit network .  U pon completion of the work s, part 
of the land remained without specific use in the Company’s operations and to take advantage of any 
business opportunities.  T he work s of art refer to the work s donated to the Metro by the artists and 
are on display at the stations.  

 
I nvestments are accounted for using the cost method, including transaction costs incurred in the 
initial recognition of the asset.  

 
3. 6 Property, plant and equipment 

 
P roperty, plant and eq uipment are measured at acq uisition or construction cost, less accumulated 
depreciation and probable losses to reduce the accumulated impairment, when incurred.  H istorical 
cost includes expenses directly attributable to the acq uisition of the items.  

 
Subseq uent costs are included in the book  value of the asset or recogniz ed as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
and its cost can be reliably measured.  T he residual book  value of replaced assets is written off.  

 
R epair and maintenance expenses are recorded against the income for the year, when incurred, 
since they are not provided with characteristics allowing their capitaliz ation.  
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an insignificant risk  of change in value.  F inancial investments classified in this group, by their very 
nature, are measured at fair value through profit or loss.  

 
3. 2 Financial instruments 

 
a) General context 

 
F inancial instruments are initially recorded at their fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to their acq uisition or issue, except in the case of financial assets and liabilities classified 
in the category “ at fair value through profit or loss” , where such costs are recorded directly in the 
financial results item.  T heir subseq uent measurement occurs at each balance sheet date, according 
to the rules established for each type of classification of financial assets and liabilities.  

 
F inancial assets and liabilities may be offset and the net residual value, if any, reported in the 
balance sheet in the final right or obligation position.  

 
b) Financial assets 

 
T he C ompany classifies its financial assets in the following categories:  i)  at fair value through profit or 
loss, ii)  amortiz ed cost and iii)  at fair value through other comprehensive income.  T he classification 
depends on the business model for which the financial assets were acq uired.  I n addition, the 
C ompany records an allowance for losses on its financial assets, thus maintaining the net financial 
position:  

 
i)  F air value through profit or loss comprises financial assets and financial investments.  Any 

changes are recogniz ed in the income statement under “ financial revenues”  or “ financial 
expenses” , depending on the income.  

 
ii)  Amortiz ed cost consists of financial assets held in the business model in order to:  ( a)  receive the 

contractual cash flow and not for the sale with profit and loss realiz ation;  and ( b)  the contractual 
terms of which originate, on specific dates, only payment of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding ( “ SP P J ” ) .  

 
iii)  F air value through other comprehensive income comprises shares traded on the Stock  

E xchange ( B3 ) .  
 

3. 3  
 

T rade receivables are recorded net of expected credit losses at the time of revenue generation 
based on the use of passenger transportation services or at the time of recognition of the sale of 
assets, leasing of spaces, stak e in real estate proj ects, reimbursement of values or arising from other 
commercial service operations adj acent to the transport operation.  
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T he C ompany creates allowance for expected credit losses on balances receivable in an amount 
considered sufficient by Management to cover possible losses.  

 
T he C ompany revised its methodology for impairment in accordance with C P C  4 8 , related to I F R S 9 , 
in force for the period started on J anuary 1 , 20 1 8 .  

 
W ith the adoption of C P C  4 8  –  “ F inancial I nstruments” , the expected credit losses related to trade 
receivables started to be measured through the application of the simplified approach, using 
historical data, proj ecting the expected loss throughout the term of the contract and no longer based 
on the historical loss incurred, considering the segmentation of the receivables portfolio into groups 
that have the same collection pattern and according to the respective maturity terms.  I n addition, for 
certain cases, the C ompany carries out individual analyz es to assess the collection risk s .  

 
3. 4 Inventories 

 
I nventory balances mainly comprise materials for maintenance and replacement of parts.  I nventories 
are measured at average acq uisition cost and are classified in current assets.  

 
I nventory balances are presented net of allowances for loss due to obsolescence, created to cover 
any probable losses identified or estimated by Management.  

 
T he C ompany evaluates on an ongoing basis whether an inventory is obsolete, and in this 

assessment, among other factors, considers the introduction of new technologies, materials and 
functionalities that may result in the obsolescence of materials.  

 
3. 5 Investments 

 
I nvestments correspond to land for investment and work s of art.  T he investment land was initially 
purchased for the expansion work s of the rapid transit network .  U pon completion of the work s, part 
of the land remained without specific use in the C ompany’ s operations and to tak e advantage of any 
business opportunities.  T he work s of art refer to the work s donated to the Metro by the artists and 
are on display at the stations.  

 
I nvestments are accounted for using the cost method, including transaction costs incurred in the 
initial recognition of the asset.  

 
3. 6 Property, plant and equipment 

 
P roperty, plant and eq uipment are measured at acq uisition or construction cost, less accumulated 
depreciation and probable losses to reduce the accumulated impairment, when incurred.  H istorical 
cost includes expenses directly attributable to the acq uisition of the items.  

 
Subseq uent costs are included in the book  value of the asset or recogniz ed as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
and its cost can be reliably measured.  T he residual book  value of replaced assets is written off.  

 
R epair and maintenance expenses are recorded against the income for the year, when incurred, 
since they are not provided with characteristics allowing their capitaliz ation.  
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P roperty, plant and eq uipment, with the exception of land, are depreciated using the straight- line method 
in the income statement for the year based on the estimated economic useful life for each group of 
assets, including assets given in concession to the private sector on lines 4  – Y ellow and 5 – L ilac.  

 
O n D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 , the C ompany reviewed the useful lives of these assets based on the use 
and estimated use of the assets and did not identify the need to change the economic useful life.  

 
G ains and losses arising from sales are determined by the difference between the sale value and the 
residual book  balance and, when incurred, are recogniz ed in other operating revenues ( expenses) , 
net, in the income statement.  

 
3. 7 Intangible assets 

 
I ntangible assets acq uired are measured at cost at the time of their initial recognition.  U pon initial 
recognition, intangible assets with finite useful lives, usually software, are stated at acq uisition cost, 
less accumulated amortiz ation and impairment losses, where applicable.  

 
T he amortiz ation of the intangible asset reflects the period in which the future economic benefits of 
the asset are expected to be consumed by the C ompany, which may be the final term of the contract 
or the economic useful life of the asset, whichever is shorter.  

 
C osts associated with software maintenance are recogniz ed as expenses, when incurred, in the 
income statement.  

 
3. 8 E valuation of impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 

 
P roperty, plant and eq uipment and intangible assets, which have a defined useful life, are reviewed 
on an annual basis in order to identify evidence of non- recovery of their book  value, or even, 
whenever material changes in the regular business cycle indicate probability of loss.  

 
T his assessment is carried out on the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates operating 
cash flows to the C ompany independently, that is, without the intervention of other assets for this 
purpose ( C ash G enerating U nit – C G U ) .  

 
W hen testing assets for impairment, the book  value of an asset or cash- generating unit is compared 
with its recoverable value.  T he recoverable amount is the higher of fair value of an asset less selling 
expenses and its value in use.  

 
T he C ompany has not identified a loss in the recoverable amount of its C G U , represented by the 
Company’s main asset, the railway network. 

 
T he annual assessment of the impairment test of property, plant and eq uipment is shown in N ote 1 0 , 
any impairment losses are recogniz ed in the account of other operating revenues ( expenses) , net, in 
the income for the year.  

 
3. 9 Suppliers and other accounts payable 

 
Accounts payable to suppliers and other accounts payable are obligations to pay for goods or 
services that were acq uired from suppliers in the regular course of business.  

 
T hey are initially recogniz ed at fair value, represented by the value of the transaction, and 
subseq uently measured at amortiz ed cost using the effective interest rate method.  
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3. 10 Allow ance for judicial and administrative litigation and contingent liabilities 
 

An allowance is created due to a past event, if the C ompany has a legal or constructive obligation 
that can be reliably estimated, and it is probable that funds will be req uired to settle the obligation, 
the record of which is based on the best estimates of the risk  involved.  

 
3. 11 Income Tax (IRPJ ) and Social Contribution (CSLL) – current and deferred 

 
I ncome tax and social contribution for the year are calculated on a current and deferred basis.  T hese 
taxes are calculated based on tax laws, in force on the date of preparation of the financial statements 
in Braz il, where the C ompany operates, and recogniz ed in the income statement, except when 
referring to items recorded in stockholders’ equity. 

 
i)  C urrent income tax and social contribution 

 
F or purposes of calculating income tax and social contribution on current income, the C ompany 
adopted and applied the provisions contained in L aw N o.  1 2. 9 7 3 1 4  as of the 20 1 5 financial year.  
T his law revok ed the T ransition T ax R egime ( R T T ) .  

 
C urrent income tax and social contribution are calculated based on taxable income by applying rates 
in effect at the end of the period being reported.  

 
ii)  D eferred income tax and social contribution 

 
D eferred income tax and social contribution are recogniz ed using the liability method on temporary 
differences arising from differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their book  
values in the financial statements.  D eferred income tax and social contribution are determined, using 
tax rates ( and tax laws)  enacted, or substantially enacted, on the date of the financial statements, 
and which must be applied when the respective deferred tax asset is realiz ed or when the deferred 
tax liability is settled.  

 
O n D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 , the C ompany did not recogniz e deferred income tax and social contribution 
assets on tax losses or temporary differences on the I N C O ME , since it does not estimate proj ection 
of future taxable income.  

 
3. 12 Payroll and related costs 

 
Monthly wages, holiday allowances, 1 3 th salary allowance and other payments and supplementary 
benefits negotiated in collective bargaining agreements, plus social charges due, are appropriated 
on an accrual basis.  

 
3. 13 E mployee benefits 

 
i)  P rofit- sharing program – P P R  

 
T he C ompany has a profit- sharing program based on goals to be achieved corporately, in which the 
amounts are estimated based on the amounts provided for in the program for each professional 
group.  T he amounts are accrued in the income for the year in accordance with the amount provided 
for the settlement of the obligation by the C ompany.  

 
T he C ompany does not have long- term benefits granted to its directors or employees.  
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ii)  V oluntary E mployment T ermination P lan – P D V  
 

T he C ompany has a V oluntary E mployment T ermination P lan – P D V  in place.  D uring the year of 
20 1 9 , the 5th stage of the plan was carried out with applications closed in March 20 1 9 .  T he structure 
of the plan provides for an additional benefit of medical and hospital care for a specified period of up 
to 4 years, depending on the employee’s length of service at the Company, and a paid period of 
notice of 5 days per year work ed.  

T he amounts provided to cover the medical and hospital care services of this program are accrued 
upon termination of employees who adhere to the plan, since at this moment the legal req uirements 
resulting in the Company’s non - cancellable obligation to meet the obligation are met.  

 

iii)  Supplementary retirement plan ( Social Security P lan)  
 

T he actuarial commitments to the defined pension and retirement benefit plans are accrued based 
on an actuarial calculation at the end of each year, carried out by an independent actuary, according 
to the proj ected credit unit method, net of the guarantee assets of the plan, where applicable.  

 
T he C ompany recogniz es in the actuarial liability the amount corresponding to the fulfillment of its 
obligation with the plan, to the extent of its contribution obligation, which represents 50 %  of the total 
plan liability to be settled on the base date ended on D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 .  

 
 P lan I  – D efined benefit 

 
T he C ompany mak es a contribution, on a contractual basis, to the social security plan under its 
sponsorship, in the defined benefit modality, managed by Metrus – I nstituto de Seguridade Social, a 
closely- held entity of supplementary social security.  R egular contributions comprise expenditures net 
of administrative costs and are recorded in the statement of income for the period in which they are 
due.  

 
T he proj ected unit credit method considers each period of service as a triggering event for an 
additional unit of benefit, which are accumulated to calculate the final obligation.  C hanges in the net 
defined benefit obligation are recogniz ed when incurred as follows:  i)  cost of service and net interest, 
in the income for the year, in operating expenses and financial expenses, respectively and ii)  
measurements referring to actuarial gains or losses, in other comprehensive income, directly in 
stockholders’ equity. 

 
T his plan is closed to new membership at the C ompany.  

 
 P lan I I  – D efined contribution 

 
T he C ompany also contributes to defined contribution plans, under its sponsorship, managed by 
Metrus – I nstituto de Seguridade Social, the percentages of which are based on the payroll, whereas 
these contributions are indicated in the income when incurred.  

 
3. 14 Government subsidies and assistance 

 
G overnment subsidies and assistance are recogniz ed when there is reasonable assurance that the 
conditions established by the contract- letting government agency have been met and that they will 
be determined.  T hey are recorded as revenue or decreased expense in the income for the period in 
which the benefit is enj oyed.  T he C ompany allocates the amount of subsidy and government 
assistance recognized for the reserve of tax incentives in stockholders’ equity when accounting profit 
is determined in the respective year.  
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3. 15 Revenue from contracts w ith customers 
 

The Company’s operating revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable in the regular course of business, recogniz ed in the income statement for the effective 
provision of passenger transportation services and other adj acent services.  

 
R evenue is recogniz ed when a performance obligation is satisfied by the transfer of a promised good 
or service to a customer, which occurs when the customer obtains control of said good or service, 
and economic benefits are lik ely to flow to the entity.  

 
R evenue is presented net of taxes, rebates and discounts.  

 
i)  F are revenue 

 
T he C ompany provides rapid transit transport services, the respective revenues of which are 
recogniz ed when the service is used by the passenger, that is, at a specific time.  

 
ii)  N on- fare revenue 

 
T he C ompany provides services adj acent to rapid transit transportation, such as space rental, 
advertising actions and development of real estate proj ects along rapid transit spaces, in addition to 
the provision of other specializ ed services and consultancies.  R evenues are based on executed 
contracts and are recogniz ed to the extent that performance obligations are met, whether at a 
specific time or over time.  

 
iii)  F ree transport revenue 

 
T he C ompany provides rapid transit transportation services free of charge, in compliance with the 
provisions of the public passenger transport policy implemented in the Metropolitan Area of Sã o 
P aulo, which are recogniz ed for use, the amounts of which are determined and reimbursed by the 
G overnment of the State of Sã o P aulo.  

 
3. 16 Related party transactions 

 
T he company has a policy on T ransactions with R elated P arties which is reviewed and approved on 
an annual basis by the Board of D irectors.  T he policy provides guidance regarding the execution of 
T ransactions with R elated P arties and in situations where there is a potential conflict of interest in 
these transactions, in order to prioritiz e the interests of the company.  

 
I n order to carry out transactions and business with related parties, it is determined that the usual 
mark et prices and conditions for these transactions are observed, as well as the corporate 
governance practices and policies adopted by the C ompany and those recommended and/ or 
req uired by the applicable law.  

 
T he main parties related to the C ompany are the shareholders, the Board of D irectors, the E xecutive 
Board and the Advisory C ommittees of the Board of D irectors.  

 
3. 17 Relevant accounting estimates and judgments 

 
T he information on j udgments and assumptions used in the application of accounting policies and 
practices having significant effects on the amounts recogniz ed in the financial statements and which 
have a significant risk  of generating material adj ustments are presented below:  
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ii)  V oluntary E mployment T ermination P lan –  P D V  
 

T he C ompany has a V oluntary E mployment T ermination P lan –  P D V  in place.  D uring the year of 
20 1 9 , the 5th stage of the plan was carried out with applications closed in March 20 1 9 .  T he structure 
of the plan provides for an additional benefit of medical and hospital care for a specified period of up 
to 4  years, depending on the employee’ s length of service at the C ompany, and a paid period of 
notice of 5 days per year work ed.  

T he amounts provided to cover the medical and hospital care services of this program are accrued 
upon termination of employees who adhere to the plan, since at this moment the legal req uirements 
resulting in the C ompany’ s non- cancellable obligation to meet the obligation are met.  

 

iii)  Supplementary retirement plan ( Social Security P lan)  
 

T he actuarial commitments to the defined pension and retirement benefit plans are accrued based 
on an actuarial calculation at the end of each year, carried out by an independent actuary, according 
to the proj ected credit unit method, net of the guarantee assets of the plan, where applicable.  

 
T he C ompany recogniz es in the actuarial liability the amount corresponding to the fulfillment of its 
obligation with the plan, to the extent of its contribution obligation, which represents 50 %  of the total 
plan liability to be settled on the base date ended on D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 .  

 
� P lan I  –  D efined benefit 

 
T he C ompany mak es a contribution, on a contractual basis, to the social security plan under its 
sponsorship, in the defined benefit modality, managed by Metrus –  I nstituto de Seguridade Social, a 
closely- held entity of supplementary social security.  R egular contributions comprise expenditures net 
of administrative costs and are recorded in the statement of income for the period in which they are 
due.  

 
T he proj ected unit credit method considers each period of service as a triggering event for an 
additional unit of benefit, which are accumulated to calculate the final obligation.  C hanges in the net 
defined benefit obligation are recogniz ed when incurred as follows:  i)  cost of service and net interest, 
in the income for the year, in operating expenses and financial expenses, respectively and ii)  
measurements referring to actuarial gains or losses, in other comprehensive income, directly in 
stock holders’  eq uity.  

 
T his plan is closed to new membership at the C ompany.  

 
� P lan I I  –  D efined contribution 

 
T he C ompany also contributes to defined contribution plans, under its sponsorship, managed by 
Metrus –  I nstituto de Seguridade Social, the percentages of which are based on the payroll, whereas 
these contributions are indicated in the income when incurred.  

 
3. 14 Government subsidies and assistance 

 
G overnment subsidies and assistance are recogniz ed when there is reasonable assurance that the 
conditions established by the contract- letting government agency have been met and that they will 
be determined.  T hey are recorded as revenue or decreased expense in the income for the period in 
which the benefit is enj oyed.  T he C ompany allocates the amount of subsidy and government 
assistance recogniz ed for the reserve of tax incentives in stock holders’  eq uity when accounting profit 
is determined in the respective year.  
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3. 15 Revenue from contracts w ith customers 
 

T he C ompany’ s operating revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable in the regular course of business, recogniz ed in the income statement for the effective 
provision of passenger transportation services and other adj acent services.  

 
R evenue is recogniz ed when a performance obligation is satisfied by the transfer of a promised good 
or service to a customer, which occurs when the customer obtains control of said good or service, 
and economic benefits are lik ely to flow to the entity.  

 
R evenue is presented net of taxes, rebates and discounts.  

 
i)  F are revenue 

 
T he C ompany provides rapid transit transport services, the respective revenues of which are 
recogniz ed when the service is used by the passenger, that is, at a specific time.  

 
ii)  N on- fare revenue 

 
T he C ompany provides services adj acent to rapid transit transportation, such as space rental, 
advertising actions and development of real estate proj ects along rapid transit spaces, in addition to 
the provision of other specializ ed services and consultancies.  R evenues are based on executed 
contracts and are recogniz ed to the extent that performance obligations are met, whether at a 
specific time or over time.  

 
iii)  F ree transport revenue 

 
T he C ompany provides rapid transit transportation services free of charge, in compliance with the 
provisions of the public passenger transport policy implemented in the Metropolitan Area of Sã o 
P aulo, which are recogniz ed for use, the amounts of which are determined and reimbursed by the 
G overnment of the State of Sã o P aulo.  

 
3. 16 Transactions w ith party related 

 
T he company has a policy on T ransactions with R elated P arties which is reviewed and approved on 
an annual basis by the Board of D irectors.  T he policy provides guidance regarding the execution of 
T ransactions with R elated P arties and in situations where there is a potential conflict of interest in 
these transactions, in order to prioritiz e the interests of the company.  

 
I n order to carry out transactions and business with related parties, it is determined that the usual 
mark et prices and conditions for these transactions are observed, as well as the corporate 
governance practices and policies adopted by the C ompany and those recommended and/ or 
req uired by the applicable law.  

 
T he main parties related to the C ompany are the shareholders, the Board of D irectors, the E xecutive 
Board and the Advisory C ommittees of the Board of D irectors.  

 
3. 17 Relevant accounting estimates and judgments 

 
T he information on j udgments and assumptions used in the application of accounting policies and 
practices having significant effects on the amounts recogniz ed in the financial statements and which 
have a significant risk  of generating material adj ustments are presented below:  
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i)  Measurement of fair value 
 

T he C ompany selects methods and uses j udgments in the assumptions it applies in determining fair 
value.  W hen measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the C ompany uses observable mark et 
data, where available.  F air values are classified at different levels in a hierarchy based on the 
information ( inputs)  used in the valuation techniq ues.  

 
Significant changes in the assumptions used may affect the Company’s equity position. 

 
ii)  U seful life and recoverable value of property, plant and eq uipment and intangible assets 

 
T he useful life of the relevant property, plant and eq uipment was defined by the C ompany 
considering the term of generation of economic benefits of the assets, based on the experience and 
internal reports of the rapid transit construction proj ects – stations and tunnels, on the level of 
operation of the lines and fleet of trains and the q uality of preventive and corrective maintenance.  
The useful life of intangible assets with defined useful lives is based on the Company’s assessment 
of the generation of future economic benefits, experience and contractual provisions.  

 
iii)  C ontingent liabilities 

 
T he C ompany is a party to legal and administrative proceedings involving labor, civil and tax claims 
arising from the regular course of its business, the estimates of which for determining the amounts of 
obligations and the probability of outflow of funds are made by the C ompany, based on opinions of 
its legal advisors.  

 
iv)  Actuarial liabilities 

 
T he C ompany has actuarial commitments for post- employment benefits related to retirement and 
pension plans.  Such commitments and costs are subj ect to a number of economic and demographic 
assumptions, among which the most relevant are:  discount rates, long- term inflation, change in 
service costs, and variability in the actuarial table applied, which imply a certain degree of j udgment 
with respect to the assumptions adopted.  T hese and other estimates are reviewed on an annual 
basis by independent experts and may differ from actual results due to changes in mark et and 
economic conditions.  

 
3. 18 New  standards and interpretations in effect as of J anuary 1, 2019 

 
CPC 06 (R2) – “Leases”, equivalent to IFRS 16 

 
C P C  0 6  ( R 2)  provides the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure 
of leasing transactions and req uires lessees to account for all leases in accordance with a single 
model in the balance sheet, similar to accounting for financial leases along the lines of C P C  0 6  ( R 1 ) .  
T he standard includes two exemptions from recognition for lessees – leases of “low value” assets, 
for example, personal computers and short- term leases, that is, leases with a term of 1 2 months or 
less.  O n the lease start date, the lessee recogniz es a liability to mak e payments ( a lease liability)  and 
an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term ( a right - of- use 
asset) .  L essees must separately recogniz e interest expense on the lease liability and the 
depreciation expense for the right- of- use asset.  

 
T he standard came into effect on J anuary 1 , 20 1 9 .  Among the forms of adoption provided for in the 
standard, the C ompany chose the adoption of the simplified method.  
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T he C ompany assessed the impacts resulting from the adoption of this standard considering the 
assumptions described above, and no contracts complying with such req uirements were identified.  

 
ICPC 22 – “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments”, equivalent to IFRIC 23 

 
I n J une 20 1 7 , the I ASB issued I F R I C  23  which provides for the application of the req uirements of 
IAS 12 “Income taxes” when there is uncertainty as to the acceptance of the treatment by the tax 
authority.  T he interpretation clarifies that if acceptance is not lik ely, the values of tax assets and 
liabilities should be adj usted to reflect the best resolution of the uncertainty.  I F R I C  23  has been in 
effect since J anuary 1 , 20 1 9 .  Based on the assessment carried out, Management concluded that 
there are no impacts or additional disclosure needs in this F inancial Statement.  

 

4 Cash and cash equivalents  

  12/31/2019  12/31/2018 

    Restated 

 C ash and bank s -  costing 13,405  1 2,50 3  

 C ash and bank s -  investment 662  1 2,0 8 3  

 Total cash and banks 14,067  24 ,58 6  

  
Financial investments - cash equivalents    

 I nvestments -  costing 154,498  1 4 1 ,1 9 1  

 I nvestments -  investing activities 505,697  6 4 8 ,9 20  

 Total financial investments - cash equivalents 660,195  7 9 0 ,1 1 1  

  
T otal costing 

 
167,903   

1 53 ,6 9 4  

 T otal investment 506,359  6 6 1 ,0 0 3  

 Total cash and cash equivalents 674,262  8 1 4 ,6 9 7  

 
 
In accordance with State Decree No. 60.244/14, the Company’s financial investments are managed by 
the SI AF E M securities brok er associated with the F inance O ffice – SE F AZ .  T he investment profile is 
aimed at low risk  securities and corresponds to investments indexed by the I nterbank  D eposit C ertificate 
– C D I .  A smaller potion is allocated to short- term investment funds managed by Banco do Brasil and 
C aixa E conô mica F ederal.  All amounts classified as cash and cash eq uivalents are denominated in 
national currency.  

 
As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 , the average compensation is 9 8 . 54 %  of the C D I .  ( 8 8 . 59 %  as of D ecember 
3 1 , 20 1 8 ) .  
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5 Accounts receivables 
5. 1 Accounts receivable, net 

 
 

12/31/2019  12/31/2018 
   Restated 

T hird- parties, 307,034  26 1 ,222 
C ommission- paid ( a)  6,714  3 ,4 0 5 
    
Related parties    
G overn of the State of Sã o P aulo ( b)  255,197  1 8 5,8 6 9  

 568,945  4 50 ,4 9 6  
    
E xpected credit loss (274,140)  ( 24 5,3 9 0 )  

    
Total accounts receivable, net 294,805  20 5,1 0 6  
    

Total - current 294,003  20 4 ,4 0 6  

Total - non-current 802  7 0 0  

 
 

( a)  R epresents the amount receivable by the C ompany for the assignment of professionals belonging to its staff to other 
companies related to the management of the G overnment of the State of Sã o P aulo or to governmental entities.  

( b)  T he G overnment of the State of Sã o P aulo and Metro signed, on O ctober 3 0 , 20 1 5, a T erm of Agreement aiming at 
the restructuring of the fare revenue, resulting from the difference between the contractual compensation paid to the 
private concessionaires responsible for the operation of lines 4  and 5, and the sale travel rights of the railway system 
( public fare) .  T he G overnment of the State of Sã o P aulo, by means of the Budget G uidelines L aw, is also req uired to 
reimburse the C ompany for free transport services legally granted to passengers.  

 
 

5. 2 Accounts receivables past due and unmatured 
 

 

12/31/2019  12/31/2018 
    
   Restated 
Current and non-current    

U nmatured 279,290  20 9 ,7 3 7  
P ast due up to 3 0  days 9,076  3 ,8 3 2 
P ast due up from 3 1  to 6 0  days 11,766  6 8 8  
P ast due up from 6 1  to 9 0  days 2,186  3 58  
P ast due up from 9 1  to 1 8 0  days 14,245  1 ,0 7 2 
P ast due up from 1 8 1  to 3 6 0  days 21,759  5,7 9 3  
P ast due exceeding 3 6 0  days 230,623  229 ,0 1 6  
 568,945  4 50 ,4 9 6  
    

E xpected credit loss (274,140)  ( 24 5,3 9 0 )  
Total 294,805  20 5,1 0 6  
    
Total - current 294,003  20 4 ,4 0 6  
Total - non-current 802  7 0 0  

 
T he expected credit losses related to commercial receivables reflect the expected loss for credit 
transactions.  T he C ompany measures the allowance for losses through the application of the simplified 
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approach, using use of historical data, proj ecting the expected loss throughout the term of the contract, 
considering the segmentation of the receivables portfolio into groups that have the same collection pattern 
and according to the respective maturity terms.  I n addition, for certain cases, the C ompany carries out 
individual analyz es to assess the collection risk s.  
 

 5. 3 Changes in expected credit loss 

 12/31/2019  12/31/2018 

   Restated 

Beginning balance (245,390)  ( 29 9 ,9 6 4 )  

C redits accrued in the period (60,033)  ( 1 ,0 4 0 )  

C redits recovered in the period 16,504  1 3 ,6 3 5 

C redits written off permanently from position 14,779  4 1 ,9 7 9  

Total (274,140)  ( 24 5,3 9 0 )  

 
6 

 
Inventories 

   

  12/31/2019  12/31/2018 

    Restated 

 C ommon and administrative materials 7,253  7 ,4 9 2 

 R eplacement materials 159,253  1 6 1 ,9 1 0  

 G eneral consumption and maintenance materials 34,602  3 6 ,6 3 6  

 Materials held by third- parties ( a)  23,747  23 ,8 7 8  

 O thers 895  1 ,26 4  

 ( - )  Allowance for loss due to material obsolescence (474)  -  

 Total 225,276  23 1 ,1 8 0  

 
( a)  T hese are materials sent to third- parties for repairs, processing, testing, loans, etc.  O f this total, on August 4 , 

20 1 8 , Metro transferred inventory materials in the amount of R $  23 ,7 4 7 , which are in the possession of V ia 
Mobilidade, for the operation of L ine 5 – L ilac.  

 
N o inventory items were available for pledge or guarantee for liabilities for the periods presented.  

 
7 Deposits in court 

 
 

1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 9   1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  
 
 
E mployment 

 
 

74,587 

 Restated 

6 3 ,1 52 
C ivil 47,146  6 2,51 0  
T ax and social security 81,670  1 56 ,9 1 8  
O ther deposits 1,344  2,3 9 3  

Total 204,747  28 4 ,9 7 3  

 
T he amounts comprise deposits in court, appeals deposits and freez ing, related to employment, civil and 
tax actions, carried out to guarantee the execution of such actions.  
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G overn of the State of Sã o P aulo ( b)  255,197  1 8 5,8 6 9  

 568,945  4 50 ,4 9 6  
    
E xpected credit loss (274,140)  ( 24 5,3 9 0 )  

    
Total accounts receivable, net 294,805  20 5,1 0 6  
    

Total - current 294,003  20 4 ,4 0 6  

Total - non-current 802  7 0 0  

 
 

( a)  R epresents the amount receivable by the C ompany for the assignment of professionals belonging to its staff to other 
companies related to the management of the G overnment of the State of Sã o P aulo or to governmental entities.  
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reimburse the C ompany for free transport services legally granted to passengers.  
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approach, using use of historical data, proj ecting the expected loss throughout the term of the contract, 
considering the segmentation of the receivables portfolio into groups that have the same collection pattern 
and according to the respective maturity terms.  I n addition, for certain cases, the C ompany carries out 
individual analyz es to assess the collection risk s.  
 

 5. 3 Changes in expected credit loss 

 12/31/2019  12/31/2018 

   Restated 

Beginning balance (245,390)  ( 29 9 ,9 6 4 )  

C redits accrued in the period (60,033)  ( 1 ,0 4 0 )  

C redits recovered in the period 16,504  1 3 ,6 3 5 

C redits written off permanently from position 14,779  4 1 ,9 7 9  

Total (274,140)  ( 24 5,3 9 0 )  

 
6 

 
Inventories 

   

  12/31/2019  12/31/2018 

    Restated 

 C ommon and administrative materials 7,253  7 ,4 9 2 

 R eplacement materials 159,253  1 6 1 ,9 1 0  

 G eneral consumption and maintenance materials 34,602  3 6 ,6 3 6  

 Materials held by third- parties ( a)  23,747  23 ,8 7 8  

 O thers 895  1 ,26 4  

 ( - )  Allowance for loss due to material obsolescence (474)  -  

 Total 225,276  23 1 ,1 8 0  

 
( a)  T hese are materials sent to third- parties for repairs, processing, testing, loans, etc.  O f this total, on August 4 , 

20 1 8 , Metro transferred inventory materials in the amount of R $  23 ,7 4 7 , which are in the possession of V ia 
Mobilidade, for the operation of L ine 5 –  L ilac.  

 
N o inventory items were available for pledge or guarantee for liabilities for the periods presented.  

 
7 J udicial deposits 

 
 

1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 9   1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  
 
 
E mployment 

 
 

74,587 

 Restated 

6 3 ,1 52 
C ivil 47,146  6 2,51 0  
T ax and social security 81,670  1 56 ,9 1 8  
O ther deposits 1,344  2,3 9 3  

Total 204,747  28 4 ,9 7 3  

 
T he amounts comprise deposits in court, appeals deposits and freez ing, related to employment, civil and 
tax actions, carried out to guarantee the execution of such actions.  
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8 Investments  

  12/31/2019  12/31/2018 

    Restated 

 I nvestment land -  beginning balance 873  -  

 Additions 13,942  8 7 3  

 W rite- offs (55)  -  

 T otal 14,760  8 7 3  

 W ork s of art 5,114  5,1 1 4  

 Total 19,874  5,9 8 7  

 
9 Compensation for the Board of Directors 

T he criteria for all compensation attributed by the company to its directors are established according to 
the career and wage chart, benefits and specific law.  

 
F or the year ended D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9  and 20 1 8 , total compensation ( wages and fees, bonuses, 
premiums, paid holidays and 1 3 th salary) , profit- sharing, social charges, benefits ( medical care, meal 
vouchers, food vouchers and life insurance)  and supplementary retirement plans for directors are 
presented below:  
 12/31/2019 12/31/2018 

  Restated 
Directors   

C ompensation 4,060 3 ,9 3 2 
P rofit- sharing -  P P R  46 1 7 7  
Social charges 577 54 7  
Benefits 238 4 1 3  
Supplementary retirement plan 67 1 4 3  

Total for the year 4,988 5,21 2 

Number of Members (at end of year)   
Board of D irectors 11 7  
F iscal C ommittee -  permanent 5 4  
Statutory Audit C ommittee 3 3  
E xecutive Board 6 6  

T he highest fee attributed to a director as of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 , in accordance with L aw N o.  8 . 8 52/ 9 4 , 
corresponds to R $  21 ,9 3 9 . 3 1  for statutory director ( opinion of the State C apital D efense C ouncil – 
C O D E C  N o.  0 0 1 / 20 1 9 )  and R $  3 0 ,7 9 2. 52 for non- statutory director.  
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10 Property, plant and equipment  
 

10. 1 Breakdow n  
   

W eighted annual 
depreciation rate 12/31/2018 Additions W rite-offs Transfers 12/31/2019   

   Restated     
 Cost       
 C ivil work s ( a)   1 5,1 29 ,9 7 0  21 5,3 9 6  ( 57 3 ,9 6 3 )  4 ,0 4 1 ,6 1 0  1 8 ,8 1 3 ,0 1 3  

 Systems ( b)   7 ,1 1 6 ,24 0  4 0 ,21 3  ( 3 7 5,1 3 4 )  3 ,3 1 5,8 6 3  1 0 ,0 9 7 ,1 8 2 

 L and  2,6 6 3 ,3 7 7  58 ,7 9 2 ( 9 6 ,1 3 6 )  ( 9 3 6 )  2,6 25,0 9 7  

 C onstruction in progress  1 2,29 8 ,0 4 5 1 ,9 3 0 ,1 0 4  ( 1 6 1 ,9 50 )  ( 6 ,8 9 6 ,7 1 8 )  7 ,1 6 9 ,4 8 1  

 Advances  59 9 ,3 4 6  29 3 ,8 9 8  6 ,3 8 7  ( 4 59 ,8 1 9 )  4 3 9 ,8 1 2 

 Total  37,806,978 2,538,403 (1,200,796) - 39,144,585 

  

Depreciation 
      

 C ivil work s ( a)  1 . 25%  ( 2,4 57 ,24 5)  ( 27 2,1 8 0 )  1 1 8 ,59 8   ( 2,6 1 0 ,8 27 )  

 Systems ( b)  2. 9 0 %  ( 2,26 4 ,1 22)  ( 28 7 ,28 8 )  3 20 ,59 9   ( 2,23 0 ,8 1 1 )  

 Total  (4,721,367) (559,468) 439,197  (4,841,638) 

        
 Total property, plant and equipment  33,085,610 1,978,935 (761,599) - 34,302,947 

( a)  I ncludes buildings, stations, tunnels, elevations, terminals, facilities, eq uipment and other structures.  
( b)  I ncludes rolling stock  ( trains)  and ancillary track  systems.  

 
 

I )  Annual assessment of the non- recoverable value of an asset ( impairment)  
 

a)  I mpairment test of the cash- generating unit (“CGU”) 
 

O n D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 , the C ompany carried out an analysis of the recoverable value of its C G U  
consisting of the railway network , which includes the following assets:  civil work s, systems and land.  

 
I n the annual assessment process on the recoverability of its assets, the C ompany identified restrictions 
for determining the value in use of C G U s in the impairment test.  T his is because the cash flows 
prepared by the C ompany are not arranged in the model req uired by C P C  0 1 , since the C ompany 
prepares its financial proj ections based on req uirements provided by State D ecrees issued by its 
shareholder ( G overnment of the State of Sã o P aulo) , which aim at increasing and expanding the supply 
of public transport.  T he following elements could result in a misstatement in the measurement of the 
value in use of that C G U :  

 
i.  F are control:  the fares practiced by the C ompany are determined based on public policies 

defined by its shareholder ( G overnment of the State of Sã o P aulo) ;  
 

ii.  D iscount rates:  the funds req uired for the construction of assets belonging to C G U s are 
entirely derived from contributions made by its shareholder.  Accordingly, the C ompany has 
restrictions on determining its cost of capital.  As an alternative, C P C  0 1  also advises to use 
rates implicit in current transactions for similar mark et assets, however, the specificity of 
the Company’s assets may cause any definitions to significantly misrepresent the results 
achieved;  

 
iii.  P urpose for the use of assets:  the C ompany does not have as its main purpose the 

commercial exploitation of its assets, but the provision of public services to the population.  
As a result, the Company’s interest is focused on offering mass public transport for the 
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benefit of the population, therefore, the economic benefits generated by the use of assets 
are not limited to the generation of rates of return.  

 
I n view of the difficulties identified above, the C ompany measured the recoverable amount of its assets 
based on the guidelines of C P C  0 1 , which determine that the recoverable amount should be the higher 
of the net fair value of selling expenses and the value in use.  T hus, the results achieved in determining 
the net fair value of selling expenses are shown below:  

 
  

12/31/2019 
P roperty, plant and eq uipment 26 ,6 9 3 ,6 54  
I ntangible assets 52,9 4 5 
Total assets comprising the CGU  26,746,599 

Fair value, net of selling expenses 48,917,687 

I mpairment -  

( * )  T he set of assets valued at fair value comprises:  land, rolling stock , civil work s and terminals.  
 
 

I I )  E xchange of assets 
 

I n D ecember 20 1 9 , the C ompany entered into agreement for the exchange of assets with C P T M, 
through a corporate event with its controlling shareholder – the G overnment of the State of Sã o P aulo, 
which resulted in the addition of fixed assets of the C apã o R edondo – L argo T rez e section, of L ine 5 – 
L ilac, in the amount of R $  1 ,0 8 3 ,3 4 5, and simultaneously transferred the asset referring to the Artur 
Alvim – G uaianases section, of L ine 1 1  – C oral, in the amount of R $  6 4 8 ,3 0 7 , as detailed in N ote 1  
( item iii) , resulting in a net increase in property, plant and eq uipment of R $  4 3 5,0 3 8 .  

 
 

10. 2 Assets under concession 
 

T he C ompany, together with the controlling shareholder – the G overnment of the State of Sã o P aulo, 
may evaluate possible opportunities for the concession of part of its transport operation to the private 
sector.  

 
T he contract- letting authority is the G overnment of the State of Sã o P aulo ( responsible for the 
consideration in the receipt of the concession by the concessionaire)  while the Metro appears as an 
intervening party.  According to C P C  27  – P roperty, P lant and E q uipment and I C P C  0 1  ( R 1 )  – 
C oncession C ontracts, the eligibility of the C ompany as an intervening party in this process j ustifies 
the maintenance of the accounting of these assets recorded in its fixed assets.  

 
I n the year ended D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 , property, plant and eq uipment under concession are shown 
below:  
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W eighted annual 
depreciation rate 

Cost of acquisition 
Total property, plant 

and equipment 
 

Line 4 Line 5 

Cost     

C ivil work s ( a)   3 ,51 5,4 7 9  6 ,9 7 7 ,23 8  1 0 ,4 9 2,7 1 7  
Systems ( b)   1 ,1 7 2,8 9 5 1 ,4 1 2,7 24  2,58 5,6 1 8  
L and  228 ,8 0 7  7 1 3 ,1 1 4  9 4 1 ,9 21  
C onstruction in progress  59 7 ,4 26  1 ,8 8 0 ,4 6 4  2,4 7 7 ,8 9 0  
Total  5,514,607 10,983,540 16,498,147 
 

 
   

Depreciation     

C ivil work s ( a)  1 . 25%  ( 3 29 ,8 7 6 )  ( 1 3 7 ,520 )  ( 4 6 7 ,3 9 6 )  
Systems ( b)  2. 9 0 %  ( 1 9 6 ,26 8 )  ( 20 ,4 3 6 )  ( 21 6 ,7 0 4 )  
Total  (526,144) (157,956) (684,100) 
     

     

Total property, plant and equipment  
4,988,463 10,825,584 15,814,047 

( a)  I ncludes buildings, stations, tunnels, elevations, terminals, other structures, facilities and eq uipment.  
( b)  I ncludes rolling stock  ( trains)  and ancillary track  systems.  

 
11 Intangible assets 

11. 1 Intangible assets w ith finite useful lives 
 

 

W eighted average 
rate 

Balance as of 
1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8   Additions  

Balance as of 
1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 9  

  
Restated 

    

Softw are 20%  p. a.       

C ost of acq uisition  9 9 ,9 7 4   38  100,012 
Amortiz ation  ( 27 ,6 7 6 )   (19,391)  (47,068) 
N et amount  7 2,29 8   (19,353)  52,945 

 
12 Related party transactions 

T he C ompany has an effective policy approved by the Board of D irectors to regulate and guide its staff 
in the execution of transactions and contracts involving related parties and in situations that may 
generate a potential conflict of interest in these transactions.  Accordingly, the related party policy aims 
to prioritize the Company’s interests, in line with the transparency of processes and the best Corporate 
G overnance practices.  
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benefit of the population, therefore, the economic benefits generated by the use of assets 
are not limited to the generation of rates of return.  

 
I n view of the difficulties identified above, the C ompany measured the recoverable amount of its assets 
based on the guidelines of C P C  0 1 , which determine that the recoverable amount should be the higher 
of the net fair value of selling expenses and the value in use.  T hus, the results achieved in determining 
the net fair value of selling expenses are shown below:  

 
  

12/31/2019 
P roperty, plant and eq uipment 26 ,6 9 3 ,6 54  
I ntangible assets 52,9 4 5 
Total assets comprising the CGU  26,746,599 

Fair value, net of selling expenses 48,917,687 

I mpairment -  

( * )  T he set of assets valued at fair value comprises:  land, rolling stock , civil work s and terminals.  
 
 

I I )  E xchange of assets 
 

I n D ecember 20 1 9 , the C ompany entered into agreement for the exchange of assets with C P T M, 
through a corporate event with its controlling shareholder –  the G overnment of the State of Sã o P aulo, 
which resulted in the addition of fixed assets of the C apã o R edondo –  L argo T rez e section, of L ine 5 –  
L ilac, in the amount of R $  1 ,0 8 3 ,3 4 5, and simultaneously transferred the asset referring to the Artur 
Alvim –  G uaianases section, of L ine 1 1  –  C oral, in the amount of R $  6 4 8 ,3 0 7 , as detailed in N ote 1  
( item iii) , resulting in a net increase in property, plant and eq uipment of R $  4 3 5,0 3 8 .  

 
 

10. 2 Assets under concession 
 

T he C ompany, together with the controlling shareholder –  the G overnment of the State of Sã o P aulo, 
may evaluate possible opportunities for the concession of part of its transport operation to the private 
sector.  

 
T he contract- letting authority is the G overnment of the State of Sã o P aulo ( responsible for the 
consideration in the receipt of the concession by the concessionaire)  while the Metro appears as an 
intervening party.  According to C P C  27  –  P roperty, P lant and E q uipment and I C P C  0 1  ( R 1 )  –  
C oncession C ontracts, the eligibility of the C ompany as an intervening party in this process j ustifies 
the maintenance of the accounting of these assets recorded in its fixed assets.  

 
I n the year ended D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 , property, plant and eq uipment under concession are shown 
below:  
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W eighted annual 
depreciation rate 

Cost of acquisition 
Total property, plant 

and equipment 
 

Line 4 Line 5 

Cost     

C ivil work s ( a)   3 ,51 5,4 7 9  6 ,9 7 7 ,23 8  1 0 ,4 9 2,7 1 7  
Systems ( b)   1 ,1 7 2,8 9 5 1 ,4 1 2,7 24  2,58 5,6 1 8  
L and  228 ,8 0 7  7 1 3 ,1 1 4  9 4 1 ,9 21  
C onstruction in progress  59 7 ,4 26  1 ,8 8 0 ,4 6 4  2,4 7 7 ,8 9 0  
Total  5,514,607 10,983,540 16,498,147 
 

 
   

Depreciation     

C ivil work s ( a)  1 . 25%  ( 3 29 ,8 7 6 )  ( 1 3 7 ,520 )  ( 4 6 7 ,3 9 6 )  
Systems ( b)  2. 9 0 %  ( 1 9 6 ,26 8 )  ( 20 ,4 3 6 )  ( 21 6 ,7 0 4 )  
Total  (526,144) (157,956) (684,100) 
     

     

Total property, plant and equipment  
4,988,463 10,825,584 15,814,047 

( a)  I ncludes buildings, stations, tunnels, elevations, terminals, other structures, facilities and eq uipment.  
( b)  I ncludes rolling stock  ( trains)  and ancillary track  systems.  

 
11 Intangible assets 

11. 1 Intangible assets w ith finite useful lives 
 

 

W eighted average 
rate 

Balance as of 
1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8   Additions  

Balance as of 
1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 9  

  
Restated 

    

Softw are 20%  p. a.       

C ost of acq uisition  9 9 ,9 7 4   38  100,012 
Amortiz ation  ( 27 ,6 7 6 )   (19,391)  (47,068) 
N et amount  7 2,29 8   (19,353)  52,945 

 
12 Transactions w ith related parties 

T he C ompany has an effective policy approved by the Board of D irectors to regulate and guide its staff 
in the execution of transactions and contracts involving related parties and in situations that may 
generate a potential conflict of interest in these transactions.  Accordingly, the related party policy aims 
to prioritiz e the C ompany’ s interests, in line with the transparency of processes and the best C orporate 
G overnance practices.  
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  1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 9   1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  

        Restated 

  Current  Non-current  Total  Current  Non-current  Total 

Related parties Nature of the main 
transaction 

           

Assets             
G overnment of the 
State of Sã o P aulo 

C / R  -  T ransport services ( a)  254,497  700  255,197  1 8 5,1 6 9   7 0 0   1 8 5,8 6 9  
C ommission- paid C / R  -  E mployees assigned ( b)  6,714  -  6,714  3 ,4 0 5  -   3 ,4 0 5 

  261,211  700  261,911  1 8 8 ,57 4   7 0 0   1 8 9 ,27 4  
             
Liabilities             

C BT U  C / P  -  Agreements ( c)  (3,874)  (230,537)  (234,411)  ( 3 ,8 7 4 )   ( 23 4 ,4 1 1 )   ( 23 8 ,28 5)  
Metrus -  I nstitute C / P  -  Social security and 

health ( d)  
(22,790)  -  (22,790)  ( 3 0 ,7 9 7 )   -   ( 3 0 ,7 9 7 )  

  (26,664)  (230,537)  (257,201)  ( 3 4 ,6 7 1 )   ( 23 4 ,4 1 1 )   ( 26 9 ,0 8 2)  

             
      12/31/2019      1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  Income           

C BT U  C / P  -  Agreements ( c)      3 8 7 4       3 ,8 7 4  
C P T M R evenue from L 5 assets ( e)      -       22,7 8 0  
Management P ayroll expenses ( f)      (4,988)      ( 5,21 2)  

T otal      (1,114)      21 ,4 4 2 

 
( a)  Amounts receivable from the G overnment of the State of Sã o P aulo referring to reimbursements for the 

passenger transport operation.  
( b)  As shown in note 5. 1  ( a)  Accounts receivable, net, refers to reimbursement for the assignment of professionals 

belonging to its staff to other companies related to the management of the State of Sã o P aulo or to 
governmental entities.  

( c)  Amounts to be recogniz ed in the income statement on an accrual basis, the origin of which is due to an 
agreement entered into with C ompanhia Brasileira de T rens U rbanos – C BT U  for the transfer of R $  27 0  million 
Braz ilian reais received as a subsidy from the F ederal G overnment, through the Ministry of C ities, to continue 
the work  on L ine 2 – G reen, as provided in P rovisional P residential D ecree N o.  4 0 8  of D ecember 20 0 7 .  

( d)  Amounts payable to Metrus – I nstituto de Seguridade Social, referring to the sponsor’s contribution on the private 
retirement plans ( P lan I  and P lan I I )  and medical care of its employees.  

( e)  R evenues from L ine 5 – L ilac in the first half of 20 1 8 .  Although all stations and trains in operation are owned by 
C ompanhia P aulista de T rens Metropolitanos – C P T M, the operation of this line, at the time, was carried out by 
Metro, according to Agreement N o.  0 23 27 8 9 1 0 1  entered into and later validated on D ecember 27 , 20 0 7 .  As of 
August 4 , 20 1 8 , the operation and maintenance started to be carried out by V iaMobilidade through the 
Metropolitan T ransportation O ffice – ST M, by means of concession contract no.  0 0 3 / 20 1 8  – C oncession of lines 
5 -  L ilac and 1 7  – G old, entered into on April 5, 20 1 8 .  

( f)  T his is the amount paid as fees for the E xecutive Board, Board of D irectors and C ommittees.  
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13 Suppliers 
 
 

 12/31/2019  12/31/2018 

   Restated 
Domestic third-parties    

C ontractors -  civil work s 221,415  4 5,7 3 4  
System suppliers 126,318  226 ,1 25 
Service provision 146,325  8 4 ,0 1 5 
E lectricity 8,095  7 ,23 5 
O thers 27,803  4 8 ,7 1 4  

Domestic suppliers 529,956  4 1 1 ,8 23  
Foreign suppliers 20  4 1 8  

Total 529,976  4 1 2,24 1  

 
 

14 Taxes and contributions payable 
 
 

 12/31/2019  12/31/2018 

   Restated 

Current    

Social security contribution on gross revenue -  C P R B 4,057  5,23 0  
P I S and C ofins -  on non- fare revenues and imports 19,321  1 3 ,225 
U rban R eal E state T ax -  I P T U  2,082  1 ,59 8  
W ithholding I ncome T ax -  I R R F  31,515  3 6 ,6 6 2 
P I S, C O F I N S and C SL L  -  withholding of contracting services 2,404  5,1 1 7  
O ther taxes and contributions ( a)  7,946  8 ,4 22 

Total 67,325  7 0 ,254  

Non-current    

O ccupational accident insurance -  SAT  -  1 7 ,51 6  

Total -  1 7 ,51 6  

Grand total 67,325  8 7 ,7 7 0  

( a)  I ncludes amounts payable related to I SS, I C MS and C I D E .  
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15 Payroll and related costs  

  12/31/2019  12/31/2018 

    Restated 

 W ages payable 41,643  3 6 ,9 23  

 Social charges 71,202  7 6 ,9 9 4  

 V acation 118,338  1 0 9 ,4 4 1  

 V oluntary employment termination program -  P D V  71,542  1 7 3 ,3 9 8  

 P rofit- sharing -  P P R  58,911  6 6 ,0 59  

 O ther amounts payable ( a)  5,520  21 ,6 20  

  367,156  4 8 4 ,4 3 5 

  
Total - current 

 
330,629   

4 21 ,6 28  

 Total - non-current 36,527  6 2,8 0 7  

 Total payroll and related costs 367,156  4 8 4 ,4 3 5 

 
( a)  I ncludes:  Severance payments and pensions.  

 
16 Deferred revenue from customers 

 
 

 12/31/2019  12/31/2018 
   

Restated 
Current    

C redits held by passengers ( a)  404,055  3 56 ,7 55 
U nearned leases 3,125  3 ,9 0 5 
Business centers 3,898  3 ,8 9 8  
O thers 1,244  20 7  

Total 412,322  3 6 4 ,7 6 5 
    

Non-current    

Business centers 107,964  1 1 1 ,8 6 2 
O thers 10,878  3 21  

Total 118,842  1 1 2,1 8 3  
    

Grand total 531,164  4 7 6 ,9 4 9  
( a)  C redits held by passengers consist of tick ets:  Ú nico, E dmonson and Bom .  C redits acq uired by passengers are 

not subj ect to a time limit for their use.  
 

17 Supplementary retirement plans 

17. 1 Benefit plans 
 

T he C ompany provides costing of supplementary lifetime retirement plans structured in the form of 
defined benefit ( P lan I )  and defined contribution ( P lan I I )  aimed at its employees and managed by 
Metrus – I nstituto de Seguridade Social, a closely- held entity of supplementary social security, which 
is sponsored by Metro.  
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i)  D efined benefit ( P lan I )  
 

G ranted to employees until 1 9 9 9 , with fixed contributions, providing for the payment of 
supplementary lifetime income benefits for participants at least 6 0  years of age and 1 0  years of 
participation in the plan.  

 
ii)  D efined contribution ( P lan I I )  

 
G ranted to employees after 1 9 9 9  and to participants who accepted the migration from P lan I , 
providing for contributions that are fixed and which may be supplemented with variable contributions 
and, ultimately, may reach the same benefit payment structure, under the same conditions of 
participation time in the plan and age applied in P lan I .  

 
Both plans are limited to the compensation curve of the q uota balance in force when the participant 
is eligible for the benefit, and are limited to up to 70% of the professional’s current wage. 

 
T he difference is that, in P lan I , the participant has secured by the sponsor the right to the benefit of 
7 0 %  of the compensation, if the contribution plan is fulfilled and regardless of the performance of the 
plan’s financial assets and liabilities, while in Plan II, the benefit amounts are conditioned on the 
additional contributions that the participant may make and the performance of the plan’s assets and 
liabilities.  

 
The Company offers survivor’s pension to the eligible participant and retirement due to disability. 

 
As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9  and 20 1 8 , the amount of future obligations recorded for these benefits in 
P lan I  is R $  9 0 ,227  and R $  21 6 ,4 1 3 , respectively.  

 
As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9  and 20 1 8 , the contribution amounts of the sponsor and participants to P lan 
I I  are R $  7 3 ,6 3 9  and R $  6 2,557 , respectively.  

 
17. 2 Major economic and biometric actuarial assumptions used in calculating 
actuarial liabilities 

 
 

 12/31/2019 12/31/2018 

 
Average payment duration -  P lan I  

 
22. 39 years 

 
1 8 . 4 6  years 

Average payment duration -  P lan I I  25. 27 years 27 . 0 2 years 
D iscount rate -  P lan I  7. 57%  p. a.  9 . 1 0 %  p. a.  
D iscount rate -  P lan I I  7. 57%  p. a.  9 . 1 7 %  p. a.  
L ong- term inflation rate 3. 85%  p. a.  4 . 0 0 %  p. a.  
Biometric survivor table -  P lan I  AT-2000 AT - 8 3  
Biometric survivor table -  P lan I I  AT-2000 AT - 20 0 0  
Biometric mortality table for disabled people IBGE  2010 I BG E  20 1 0  

 
C hanges in the discount rate and wage growth rate assumptions would have the following effects on 
D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 :  
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T he accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial 
statements.  

Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metro 
Notes to the financial statements  
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018  
(In thousands of Brazilian reais, except as otherwise stated) 

 

 

 

 Change Increase in assumption Decrease in assumption 

Plan I 
D iscount rate 

 
 

0 . 25%  

 
 

1 . 27 %  decrease 

 
 

3 . 7 7 %  increase 
Salary growth rate 1 . 0 0 %  0 . 9 7 %  decrease 0 . 9 2%  decrease 

Plan II 
D iscount rate 

 
 

0 . 25%  

 
 

1 . 27 %  decrease 

 
 

0 . 8 7 %  increase 
Salary growth rate 1 . 0 0 %  0 . 9 7 %  decrease 1 . 0 0 %  increase 

 
17. 3 Changes in net actuarial liabilities and fair value of plan assets and actuarial 

obligations 
 
 
 

 Plan I 

Beginning balance as of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 7  257 ,6 1 1  
C urrent service cost 23 ,1 3 1  
I nterest on actuarial obligation 21 ,9 7 7  
C ontributions from sponsor ( 21 ,9 1 1 )  
C ontributions from participants ( 22,1 6 9 )  
Actuarial ( gains)  /  losses -  O R A ( 20 1 8 )  ( 4 2,226 )  

E nding balance as of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 8  -  R estated 21 6 ,4 1 3  

C urrent service cost 21,677 
I nterest on actuarial obligation 18,023 
C ontributions from sponsor (12,119) 
C ontributions from participants (12,215) 
Actuarial ( gains)  /  losses -  O R A ( 20 1 8 )  (51,325) 

E nding balance as of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9  180,454 

P resent value of actuarial obligations 1,566,114 
F air value of plan assets (1,385,660) 
N et liabilities as of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9  180,454 

50 %  under the responsibility of Metro 90,227 

 
 

T he C ompany recogniz es actuarial gains or losses arising from actuarial assumptions directly in 
eq uity, as an asset valuation adj ustment, net of deferred income tax only at the end of the year, 
when the actuarial calculation by an independent consultant is determined.  

 
I n D ecember 20 1 9 , the amount of benefits paid j ointly by the two plans is 1 27 ,8 57 .  ( As of D ecember 
3 1 , 20 1 8 , the amount paid was R $  1 0 6 ,4 58 ) .  

 
18 Allow ance for litigation 

T he C ompany is a defendant in a number of lawsuits related to the regular course of business, including 
actions in the employment, civil, tax and social security spheres.  Management consistently recogniz es 
allowances in the financial statements, when the lik elihood of loss is considered probable by its legal 
advisors.  

 
P ayment terms and amounts may vary depending on the final outcome of legal actions.  T he allowances 
are shown as follows:  
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 Balance as of 

1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8   Additions  Adj ustments 
for inflation  Settlements/  

write- offs  Balance as of 
1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 9  

 

Restated 
        

E mployment 1 1 9 ,29 0   4 1 ,1 1 9   ( 1 6 ,24 1 )   ( 52,1 9 6 )   9 1 ,9 7 1  
C ivil 6 0 7 ,7 6 8   1 1 6 ,0 8 8   6 3 ,4 8 2  ( 4 8 ,0 6 2)   7 3 9 ,27 7  
T ax and social security 54   6 ,224   9 9   ( 1 56 )   6 ,221  
Total 7 27 ,1 1 2  1 6 3 ,4 3 1   4 7 ,3 4 0   ( 1 0 0 ,4 1 4 )   8 3 7 ,4 6 9  

 
 
 

18. 1 E mployment claims 
 

As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 , the C ompany is a defendant in 4 ,4 4 4  employment claims.  
 

T he employment disputes are mainly related to claims about dangerous work , eq ual pay and 
overtime.  

 
18. 2 Civil actions 

 
As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 , the C ompany is a defendant in 9 24  civil actions.  

 
C ivil actions are mainly related to discussions of credits receivable and pecuniary damages and pain 
and suffering.  

 
Among the lawsuits, the actions filed the companies E mtel and I nepar stand out, described in detail 
below:  

 
‘Turma da Rua’ Case 

 
According to the agreement entered into, Metrus, in O ctober 1 9 8 8 , assumed responsibility for the 
management of the Turma da Rua’ P rogram, with Metro remaining liable for all costs resulting 
therefrom, in compliance with the rules established by the G overnment of the State of Sã o P aulo.  I n 
this sense, Metro transferred the necessary funds to Metrus for the payment of obligations.  T he labor 
for the performance of this P rogram was outsourced, with the engagement of E MT E L  – R ecursos 
H umanos e Serviç os T erceiriz ados L tda.  

 
T he contract with E MT E L  expired on March 6 , 1 9 9 5, when the P rogram management was assumed 
by Metro again, on an emergency basis, since the services could not be discontinued and there was 
no legal possibility of contract extension.  

 
At present, E MT E L  and Metrus are parties to a lawsuit, in which employment disputes are discussed, 
plus court costs, adj ustment for inflation, late payment interest and attorney fees, which the I nstitute 
does not recogniz e as its obligation.  

 
I n addition, several employment claims were filed against E MT E L , in which Metrus may also come to 
be j ointly and severally liable for the resulting obligations.  

 
Accordingly, as a result of the agreement entered into between Metro and Metrus, any expenses 
arising from these lawsuits, if due by the I nstitute, will, ultimately, be borne by Metro and the 
G overnment of the State of Sã o P aulo.  As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 , the amount accrued for this 
contingency, due to its lik ely probability, is R $  54 7 ,8 8 6  ( R $  54 3 ,8 1 1  as of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 8 ) .  

  

243

INTEGRATED REPORT - 2019

Financial Statements

INTRODUCTION

HIGHLIGHTS 2019

STATEMENT FROM  
THE CEO

OVERVIEW 

SIGNIFICANT NUMBERS

ACHIEVEMENTS 2019

SOCIAL BALANCE

CORPORATE 
STRATEGY

FINANCIAL AND ECONOMIC 
PERFORMANCE

ANNUAL CHART

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

FINAL PROVISIONS

GRI INDEX

DIRECTORS

FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS



50  

T he accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial 
statements.  

Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metro 
Notes to the financial statements  
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018  
(In thousands of Brazilian reais, except as otherwise stated) 

 

 

Inepar Case 
 

T he C ompany appears as the defendant in a lawsuit filed by the company I nepar, which alleges 
losses arising from successive extensions of the terms of the contract entered into with Metro in 
1 9 9 2, the subj ect matter of which corresponds to the provision of engineering services, the supply 
and assembly of eq uipment, materials and components of the permanent way, intended for the N orth 
E xtension of the N orth- South L ine of the Sã o P aulo Metro.  

 
T he plaintiff alleges in the action that, due to contractual term extensions, additional indirect costs 
were generated, not covered by the compensation paid during the contractual execution.  

 
As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 , the C ompany assesses the probability of loss as probable in the 
estimated amount of R$ 76,362. In June 2019, Inepar’s lawsuit went from a possible to a probable 
risk  classification, in view of court orders that are unfavorable to the C ompany.  

 
18. 3 Tax and social security cases 

 
As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 , the C ompany is a defendant in 1 ,1 0 4  tax and social security 
administrative and j udicial proceedings.  

 
I n general, the tax and social security actions are mainly related to exemptions from collection of I SS 
related to demolitions, penalties imposed and discussions on the levy of various taxes.  

 
18. 4 Legal actions pending provision 

 
T he C ompany is a party to employment, civil and tax actions which are not provisioned, as they 
involve a risk  of loss classified by Management and its legal advisors as possible.  

 
 

 12/31/2019  1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  

    
Restated 

E mployment 253,277  26 0 ,7 8 7  
C ivil ( a)  2,490,392  4 ,28 1 ,6 9 8  
T ax and social security 58,964  24 ,1 8 9  

Total 2,802,633  4 ,56 6 ,6 7 4  

( a)  T he five maj or civil lawsuits, not provisioned, are filed by the following companies:  Andrade G utierrez  E ngenharia 
S. A.  ( 2 lawsuits) , C onsó rcio V ia Amarela, C orsan- C orviam C onstruccion S. A.  do Brasil and Boulevard Sã o 
Bento S/ A.  T hese lawsuits have an estimated loss in the amount of R $  1 ,3 0 2,1 3 0 .  

 
19 Stockholders’ equity 

19. 1 Authoriz ed capital 
 

T he C ompany operates under an authoriz ed capital regime, which was raised at the Annual and 
Special Shareholders’ Meeting held on October 23, 2018, to the amount of R$ 52,674,522 as 
provided for in Article 3  of the Articles of I ncorporation ( on D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 7  in the amount of R $  
3 9 ,8 4 5,226 ) .  
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T he accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial 
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T he Board of D irectors may pass a resolution on the capital increase within the authoriz ed limit and 
upon consulting the Fiscal Committee, in accordance with Article 14, item XIII of the Company’s 
Articles of I ncorporation.  

 
19. 2 Capital 

 
As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 , the paid- in capital is R $  4 0 ,0 1 0 ,9 1 5, consisting of 7 ,1 8 2,6 9 0  single class 
shares of common stock , nominative, with no par value and entitled to one vote each ( As of 
D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 8 , the subscribed and paid- in capital is R $  3 8 ,51 6 ,4 9 5 and consists of 6 ,8 6 5,556  
shares of common stock ) .  

 
D uring the period ended D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 , a capital increase in the amount of R $  2,1 4 2,7 27  was 
carried out, of which R $  1 ,0 59 ,3 8 1  was paid in assets received in an asset exchange transaction and 
R $  1 ,0 59 ,3 8 2 referring to the contribution of funds in national currency.  I n the exchange transaction, 
a capital reduction of R $  6 4 8 ,3 0 7  was carried out in transferred assets, according to note 1 , item ( iii)  
and the Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity. 

 
The following is the breakdown of the Company’s capital: 

 

Shareholder 1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 9    1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8   

Amount -  O N  %   Amount -  O N  %  
Sã o P aulo State T ax Authority -  F E SP  6,977,893 97. 15%   6 ,6 6 0 ,7 59  9 7 . 0 2%  
Municipal G overnment of Sã o P aulo -  P MSP  202,032 2. 81%   20 2,0 3 2 2. 9 4 %  
BN D E S P articipaç õ es S. A.  -  BN D E SP AR  1,171 0. 02%   1 ,1 7 1  0 . 0 2%  
C ompanhia P aulista de O bras e Serviç os -  C P O S 1,043 0. 01%   1 ,0 4 3  0 . 0 1 %  
E mpresa P aulista de P lanej .  Metropol.  S/ A -   E MP L ASA 547 0. 01%   54 7  0 . 0 1 %  
O thers -  treasury stock  4 0. 00%   4  0 . 0 0 %  

Total 7,182,690 100. 00%   6 ,8 6 5,556  1 0 0 . 0 0 %  

 
 
20 Net operating revenue 
 

 

12/31/2019  12/31/2018 
   Restated 

Fare revenue 2,023,047  1 ,9 6 7 ,0 3 7  
    

Free transport service (reimbursement) (a) 630,183  6 3 8 ,3 9 6  
    

P roperty development 114,849  1 0 6 ,1 1 2 
R etail 71,815  6 8 ,0 4 8  
Media and advertising 47,107  4 6 ,4 3 3  
T elecommunications 13,223  1 3 ,0 0 4  
O ther businesses 207  -  

Non-fare revenue 247,200  23 3 ,59 7  
    

Gross operating revenue 2,900,430  2,8 3 9 ,0 3 1  
    

D eductions and rebates (13,468)  ( 4 2,4 21 )  
T axes on gross revenue ( b)  (75,793)  ( 7 6 ,20 8 )  

Deductions and taxes (89,260)  ( 1 1 8 ,6 3 0 )  
    

Net operating revenue 2,811,170  2,7 20 ,4 0 1  
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T he accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial 
statements.  

Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metro 
Notes to the financial statements  
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018  
(In thousands of Brazilian reais, except as otherwise stated) 

 

 

( a)  As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9  and 20 1 8 , it includes the amounts of R $  6 3 0 ,1 8 3  and R $  6 3 8 ,3 9 6  as reimbursement 
of free transport services offered to the population by means of public policies implemented.  

( b)  As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9  and 20 1 8 , it includes the amounts of R $  55,0 1 0  and R $  52,54 4  respectively, referring 
to the Social Security C ontribution on G ross R evenue – C P R B.  

 
21 Cost of services, general and administrative expenses 

 
 

 

1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 9  1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  

Restated 
Cost of services 

P ersonnel (1,364,547)  ( 1 ,3 6 8 ,9 3 7 )  
Materials (59,860)  ( 4 5,24 7 )  
T raction electricity (221,973)  ( 1 9 7 ,54 3 )  
Services (151,622)  ( 1 6 0 ,6 8 1 )  
G eneral expenses (115,981)  ( 8 3 ,54 5)  
D epreciation and amortiz ation (555,224)  ( 553 ,1 8 9 )  

 (2,469,207)  ( 2,4 0 9 ,1 4 2)  
 

Selling expenses 
P ersonnel (19,022)  ( 1 4 ,1 6 1 )  
Materials (5)  ( 4 )  
Services (573)  ( 9 23 )  
G eneral expenses (31)  ( 1 ,254 )  
D epreciation and amortiz ation (8)  ( 8 )  

 (19,639)  ( 1 6 ,3 50 )  
 

General and administrative expenses 
P ersonnel (352,380)  ( 4 3 2,26 9 )  
Materials (2,066)  ( 1 ,8 0 4 )  
Services (117,918)  ( 1 1 6 ,9 9 6 )  
G eneral expenses (361,272)  ( 24 9 ,8 50 )  
N et Allowances with E xpected C redit L osses (28,750)  54 ,57 4  
D epreciation and amortiz ation (23,623)  ( 23 ,3 8 5)  
R eceipt expenses (48,407)  ( 53 ,3 1 4 )  

 (934,416)  ( 8 23 ,0 4 5)  
 

Other operating revenues (expenses) 
R evenues from other services 62,486  1 4 ,4 6 4  
C ontractual penalties 20,797  3 4 ,1 1 2 
I ncome on sale of assets 9,656  3 7 ,6 54  
C BT U  agreement credits 3,874  3 ,8 7 4  
W rite- off of property, plant and eq uipment and intangible assets 10,118  ( 1 9 2,7 9 5)  
O ther operating expenses, net (142,008)  ( 6 8 ,9 6 6 )  

 (35,077)  ( 1 7 1 ,6 57 )  

 (3,458,339)  ( 3 ,4 20 ,1 9 4 )  
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22 Financial result, net 
 

 

12/31/2019  12/31/2018 
   

Restated 
Financial revenues    

Y ield of financial investments 43,173  3 0 ,6 7 0  
I nterest revenue 7,357  2,7 23  
D iscounts granted 8,406  9 ,528  
Adj ust to present value 6,465  -  

 65,401  4 2,9 21  
    

Financial expenses    

I nterest expenses (1,760)  ( 5,0 0 6 )  
Actuarial interest expenses (19,850)  ( 21 ,9 7 7 )  
O ther financial expenses (962)  ( 2,3 6 7 )  

 (22,572)  ( 29 ,3 50 )  
Adjustments for inflation and exchange rate changes    

N et adj ustments for inflation 3,873  9 0 1  
N et exchange rate changes 1,050  1 ,6 8 1  

 4,923  2,58 3  
    

T otal financial revenues 65,401  4 2,9 21  
T otal financial expenses (22,572)  ( 29 ,3 50 )  
T otal adj ustments for inflation and exchange rate changes 4,923  2,58 3  

Net financial result 47,752  1 6 ,1 54  
 
 
23 Income tax and social contribution  
 

 23. 1 Deferred income tax and social contribution    
 

D eferred income tax and social contribution are calculated on temporary differences between the 
bases for calculating taxes on profit and the accounting amounts recorded ( changes in 
miscellaneous allowances and calculation of the fair value of financial instruments) .  

 
T he nominal rates currently defined by applicable tax laws to determine deferred taxes are 25%  for 
income tax and 9 %  for social contribution.  

 
As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 , the C ompany did not recogniz e deferred tax credits as there is no 
expectation of taxable income for the next years.  

 
T he break down of tax losses and social contribution negative basis are shown below:  

 
 12/31/2019 12/31/2018 

 Restated 
T ax losses 4,177,864 3 ,9 8 4 ,58 5 
Social contribution negative basis 3,864,021 3 ,6 9 3 ,8 3 1  
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( a)  As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9  and 20 1 8 , it includes the amounts of R $  6 3 0 ,1 8 3  and R $  6 3 8 ,3 9 6  as reimbursement 
of free transport services offered to the population by means of public policies implemented.  

( b)  As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9  and 20 1 8 , it includes the amounts of R $  55,0 1 0  and R $  52,54 4  respectively, referring 
to the Social Security C ontribution on G ross R evenue –  C P R B.  

 
21 Operating costs, selling and administrative expenses  

 
 

 

1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 9  1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  

Restated 
Cost of services provided 

Salaries  (1,364,547)  ( 1 ,3 6 8 ,9 3 7 )  
Materials (59,860)  ( 4 5,24 7 )  
T raction electricity (221,973)  ( 1 9 7 ,54 3 )  
Services (151,622)  ( 1 6 0 ,6 8 1 )  
G eneral expenses (115,981)  ( 8 3 ,54 5)  
D epreciation and amortiz ation (555,224)  ( 553 ,1 8 9 )  

 (2,469,207)  ( 2,4 0 9 ,1 4 2)  
 

Selling expenses 
Salaries  (19,022)  ( 1 4 ,1 6 1 )  
Materials (5)  ( 4 )  
Services (573)  ( 9 23 )  
G eneral expenses (31)  ( 1 ,254 )  
D epreciation and amortiz ation (8)  ( 8 )  

 (19,639)  ( 1 6 ,3 50 )  
 

General and administrative expenses 
Salaries  (352,380)  ( 4 3 2,26 9 )  
Materials (2,066)  ( 1 ,8 0 4 )  
Services (117,918)  ( 1 1 6 ,9 9 6 )  
G eneral expenses (361,272)  ( 24 9 ,8 50 )  
N et Allowances with E xpected C redit L osses (28,750)  54 ,57 4  
D epreciation and amortiz ation (23,623)  ( 23 ,3 8 5)  
R eceipt expenses (48,407)  ( 53 ,3 1 4 )  

 (934,416)  ( 8 23 ,0 4 5)  
 

Other operating revenues (expenses) 
R evenues from other services 62,486  1 4 ,4 6 4  
C ontractual penalties 20,797  3 4 ,1 1 2 
I ncome on sale of assets 9,656  3 7 ,6 54  
C BT U  agreement credits 3,874  3 ,8 7 4  
W rite- off of property, plant and eq uipment and intangible assets 10,118  ( 1 9 2,7 9 5)  
O ther operating expenses, net (142,008)  ( 6 8 ,9 6 6 )  

 (35,077)  ( 1 7 1 ,6 57 )  

 (3,458,339)  ( 3 ,4 20 ,1 9 4 )  
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22 Financial income  
 

 

12/31/2019  12/31/2018 
   

Restated 
Financial revenues    

Y ield of financial investments 43,173  3 0 ,6 7 0  
I nterest revenue 7,357  2,7 23  
D iscounts granted 8,406  9 ,528  
Adj ust to present value 6,465  -  

 65,401  4 2,9 21  
    

Financial expenses    

I nterest expenses (1,760)  ( 5,0 0 6 )  
Actuarial interest expenses (19,850)  ( 21 ,9 7 7 )  
O ther financial expenses (962)  ( 2,3 6 7 )  

 (22,572)  ( 29 ,3 50 )  
Adjustments for inflation and exchange rate changes    

N et adj ustments for inflation 3,873  9 0 1  
N et exchange rate changes 1,050  1 ,6 8 1  

 4,923  2,58 3  
    

T otal financial revenues 65,401  4 2,9 21  
T otal financial expenses (22,572)  ( 29 ,3 50 )  
T otal adj ustments for inflation and exchange rate changes 4,923  2,58 3  

Net financial result 47,752  1 6 ,1 54  
 
 
23 Income tax and social contribution  
 

 23. 1 Deferred income tax and social contribution    
 

D eferred income tax and social contribution are calculated on temporary differences between the 
bases for calculating taxes on profit and the accounting amounts recorded ( changes in 
miscellaneous allowances and calculation of the fair value of financial instruments) .  

 
T he nominal rates currently defined by applicable tax laws to determine deferred taxes are 25%  for 
income tax and 9 %  for social contribution.  

 
As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 , the C ompany did not recogniz e deferred tax credits as there is no 
expectation of taxable income for the next years.  

 
T he break down of tax losses and social contribution negative basis are shown below:  

 
 12/31/2019 12/31/2018 

 Restated 
T ax losses 4,177,864 3 ,9 8 4 ,58 5 
Social contribution negative basis 3,864,021 3 ,6 9 3 ,8 3 1  
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( a)  As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9  and 20 1 8 , it includes the amounts of R $  6 3 0 ,1 8 3  and R $  6 3 8 ,3 9 6  as reimbursement 
of free transport services offered to the population by means of public policies implemented.  

( b)  As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9  and 20 1 8 , it includes the amounts of R $  55,0 1 0  and R $  52,54 4  respectively, referring 
to the Social Security C ontribution on G ross R evenue –  C P R B.  

 
21 Operating costs, selling and administrative expenses  

 
 

 

1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 9  1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  

Restated 
Cost of services provided 

Salaries  (1,364,547)  ( 1 ,3 6 8 ,9 3 7 )  
Materials (59,860)  ( 4 5,24 7 )  
T raction electricity (221,973)  ( 1 9 7 ,54 3 )  
Services (151,622)  ( 1 6 0 ,6 8 1 )  
G eneral expenses (115,981)  ( 8 3 ,54 5)  
D epreciation and amortiz ation (555,224)  ( 553 ,1 8 9 )  

 (2,469,207)  ( 2,4 0 9 ,1 4 2)  
 

Selling expenses 
Salaries  (19,022)  ( 1 4 ,1 6 1 )  
Materials (5)  ( 4 )  
Services (573)  ( 9 23 )  
G eneral expenses (31)  ( 1 ,254 )  
D epreciation and amortiz ation (8)  ( 8 )  

 (19,639)  ( 1 6 ,3 50 )  
 

General and administrative expenses 
Salaries  (352,380)  ( 4 3 2,26 9 )  
Materials (2,066)  ( 1 ,8 0 4 )  
Services (117,918)  ( 1 1 6 ,9 9 6 )  
G eneral expenses (361,272)  ( 24 9 ,8 50 )  
N et Allowances with E xpected C redit L osses (28,750)  54 ,57 4  
D epreciation and amortiz ation (23,623)  ( 23 ,3 8 5)  
R eceipt expenses (48,407)  ( 53 ,3 1 4 )  

 (934,416)  ( 8 23 ,0 4 5)  
 

Other operating revenues (expenses) 
R evenues from other services 62,486  1 4 ,4 6 4  
C ontractual penalties 20,797  3 4 ,1 1 2 
I ncome on sale of assets 9,656  3 7 ,6 54  
C BT U  agreement credits 3,874  3 ,8 7 4  
W rite- off of property, plant and eq uipment and intangible assets 10,118  ( 1 9 2,7 9 5)  
O ther operating expenses, net (142,008)  ( 6 8 ,9 6 6 )  

 (35,077)  ( 1 7 1 ,6 57 )  

 (3,458,339)  ( 3 ,4 20 ,1 9 4 )  

  

53  

T he accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial 
statements.  

Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metro 
Notes to the financial statements  
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018  
(In thousands of Brazilian reais, except as otherwise stated) 

 

 

22 Financial income  
 

 

12/31/2019  12/31/2018 
   

Restated 
Financial revenues    

Y ield of financial investments 43,173  3 0 ,6 7 0  
I nterest revenue 7,357  2,7 23  
D iscounts granted 8,406  9 ,528  
Adj ust to present value 6,465  -  

 65,401  4 2,9 21  
    

Financial expenses    

I nterest expenses (1,760)  ( 5,0 0 6 )  
Actuarial interest expenses (19,850)  ( 21 ,9 7 7 )  
O ther financial expenses (962)  ( 2,3 6 7 )  

 (22,572)  ( 29 ,3 50 )  
Adjustments for inflation and exchange rate changes    

N et adj ustments for inflation 3,873  9 0 1  
N et exchange rate changes 1,050  1 ,6 8 1  

 4,923  2,58 3  
    

T otal financial revenues 65,401  4 2,9 21  
T otal financial expenses (22,572)  ( 29 ,3 50 )  
T otal adj ustments for inflation and exchange rate changes 4,923  2,58 3  

Net financial result 47,752  1 6 ,1 54  
 
 
23 Income tax and social contribution  
 

 23. 1 Deferred income tax and social contribution    
 

D eferred income tax and social contribution are calculated on temporary differences between the 
bases for calculating taxes on profit and the accounting amounts recorded ( changes in 
miscellaneous allowances and calculation of the fair value of financial instruments) .  

 
T he nominal rates currently defined by applicable tax laws to determine deferred taxes are 25%  for 
income tax and 9 %  for social contribution.  

 
As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 , the C ompany did not recogniz e deferred tax credits as there is no 
expectation of taxable income for the next years.  

 
T he break down of tax losses and social contribution negative basis are shown below:  

 
 12/31/2019 12/31/2018 

 Restated 
T ax losses 4,177,864 3 ,9 8 4 ,58 5 
Social contribution negative basis 3,864,021 3 ,6 9 3 ,8 3 1  
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T he accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial 
statements.  

Companhia do Metropolitano de São Paulo - Metro 
Notes to the financial statements  
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018  
(In thousands of Brazilian reais, except as otherwise stated) 

 

 

( a)  As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9  and 20 1 8 , it includes the amounts of R $  6 3 0 ,1 8 3  and R $  6 3 8 ,3 9 6  as reimbursement 
of free transport services offered to the population by means of public policies implemented.  

( b)  As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9  and 20 1 8 , it includes the amounts of R $  55,0 1 0  and R $  52,54 4  respectively, referring 
to the Social Security C ontribution on G ross R evenue –  C P R B.  

 
21 Operating costs, selling and administrative expenses  

 
 

 

1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 9  1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  

Restated 
Cost of services provided 

Salaries  (1,364,547)  ( 1 ,3 6 8 ,9 3 7 )  
Materials (59,860)  ( 4 5,24 7 )  
T raction electricity (221,973)  ( 1 9 7 ,54 3 )  
Services (151,622)  ( 1 6 0 ,6 8 1 )  
G eneral expenses (115,981)  ( 8 3 ,54 5)  
D epreciation and amortiz ation (555,224)  ( 553 ,1 8 9 )  

 (2,469,207)  ( 2,4 0 9 ,1 4 2)  
 

Selling expenses 
Salaries  (19,022)  ( 1 4 ,1 6 1 )  
Materials (5)  ( 4 )  
Services (573)  ( 9 23 )  
G eneral expenses (31)  ( 1 ,254 )  
D epreciation and amortiz ation (8)  ( 8 )  

 (19,639)  ( 1 6 ,3 50 )  
 

General and administrative expenses 
Salaries  (352,380)  ( 4 3 2,26 9 )  
Materials (2,066)  ( 1 ,8 0 4 )  
Services (117,918)  ( 1 1 6 ,9 9 6 )  
G eneral expenses (361,272)  ( 24 9 ,8 50 )  
N et Allowances with E xpected C redit L osses (28,750)  54 ,57 4  
D epreciation and amortiz ation (23,623)  ( 23 ,3 8 5)  
R eceipt expenses (48,407)  ( 53 ,3 1 4 )  

 (934,416)  ( 8 23 ,0 4 5)  
 

Other operating revenues (expenses) 
R evenues from other services 62,486  1 4 ,4 6 4  
C ontractual penalties 20,797  3 4 ,1 1 2 
I ncome on sale of assets 9,656  3 7 ,6 54  
C BT U  agreement credits 3,874  3 ,8 7 4  
W rite- off of property, plant and eq uipment and intangible assets 10,118  ( 1 9 2,7 9 5)  
O ther operating expenses, net (142,008)  ( 6 8 ,9 6 6 )  

 (35,077)  ( 1 7 1 ,6 57 )  

 (3,458,339)  ( 3 ,4 20 ,1 9 4 )  
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22 Financial income  
 

 

12/31/2019  12/31/2018 
   

Restated 
Financial revenues    

Y ield of financial investments 43,173  3 0 ,6 7 0  
I nterest revenue 7,357  2,7 23  
D iscounts granted 8,406  9 ,528  
Adj ust to present value 6,465  -  

 65,401  4 2,9 21  
    

Financial expenses    

I nterest expenses (1,760)  ( 5,0 0 6 )  
Actuarial interest expenses (19,850)  ( 21 ,9 7 7 )  
O ther financial expenses (962)  ( 2,3 6 7 )  

 (22,572)  ( 29 ,3 50 )  
Adjustments for inflation and exchange rate changes    

N et adj ustments for inflation 3,873  9 0 1  
N et exchange rate changes 1,050  1 ,6 8 1  

 4,923  2,58 3  
    

T otal financial revenues 65,401  4 2,9 21  
T otal financial expenses (22,572)  ( 29 ,3 50 )  
T otal adj ustments for inflation and exchange rate changes 4,923  2,58 3  

Net financial result 47,752  1 6 ,1 54  
 
 
23 Income tax and social contribution  
 

 23. 1 Deferred income tax and social contribution    
 

D eferred income tax and social contribution are calculated on temporary differences between the 
bases for calculating taxes on profit and the accounting amounts recorded ( changes in 
miscellaneous allowances and calculation of the fair value of financial instruments) .  

 
T he nominal rates currently defined by applicable tax laws to determine deferred taxes are 25%  for 
income tax and 9 %  for social contribution.  

 
As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 , the C ompany did not recogniz e deferred tax credits as there is no 
expectation of taxable income for the next years.  

 
T he break down of tax losses and social contribution negative basis are shown below:  

 
 12/31/2019 12/31/2018 

 Restated 
T ax losses 4,177,864 3 ,9 8 4 ,58 5 
Social contribution negative basis 3,864,021 3 ,6 9 3 ,8 3 1  
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( a)  As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9  and 20 1 8 , it includes the amounts of R $  6 3 0 ,1 8 3  and R $  6 3 8 ,3 9 6  as reimbursement 
of free transport services offered to the population by means of public policies implemented.  

( b)  As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9  and 20 1 8 , it includes the amounts of R $  55,0 1 0  and R $  52,54 4  respectively, referring 
to the Social Security C ontribution on G ross R evenue –  C P R B.  

 
21 Operating costs, selling and administrative expenses  

 
 

 

1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 9  1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  

Restated 
Cost of services provided 

Salaries  (1,364,547)  ( 1 ,3 6 8 ,9 3 7 )  
Materials (59,860)  ( 4 5,24 7 )  
T raction electricity (221,973)  ( 1 9 7 ,54 3 )  
Services (151,622)  ( 1 6 0 ,6 8 1 )  
G eneral expenses (115,981)  ( 8 3 ,54 5)  
D epreciation and amortiz ation (555,224)  ( 553 ,1 8 9 )  

 (2,469,207)  ( 2,4 0 9 ,1 4 2)  
 

Selling expenses 
Salaries  (19,022)  ( 1 4 ,1 6 1 )  
Materials (5)  ( 4 )  
Services (573)  ( 9 23 )  
G eneral expenses (31)  ( 1 ,254 )  
D epreciation and amortiz ation (8)  ( 8 )  

 (19,639)  ( 1 6 ,3 50 )  
 

General and administrative expenses 
Salaries  (352,380)  ( 4 3 2,26 9 )  
Materials (2,066)  ( 1 ,8 0 4 )  
Services (117,918)  ( 1 1 6 ,9 9 6 )  
G eneral expenses (361,272)  ( 24 9 ,8 50 )  
N et Allowances with E xpected C redit L osses (28,750)  54 ,57 4  
D epreciation and amortiz ation (23,623)  ( 23 ,3 8 5)  
R eceipt expenses (48,407)  ( 53 ,3 1 4 )  

 (934,416)  ( 8 23 ,0 4 5)  
 

Other operating revenues (expenses) 
R evenues from other services 62,486  1 4 ,4 6 4  
C ontractual penalties 20,797  3 4 ,1 1 2 
I ncome on sale of assets 9,656  3 7 ,6 54  
C BT U  agreement credits 3,874  3 ,8 7 4  
W rite- off of property, plant and eq uipment and intangible assets 10,118  ( 1 9 2,7 9 5)  
O ther operating expenses, net (142,008)  ( 6 8 ,9 6 6 )  

 (35,077)  ( 1 7 1 ,6 57 )  

 (3,458,339)  ( 3 ,4 20 ,1 9 4 )  
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22 Financial income  
 

 

12/31/2019  12/31/2018 
   

Restated 
Financial revenues    

Y ield of financial investments 43,173  3 0 ,6 7 0  
I nterest revenue 7,357  2,7 23  
D iscounts granted 8,406  9 ,528  
Adj ust to present value 6,465  -  

 65,401  4 2,9 21  
    

Financial expenses    

I nterest expenses (1,760)  ( 5,0 0 6 )  
Actuarial interest expenses (19,850)  ( 21 ,9 7 7 )  
O ther financial expenses (962)  ( 2,3 6 7 )  

 (22,572)  ( 29 ,3 50 )  
Adjustments for inflation and exchange rate changes    

N et adj ustments for inflation 3,873  9 0 1  
N et exchange rate changes 1,050  1 ,6 8 1  

 4,923  2,58 3  
    

T otal financial revenues 65,401  4 2,9 21  
T otal financial expenses (22,572)  ( 29 ,3 50 )  
T otal adj ustments for inflation and exchange rate changes 4,923  2,58 3  

Net financial result 47,752  1 6 ,1 54  
 
 
23 Income tax and social contribution  
 

 23. 1 Deferred income tax and social contribution    
 

D eferred income tax and social contribution are calculated on temporary differences between the 
bases for calculating taxes on profit and the accounting amounts recorded ( changes in 
miscellaneous allowances and calculation of the fair value of financial instruments) .  

 
T he nominal rates currently defined by applicable tax laws to determine deferred taxes are 25%  for 
income tax and 9 %  for social contribution.  

 
As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 , the C ompany did not recogniz e deferred tax credits as there is no 
expectation of taxable income for the next years.  

 
T he break down of tax losses and social contribution negative basis are shown below:  

 
 12/31/2019 12/31/2018 

 Restated 
T ax losses 4,177,864 3 ,9 8 4 ,58 5 
Social contribution negative basis 3,864,021 3 ,6 9 3 ,8 3 1  
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(In thousands of Brazilian reais, except as otherwise stated) 

 

 

( a)  As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9  and 20 1 8 , it includes the amounts of R $  6 3 0 ,1 8 3  and R $  6 3 8 ,3 9 6  as reimbursement 
of free transport services offered to the population by means of public policies implemented.  

( b)  As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9  and 20 1 8 , it includes the amounts of R $  55,0 1 0  and R $  52,54 4  respectively, referring 
to the Social Security C ontribution on G ross R evenue –  C P R B.  

 
21 Operating costs, selling and administrative expenses  

 
 

 

1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 9  1 2/ 3 1 / 20 1 8  

Restated 
Cost of services provided 

Salaries  (1,364,547)  ( 1 ,3 6 8 ,9 3 7 )  
Materials (59,860)  ( 4 5,24 7 )  
T raction electricity (221,973)  ( 1 9 7 ,54 3 )  
Services (151,622)  ( 1 6 0 ,6 8 1 )  
G eneral expenses (115,981)  ( 8 3 ,54 5)  
D epreciation and amortiz ation (555,224)  ( 553 ,1 8 9 )  

 (2,469,207)  ( 2,4 0 9 ,1 4 2)  
 

Selling expenses 
Salaries  (19,022)  ( 1 4 ,1 6 1 )  
Materials (5)  ( 4 )  
Services (573)  ( 9 23 )  
G eneral expenses (31)  ( 1 ,254 )  
D epreciation and amortiz ation (8)  ( 8 )  

 (19,639)  ( 1 6 ,3 50 )  
 

General and administrative expenses 
Salaries  (352,380)  ( 4 3 2,26 9 )  
Materials (2,066)  ( 1 ,8 0 4 )  
Services (117,918)  ( 1 1 6 ,9 9 6 )  
G eneral expenses (361,272)  ( 24 9 ,8 50 )  
N et Allowances with E xpected C redit L osses (28,750)  54 ,57 4  
D epreciation and amortiz ation (23,623)  ( 23 ,3 8 5)  
R eceipt expenses (48,407)  ( 53 ,3 1 4 )  

 (934,416)  ( 8 23 ,0 4 5)  
 

Other operating revenues (expenses) 
R evenues from other services 62,486  1 4 ,4 6 4  
C ontractual penalties 20,797  3 4 ,1 1 2 
I ncome on sale of assets 9,656  3 7 ,6 54  
C BT U  agreement credits 3,874  3 ,8 7 4  
W rite- off of property, plant and eq uipment and intangible assets 10,118  ( 1 9 2,7 9 5)  
O ther operating expenses, net (142,008)  ( 6 8 ,9 6 6 )  

 (35,077)  ( 1 7 1 ,6 57 )  

 (3,458,339)  ( 3 ,4 20 ,1 9 4 )  
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22 Financial income  
 

 

12/31/2019  12/31/2018 
   

Restated 
Financial revenues    

Y ield of financial investments 43,173  3 0 ,6 7 0  
I nterest revenue 7,357  2,7 23  
D iscounts granted 8,406  9 ,528  
Adj ust to present value 6,465  -  

 65,401  4 2,9 21  
    

Financial expenses    

I nterest expenses (1,760)  ( 5,0 0 6 )  
Actuarial interest expenses (19,850)  ( 21 ,9 7 7 )  
O ther financial expenses (962)  ( 2,3 6 7 )  

 (22,572)  ( 29 ,3 50 )  
Adjustments for inflation and exchange rate changes    

N et adj ustments for inflation 3,873  9 0 1  
N et exchange rate changes 1,050  1 ,6 8 1  

 4,923  2,58 3  
    

T otal financial revenues 65,401  4 2,9 21  
T otal financial expenses (22,572)  ( 29 ,3 50 )  
T otal adj ustments for inflation and exchange rate changes 4,923  2,58 3  

Net financial result 47,752  1 6 ,1 54  
 
 
23 Income tax and social contribution  
 

 23. 1 Deferred income tax and social contribution    
 

D eferred income tax and social contribution are calculated on temporary differences between the 
bases for calculating taxes on profit and the accounting amounts recorded ( changes in 
miscellaneous allowances and calculation of the fair value of financial instruments) .  

 
T he nominal rates currently defined by applicable tax laws to determine deferred taxes are 25%  for 
income tax and 9 %  for social contribution.  

 
As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 , the C ompany did not recogniz e deferred tax credits as there is no 
expectation of taxable income for the next years.  

 
T he break down of tax losses and social contribution negative basis are shown below:  

 
 12/31/2019 12/31/2018 

 Restated 
T ax losses 4,177,864 3 ,9 8 4 ,58 5 
Social contribution negative basis 3,864,021 3 ,6 9 3 ,8 3 1  
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23. 2 Reconciliation of Income tax and social contribution  

 12/31/2019  12/31/2018 

   Restated 

L oss before income tax and social contribution (599,416)  ( 6 8 3 ,6 3 9 )  
I ncome tax and social contribution at nominal rate ( 3 4 % )  203,801  23 2,4 3 7  

Tax effect on permanent differences:    
L aw N o.  8 . 20 0 / 9 1  -  C SL L  ( a)  (2,153)  ( 2,4 4 3 )  
L oss of credit held by users -  U nified T ick et (Bilhete Ú nico) -  ( 6 9 ,8 50 )  
Special tax regulariz ation program ( b)  -  ( 4 ,1 8 2)  
O ther additions and exclusions, net (69,692)  ( 4 ,0 0 4 )  

U nrecogniz ed portion on temporary differences, (131,956)  ( 1 4 0 ,3 9 7 )  
tax loss and negative basis.     
C urrent -  ( 4 ,1 8 2)  
D eferred ( c)  -  1 5,7 4 3  

Income tax -  1 1 ,56 1  

C urrent -  -  

Social contribution -  -  

I ncome tax and social contribution expense in the years -  1 1 ,56 1  

    
 

( a)  R efers to the difference between the depreciation of property, plant and eq uipment adj usted for inflation by L aw 
N o.  8 . 20 0 / 9 1  in relation to the depreciation provided for in L aw N o.  6 . 4 0 4 / 7 6 .  

( b)  T his is an investment subsidy provided for in P rovisional P residential D ecree N o.  4 0 8 / 20 0 2 for the 
implementation of the section of L ine 2 – G reen of the Sã o P aulo rapid transit system.  

( c)  R efers to the recognition of tax liabilities used in the I N SS – SAT  installment program.  
 

24 E arnings per share 

24. 1 Basic 
 

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the Company’s 
shareholders by the weighted average number of shares of common stock  outstanding during the 
year, excluding shares of common stock  repurchased by the C ompany and held as treasury stock .  

 
 

 12/31/2019  12/31/2018 

   Restated 

L oss attributable to shareholders (599,416)  ( 6 7 2,0 7 8 )  
W eighted average number of shares of common stock  in the year 7,183  6 ,8 6 6  
W eighted average number of treasury stock  0. 004  0 . 0 0 4  
W eighted average number of outstanding shares 7,183  6 ,8 6 6  

Basic loss per share of common stock (In Braz ilian R$ ) (83. 45)  ( 9 7 . 8 9 )  

 
T he C ompany does not have shares or instruments convertible into shares, which could result in the 
dilution of earnings per share.  
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25 Financial instruments and risk factors 
 

25. 1 Financial risk management 
 

a) General context 
 

The Company’s Management is focused on the sustainability of its economic and financial balance in 
the regular course of its business. In this sense, Metro’s activities expose it to the following market 
risk  factors:  public fare pricing policies, other macroeconomic indexes, credit and liq uidity risk s, 
which introduce a certain degree of uncertainty about the sustainable generation of the Company’s 
cash and income.  T o manage this volatility, caused by external factors, Metro has policies and 
procedures in place for managing financial risk s.  

 
T he risk  management process comprises the following steps:  i)  identification of risk  factors and 
exposure of the value of assets, cash flows and the Company’s income to market risks; 
ii)  measurement and communication of the measured risk ;  iii)  evaluation and definition of strategies 
for the management of mark et risk s;  and iv)  implementation and monitoring of performance of 
strategies.  

 
T he maj or financial risk  factors considered by Management are:  
 L iq uidity risk ;  
 C redit risk ;  
 E xchange rate risk ;  
 I nterest rate risk ;  
 F are pricing risk .  

 
b) Classification and measurement 

 
T he C ompany classifies its financial assets under the following categories:  measured at fair value 
through profit or loss, at fair value through other comprehensive income and at amortiz ed cost.  T he 
classification depends on the analysis of the securities portfolio as a whole, tak ing into account the 
characteristics of the cash flows tak en out and the obj ective of the asset management business 
model.  Management determines the classification of its financial assets upon initial recognition.  

 
T he C ompany initially recogniz es all financial liabilities on the trade date, which is the date on which 
the C ompany becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  T he C ompany 
derecogniz es a financial liability when its contractual obligation is settled, canceled or expired.  

 
T he C ompany classifies non- derivative financial liabilities in the following categories:  measured at 
fair value through profit or loss or amortiz ed cost, comprising suppliers, taxes and other obligations 
payable.  T hese liabilities are initially recogniz ed at fair value less any attributable transaction costs.  
U pon recognition, they are measured at amortiz ed cost using the effective interest method.  

 
The classification of the Company’s financial instruments is shown below: 
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Measured at fair value through profit or loss  Measured at fair value and other 
comprehensive income  Amortiz ed cost 

 12/31/2019  12/31/2018  12/31/2019  12/31/2018  12/31/2019  12/31/2018 
   

Restated    Restated    Restated 
Assets            

C ash and cash eq uivalents 674,262  8 1 4 ,6 9 7   -    -   

Bonds and securities ( a)  -  -   9,017  8 ,1 51   -   

Accounts receivable -  -   -    294,805  20 5,1 0 6  
O ther assets -  -   -    10,373  3 5,0 8 4  
 674,262  8 1 4 ,6 9 7   9,017  8 ,1 51   305,178  24 0 ,1 9 0  
            
Liabilities            

Suppliers -  -   -  -   529,976  4 1 2,24 1  
R elated parties -  -   -  -   257,201  26 9 ,0 8 2 
O ther accounts payable and accrued expenses -  -   -  -   6,160  5,1 8 9  
            
Total -  -   -  -   793,337  6 8 6 ,51 2 

 
 

( a)  R efers to shares of publicly- held and closely- held companies.  
 

25. 2 Liquidity risk 
 

The Company has its cash flow projected by Management, which monitors the Company’s ongoing 
forecasts of liq uidity req uirements to ensure that it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs and 
obligations.  

 
G iven its management of capital structure, the C ompany substantially operates with its own work ing 
capital for its operating activities and for structural investments.  I t is supported, essentially, through 
the capital contribution of its shareholders.  Accordingly, the C ompany has no cash flows tak en out 
through long- term debt to be settled in the future as of the date of the financial statements.  

 
T he shares held at fair value through other comprehensive income are tier 1 .  

 
25. 3 Credit risk 

 
Credit risk is inherent to the Company’s operating and financial activities, mainly present in the items 
of cash, cash eq uivalents and accounts receivable.  T he assets classified as cash and cash 
eq uivalents are concentrated in top- tier financial institutions classified as high grade by the main risk  
rating agencies.  By strategic decision of the G overnment of the State of Sã o P aulo, the funds of the 
I ntegrated F inancial Management System of States and Municipalities – SI AF E M, including the 
Company’s cash balance and cash equivalents, are managed by Banco do Brasil, which has a BB-  
rating granted by Fitch Ratings and Standard & Poor’s, and a BB+ rating by Moody’s. 

 
C redit limits are established based on internal rating criteria and the book  values represent the 
maximum credit risk  exposure.  

 
The customer’s credit quality is assessed based on an internal credit rating system. The receivables 
of the G overnment of the State of Sã o P aulo are evaluated individually and the book  values 
correspond to the expected realiz ation from the perspective of the C ompany.  

 
25. 4 E xchange rate risk 

 
T he C ompany eventually, in the natural course of its business, may engage services and purchase 
materials and eq uipment from foreign suppliers through its bidding processes, substantially 
associated with the programs for investing in new rapid transit lines, systems and train fleet, thus 
being exposed to exchange rate changes resulting from the exchange from the purchase date until 
the date in which the obligations are effectively paid.  
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T he C ompany believes that the participation of foreign suppliers in its contractual obligations is not 
relevant as of the date of the financial statements.  

 
25. 5 Interest rate risk 

 
C hanges in interest rates may imply effects of increased or reduced costs on new financing and 
transactions already agreed, as well as an increase in financial expenses applied to obligations 
settled outside the contractual term.  

 
T he C ompany does not have amounts in loans and financing tak en out on the date of the financial 
statements, and therefore, it is not significantly exposed to such risk .  

 
25. 6 Fare pricing risk 

 
T he C ompany is exposed to operating fare prices set by the public pricing policy for passenger 
transportation tick ets applied in the Metropolitan Area of Sã o P aulo by the Metropolitans 
T ransportation O ffice – ST M, associated with the G overnment of the State of Sã o P aulo.  

 
I n order to mitigate these effects, the C ompany work s in an integrated manner with ST M to formulate 
economic feasibility studies and apply fare adj ustments, where applicable, to fare prices in order to 
seek  balance, both on the part of the C ompany and for society, however, it is not possible to 
guarantee that the price of the fare will always remain at levels that are beneficial for the income of 
Metro.  

 
25. 7 Derivative financial instruments 

 
T he C ompany does not have transactions with derivative financial instruments in order to mitigate or 
eliminate risk s inherent to its operation as of the date of the financial statements.  

 
25. 8 Capital management 

 
The main objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure its liquidity, adequate 
coverage ratios and to mitigate risk s that may impact the availability of capital invested in the regular 
course of business.  

 
T he C ompany monitors on an ongoing basis relevant indicators such as:  i)  I ndebtedness limit index, 
expressed by the representativeness limit of up to 1 %  of the total interest- bearing liabilities over the 
total assets of the C ompany, as provided for in an internal regulatory instrument;  ii)  C overage ratio, 
which represents that all cash inflows met the Company’s obligations in a timely manner. 

 
As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 , the C ompany has no interest- bearing liabilities for purposes of calculating 
the debt ratio.  T he coverage ratio calculated is 1 0 0 . 9 %  in the period ended on D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9  
and 1 0 8 . 6 %  on D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 8 .  

 
25. 9 Guarantees 

 
As of D ecember 3 1 , 20 1 9 , the C ompany has guarantees associated with the accounts receivable 
transactions related to lease transactions, space leases, other adj acent revenues and contracts with 
suppliers in the amount of R $  4 ,4 3 3  ( R $  4 ,8 8 2 as of D ecember 20 1 8 ) .  
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26 Insurance coverage 

Metro maintains insurance policies tak en out with the main insurance companies in the country defined 
by bidding process which tak e into account the nature and degree of risk  involved.  As of D ecember 3 1 , 
20 1 9 , the C ompany had insurance coverage to cover possible risk s of material loss due to fire, civil 
liability and miscellaneous risk s for property, plant and eq uipment, passengers and constructions, at 
amounts considered sufficient by Management.  

 
 12/31/2019  12/31/2018 

   Restated 
Maximum compensation limit    
Material assets -  basic coverage 652,640  6 52,6 4 0  
Miscellaneous risk s 2,491  2,4 1 7  
C ivil liability insurance -  directors 30,000  3 0 ,0 0 0  
C ivil liability insurance – general 43,300  4 3 ,3 0 0  
E lectricity purchase guarantee insurance 45,000  -  
J udicial deposit insurance 100,000  -  

Total 873,431  7 28 ,3 57  
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